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CAUTIONARY STATEMENT REGARDING FORWARD-LOOKING INFORMATION

This  Annual  Report  on  Form  10-K,  including  the  exhibits  being  filed  as  part  of  this  report,  as  well  as  other  statements  made  by  Aptiv  PLC  (“Aptiv,”  the
“Company,” “we,” “us” and “our”), contain forward-looking statements that reflect, when made, the Company’s current views with respect to current events and
financial  performance.  Such  forward-looking  statements  are  subject  to  many  risks,  uncertainties  and  factors  relating  to  the  Company’s  operations  and  business
environment, which may cause the actual results of the Company to be materially different from any future results, express or implied, by such forward-looking
statements.  All  statements  that  address  future  operating,  financial  or  business  performance  or  the  Company’s  strategies  or  expectations  are  forward-looking
statements.  In some cases, you can identify these statements by forward-looking words such as “may,” “might,” “will,” “should,” “expects,” “plans,” “intends,”
“anticipates,”  “believes,”  “estimates,”  “predicts,”  “projects,”  “potential,”  “outlook”  or  “continue,”  and  other  comparable  terminology.  Factors  that  could  cause
actual results to differ materially from these forward-looking statements include, but are not limited to, the following: global and regional economic conditions,
including  conditions  affecting  the  credit  market  and  resulting  from  the  United  Kingdom’s  exit  from  the  European  Union,  commonly  referred  to  as  “Brexit”;
uncertainties posed by the novel coronavirus (COVID-19) pandemic and the difficulty in predicting its future course and its impact on the global economy and the
Company’s future operations; fluctuations in interest rates and foreign currency exchange rates; the cyclical nature of global automotive sales and production; the
potential disruptions in the supply of and changes in the competitive environment for raw material integral to the Company’s products; the Company’s ability to
maintain  contracts  that  are  critical  to  its  operations;  potential  changes  to  beneficial  free  trade  laws  and  regulations,  such  as  the  United  States-Mexico-Canada
Agreement; the ability of the Company to integrate and realize the expected benefits of recent transactions; the ability of the Company to attract, motivate and/or
retain key executives; the ability of the Company to avoid or continue to operate during a strike, or partial work stoppage or slow down by any of its unionized
employees or those of its principal customers; and the ability of the Company to attract and retain customers. Additional factors are discussed under the captions
“Risk Factors” and “Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations” in the Company’s filings with the Securities and
Exchange Commission. New risks and uncertainties arise from time to time, and it is impossible for us to predict these events or how they may affect the Company.
It should be remembered that the price of the ordinary shares and any income from them can go down as well as up. Aptiv disclaims any intention or obligation to
update or revise any forward-looking statements, whether as a result of new information, future events and/or otherwise, except as may be required by law.
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PART I
ITEM 1. BUSINESS

“Aptiv,” the “Company,” “we,” “us” and “our” refer to Aptiv PLC, a public limited company formed under the laws of Jersey on May 19, 2011 as Delphi
Automotive PLC, which completed an initial public offering on November 22, 2011. On December 4, 2017, the Company completed the separation (the
“Separation”) of its former Powertrain Systems segment by distributing to Aptiv shareholders on a pro rata basis all of the issued and outstanding ordinary shares
of Delphi Technologies PLC (“Delphi Technologies”), a public limited company formed to hold the spun-off business. Following the Separation, the remaining
company changed its name to Aptiv PLC and New York Stock Exchange (“NYSE”) symbol to “APTV.” Aptiv did not retain any equity interest in Delphi
Technologies. The completion of the Separation positioned Aptiv as a new mobility provider focused on solving the complex challenges associated with safer,
greener and more connected transportation. At the core of our capabilities is the software and vehicle architecture expertise that enables the advanced safety,
automated driving, user experience, and connected services that are enabling the future of mobility.

Aptiv is a leading global technology and mobility company primarily serving the automotive sector. We design and manufacture vehicle components and
provide electrical, electronic and active safety technology solutions to the global automotive and commercial vehicle markets, creating the software and hardware
foundation for vehicle features and functionality. We enable and deliver end-to-end smart mobility solutions, active safety and autonomous driving technologies
and provide enhanced user experience and connected services. Our Advanced Safety and User Experience segment is focused on providing the necessary software
and advanced computing platforms, and our Signal and Power Solutions segment is focused on providing the requisite networking architecture required to support
the integrated systems in today’s complex vehicles. Together, our businesses develop the ‘brain’ and the ‘nervous system’ of increasingly complex vehicles,
providing integration of the vehicle into its operating environment.

We are one of the largest vehicle component manufacturers, and our customers include 23 of the 25 largest automotive original equipment manufacturers
(“OEMs”) in the world. We operate 124 major manufacturing facilities and 12 major technical centers utilizing a regional service model that enables us to
efficiently and effectively serve our global customers from best cost countries. We have a presence in 44 countries and have approximately 18,200 scientists,
engineers and technicians focused on developing market relevant product solutions for our customers.

We are focused on growing and improving the profitability of our businesses, and have implemented a strategy designed to position the Company to deliver
industry-leading long-term shareholder returns. This strategy includes disciplined investing in our business to grow and enhance our product offerings, strategically
focusing our portfolio in high-technology, high-growth spaces in order to meet consumer preferences and leveraging an industry-leading cost structure to expand
our operating margins. In line with the long-term growth in emerging markets, we have been increasing our focus on these markets, particularly in China, where we
have a major manufacturing base and strong customer relationships.

Website Access to Company’s Reports

Aptiv’s website address is aptiv.com. Our Annual Reports on Form 10-K, Quarterly Reports on Form 10-Q, Current Reports on Form 8-K and amendments
to those reports filed or furnished pursuant to Section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 (the “Exchange Act”) are available free of charge
through our website as soon as reasonably practicable after they are electronically filed with, or furnished to, the Securities and Exchange Commission (“SEC”).

Our Company

We believe the automotive industry is being shaped by rapidly increasing consumer demand for new mobility solutions, advanced technologies and vehicle
connectivity, as well as increasing government regulation related to vehicle safety, fuel efficiency and emissions control. These industry mega-trends, which we
refer to as “Safe,” “Green” and “Connected,” are driving higher growth in products that address these trends than growth in the automotive industry overall. We
have organized our business into two diversified segments, which enable us to develop technology solutions and manufacture highly-engineered products that
enable our customers to respond to these mega-trends:

• Signal and Power Solutions—This segment provides complete design, manufacture and assembly of the vehicle’s electrical architecture, including
engineered component products, connectors, wiring assemblies and harnesses, cable management, electrical centers and hybrid high voltage and safety
distribution systems. Our products provide the critical signal distribution and computing power backbone that supports increased vehicle content and
electrification, reduced emissions and higher fuel economy.

• Advanced Safety and User Experience—This segment provides critical components, systems integration and advanced software development for
vehicle safety, security, comfort and convenience, including sensing and perception systems, electronic control units, multi-domain controllers, vehicle
connectivity systems, application
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software and autonomous driving technologies. Our products increase vehicle connectivity, reduce driver distraction and enhance vehicle safety.

Refer to Results of Operations by Segment in Item 7. Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations and Note 22.
Segment Reporting to the audited consolidated financial statements, included in Item 8. Financial Statements and Supplementary Data, of this Annual Report for
financial information about our business segments.

Our business is diversified across end-markets, regions, customers, vehicle platforms and products. Our customer base includes 23 of the 25 largest
automotive OEMs in the world, and in 2020, 30% of our net sales came from the Asia Pacific region, which we have identified as a key market likely to experience
substantial long-term growth. Our ten largest platforms in 2020 were with eight different OEMs. In addition, in 2020 our products were found in 19 of the 20 top-
selling vehicle models in the United States (“U.S.”), in 19 of the 20 top-selling vehicle models in Europe and in 14 of the 20 top-selling vehicle models in China.

We have established a worldwide design and manufacturing footprint with a regional service model that enables us to efficiently and effectively serve our
global customers from best cost countries. This regional model is structured primarily to service the North American market from Mexico, the South American
market from Brazil, the European market from Eastern Europe and North Africa, and the Asia Pacific market from China. Our global scale and regional service
model enables us to engineer globally and execute regionally to serve the largest OEMs, which are seeking suppliers that can serve them on a worldwide basis. Our
footprint also enables us to adapt to the regional design variations the global OEMs require and serve the emerging market OEMs.

Our Industry

The automotive technology and components industry provides components, systems, subsystems and modules to OEMs for the manufacture of new vehicles,
as well as to the aftermarket for use as replacement parts for current production and older vehicles. Overall, we expect long-term growth of global vehicle sales and
production in the OEM market. In 2020, the industry experienced decreased global customer sales and production schedules, primarily due to the impacts of the
COVID-19 pandemic. The adverse impacts to Aptiv of the pandemic, which primarily affected us in the first half of 2020, included extended work stoppages and
travel restrictions at our facilities and those of our customers and suppliers, decreases in consumer demand and vehicle production schedules, disruptions to our
supply chain and other adverse global economic impacts, particularly those resulting from temporary governmental “lock-down” orders for all non-essential
activities, initially in the first quarter in China and subsequently in Europe, North America and South America in the second quarter. Adverse impacts of the
COVID-19 pandemic from the first half of 2020 were partially offset by increased consumer demand and vehicle production schedules in the second half of 2020,
particularly in the fourth quarter. Compared to 2019, vehicle production in 2020 decreased by 22% in Europe, 21% in North America, 3% in China and 31% in
South America, our smallest region. Demand for automotive components in the OEM market is generally a function of the number of new vehicles produced in
response to consumer demand, which is primarily driven by macro-economic factors such as credit availability, interest rates, fuel prices, consumer confidence,
employment and other trends. Although OEM demand is tied to actual vehicle production, participants in the automotive technology and components industry also
have the opportunity to grow through increasing product content per vehicle by further penetrating business with existing customers and in existing markets,
gaining new customers and increasing their presence in global markets. We believe that evolving entrants into the global transportation industry such as mobility
providers, electric vehicle developers and smart cities will provide additional markets for our advanced technologies. We believe that as a company with a global
presence and advanced technology, engineering, manufacturing and customer support capabilities, we are well-positioned to benefit from these opportunities.

We believe that continuously increasing societal demands have created the three “mega-trends” that serve as the basis for the next wave of market-driven
automotive technology advancement. We aim to continue developing leading edge technology focused on addressing these mega-trends, and apply that technology
toward products with sustainable margins that enable our customers, both OEMs and others, to produce distinctive market-leading products. We have identified a
core portfolio of products that draw on our technical strengths and align with these mega-trends where we believe we can provide differentiation to our customers.

Safe. The first mega-trend, “Safe,” represents technologies aimed not just at protecting vehicle occupants when a crash occurs, but those that
actually proactively reduce the risk of a crash occurring. OEMs continue to focus on improving occupant and pedestrian safety in order to meet
increasingly stringent regulatory requirements in various markets. As a result, suppliers are focused on developing technologies aimed at protecting
vehicle occupants when a crash occurs, as well as advanced driver assistance systems that reduce driver distractions and automated safety features that
proactively mitigate the risk of a crash occurring. Examples of new and alternative technologies that incorporate sophisticated detection and advanced
software for collision avoidance include lane departure warning systems, adaptive cruise control, gesture control and automatic braking.
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Green. The second mega-trend, “Green,” represents technologies designed to help reduce emissions, increase fuel economy and minimize the
environmental impact of vehicles. Green is a key mega-trend today because of the convergence of several issues: climate change, volatility in oil
prices, an increasing number of vehicles in use worldwide and recent and pending regulation outside the U.S. regarding fuel economy and greenhouse
gas emissions. OEMs continue to focus on improving fuel efficiency and reducing emissions in order to meet increasingly stringent regulatory
requirements in various markets. On a worldwide basis, the relevant authorities in the European Union, the United Kingdom, China, India, Japan,
Brazil, South Korea and Argentina have already instituted regulations requiring reductions in emissions and/or increased fuel economy, with the U.S.
expected to introduce new regulations in the near future. In many cases, other authorities have initiated legislation or regulation that would further
tighten the standards through 2021 and beyond. Based on the current regulatory environment, we believe that OEMs, including those in the U.S. and
China, will be subject to requirements for even greater reductions in carbon dioxide (“CO2”) emissions over the next ten years. These standards will
require meaningful innovation as OEMs and suppliers are challenged to find ways to improve engine management, electrical power consumption,
vehicle weight and integration of alternative technologies (e.g., electric/hybrid propulsion). As a result, suppliers are developing innovations that result
in significant improvements in fuel economy, emissions and performance from gasoline and diesel internal combustion engines. At the same time,
suppliers are also developing and marketing new and alternative technologies that support hybrid vehicles, electric vehicles and fuel cell products to
improve fuel economy and emissions. We are developing key enabling technologies in the areas of vehicle charging and vehicle power distribution
and control that are essential to the introduction of our customers’ electrified vehicle platforms. We are also enabling the trend towards vehicle
electrification with high voltage electrification solutions that reduce CO2 emissions and increase fuel economy, making the world greener.

Connected. The third mega-trend, “Connected,” represents technologies designed to seamlessly integrate today’s highly complex vehicles into the
electronic operating environment, and provide drivers with connectivity to the global information network. The technology content of vehicles
continues to increase as consumers demand greater safety, personalization, infotainment, productivity and convenience while driving, which in turn
leads to increasing demand for electrical architecture as a foundation for this content. Also with increased smart device usage in vehicles, driver
distractions can be dramatically increased, which in turn results in greater risk of accidents. We are pioneering vehicle-to-vehicle (V2V) and vehicle-
to-infrastructure (V2I) communication technologies which enable vehicles to detect and signal danger, reducing vehicle collisions and improving
driver safety, while also maintaining connectivity to an increasing number of devices inside and outside of vehicles. We also utilize advanced
connectivity solutions such as over-the-air (OTA) technology that enable vehicles to receive software updates remotely and collect market-relevant
data from connected vehicles.

We expect these mega-trends to continue to create growth and opportunity for us. We believe we are well-positioned to provide solutions and products to
OEMs to expand the electronic and technological content of their vehicles. We also believe electronics integration, which generally refers to products and systems
that combine integrated circuits, software algorithms, sensor technologies and mechanical components within the vehicle will allow OEMs to achieve substantial
reductions in weight and mechanical complexity, resulting in easier assembly, enhanced fuel economy, improved emissions control and better vehicle performance.

Convergence of Safe, Green and Connected Solutions in New Mobility and Autonomous Driving

The combination of advanced technologies being developed within these mega-trends is also contributing to increasing industry development of autonomous
driving technologies, leading to a fully automated driving experience. We expect automated driving technologies will provide strong societal benefit as well as the
opportunity for long-term growth for our product offerings in this space, including new potential customers such as mobility providers and smart cities that require
solutions to increasing urban mobility challenges. Societal benefits of increased vehicle automation include enhanced safety (resulting from collision avoidance and
improved vehicle control), environmental improvements (a reduction in CO2 emissions resulting from optimized driving behavior), labor cost savings and
improved productivity (as a result of alternate uses for drive time). Growth opportunities in this space result from increased content, additional computing power
and software requirements, enhanced connectivity systems and increased electrification and interconnects. We believe the complexity of these systems will also
require ongoing software support services, as these vehicle systems will be continuously upgraded with new features and performance enhancements.

We are continuing to invest in the automated driving space, and have continued to develop market-leading automated driving platform solutions such as
automated driving software, key active safety sensing technologies and our multi-domain controller, which fuses information from sensing systems as well as
mapping and navigation data to make driving decisions. We believe we are well-aligned with industry technology trends that will result in sustainable future
growth in this space, and have partnered with leaders in their respective fields to advance the pace of development and commercialization of these emerging
technologies.
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In an effort to further our leadership position in the automated driving space, in March 2020 we completed the transaction with Hyundai Motor Group
(“Hyundai”) to form a new joint venture focused on the design, development and commercialization of autonomous driving technologies. The joint venture
operates globally under the Motional brand name, and brings together one of the industry’s most innovative vehicle technology providers with one of the world’s
largest OEMs. We expect this partnership to accelerate the path towards the development of production-ready autonomous driving systems for commercialization
in the new mobility space.

We believe that substantial strategic value will be created from our partnership with Hyundai through our commitment to a shared mission of making
driverless vehicles a safe, reliable, and accessible reality. Furthermore, we anticipate Motional’s presence in both North America and Asia, along with the global
presence of both Aptiv and Hyundai, to generate economies of scale to support the development of a complete autonomous driving platform, as well as to facilitate
mobility infrastructure advancements.

The Motional joint venture began testing fully driverless systems in 2020 and anticipates it will have a production-ready autonomous driving platform
available for robotaxi providers, fleet operators and automotive manufacturers to test at prototype scale in 2022, with higher volumes available for deployment in
2023. In addition, Motional is involved in collaborative arrangements with mobility providers and with smart cities such as Boston and Singapore as solutions are
developed for the evolving nature of the mobility industry. As a result of our substantial investments and strategic partnerships, we believe we are well-aligned
with industry technology trends that will result in sustainable future growth in these evolving areas.

To guide our product strategies and investments in technology with a focus on developing advanced technologies to drive growth within the Safe, Green and
Connected mega-trends, we utilize and benefit from our Technology Advisory Council, a panel of prominent global technology thought leaders.

Standardization of Sourcing by OEMs

Many OEMs have adopted global vehicle platforms to increase standardization, reduce per unit cost and increase capital efficiency and profitability. As a
result, OEMs select suppliers that have the capability to manufacture products on a worldwide basis as well as the flexibility to adapt to regional variations.
Suppliers with global scale and strong design, engineering and manufacturing capabilities, are best positioned to benefit from this trend. OEMs are also
increasingly looking to their suppliers to simplify vehicle design and assembly processes to reduce costs. As a result, suppliers that sell vehicle components directly
to manufacturers (Tier I suppliers) have assumed many of the design, engineering, research and development and assembly functions traditionally performed by
vehicle manufacturers. Suppliers that can provide fully-engineered solutions, systems and pre-assembled combinations of component parts are positioned to
leverage the trend toward system sourcing.

Shorter Product Development Cycles

As a result of government regulations and customer preferences, OEMs are requiring suppliers to respond faster with new designs and product innovations.
While these trends are more prevalent in mature markets, the emerging markets are advancing rapidly towards the regulatory standards and consumer preferences
of the more mature markets. Suppliers with strong technologies, robust global engineering and development capabilities will be best positioned to meet OEM
demands for rapid innovation.

Products

Our organizational structure and management reporting support the management of these core product lines:

Signal and Power Solutions. This segment provides complete design, manufacture and assembly of the vehicle’s electrical architecture, including
connectors, wiring assemblies and harnesses, cable management, electrical centers and hybrid high voltage and safety distribution systems. Our products provide
the critical signal distribution and computing power backbone that supports increased vehicle content and electrification, reduced emissions and higher fuel
economy.

• High quality connectors are engineered primarily for use in the automotive and related markets, but also have applications in the aerospace, military and
telematics sectors.

• Electrical centers provide centralized electrical power and signal distribution and all of the associated circuit protection and switching devices, thereby
optimizing the overall vehicle electrical system.

• Distribution systems, including hybrid high voltage systems, are integrated into one optimized vehicle electrical system that can utilize smaller cable and
gauge sizes and ultra-thin wall insulation (which product line makes up approximately 42%, 42% and 44% of our total revenue for the years ended
December 31, 2020, 2019 and 2018, respectively).

Advanced Safety and User Experience. This segment provides critical components, systems integration and advanced software development for vehicle
safety, security, comfort and convenience, including sensing and perception systems,
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electronic control units, multi-domain controllers, vehicle connectivity systems, application software and autonomous driving technologies. Our products increase
vehicle connectivity, reduce driver distraction and enhance vehicle safety.

• Advanced safety primarily consists of solutions that enable active and passive safety features and vehicle automation, as well as vision, radar, LiDAR
and other sensing technologies.

• The user experience portfolio primarily enables in-cabin solutions around infotainment, driver interface and interior sensing solutions.
• Connectivity and security products primarily consists of solutions that provide body control, security and unlock vehicle data.

Competition

Although the overall number of our top competitors has decreased due to ongoing industry consolidation, the automotive technology and components
industry remains extremely competitive. Furthermore, the rapidly evolving nature of the markets in which we compete has attracted, and may continue to attract,
new entrants, particularly in best cost countries such as China and in areas of evolving vehicle technologies such as automated driving and mobility solutions,
which has attracted competitors from outside the traditional automotive industry. OEMs rigorously evaluate suppliers on the basis of product quality, price,
reliability and timeliness of delivery, product design capability, technical expertise and development capability, new product innovation, financial viability,
application of lean principles, operational flexibility, customer service and overall management. In addition, our customers generally require that we demonstrate
improved efficiencies, through cost reductions and/or price improvement, on a year-over-year basis.

Our competitors in each of our operating segments are as follows:

Segment Competitors
Signal and Power Solutions •  Amphenol Corporation

•  Draexlmaier Automotive
•  Lear Corporation
•  Leoni AG
•  Molex Inc. (a subsidiary of Koch Industries, Inc.)
•  Sumitomo Corporation
•  TE Connectivity, Ltd.
•  Yazaki Corporation

Advanced Safety and User Experience •  Bosch Group
•  Continental AG
•  Denso Corporation
•  Harman International (a subsidiary of Samsung Electronics)
•  Hyundai Mobis
•  Magna International
•  Panasonic Corporation
•  Valeo
•  Veoneer, Inc.
•  Visteon Corporation
•  ZF Friedrichshafen AG
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Customers

We sell our products and services to the major global OEMs in every region of the world. The following table provides the percentage of net sales to our
largest customers for the year ended December 31, 2020:

Customer Percentage of Net Sales
Volkswagen Group (“VW”) 10%
General Motors Company (“GM”) 9%
Fiat Chrysler Automobiles N.V. (“FCA”) (1) 8%
Ford Motor Company 7%
SAIC General Motors Corporation Limited 5%
Geely Automobile Holdings Limited 5%
PSA Peugeot Citroën (“PSA”) (1) 4%
Daimler AG 4%
Toyota Motor Corporation 2%
Tata Motors Limited 2%
Tesla Inc. 2%
Bayerische Motoren Werke AG (“BMW”) 2%

(1) On January 16, 2021, FCA and PSA executed a merger agreement to form a new, combined company (“Stellantis”). On a combined basis, the formerly separate companies accounted for
12% of Aptiv’s net sales for the year ended December 31, 2020.

Supply Relationships with Our Customers

We typically supply products to our OEM customers through purchase orders, which are generally governed by general terms and conditions established by
each OEM. Although the terms and conditions vary from customer to customer, they typically contemplate a relationship under which our customers place orders
for their requirements of specific components supplied for particular vehicles but are not required to purchase any minimum amount of products from us. These
relationships typically extend over the life of the related vehicle. Prices are negotiated with respect to each business award, which may be subject to adjustments
under certain circumstances, such as commodity or foreign exchange escalation/de-escalation clauses or for cost reductions achieved by us. The terms and
conditions typically provide that we are subject to a warranty on the products supplied; in most cases, the duration of such warranty is coterminous with the
warranty offered by the OEM to the end-user of the vehicle. We may also be obligated to share in all or a part of recall costs if the OEM recalls its vehicles for
defects attributable to our products.

Individual purchase orders are terminable for cause or non-performance and, in most cases, upon our insolvency and certain change of control events. In
addition, many of our OEM customers have the option to terminate for convenience on certain programs, which permits our customers to impose pressure on
pricing during the life of the vehicle program, and issue purchase contracts for less than the duration of the vehicle program, which potentially reduces our profit
margins and increases the risk of our losing future sales under those purchase contracts. Additionally, one of our largest customers, GM, expressly reserves a right
to terminate for competitiveness on certain of our long-term supply contracts. We manufacture and ship based on customer release schedules, normally provided on
a weekly basis, which can vary due to cyclical automobile production or dealer inventory levels.

Although customer programs typically extend to future periods, and although there is an expectation that we will supply certain levels of OEM production
during such future periods, customer agreements including applicable terms and conditions do not necessarily constitute firm orders. Firm orders are generally
limited to specific and authorized customer purchase order releases placed with our manufacturing and distribution centers for actual production and order
fulfillment. Firm orders are typically fulfilled as promptly as possible from the conversion of available raw materials, sub-components and work-in-process
inventory for OEM orders and from current on-hand finished goods inventory for aftermarket orders. The dollar amount of such purchase order releases on hand
and not processed at any point in time is not believed to be significant based upon the time frame involved.

Materials

We procure our raw materials from a variety of suppliers around the world. Generally, we seek to obtain materials in the region in which our products are
manufactured in order to minimize transportation and other costs. The most significant raw materials we use to manufacture our products include copper and
resins. As of December 31, 2020, we have not experienced any significant shortages of raw materials and normally do not carry inventories of such raw materials
in excess of those reasonably required to meet our production and shipping schedules.
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Commodity cost volatility, most notably related to copper, petroleum-based resin products and fuel, is a challenge for us and our industry. We are
continually seeking to manage these and other material-related cost pressures using a combination of strategies, including working with our suppliers to mitigate
costs, seeking alternative product designs and material specifications, combining our purchase requirements with our customers and/or suppliers, changing
suppliers, hedging of certain commodities and other means. In the case of copper, which primarily affects our Signal and Power Solutions segment, contract clauses
have enabled us to pass on some of the price increases to our customers and thereby partially offset the impact of increased commodity costs on operating income
for the related products. However, other than in the case of copper, our overall success in passing commodity cost increases on to our customers has been limited.
We will continue our efforts to pass market-driven commodity cost increases to our customers in an effort to mitigate all or some of the adverse earnings impacts,
including by seeking to renegotiate terms as contracts with our customers expire.

Seasonality

Our business is moderately seasonal, as our primary North American customers historically reduce production during the month of July and halt operations
for approximately one week in December. Our European customers generally reduce production during the months of July and August and for one week in
December. Shut-down periods in the rest of the world generally vary by country. In addition, automotive production is traditionally reduced in the months of July,
August and September due to the launch of component production for new vehicle models. Accordingly, our results reflect this seasonality.

Human Capital Resources

As of December 31, 2020, we employed approximately 151,000 people; 24,000 salaried employees and 127,000 hourly employees. In addition, we maintain
an alternative workforce of 33,000 contract and temporary workers. Certain of our employees are represented worldwide by numerous unions and works councils,
including the International Union of Electronic, Electrical, Salaried, Machine and Furniture Workers - Communications Workers of America and the
Confederacion De Trabajadores Mexicanos.

Retention and Talent Development

Our employees are united across the globe in pursuit of our mission of developing safer, greener and more connected solutions enabling the future of
mobility. The retention of highly qualified and diverse talent is critical to this mission, Aptiv’s continued growth and effective succession planning. As part of our
focus on the retention of employees, we believe in being strategic and intentional in our efforts to provide talented and diverse individuals an opportunity to
leverage their demonstrated performance and to gain sustainable leadership qualities aligned to our mission, culture and values. We have developed robust
succession plans for our top leadership. These plans align with our development initiatives, such as advancing diversity candidates in leadership and in engineering
and manufacturing functions. Furthermore, we recognize the importance of mentorship and the part it plays in personal and professional growth.

Aptiv is committed to talent development and growing the next generation of leaders. We have established a process of recurring talent reviews, focused on
development and execution of specific development action plans. In addition, we offer several development programs targeting various career development needs.
Our Leadership Development Program provides a holistic approach that develops business acumen and personal competencies, as well as the opportunity to learn
and interact with peers from around the world. Our Leadership Foundations program is designed to help newly hired or promoted managers understand the Aptiv
way of leading people. We also leverage Aptiv Academy, our online learning management system, across the enterprise using in-person, online and virtual reality
learning opportunities.

Culture

Aptiv continually evaluates the culture, values and behaviors we believe are core to enabling a thriving environment for our employees. To establish
expectations and clarity regarding the culture we are shaping, as well as the behaviors we measure in our talent evaluation system, several thousand of our top
leaders have participated in global culture workshops led by our chief executive officer (“CEO”) and chief human resources officer (“CHRO”).

Diversity and Inclusion

At Aptiv, we value each individual’s perspective and foster a strong culture of respect and inclusive collaboration. Leveraging our employees’ diverse
backgrounds and experiences allows us to make better decisions and supports stronger operating performance. Our CEO and CHRO review succession and talent
development plans, as well as diversity and inclusion, with our Board of Directors annually. Aptiv also participates in, and sponsors, numerous outreach programs
around the world, which seek to promote and recruit women and diversity candidates into science, technology, engineering and math fields. Aptiv is committed to
continuing to increase its level of diversity in middle management, senior leadership and technology roles over the coming years.
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Health and Safety

Furthermore, we prioritize the health and safety of all our employees. We routinely assess occupational health and safety risks, including internal audits for
all manufacturing sites, assessing, among other things, lost workday case rates, safety incident rates, safety habits training and number of training hours per
employee. In response to the COVID-19 pandemic, we also implemented additional safety protocols designed to make all of Aptiv’s sites safer, which included
extensive cleaning of our facilities, enhanced communications about safety protocols, building capacity limits, daily health screenings for on-site employees and
mandatory mask use when indoors.

Environmental Compliance

We are subject to the requirements of U.S. federal, state and local, and non-U.S., environmental and safety and health laws and regulations. These include
laws regulating air emissions, water discharge, hazardous materials and waste management. We have an environmental management structure designed to facilitate
and support our compliance with these requirements globally. Although it is our intent to comply with all such requirements and regulations, we cannot provide
assurance that we are at all times in compliance. Environmental requirements are complex, change frequently and have tended to become more stringent over time.
Accordingly, we cannot ensure that environmental requirements will not change or become more stringent over time or that our eventual environmental costs and
liabilities will not be material.

Certain environmental laws assess liability on current or previous owners or operators of real property for the cost of removal or remediation of hazardous
substances. In addition to clean-up actions brought by U.S. federal, state, local and non-U.S. agencies, plaintiffs could raise personal injury or other private claims
due to the presence of hazardous substances on or from a property. At this time, we are involved in various stages of investigation and cleanup related to
environmental remediation matters at certain of our present and former facilities. In addition, there may be soil or groundwater contamination at several of our
properties resulting from historical, ongoing or nearby activities.

At December 31, 2020, 2019 and 2018, the undiscounted reserve for environmental investigation and remediation was approximately $4 million, $4 million
and $4 million, respectively. We cannot ensure that our eventual environmental remediation costs and liabilities will not exceed the amount of our current reserves.
In the event that such liabilities were to significantly exceed the amounts recorded, our results of operations could be materially affected.
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SUPPLEMENTARY ITEM. EXECUTIVE OFFICERS OF THE REGISTRANT

The name, age (as of February 1, 2021), current positions and description of business experience of each of our executive officers are listed below. Our
executive officers are elected annually by the Board of Directors and hold office until their successors are elected and qualified or until the officer’s resignation or
removal. Positions noted below reflect current service to Aptiv PLC and prior service to Delphi Automotive PLC and Delphi Automotive LLP.

Kevin P. Clark, 58, is president and chief executive officer (CEO) of Aptiv and is a member of the company’s board of directors. Mr. Clark was named
president and CEO and became a member of the board in March 2015. Previously, Mr. Clark was chief operating officer (COO) from October 2014 to March 2015.
Prior to the COO position, Mr. Clark was chief financial officer and executive vice president from February 2013. He was appointed vice president and chief
financial officer in July 2010. Previously, Mr. Clark was a founding partner of Liberty Lane Partners, LLC, a private-equity investment firm focused on building
and improving middle-market companies. Prior to Liberty Lane Partners, Mr. Clark served as the chief financial officer of Fisher-Scientific International Inc., a
manufacturer, distributor and service provider to the global healthcare market. Mr. Clark served as Fisher-Scientific’s chief financial officer from the company’s
initial public offering in 2001 through the completion of its merger with Thermo Electron Corporation in 2006. Prior to becoming chief financial officer, Mr. Clark
served as Fisher-Scientific’s corporate controller and treasurer.

Joseph R. Massaro, 51, is Aptiv’s chief financial officer and senior vice president, business operations. Mr. Massaro joined the Company in October 2013 as
vice president, Internal Audit, and in September 2014 was appointed to the position of vice president, corporate controller. In March 2016, he was named senior
vice president and chief financial officer and in September 2020, also assumed the role of senior vice president, business operations. Previously, Mr. Massaro was a
managing director at Liberty Lane Partners from 2008 to 2010. He also served as chief financial officer of inVentiv Health Inc. from 2010 to 2013, a Liberty Lane
portfolio company. Prior to Liberty Lane, he served in a variety of finance and operational roles at Thermo Fisher Scientific from 2002 to 2007, including senior
vice president of Global Business Services where his responsibilities included the global sourcing and information technology functions. Prior to the merger with
Thermo Electron, he also served as vice president and corporate controller of Fisher Scientific and held several other senior finance positions.

Allan J. Brazier, 54, is vice president and chief accounting officer of Aptiv, a position he has held since February 2011. Mr. Brazier joined the Company in
June 2005 as senior manager of technical accounting and reporting, and prior to his current role served as assistant controller of technical accounting and
reporting. Prior to joining Aptiv, Mr. Brazier was employed for seventeen years in financial roles of increasing responsibility at various companies. Mr. Brazier is a
Certified Public Accountant and began his career with the international public accounting firm of KPMG.

Glen De Vos, 60, is senior vice president and chief technology officer of Aptiv, effective March 2017, and has responsibility for Aptiv’s innovation and
global technologies. From November 2017 to October 2019, he was also president of Aptiv’s Mobility and Services Group. Mr. De Vos was most recently vice
president of Software and Services for Aptiv’s Advanced Safety and User Experience segment, located at the Company’s Silicon Valley Lab in Mountain View,
California from 2016 to 2017. He began his Aptiv career with Advanced Safety and User Experience in 1992, and following several progressive engineering and
managerial roles in infotainment and user experience, was named vice president, Global Engineering for Advanced Safety and User Experience in 2012.

David Paja, 51, is senior vice president of Aptiv and president of Advanced Safety and User Experience, effective February 2017. He was most recently
president of Honeywell Security & Fire, a global leader in electronic detection and prevention technologies for residential, commercial, and industrial applications
from 2015 to 2017. From 2012 to 2014, he served Honeywell’s Transportation Systems segment as vice president and general manager for China and India. Mr.
Paja was instrumental in enhancing Honeywell’s Internet of Things capabilities with advanced software and connectivity technologies, serving millions of
connected homes and buildings worldwide. He began his Honeywell career in 2003 and held several leadership positions of increasing responsibility. Before
joining Honeywell, Mr. Paja held several positions at Valeo Automotive.

William Presley, 51, is senior vice president of Aptiv and president of Signal and Power Solutions, effective September 2020. Mr. Presley joined Aptiv in
January 2019 as president of the Electrical Distribution Systems business unit. Prior to joining Aptiv, he was at Lear Corporation. Mr. Presley most recently served
as Lear’s vice president of the Wire Harness and Component business unit from 2018 to 2019, vice president of the Component business unit in 2017 and vice
president, Global Electrical Engineering from 2013 to 2017. He began his Lear career in 2008 and held several leadership positions of increasing responsibility.
Before joining Lear, Mr. Presley held several positions at Chrysler Corporation. Mr. Presley also served in both the U.S. Army and the Michigan Army National
Guard for a combined total of 13 years as a Field Artillery Officer.

David M. Sherbin, 61, is senior vice president, general counsel, chief compliance officer and secretary of Aptiv. He was named to his current position in
October 2009 and previously was vice president, general counsel from October 2005 to October 2009. He was appointed chief compliance officer in January 2006.
Prior to joining Aptiv, Mr. Sherbin was vice president, general counsel and secretary for PulteGroup, Inc., a national homebuilder, from January 2005 through
September
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2005. Mr. Sherbin joined Federal-Mogul Corporation in 1997 and was named senior vice president, general counsel, secretary and chief compliance officer in
2003.

Mariya Trickett, 38, is senior vice president and chief human resources officer of Aptiv, effective September 2018. She joined Aptiv from Dana
Incorporated, where she was most recently senior vice president of human resources from 2016 to 2018. In addition, she was a managing director of Dana Europe
AG from 2013 to 2018. Prior to assuming the senior vice president of human resources position, she served as senior director of human resources for Dana’s global
Off-Highway Driveline Technologies business, while also supporting the Aftermarket Group and all of Dana’s European operations from 2015 to 2016. From 2013
to 2015, Ms. Trickett worked as director of H.R. for Off-Highway Driveline Technologies, and senior H.R. manager for Europe from 2011 to 2013. She began her
Dana career in 2007, and held roles supporting Dana’s sales and purchasing organizations, and worked in global compensation and international mobility.
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ITEM 1A. RISK FACTORS

Set forth below are certain risks and uncertainties that could adversely affect our results of operations or financial condition and cause our actual results to
differ materially from those expressed in forward-looking statements made by the Company. Also refer to the Cautionary Statement Regarding Forward-Looking
Information in this Annual Report.

Risks Related to Business Environment and Economic Conditions

The extent to which the novel coronavirus (COVID-19) pandemic and measures taken in response thereto impact our business, financial condition,
results of operations and cash flows will depend on future developments, which are highly uncertain and difficult to predict.

The global spread of the COVID-19 pandemic, which originated in late 2019 and was later declared a pandemic by the World Health Organization in March
2020, has negatively impacted the global economy, disrupted supply chains and created significant volatility in global financial markets. During 2020 we took
decisive actions to enhance our financial flexibility and minimize the impact on our business, such as the ramping down of certain production facilities in response
to customer plant closures and changes in vehicle production schedules, imposing certain travel restrictions, suspending the Company’s ordinary share cash
dividend, issuing $2.3 billion combined of preferred and ordinary shares, extending substantially all of our existing Credit Agreement’s maturity to August 2022
and actively managing costs, capital spending and working capital to further strengthen our liquidity. Despite these proactive measures, the ultimate impact to our
business continues to remain highly uncertain. The extent to which the COVID-19 pandemic will impact our business will depend on a number of evolving factors,
including the duration and spread of the pandemic, as well as the possibility of the pandemic reoccurring, actions taken by governmental authorities to restrict
certain business operations, social activity and travel or other actions. Our business may also be affected by the ultimate impacts of the pandemic on economic
activity and whether recessionary conditions will persist or reoccur, consumer demand and vehicle production schedules, the ability of our supply chain to deliver
in a timely and cost-effective manner, the ability of our employees, manufacturing and distribution facilities to operate efficiently and effectively, the continued
viability and financial stability of our customers and suppliers and future access to capital, all of which remain uncertain.

The adverse impacts to Aptiv of the pandemic, which primarily affected us in the first half of 2020, included extended work stoppages and travel restrictions
at our facilities and those of our customers and suppliers, decreases in consumer demand and vehicle production schedules, disruptions to our supply chain and
other adverse global economic impacts, particularly those resulting from temporary governmental “lock-down” orders for all non-essential activities, initially in the
first quarter of 2020 in China and subsequently in Europe, North America and South America. During the second half of 2020, many of these impacts abated,
resulting in increased sales and profitability from the levels observed earlier in the year. However, during the fourth quarter of 2020, certain European and North
American countries began to initiate new governmental restrictions in response to renewed pandemic impacts and concerns, and many of these restrictions have
continued into the first quarter of 2021. As a result, due to the continuing uncertainties surrounding the impacts of the COVID-19 pandemic and resulting potential
future governmental actions and economic impacts, it is possible that these adverse impacts could continue to reoccur, resulting in further adverse impacts on our
future operating earnings and cash flows. In addition, to the extent the factors indicated above adversely affect our business, financial condition, results of
operations and cash flows, they may also have the effect of heightening many of the other risk factors in this section.

Disruptions in the supply of raw materials and other supplies that we and our customers use in our products may adversely affect our profitability.

We and our customers use a broad range of materials and supplies, including copper and other metals, petroleum-based resins, chemicals, electronic
components and semiconductors. A significant disruption in the supply of these materials for any reason could decrease our production and shipping levels, which
could materially increase our operating costs and materially decrease our profit margins.

We, as with other component manufacturers in the automotive industry, ship products to our customers’ vehicle assembly plants throughout the world so
they are delivered on a “just-in-time” basis in order to maintain low inventory levels. Our suppliers also use a similar method. However, this “just-in-time” method
makes the logistics supply chain in our industry very complex and very vulnerable to disruptions.

Such disruptions could be caused by any one of a myriad of potential problems, such as closures of one of our or our suppliers’ plants or critical
manufacturing lines due to strikes, mechanical breakdowns, electrical outages, fires, explosions or political upheaval, as well as logistical complications due to
weather, global climate change, volcanic eruptions, or other natural or nuclear disasters, mechanical failures, delayed customs processing, the spread of an
infectious disease, virus or other widespread illness and more. Additionally, as we grow in best cost countries, the risk for such disruptions is heightened. The lack
of even a small single subcomponent necessary to manufacture one of our products, for whatever reason, could force us to cease production, even for a prolonged
period. Similarly, a potential quality issue could force us to halt deliveries while we
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validate the products. Even where products are ready to be shipped, or have been shipped, delays may arise before they reach our customer. Our customers may
halt or delay their production for the same reason if one of their other suppliers fails to deliver necessary components. This may cause our customers, in turn to
suspend their orders, or instruct us to suspend delivery, of our products, which may adversely affect our financial performance.

When we fail to make timely deliveries in accordance with our contractual obligations, we generally have to absorb our own costs for identifying and solving
the “root cause” problem as well as expeditiously producing replacement components or products. Generally, we must also carry the costs associated with
“catching up,” such as overtime and premium freight.

Additionally, if we are the cause for a customer being forced to halt production, the customer may seek to recoup all of its losses and expenses from us.
These losses and expenses could be significant, and may include consequential losses such as lost profits. Any supply-chain disruption, however small, could
potentially cause the complete shutdown of an assembly line of one of our customers, and any such shutdown that is due to causes that are within our control could
expose us to material claims of compensation. Where a customer halts production because of another supplier failing to deliver on time, it is unlikely we will be
fully compensated, if at all.

The adverse impacts of the COVID-19 pandemic led to a significant vehicle production slowdown in the first half of 2020, which was followed by increased
consumer demand and vehicle production schedules in the second half of 2020, particularly in the fourth quarter. This surge in demand led to a worldwide
semiconductor supply shortage in early 2021, as semiconductor suppliers have been unable to rapidly reallocate production lines to serve the automotive industry.
We are currently assessing the potential supply chain impacts of this worldwide shortage, which may directly or indirectly impact various automotive suppliers,
and correspondingly, OEM production. We are working closely with our suppliers and customers to minimize any potential adverse impacts, and we continue to
closely monitor the availability of semiconductor microchips and other component parts and raw materials, customer vehicle production schedules and any other
supply chain inefficiencies that may arise, due to this or any other issue. However, any direct or indirect supply chain disruptions may have a material adverse
impact on our financial condition, results of operations or cash flows.

The cyclical nature of automotive sales and production can adversely affect our business.

Our business is directly related to automotive sales and automotive vehicle production by our customers. Automotive sales and production are highly cyclical
and, in addition to general economic conditions, also depend on other factors, such as consumer confidence and consumer preferences. Lower global automotive
sales would be expected to result in substantially all of our automotive OEM customers lowering vehicle production schedules, which has a direct impact on our
earnings and cash flows. In addition, automotive sales and production can be affected by labor relations issues, regulatory requirements, trade agreements, the
availability of consumer financing and other factors, including global health crises, such as the COVID-19 pandemic. Economic declines that result in a significant
reduction in automotive sales and production by our customers have in the past had, and may in the future have, an adverse effect on our business, results of
operations and financial condition.

Our sales are also affected by inventory levels and OEMs’ production levels. We cannot predict when OEMs will decide to increase or decrease inventory
levels or whether new inventory levels will approximate historical inventory levels. Uncertainty and other unexpected fluctuations could have a material adverse
effect on our business and financial condition.

A prolonged economic downturn or economic uncertainty could adversely affect our business and cause us to require additional sources of financing,
which may not be available.

Our sensitivity to economic cycles and any related fluctuation in the businesses of our customers or potential customers may have a material adverse effect
on our financial condition, results of operations or cash flows. The automotive industry experienced decreased global customer sales and production schedules in
2020, primarily due to the adverse impacts of the COVID-19 pandemic. Compared to 2019, vehicle production in 2020 decreased by 22% in Europe, 21% in North
America, 3% in China and 31% in South America, our smallest region. As a result, we have experienced and may continue to experience reductions in orders from
OEM customers in certain regions. Uncertainty relating to global or regional economic conditions may have an adverse impact on our business. A prolonged
downturn in the global or regional automotive industry, or a significant change in product mix due to consumer demand, could require us to shut down plants or
result in impairment charges, restructuring actions or changes in our valuation allowances against deferred tax assets, which could be material to our financial
condition and results of operations. If global economic conditions deteriorate or economic uncertainty increases, our customers and potential customers may
experience deterioration of their businesses, which may result in the delay or cancellation of plans to purchase our products. If vehicle production were to remain at
low levels for an extended period of time or if cash losses for customer defaults rise, our cash flow could be adversely impacted, which could result in our needing
to seek additional financing to continue our operations. There can be no assurance that we would be able to secure such financing on terms acceptable to us, or at
all.
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A drop in the market share and changes in product mix offered by our customers can impact our revenues.

We are dependent on the continued growth, viability and financial stability of our customers. Our customers generally are OEMs in the automotive industry.
This industry is subject to rapid technological change, vigorous competition, short product life cycles and cyclical, reduced consumer demand patterns and industry
consolidation. When our customers are adversely affected by these factors, we may be similarly affected to the extent that our customers reduce the volume of
orders for our products. As a result of changes impacting our customers, sales mix can shift which may have either favorable or unfavorable impacts on our
revenues and would include shifts in regional growth, shifts in OEM sales demand, as well as shifts in consumer demand related to vehicle segment purchases and
content penetration. For instance, a shift in sales demand favoring a particular OEMs’ vehicle model for which we do not have a supply contract may negatively
impact our revenue. A shift in regional sales demand toward certain markets could favorably impact the sales of those of our customers that have a large market
share in those regions, which in turn would be expected to have a favorable impact on our revenue.

The mix of vehicle offerings by our OEM customers, which can be affected by industry consolidation, also impacts our sales. For example, in January 2021,
FCA and PSA executed a merger agreement to form a new, combined company (“Stellantis”), which will represent the world’s fourth largest OEM. The merger
may result in the discontinuation of certain major vehicle brands previously marketed under the separate companies, which may have a material adverse impact on
our financial condition, results of operations or cash flows. In addition, a decrease in consumer demand for specific types of vehicles where we have traditionally
provided significant content could have a significant effect on our business and financial condition. Our sales of products in the regions in which our customers
operate also depend on the success of these customers in those regions.

We operate in the highly competitive automotive technology and component supply industry, and are dependent on the acceptance of new product
introductions for continued growth.

The global automotive technology and component supply industry is highly competitive. Competition is based primarily on price, technology, quality,
delivery and overall customer service. There can be no assurance that our products will be able to compete successfully with the products of our competitors.
Furthermore, the rapidly evolving nature of the markets in which we compete has attracted, and may continue to attract, new entrants, particularly in countries such
as China or in areas of evolving vehicle technologies such as automated driving technologies, which have attracted new entrants from outside the traditional
automotive supply industry. Additionally, consolidation in the automotive industry may lead to decreased product purchases from us. As a result, our sales levels
and margins could be adversely affected by pricing pressures from OEMs and pricing actions of competitors. These factors led to selective resourcing of business
to competitors in the past and may also do so in the future.

In addition, any of our competitors may foresee the course of market development more accurately than us, develop products that are superior to our
products, have the ability to produce similar products at a lower cost than us, adapt more quickly than us to new technologies or evolving customer requirements or
develop or introduce new products or solutions before we do, particularly related to potential transformative technologies such as autonomous driving solutions. As
a result, our products may not be able to compete successfully with their products. These trends may adversely affect our sales as well as the profit margins on our
products. If we do not continue to innovate to develop or acquire new and compelling products that capitalize upon new technologies, this could have a material
adverse impact on our results of operations.

If we do not respond appropriately, the evolution of the automotive industry towards autonomous vehicles and mobility on demand services could
adversely affect our business.

The automotive industry is increasingly focused on the development of advanced driver assistance technologies, with the goal of developing and introducing
a commercially-viable, fully automated driving experience. The high development cost of active safety and autonomous driving technologies may result in a higher
risk of exposure to the success of new or disruptive technologies different than those being developed by us. There has also been an increase in consumer
preferences for mobility on demand services, such as car- and ride-sharing, as opposed to automobile ownership, which may result in a long-term reduction in the
number of vehicles per capita. These evolving areas have also attracted increased competition from entrants outside the traditional automotive industry. If we do
not continue to innovate to develop or acquire new and compelling products that capitalize upon new technologies in response to OEM and consumer preferences,
this could have an adverse impact on our results of operations.

We have invested substantial resources in markets and technologies where we expect growth and we may be unable to timely alter our strategies should
such expectations not be realized.

Our future growth is dependent on our making the right investments at the right time to support product development and manufacturing capacity in
geographic areas where we can support our customer base and in product areas of evolving vehicle technologies. We have identified the Asia Pacific region, and
more specifically China, as a key geographic market, and have identified advanced driver assistance systems, autonomous driving technologies, mobility solutions
and high voltage
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electrification systems as key product markets. We believe these markets are likely to experience substantial long-term growth, and accordingly have made and
expect to continue to make substantial investments, both directly and through participation in various partnerships and joint ventures, in numerous manufacturing
operations, technical centers, research and development activities and other infrastructure to support anticipated growth in these areas. If we are unable to deepen
existing and develop additional customer relationships in the Asia Pacific region, or if we are unable to develop and introduce market-relevant advanced driver
assistance or autonomous driving technologies, we may not only fail to realize expected rates of return on our existing investments, but we may incur losses on
such investments and be unable to timely redeploy the invested capital to take advantage of other markets or product categories, potentially resulting in lost market
share to our competitors. Our results will also suffer if these areas do not grow as quickly as we anticipate.

We may not be able to respond quickly enough to changes in regulations, technology and technological risks, and to develop our intellectual property into
commercially viable products.

Changes in legislative, regulatory or industry requirements or in competitive technologies may render certain of our products obsolete or less attractive. Our
ability to anticipate changes in technology and regulatory standards and to successfully develop and introduce new and enhanced products on a timely basis are
significant factors in our ability to remain competitive and to maintain or increase our revenues. For example, the evolving sector of automated driver assistance
and autonomous driving technologies has led to evolving guidance issued by the U.S. Department of Transportation (“DOT”) regarding best practices for the
testing and deployment of automated driving systems, and outlining federal and state roles in the regulation of these systems, including providing state legislatures
with best practices on how to safely foster the development and introduction of automated driving technologies onto public roads. There remains potential for the
continued introduction of new and expanded regulations in this space, including potential requirements for autonomous vehicle systems to receive approval from
the DOT or other regulatory agencies prior to commercial introduction. It is also possible that regulations in this space may diverge among jurisdictions, leading to
increased compliance costs.

We cannot provide assurance that certain of our products will not become obsolete or that we will be able to achieve the technological advances that may be
necessary for us to remain competitive and maintain or increase our revenues in the future. We are also subject to the risks generally associated with new product
introductions and applications, including lack of market acceptance, delays in product development or production and failure of products to operate properly. The
pace of our development and introduction of new and improved products depends on our ability to implement successfully improved technological innovations in
design, engineering and manufacturing, which requires extensive capital investment. Any capital expenditure cuts in these areas that we may determine to
implement in the future to reduce costs and conserve cash could reduce our ability to develop and implement improved technological innovations, which may
materially reduce demand for our products.

To compete effectively in the automotive technology and components industry, we must be able to launch new products to meet changing consumer
preferences and our customers’ demand in a timely and cost-effective manner. Our ability to respond to competitive pressures and react quickly to other major
changes in the marketplace, including the potential introduction of disruptive technologies such as autonomous driving solutions or consumer desire for and
availability of vehicles with advanced driver assistance technologies or which use alternative fuels is also a risk to our future financial performance.

We cannot provide assurance that we will be able to install and certify the equipment needed to produce products for new product programs in time for the
start of production, or that the transitioning of our manufacturing facilities and resources to full production under new product programs will not impact production
rates or other operational efficiency measures at our facilities. Development and manufacturing schedules are difficult to predict, and we cannot provide assurance
that our customers will execute on schedule the launch of their new product programs, for which we might supply products. Our failure to successfully launch new
products, or a failure by our customers to successfully launch new programs, could adversely affect our results.

Certain of our businesses rely on relationships with collaborative partners and other third-parties for development of certain products and potential
products, and such collaborative partners or other third-parties could fail to perform sufficiently.

We believe that for certain of our businesses, success in developing market-relevant products depends in part on their ability to develop and maintain
collaborative relationships with other companies. In particular, the recent formation of the Motional autonomous driving joint venture with Hyundai is dependent
on the success of our relationship with our joint venture partner. There are certain risks involved in such relationships, as our collaborative partners may not devote
sufficient resources to the success of our collaborations; may be acquired by other companies and subsequently terminate our collaborative arrangement; may
compete with us; may not agree with us on key details of the collaborative relationship; or may not agree to renew existing collaborations on acceptable terms.
Because these and other factors may be beyond our control, the development or commercialization of our products involved in collaborative partnerships may be
delayed or otherwise adversely affected. If we or any of our collaborative partners terminate a collaborative arrangement, we may be required to devote additional

17



Table of Contents

resources to product development and commercialization or may need to cancel certain development programs, which could adversely affect our business and
operational results.

Declines in the market share or business of our five largest customers may adversely impact our revenues and profitability.

Our five largest customers accounted for approximately 39% of our total net sales for the year ended December 31, 2020. Accordingly, our revenues may be
adversely affected by decreases in any of their businesses or market share. For instance, certain United Automobile Workers (“UAW”) represented employees at
GM initiated a labor strike in September 2019, lasting approximately six weeks in duration. As GM is one of our largest customers, this labor strike adversely
impacted our financial condition, operating results and cash flows for the year ended December 31, 2019. In addition, because our customers typically have no
obligation to purchase a specific quantity of parts, a decline in the production levels of any of our major customers, particularly with respect to models for which
we are a significant supplier, could reduce our sales and thereby adversely affect our financial condition, operating results and cash flows.

Our business in China is subject to aggressive competition and is sensitive to economic and market conditions.

Maintaining a strong position in the Chinese market is a key component of our global growth strategy. The automotive technology and components market in
China is highly competitive, with competition from many of the largest global manufacturers and numerous smaller domestic manufacturers. As the size of the
Chinese market continues to increase over the long-term, we anticipate that additional competitors, both international and domestic, will seek to enter the Chinese
market and that existing market participants will act aggressively to increase their market share. Increased competition may result in price reductions, reduced
margins and our inability to gain or hold market share. Additionally, there have been periods of increased market volatility and moderations in the level of
economic growth in China, which resulted in periods of lower automotive production growth rates in China than those previously experienced. For example,
automotive production in China decreased by 3% in 2020, primarily due to the adverse impacts of the COVID-19 pandemic and foreign trade uncertainties, which
follows a decrease of 9% in the region in 2019. Our business in China is sensitive to economic and market conditions that drive automotive sales volumes in
China and may be impacted if there are reductions in vehicle demand in China. If we are unable to maintain our position in the Chinese market or if vehicle sales in
China continue to decrease, our business and financial results could be materially adversely affected.

We may not realize sales represented by awarded business.

We estimate awarded business using certain assumptions, including projected future sales volumes. Our customers generally do not guarantee volumes. In
addition, awarded business may include business under arrangements that our customers have the right to terminate without penalty. Therefore, our actual sales
volumes, and thus the ultimate amount of revenue that we derive from such sales, are not committed. If actual production orders from our customers are not
consistent with the projections we use in calculating the amount of our awarded business, we could realize substantially less revenue over the life of these projects
than the currently projected estimate.

Continued pricing pressures, OEM cost reduction initiatives and the ability of OEMs to re-source or cancel vehicle programs may result in lower than
anticipated margins, or losses, which may have a significant negative impact on our business.

Cost-cutting initiatives adopted by our customers result in increased downward pressure on pricing. Our customer supply agreements generally require step-
downs in component pricing over the period of production, typically one to three percent per year. In addition, our customers often reserve the right to terminate
their supply contracts for convenience, which enhances their ability to obtain price reductions. OEMs have also possessed significant leverage over their suppliers,
including us, because the automotive component supply industry is highly competitive, serves a limited number of customers, has a high fixed cost base and
historically has had excess capacity. Based on these factors, and the fact that our customers’ product programs typically last a number of years and are anticipated
to encompass large volumes, our customers are able to negotiate favorable pricing. Accordingly, as a Tier I supplier, we are subject to substantial continuing
pressure from OEMs to reduce the price of our products. For example, our customer supply agreements generally provide for annual reductions in pricing of our
products over the period of production. It is possible that pricing pressures beyond our expectations could intensify as OEMs pursue restructuring and cost-cutting
initiatives. If we are unable to generate sufficient production cost savings in the future to offset price reductions, our gross margin and profitability would be
adversely affected. See Item 1. Supply Relationships with Our Customers for a detailed discussion of our supply agreements with our customers.

Our supply agreements with our OEM customers are generally requirements contracts, and a decline in the production requirements of any of our
customers, and in particular our largest customers, could adversely impact our revenues and profitability.

We receive OEM purchase orders for specific components supplied for particular vehicles. In most instances our OEM customers agree to purchase their
requirements for specific products but are not required to purchase any minimum amount of
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products from us. The contracts we have entered into with most of our customers have terms ranging from one year to the life of the model (usually three to seven
years, although customers often reserve the right to terminate for convenience). Therefore, a significant decrease in demand for certain key models or group of
related models sold by any of our major customers or the ability of a manufacturer to re-source and discontinue purchasing from us, for a particular model or group
of models, could have a material adverse effect on us. To the extent that we do not maintain our existing level of business with our largest customers because of a
decline in their production requirements or because the contracts expire or are terminated for convenience, we will need to attract new customers or win new
business with existing customers, or our results of operations and financial condition will be adversely affected. See Item 1. Supply Relationships with Our
Customers for a detailed discussion of our supply agreements with our customers.

Adverse developments affecting one or more of our suppliers could harm our profitability.

Any significant disruption in our supplier relationships, particularly relationships with sole-source suppliers, could harm our profitability. Furthermore, some
of our suppliers may not be able to handle commodity cost volatility and/or sharply changing volumes while still performing as we expect. To the extent our
suppliers experience supply disruptions, there is a risk for delivery delays, production delays, production issues or delivery of non-conforming products by our
suppliers. Even where these risks do not materialize, we may incur costs as we try to make contingency plans for such risks.

The loss of business with respect to, or the lack of commercial success of, a vehicle model for which we are a significant supplier could adversely affect
our financial performance.

Although we receive purchase orders from our customers, these purchase orders generally provide for the supply of a customer’s requirements for a
particular vehicle model and assembly plant, rather than for the purchase of a specific quantity of products. The loss of business with respect to, or the lack of
commercial success of, a vehicle model for which we are a significant supplier could reduce our sales and thereby adversely affect our financial condition,
operating results and cash flows.

Increases in costs of the materials and other supplies that we use in our products may have a negative impact on our business.

Significant changes in the markets where we purchase materials, components and supplies for the production of our products may adversely affect our
profitability, particularly in the event of significant increases in demand where there is not a corresponding increase in supply, inflation or other pricing increases.
In recent periods there have been significant fluctuations in the global prices of copper and petroleum-based resin products, and fuel charges, which have had and
may continue to have an unfavorable impact on our business, results of operations or financial condition. Continuing volatility may have adverse effects on our
business, results of operations or financial condition. We will continue efforts to pass some supply and material cost increases onto our customers, although
competitive and market pressures have limited our ability to do that, particularly with domestic OEMs, and may prevent us from doing so in the future, because our
customers are generally not obligated to accept price increases that we may desire to pass along to them. Even where we are able to pass price increases through to
the customer, in some cases there is a lapse of time before we are able to do so. The inability to pass on price increases to our customers when raw material prices
increase rapidly or to significantly higher than historic levels could adversely affect our operating margins and cash flow, possibly resulting in lower operating
income and profitability. We expect to be continually challenged as demand for our principal raw materials and other supplies, including electronic components, is
significantly impacted by demand in emerging markets, particularly in China. We cannot provide assurance that fluctuations in commodity prices will not
otherwise have a material adverse effect on our financial condition or results of operations, or cause significant fluctuations in quarterly and annual results of
operations.

Our hedging activities to address commodity price fluctuations may not be successful in offsetting future increases in those costs or may reduce or
eliminate the benefits of any decreases in those costs.

In order to mitigate short-term volatility in operating results due to the aforementioned commodity price fluctuations, we hedge a portion of near-term
exposure to certain raw materials used in production. The results of our hedging practice could be positive, neutral or negative in any period depending on price
changes in the hedged exposures. Our hedging activities are not designed to mitigate long-term commodity price fluctuations and, therefore, will not protect from
long-term commodity price increases. Our future hedging positions may not correlate to actual raw material costs, which could cause acceleration in the
recognition of unrealized gains and losses on hedging positions in operating results.

We may encounter manufacturing challenges.

The volume and timing of sales to our customers may vary due to: variation in demand for our customers’ products; our customers’ attempts to manage their
inventory; design changes; changes in our customers’ manufacturing strategy; and acquisitions of or consolidations among customers. Due in part to these factors,
many of our customers do not commit to long-term production schedules. Our inability to forecast the level of customer orders with certainty makes it difficult to
schedule production and maximize utilization of manufacturing capacity.
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We rely on third-party suppliers for the components used in our products, and we rely on third-party manufacturers to manufacture certain of our assemblies
and finished products. Our results of operations, financial condition and cash flows could be adversely affected if our third-party suppliers lack sufficient quality
control or if there are significant changes in their financial or business condition. If our third-party manufacturers fail to deliver products, parts and components of
sufficient quality on time and at reasonable prices, we could have difficulties fulfilling our orders, sales and profits could decline, and our commercial reputation
could be damaged.

From time to time, we have underutilized our manufacturing lines. This excess capacity means we incur increased fixed costs in our products relative to the
net revenue we generate, which could have an adverse effect on our results of operations, particularly during economic downturns. If we are unable to improve
utilization levels for these manufacturing lines and correctly manage capacity, the increased expense levels will have an adverse effect on our business, financial
condition and results of operations. In addition, some of our manufacturing lines are located in China or other foreign countries that are subject to a number of
additional risks and uncertainties, including increasing labor costs, which may result from market demand or other factors, and political, social and economic
instability.

Changes in factors that impact the determination of our non-U.S. pension liabilities may adversely affect us.

Certain of our non-U.S. subsidiaries sponsor defined benefit pension plans, which generally provide benefits based on negotiated amounts for each year of
service. Our primary funded non-U.S. plans are located in Mexico and the United Kingdom and were underfunded by $73 million as of December 31, 2020. The
funding requirements of these benefit plans, and the related expense reflected in our financial statements, are affected by several factors that are subject to an
inherent degree of uncertainty and volatility, including governmental regulation. In addition to the defined benefit pension plans, we have retirement obligations
driven by requirements in many of the countries in which we operate. These legally required plans require payments at the time benefits are due. Obligations, net of
plan assets, related to these non-U.S. defined benefit pension plans and statutorily required retirement obligations totaled $539 million at December 31, 2020, of
which $21 million is included in accrued liabilities, $519 million is included in long-term liabilities and $1 million is included in long-term assets in our
consolidated balance sheets. Key assumptions used to value these benefit obligations and the cost of providing such benefits, funding requirements and expense
recognition include the discount rate and the expected long-term rate of return on pension assets. If the actual trends in these factors are less favorable than our
assumptions, this could have an adverse effect on our results of operations and financial condition.

We may suffer future asset impairment and other restructuring charges, including write downs of long-lived assets, goodwill, or intangible assets.

We have taken, are taking, and may take future restructuring actions to realign and resize our production capacity and cost structure to meet current and
projected operational and market requirements. Charges related to these actions or any further restructuring actions may have a material adverse effect on our
results of operations and financial condition. We cannot ensure that any current or future restructuring actions will be completed as planned or achieve the desired
results.

Additionally, from time to time, we have recorded asset impairment losses relating to specific plants and operations. Generally, we record asset impairment
losses when we determine that our estimates of the future undiscounted cash flows from an operation will not be sufficient to recover the carrying value of that
facility’s building, fixed assets and production tooling. For goodwill, we perform a qualitative assessment of whether it is more likely than not that a reporting
unit’s value is less than its carrying amount. If the qualitative assessment is not met, the Company then performs a quantitative assessment by comparing the
estimated fair value of each reporting unit to its carrying value, including goodwill. If the fair value of the reporting unit is less than its carrying amount, the
Company recognizes an impairment loss in an amount equal to the excess, not to exceed the amount of goodwill allocated to the reporting unit. It is possible that
we could incur such charges in the future as changes in economic or operating conditions impacting the estimates and assumptions could result in additional
impairment.

Employee strikes and labor-related disruptions involving us or one or more of our customers or suppliers may adversely affect our operations.

Our business is labor-intensive and utilizes a number of work councils and other represented employees. A strike or other form of significant work disruption
by our employees would likely have an adverse effect on our ability to operate our business. A labor dispute involving us or one or more of our customers or
suppliers or that could otherwise affect our operations could reduce our sales and harm our profitability. A labor dispute involving another supplier to our
customers that results in a slowdown or a closure of our customers’ assembly plants where our products are included in the assembled parts or vehicles could also
adversely affect our business and harm our profitability. For instance, certain UAW represented employees at GM initiated a labor strike in September 2019,
lasting approximately six weeks in duration. As GM is one of our largest customers, this labor strike adversely impacted our financial condition, operating results
and cash flows for the year ended December 31, 2019. In addition, our inability or the inability of any of our customers, our suppliers or our customers’ suppliers to
negotiate an extension of a collective bargaining agreement upon its expiration could reduce our sales and harm our profitability. Significant
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increases in labor costs as a result of the renegotiation of collective bargaining agreements could also adversely affect our business and harm our profitability.

We are exposed to foreign currency fluctuations as a result of our substantial global operations, which may affect our financial results.

We have currency exposures related to buying, selling and financing in currencies other than the local currencies of the countries in which we operate.
Approximately 66% of our net revenue for the year ended December 31, 2020 came from sales outside the U.S., which were primarily invoiced in currencies other
than the U.S. dollar, and we expect net revenue from non-U.S. markets to continue to represent a significant portion of our net revenue. Accordingly, significant
changes in currency exchange rates, particularly the Euro and Chinese Yuan (Renminbi), could cause fluctuations in the reported results of our businesses’
operations that could negatively affect our results of operations. Price increases caused by currency exchange rate fluctuations may make our products less
competitive or have an adverse effect on our margins. Currency exchange rate fluctuations may also disrupt the business of our suppliers by making their purchases
of raw materials more expensive and more difficult to finance.

Historically, we have reduced our exposure by aligning our costs in the same currency as our revenues or, if that is impracticable, through financial
instruments that provide offsets or limits to our exposures, which are opposite to the underlying transactions. However, any measures that we may implement to
reduce the effect of volatile currencies and other risks of our global operations may not be effective.

In addition, we have significant business in Europe and transact much of this business in the Euro currency, including sales and purchase contracts. Although
not as prevalent currently, concerns over the stability of the Euro currency and the economic outlook for many European countries, including those that do not use
the Euro as their currency, persist. Given the broad range of possible outcomes, it is difficult to fully assess the implications on our business. Some of the potential
outcomes could significantly impact our operations. In the event of a country redenominating its currency away from the Euro, the potential impact could be
material to operations. We cannot provide assurance that fluctuations in currency exposures will not have a material adverse effect on our financial condition or
results of operations, or cause significant fluctuations in quarterly and annual results of operations.

We face risks associated with doing business in various national and local jurisdictions.

The majority of our manufacturing and distribution facilities are in countries outside of the U.S., including Mexico, China and other countries in Asia
Pacific, Eastern and Western Europe, South America and Northern Africa. We also purchase raw materials and other supplies from many different countries around
the world. For the year ended December 31, 2020, approximately 66% of our net revenue came from sales outside the U.S. International operations are subject to
certain risks inherent in doing business abroad, including:

• exposure to local economic, political and labor conditions;
• unexpected changes in laws, regulations, trade or monetary or fiscal policy, including interest rates, foreign currency exchange rates and changes in the

rate of inflation in the U.S. and other foreign countries;
• tariffs, quotas, customs and other import or export restrictions and other trade barriers;
• expropriation and nationalization;
• difficulty of enforcing agreements, collecting receivables and protecting assets through non-U.S. legal systems;
• reduced technology, data or intellectual property protections;
• limitations on repatriation of earnings;
• withholding and other taxes on remittances and other payments by subsidiaries;
• investment restrictions or requirements;
• violence and civil unrest in local countries; and
• compliance with the requirements of an increasing body of applicable anti-bribery laws, including the U.S. Foreign Corrupt Practices Act, the U.K.

Bribery Act and similar laws of various other countries.

Additionally, our global operations may also be adversely affected by political events, domestic or international terrorist events and hostilities, complications
due to natural, nuclear or other disasters or the spread of an infectious disease, virus or other widespread illness. For instance, the global spread of COVID-19,
which originated in late 2019 and was later declared a pandemic by the World Health Organization in March 2020, caused certain governmental authorities
worldwide to initiate “lock-down” orders for all non-essential activities, which at times, has included extended shutdowns of businesses in the impacted regions. In
addition, government changes in Mexico have yielded requirements for increases in minimum wages throughout the country. These or any further political or
governmental developments or health concerns in Mexico, China or
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other countries in which we operate could result in social, economic and labor instability. These uncertainties could have a material adverse effect on the continuity
of our business and our results of operations and financial condition.

Existing free trade laws and regulations, such as the United States-Mexico-Canada Agreement, provide certain beneficial duties and tariffs for qualifying
imports and exports, subject to compliance with the applicable classification and other requirements. Changes in laws or policies governing the terms of foreign
trade, and in particular increased trade restrictions, tariffs or taxes on imports from countries where we manufacture products, such as China and Mexico, could
have a material adverse affect on our business and financial results. For instance, beginning in 2018, the U.S. and Chinese governments have imposed a series of
significant incremental retaliatory tariffs to certain imported products. Most notably with respect to the automotive industry, the U.S. imposed tariffs on imports of
certain steel, aluminum and automotive components, and China imposed retaliatory tariffs on imports of U.S. vehicles and certain automotive components. Despite
recent trade negotiations between the U.S. and Chinese governments, given the uncertainty regarding the scope and duration of the imposed tariffs, as well as the
potential for additional tariffs or trade barriers by the U.S., China or other countries, we can provide no assurance that any strategies we implement to mitigate the
impact of such tariffs or other trade actions will be successful.

Increasing our manufacturing footprint in Asian markets, including China, and our business relationships with Asian automotive manufacturers are important
elements of our long-term strategy. In addition, our strategy includes increasing revenue and expanding our manufacturing footprint in lower-cost regions. As a
result, our exposure to the risks described above may be greater in the future. The likelihood of such occurrences and their potential impact on us vary from country
to country and are unpredictable.

The United Kingdom’s exit from the European Union may adversely affect our business and profitability.

The United Kingdom (“U.K.”) and Europe agreed to terms for the U.K.’s exit from the European Union (“E.U.”), commonly referred to as “Brexit,” on
December 24, 2020 and became effective on December 31, 2020. Under these terms, the U.K. and E.U. will continue to be able to trade on a tariff-free basis,
though companies will be required to file customs and duty declarations for the cross border movement of goods, similar in nature to other border crossings. These
compliance requirements will be effective beginning in early 2021 and may take several months to complete. During the implementation phase, our cross border
shipments between the U.K. and E.U., and those of our customers and suppliers, may be subject to delays and restrictions which may adversely affect European
and worldwide economic and market conditions. Potential adverse impacts of this phase may include reduced vehicle production, reduced global market liquidity
and restrictions on the ability of key market participants to operate in certain financial markets which could contribute to instability in global financial and foreign
exchange markets, including increased volatility in interest rates and foreign exchange rates. Although we do not have a material physical presence in the U.K.,
with less than 1% of our workforce located in the U.K. and approximately 2% of our annual net sales generated in the U.K., the potential impacts of Brexit could
adversely impact other global economies, and in particular, the European economy, a region which accounted for approximately 34% of our total net sales for the
year ended December 31, 2020. We continue to actively monitor the ongoing potential impacts of Brexit and will seek to minimize the impacts on our business
through review of our existing contractual arrangements and obligations, particularly in the European region. Any of these effects of Brexit, among others, could
adversely affect our business, business opportunities, results of operations, financial condition and cash flows.

If we fail to manage our growth effectively or to integrate successfully any new or future business ventures, acquisitions or strategic alliance into our
business, our business could be materially adversely harmed.

We have completed a number of acquisitions in recent years, most recently the acquisition of Dynawave Inc., and we expect to continue to pursue business
ventures, acquisitions, and strategic alliances that leverage our technology capabilities, enhance our customer base, geographic penetration and scale to
complement our current businesses and we regularly evaluate potential opportunities, some of which could be material. While we believe that such transactions are
an integral part of our long-term strategy, there are risks and uncertainties related to these activities. Assessing a potential growth opportunity involves extensive
due diligence. However, the amount of information we can obtain about a potential growth opportunity may be limited, and we can give no assurance that new
business ventures, acquisitions, and strategic alliances will positively affect our financial performance or will perform as planned. We may not be able to
successfully assimilate or integrate companies that we acquire, including their personnel, financial systems, distribution, operations and general operating
procedures. We may also encounter challenges in achieving appropriate internal control over financial reporting in connection with the integration of an acquired
company. If we fail to assimilate or integrate acquired companies successfully, our business, reputation and operating results could be materially impacted.
Likewise, our failure to integrate and manage acquired companies successfully may lead to future impairment of any associated goodwill and intangible asset
balances.
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We depend on information technology to conduct our business. Any significant disruptions to our information technology systems or facilities, or those of
third parties with which we do business, such as disruptions caused by cyber-attacks, could adversely impact our business.

Our ability to keep our business operating effectively depends on the functional and efficient operation of information technology systems and facilities, both
internally and externally. We rely on these systems to, among other things, make a variety of day-to-day business decisions as well as to record and process
transactions, billings, payments, inventory and other data, in many currencies, on a daily basis, and across numerous and diverse markets and jurisdictions. Our
systems, as well as those of our customers, suppliers, partners and service providers, also contain sensitive confidential information or intellectual property and are
susceptible to interruptions (including those caused by systems failures, cyber-attacks and other natural or man-made incidents or disasters), which may be
prolonged or go undetected. Cyber-attacks, both domestically and abroad, are increasing in their frequency, sophistication and intensity, and have become
increasingly difficult to detect. Although we have and continue to take precautions to prevent, detect and mitigate such events, including geographically diverse
data centers, redundant infrastructure and the implementation of security measures, a significant or large-scale interruption of our information technology systems
or facilities could adversely affect our ability to manage and keep our operations running efficiently and effectively, and could result in significant costs, fines or
litigation. An incident that results in a wider or sustained disruption to our business or products could have a material adverse effect on our business, financial
condition and results of operations.

Additionally, certain of our products contain complex information technology systems designed to support today’s increasingly connected vehicles, and
could be susceptible to similar interruptions, including the possibility of unauthorized access. Further, as we transition to offering more cloud-based solutions
which are dependent on the Internet or other networks to operate, we may increasingly be the target of cyber threats, including computer viruses or breaches due to
misconduct of employees, contractors or others who have access to our networks and systems, or those of third parties with which we do business. Although we
have designed and implemented security measures to prevent and detect such unauthorized access or cyber threats from occurring, there can be no assurance that
vulnerabilities will not be identified in the future, or that our security efforts will be successful. Any unauthorized access to our components could negatively affect
our brand and harm our business, prospects, financial condition and operating results. Further, maintaining and updating these systems may require significant
costs and often involves implementation, integration and security risks, including risks that we may not adequately anticipate the market or technological trends or
that we may experience unexpected challenges that could cause financial, reputational and operational harm. However, failing to properly respond to and invest in
information technology advancements may limit our ability to attract and retain customers, prevent us from offering similar products and services as those offered
by our competitors or inhibit our ability to meet regulatory or other requirements.

To date, we have not experienced a system failure, cyber-attack or security breach that has resulted in a material interruption in our operations or material
adverse effect on our financial condition. Our Board of Directors regularly reviews relevant information technology and cyber security matters and receives
periodic updates from information technology and cyber security subject matter experts as part of its risk assessment procedures, including analysis of existing and
emerging risks, as well as plans and strategies to address those risks. While we continuously seek to expand and improve our information technology systems and
maintain adequate disclosure controls and procedures, there can be no assurance that such measures will prevent interruptions or security breaches that could
adversely affect our business.

Risks Related to Legal, Regulatory, Tax and Accounting Matters

We may incur material losses and costs as a result of warranty claims, product recalls, product liability and intellectual property infringement actions
that may be brought against us.

We face an inherent business risk of exposure to warranty claims and product liability in the event that our products fail to perform as expected and, in the
case of product liability, such failure of our products results in bodily injury and/or property damage. The fabrication of the products we manufacture is a complex
and precise process. Our customers specify quality, performance and reliability standards. If flaws in either the design or manufacture of our products were to
occur, we could experience a rate of failure in our products that could result in significant delays in shipment and product re-work or replacement costs. Although
we engage in extensive product quality programs and processes, these may not be sufficient to avoid product failures, which could cause us to:

• lose net revenue;
• incur increased costs such as warranty expense and costs associated with customer support;
• experience delays, cancellations or rescheduling of orders for our products;
• experience increased product returns or discounts; or
• damage our reputation,
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all of which could negatively affect our financial condition and results of operations.

If any of our products are or are alleged to be defective, we may be required to participate in a recall involving such products. Each vehicle manufacturer has
its own practices regarding product recalls and other product liability actions relating to its suppliers. However, as suppliers become more integrally involved in the
vehicle design process and assume more of the vehicle assembly functions, OEMs continue to look to their suppliers for contribution when faced with recalls and
product liability claims. A recall claim brought against us, or a product liability claim brought against us in excess of our available insurance, may have a material
adverse effect on our business. OEMs also require their suppliers to guarantee or warrant their products and bear the costs of repair and replacement of such
products under new vehicle warranties. Depending on the terms under which we supply products to a vehicle manufacturer, a vehicle manufacturer may attempt to
hold us responsible for some or all of the repair or replacement costs of defective products under new vehicle warranties when the OEM asserts that the product
supplied did not perform as warranted. Although we cannot ensure that the future costs of warranty claims by our customers will not be material, we believe our
established reserves are adequate to cover potential warranty settlements. Our warranty reserves are based on our best estimates of amounts necessary to settle
future and existing claims. We regularly evaluate the level of these reserves and adjust them when appropriate. However, the final amounts determined to be due
related to these matters could differ materially from our recorded estimates.

In addition, as we adopt new technology, we face an inherent risk of exposure to the claims of others that we have allegedly violated their intellectual
property rights. We cannot ensure that we will not experience any material warranty, product liability or intellectual property claim losses in the future or that we
will not incur significant costs to defend such claims.

We may be adversely affected by laws or regulations, including environmental regulation, litigation or other liabilities.

We are subject to various U.S. federal, state and local, and non-U.S., laws and regulations, including those related to environmental, health and safety,
financial and other matters.

We cannot predict the substance or impact of pending or future legislation or regulations, or the application thereof. The introduction of new laws or
regulations or changes in existing laws or regulations, or the interpretations thereof, could increase the costs of doing business for us or our customers or suppliers
or restrict our actions and adversely affect our financial condition, operating results and cash flows.

We are subject to regulation governing, among other things:

• the generation, storage, handling, use, transportation, presence of, or exposure to hazardous materials;
• the emission and discharge of hazardous materials into the ground, air or water;
• the incorporation of certain chemical substances into our products, including electronic equipment; and
• the health and safety of our employees.

We are also required to obtain permits from governmental authorities for certain operations. We cannot assure you that we have been or will be at all times in
complete compliance with such laws, regulations and permits. If we violate or fail to comply with these laws, regulations or permits, we could be fined or
otherwise sanctioned by regulators. We could also be held liable for any and all consequences arising out of human exposure to hazardous substances or other
environmental damage.

Certain environmental laws impose liability, sometimes regardless of fault, for investigating or cleaning up contamination on or emanating from our
currently or formerly owned, leased or operated property, as well as for damages to property or natural resources and for personal injury arising out of such
contamination. Some of these environmental laws may also assess liability on persons who arrange for hazardous substances to be sent to third-party disposal or
treatment facilities when such facilities are found to be contaminated. At this time, we are involved in various stages of investigation and cleanup related to
environmental remediation matters at a number of present and former facilities. The ultimate cost to us of site cleanups is difficult to predict given the uncertainties
regarding the extent of the required cleanup, the potential for ongoing environmental monitoring and maintenance that could be required for many years, the
interpretation of applicable laws and regulations, alternative cleanup methods, and potential agreements that could be reached with governmental and third parties.
While we have environmental reserves of approximately $4 million at December 31, 2020 for the cleanup of presently-known environmental contamination
conditions, it cannot be guaranteed that actual costs will not significantly exceed these reserves. We also could be named as a potentially responsible party at
additional sites in the future and the costs associated with such future sites may be material.

In addition, environmental laws are complex, change frequently and have tended to become more stringent over time. While we have budgeted for future
capital and operating expenditures to maintain compliance with environmental laws, we cannot ensure that environmental laws will not change or become more
stringent in the future. Therefore, we cannot ensure that our costs of complying with current and future environmental and health and safety laws, and our liabilities
arising from past or future releases of, or exposure to, hazardous substances will not adversely affect our business, results of operations or financial
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condition. For example, adoption of greenhouse gas rules in jurisdictions in which we operate facilities could require installation of emission controls, acquisition
of emission credits, emission reductions, or other measures that could be costly, and could also impact utility rates and increase the amount we spend annually for
energy.

We may identify the need for additional environmental remediation or demolition obligations relating to facility divestiture, closure and decommissioning
activities.

As we sell, close and/or demolish facilities around the world, environmental investigations and assessments will continue to be performed. We may identify
previously unknown environmental conditions or further delineate known conditions that may require remediation or additional costs related to demolition or
decommissioning, such as abatement of asbestos containing materials or removal of storage tanks. Such costs could exceed our reserves.

We are involved from time to time in legal proceedings and commercial or contractual disputes, which could have an adverse impact on our profitability
and consolidated financial position.

We are involved in legal proceedings and commercial or contractual disputes that, from time to time, are significant. These are typically claims that arise in
the normal course of business including, without limitation, commercial or contractual disputes, including warranty claims and other disputes with customers and
suppliers; intellectual property matters; personal injury claims; environmental issues; tax matters; and employment matters.

In addition, we conduct significant business operations in Brazil that are subject to the Brazilian federal labor, social security, environmental, tax and
customs laws as well as a variety of state and local laws. While we believe we comply with such laws, they are complex, subject to varying interpretations, and we
are often engaged in litigation with government agencies regarding the application of these laws to particular circumstances. As of December 31, 2020, the
majority of claims asserted against Aptiv in Brazil relate to such litigation. The remaining claims relate to commercial and labor litigation with private parties in
Brazil. As of December 31, 2020, claims totaling approximately $105 million (using December 31, 2020 foreign currency rates) have been asserted against Aptiv
in Brazil. As of December 31, 2020, we maintained reserves for these asserted claims of approximately $20 million (using December 31, 2020 foreign currency
rates).

While we believe our reserves are adequate, the final amounts required to resolve these matters could differ materially from our recorded estimates and our
results of operations could be materially affected.

For further information regarding our legal matters, see Item 3. Legal Proceedings. No assurance can be given that such proceedings and claims will not have
a material adverse effect on our profitability and consolidated financial position.

Developments or assertions by us or against us relating to intellectual property rights could materially impact our business.

We own significant intellectual property, including a large number of patents and trade names, and are involved in numerous licensing arrangements. Our
intellectual property plays an important role in maintaining our competitive position in a number of the markets we serve. Developments or assertions by or against
us relating to intellectual property rights could negatively impact our business. Significant technological developments by others also could materially and
adversely affect our business and results of operations and financial condition.

Taxing authorities could challenge our historical and future tax positions.

Our future effective tax rates could be affected by changes in the mix of earnings in countries with differing statutory rates and changes in tax laws or their
interpretation including changes related to tax holidays or tax incentives. Our taxes could increase if certain tax holidays or incentives are not renewed upon
expiration, or if tax rates or regimes applicable to us in such jurisdictions are otherwise increased. Existing income tax laws, regulations and related international
agreements provide guidance and direction on the allocations of income and applicable taxing rights among the countries in which we operate. Changes in these
guidelines are being contemplated at the local, national, regional (particularly in the E.U.), and global levels (through organizations like the G20 and the
Organisation for Economic Co-operation and Development). Any changes, especially if made inconsistently, could have a materially adverse impact on our
financial results.

The amount of tax we pay is subject to our interpretation of applicable tax laws in the jurisdictions in which we file. We have taken and will continue to take
tax positions based on our interpretation of such tax laws. Additionally, in determining the adequacy of our provision for income taxes, we regularly assess the
likelihood of adverse outcomes resulting from tax examinations. While it is often difficult to predict the final outcome or the timing of the resolution of a tax
examination, our reserves for uncertain tax benefits reflect the outcome of tax positions that are more likely than not to occur. While we believe that we have
complied with all applicable tax laws, there can be no assurance that a taxing authority will not have a different interpretation of the law and assess us with
additional taxes. Should additional taxes be assessed, this may result in a material adverse effect on our results of operations and financial condition.
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General Risk Factors

Any changes in consumer credit availability or cost of borrowing could adversely affect our business.

Declines in the availability of consumer credit and increases in consumer borrowing costs have negatively impacted global automotive sales and resulted in
lower production volumes in the past. Substantial declines in automotive sales and production by our customers could have a material adverse effect on our
business, results of operations and financial condition.

We may lose or fail to attract and retain key salaried employees and management personnel.

An important aspect of our competitiveness is our ability to attract and retain key salaried employees and management personnel. Our ability to do so is
influenced by a variety of factors, including the compensation we award and the competitive market position of our overall compensation package. We may not be
as successful as competitors at recruiting, assimilating and retaining highly skilled personnel. The loss of the services of any member of senior management or a
key salaried employee could have an adverse effect on our business.

ITEM 1B. UNRESOLVED STAFF COMMENTS

We have no unresolved SEC staff comments to report.

ITEM 2. PROPERTIES

As of December 31, 2020, we owned or leased 124 major manufacturing sites and 12 major technical centers. A manufacturing site may include multiple
plants and may be wholly or partially owned or leased. We also have many smaller manufacturing sites, sales offices, warehouses, engineering centers, joint
ventures and other investments strategically located throughout the world. We have a presence in 44 countries. The following table shows the regional distribution
of our major manufacturing sites by the operating segment that uses such facilities:

North America

Europe, 
Middle East 

& Africa Asia Pacific South America Total
Signal and Power Solutions 43 34 31 5 113 
Advanced Safety and User Experience 2 5 4 — 11 

Total 45 39 35 5 124 

In addition to these manufacturing sites, we had 12 major technical centers: five in North America; two in Europe, Middle East and Africa; and five in Asia
Pacific.

Of our 124 major manufacturing sites and 12 major technical centers, which include facilities owned or leased by our consolidated subsidiaries, 63 are
primarily owned and 73 are primarily leased.

We frequently review our real estate portfolio and develop footprint strategies to support our customers’ global plans, while at the same time supporting our
technical needs and controlling operating expenses. We believe our evolving portfolio will meet current and anticipated future needs.

ITEM 3. LEGAL PROCEEDINGS

We are from time to time subject to various actions, claims, suits, government investigations, and other proceedings incidental to our business, including
those arising out of alleged defects, breach of contracts, competition and antitrust matters, product warranties, intellectual property matters, personal injury claims
and employment-related matters. It is our opinion that the outcome of such matters will not have a material adverse impact on our consolidated financial position,
results of operations, or cash flows. With respect to warranty matters, although we cannot ensure that the future costs of warranty claims by customers will not be
material, we believe our established reserves are adequate to cover potential warranty settlements. However, the final amounts required to resolve these matters
could differ materially from our recorded estimates.

Brazil Matters

Aptiv conducts business operations in Brazil that are subject to the Brazilian federal labor, social security, environmental, tax and customs laws, as well as a
variety of state and local laws. While Aptiv believes it complies with such laws, they are complex, subject to varying interpretations, and the Company is often
engaged in litigation with government agencies regarding the application of these laws to particular circumstances. As of December 31, 2020, the majority of
claims asserted against
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Aptiv in Brazil relate to such litigation. The remaining claims in Brazil relate to commercial and labor litigation with private parties. As of December 31, 2020,
claims totaling approximately $105 million (using December 31, 2020 foreign currency rates) have been asserted against Aptiv in Brazil. As of December 31,
2020, the Company maintains accruals for these asserted claims of $20 million (using December 31, 2020 foreign currency rates). The amounts accrued represent
claims that are deemed probable of loss and are reasonably estimable based on the Company’s analyses and assessment of the asserted claims and prior experience
with similar matters. While the Company believes its accruals are adequate, the final amounts required to resolve these matters could differ materially from the
Company’s recorded estimates and Aptiv’s results of operations could be materially affected. The Company estimates the reasonably possible loss in excess of the
amounts accrued related to these claims to be zero to $85 million.

ITEM 4. MINE SAFETY DISCLOSURES

Not applicable.
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PART II
ITEM 5. MARKET FOR REGISTRANT’S COMMON EQUITY, RELATED STOCKHOLDER MATTERS AND ISSUER PURCHASES OF EQUITY
SECURITIES

Our ordinary shares have been publicly traded since November 17, 2011 when our ordinary shares were listed and began trading on the New York Stock
Exchange (“NYSE”) under the symbol “DLPH.” On December 4, 2017, following the spin-off of Delphi Technologies, the Company changed its name to Aptiv
PLC and its NYSE symbol to “APTV.”

As of January 29, 2021, there were 2 shareholders of record of our ordinary shares.

The following graph reflects the comparative changes in the value from December 31, 2015 through December 31, 2020, assuming an initial investment of
$100 and the reinvestment of dividends, if any in (1) our ordinary shares, (2) the S&P 500 index and (3) the Automotive Peer Group. Historical share prices of our
ordinary shares have been adjusted to reflect the Separation. Historical performance may not be indicative of future shareholder returns.

Stock Performance Graph

*    $100 invested on December 31, 2015 in our stock or in the relevant index, including reinvestment of dividends. Fiscal year ended December 31, 2020.
(1) Aptiv PLC, adjusted for the distribution of Delphi Technologies on December 4, 2017
(2) S&P 500 – Standard & Poor’s 500 Total Return Index
(3) Automotive Peer Group – Adient Plc, American Axle & Manufacturing Holdings Inc, Aptiv PLC, Borgwarner Inc, Cooper Tire & Rubber Co, Cooper-standard Holdings Inc, Dana Inc,

Dorman Products Inc, Ford Motor Co, General Motors Co, Gentex Corp, Gentherm Inc, Genuine Parts Co, Goodyear Tire & Rubber Co, Lear Corp, Lkq Corp, Meritor Inc, Motorcar
Parts Of America Inc, Standard Motor Products Inc, Stoneridge Inc, Tenneco Inc, Tesla Inc, Visteon Corp

Company Index
December 31,

2015
December 31,

2016
December 31,

2017
December 31,

2018
December 31,

2019
December 31,

2020
Aptiv PLC (1) $ 100.00 $ 79.94 $ 121.83 $ 89.29 $ 139.19 $ 191.42 
S&P 500 (2) 100.00 111.96 136.40 130.42 171.49 203.04 
Automotive Peer Group (3) 100.00 99.50 123.77 98.95 122.30 393.86 
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Equity Compensation Plan Information

The table below contains information about securities authorized for issuance under equity compensation plans. The features of these plans are discussed
further in Note 21. Share-Based Compensation to our audited consolidated financial statements.

Plan Category

Number of Securities to be Issued Upon
Exercise of Outstanding Options,

Warrants and Rights (a)

Weighted-Average Exercise
Price of Outstanding Options,

Warrants and Rights (b)

Number of Securities
Remaining Available for Future

Issuance Under Equity
Compensation Plans

(excluding securities reflected in column
(a)) (c)

Equity compensation plans approved by security
holders 2,087,438 (1) $ — (2) 13,745,696 (3)

Equity compensation plans not approved by security
holders — — — 
Total 2,087,438 — 13,745,696 

(1) Includes (a) 51,674 outstanding restricted stock units granted to our Board of Directors and (b) 2,035,764 outstanding time- and performance-based restricted stock units granted to our
employees. All grants were made under the Aptiv PLC Long Term Incentive Plan, as amended and restated effective April 23, 2015 (the “PLC LTIP”). Includes accrued dividend
equivalents.

(2) The restricted stock units have no exercise price.
(3) Remaining shares available under the PLC LTIP.

Repurchase of Equity Securities

There were no repurchases of equity securities during the quarter ended December 31, 2020. In January 2019, the Board of Directors authorized a share
repurchase program of up to $2.0 billion. This program will commence following the completion of the previously announced share repurchase program of $1.5
billion, which was approved by the Board of Directors in April 2016. As of December 31, 2020, approximately $2,013 million remained available for repurchases
pursuant to these programs.

ITEM 6. SELECTED FINANCIAL DATA

The following selected consolidated financial data were derived from our audited consolidated financial statements and should be read in conjunction with,
and are qualified by reference to, Item 7. Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations and the audited consolidated
financial statements and notes thereto included elsewhere in this Annual Report. The financial information presented may not be indicative of our future
performance.

The assets and liabilities and operating results for the previously reported Powertrain Systems and Thermal Systems segments have been reclassified as
discontinued operations separate from the Company’s continuing operations for all periods presented.
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 Year Ended December 31,
2020 2019 2018 2017 2016

 (dollars and shares in millions, except per share data)
Statements of operations data:
Net sales $ 13,066 $ 14,357 $ 14,435 $ 12,884 $ 12,274 
Depreciation and amortization (1) 764 717 676 546 489 
Operating income (2) 2,118 1,276 1,473 1,416 1,539 
Interest expense (164) (164) (141) (140) (155)
Income from continuing operations 1,822 1,009 1,107 1,063 868 
Income from discontinued operations, net of tax — — — 365 458 
Net income 1,822 1,009 1,107 1,428 1,326 
Net income attributable to noncontrolling interest 18 19 40 73 69 
Net income attributable to Aptiv 1,804 990 1,067 1,355 1,257 
Mandatory Convertible Preferred Share dividends (35) — — — — 
Net income attributable to ordinary shareholders 1,769 990 1,067 1,355 1,257 

Net income per share data:
Basic net income per share:

Continuing operations $ 6.72 $ 3.85 $ 4.04 $ 3.82 $ 3.05 
Discontinued operations — — — 1.25 1.55 
Basic net income per share attributable to ordinary shareholders $ 6.72 $ 3.85 $ 4.04 $ 5.07 $ 4.60 

Diluted net income per share:
Continuing operations $ 6.66 $ 3.85 $ 4.02 $ 3.81 $ 3.05 
Discontinued operations — — — 1.25 1.54 
Diluted net income per share attributable to ordinary shareholders $ 6.66 $ 3.85 $ 4.02 $ 5.06 $ 4.59 

Weighted average shares outstanding 263 257 264 267 273 
Cash dividends declared and paid per ordinary share $ 0.22 $ 0.88 $ 0.88 $ 1.16 $ 1.16 

Other financial data:
Capital expenditures $ 584 $ 781 $ 846 $ 698 $ 657 
Adjusted operating income (3) 867 1,548 1,751 1,594 1,623 
Adjusted operating income margin (4) 6.6 % 10.8 % 12.1 % 12.4 % 13.2 %
Net cash provided by operating activities (5) $ 1,413 $ 1,624 $ 1,628 $ 1,468 $ 1,941 
Net cash used in investing activities (5) (626) (1,111) (2,048) (1,252) (578)
Net cash provided by (used in) financing activities (5) 1,613 (649) (555) 456 (1,081)

As of December 31,
2020 2019 2018 2017 2016

(in millions, except employee data)
Balance sheet and employment data:
Cash and cash equivalents $ 2,821 $ 412 $ 567 $ 1,596 $ 737 
Total assets (6) $ 17,522 $ 13,459 $ 12,480 $ 12,169 $ 12,292 
Total debt $ 4,101 $ 4,364 $ 4,344 $ 4,149 $ 3,963 
Working capital, as defined (7) $ 1,538 $ 1,392 $ 1,430 $ 1,296 $ 1,169 
Shareholders’ equity $ 8,100 $ 4,011 $ 3,670 $ 3,517 $ 2,763 
Global employees (8) 151,000 141,000 143,000 129,000 145,000 
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(1) Includes long-lived and intangible asset impairments.
(2) The year ended December 31, 2020 includes a pre-tax gain of $1.4 billion for the completion of the Motional autonomous driving joint venture, as further discussed in Note 24. Held for

Sale to the audited consolidated financial statements contained herein.
(3) Adjusted Operating Income represents net income before interest expense, other income (expense), net, income tax expense, equity income (loss), net of tax, income (loss) from

discontinued operations, net of tax, restructuring, other acquisition and portfolio project costs (which includes costs incurred to integrate acquired businesses and to plan and execute
product portfolio transformation actions, including business and product acquisitions and divestitures), asset impairments, gains (losses) on business divestitures and other transactions
and deferred compensation related to acquisitions. Adjusted Operating Income is presented as a supplemental measure of the Company’s financial performance which management
believes is useful to investors in assessing the Company’s ongoing financial performance that, when reconciled to the corresponding U.S. GAAP measure, provides improved
comparability between periods through the exclusion of certain items that management believes are not indicative of the Company’s core operating performance and which may obscure
underlying business results and trends. Our management utilizes Adjusted Operating Income in its financial decision making process, to evaluate performance of the Company and for
internal reporting, planning and forecasting purposes. Management also utilizes Adjusted Operating Income as the key performance measure of segment income or loss and for planning
and forecasting purposes to allocate resources to our segments, as management also believes this measure is most reflective of the operational profitability or loss of our operating
segments. Adjusted Operating Income should not be considered a substitute for results prepared in accordance with U.S. GAAP and should not be considered an alternative to net
income attributable to Aptiv, which is the most directly comparable financial measure to Adjusted Operating Income that is in accordance with U.S. GAAP. Adjusted Operating Income,
as determined and measured by Aptiv, should also not be compared to similarly titled measures reported by other companies.
The reconciliation of Adjusted Operating Income to operating income includes restructuring, other acquisition and portfolio project costs (which includes costs incurred to integrate
acquired businesses and to plan and execute product portfolio transformation actions, including business and product acquisitions and divestitures), asset impairments, gains (losses) on
business divestitures and other transactions and deferred compensation related to acquisitions. The reconciliation of Adjusted Operating Income to net income attributable to the
Company is as follows:

 Year Ended December 31,
 2020 2019 2018 2017 2016

(in millions)
Net income attributable to Aptiv $ 1,804 $ 990 $ 1,067 $ 1,355 $ 1,257 
Net income attributable to noncontrolling interest 18 19 40 73 69 
Income from discontinued operations, net of tax — — — (365) (458)

Income from continuing operations 1,822 1,009 1,107 1,063 868 
Equity loss (income), net of tax 83 (15) (23) (31) (35)
Income tax expense 49 132 250 223 167 
Other (income) expense, net (a) — (14) (2) 21 384 
Interest expense 164 164 141 140 155 

Operating income (b) 2,118 1,276 1,473 1,416 1,539 
Restructuring 136 148 109 129 167 
Other acquisition and portfolio project costs 23 71 78 28 57 
Asset impairments 10 11 34 9 1 
Gain on business divestitures and other transactions (1,434) — — — (141)
Deferred compensation related to acquisitions 14 42 57 12 — 

Adjusted operating income (b) $ 867 $ 1,548 $ 1,751 $ 1,594 $ 1,623 

(a)    During the year ended December 31, 2016, the Company recorded a reserve of $300 million for litigation related to general unsecured claims against the former Delphi Corporation.
(b)    On December 30, 2016, we completed the sale of our Mechatronics business. Given the timing of the divestiture, the operating results of this business are reflected in our 2016 results

and impacts comparability to 2017 results.

(4) Adjusted operating income margin is defined as adjusted operating income as a percentage of net sales.
(5) Includes amounts attributable to discontinued operations.
(6) The adoption of Accounting Standards Update (“ASU”) 2016-02, Leases, resulted in the recognition of operating lease right-of-use assets in the consolidated balance sheet as of

December 31, 2019, which impacts comparability to 2018 and prior periods.
(7) Working capital is calculated herein as accounts receivable plus inventories less accounts payable.
(8) Excludes temporary and contract workers. As of December 31, 2020, we employed approximately 33,000 temporary and contract workers. Periods prior to December 31, 2017 include

employees of discontinued operations.
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ITEM 7. MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS OF FINANCIAL CONDITION AND RESULTS OF OPERATIONS

The following management’s discussion and analysis of financial condition and results of operations (“MD&A”) is intended to help you understand the
business operations and financial condition of the Company for the period ended December 31, 2020. This discussion should be read in conjunction with Item 8.
Financial Statements and Supplementary Data. Our MD&A is presented in seven sections:

• Executive Overview
• Consolidated Results of Operations
• Results of Operations by Segment
• Liquidity and Capital Resources
• Off-Balance Sheet Arrangements and Other Matters
• Significant Accounting Policies and Critical Accounting Estimates
• Recently Issued Accounting Pronouncements

Executive Overview

Our Business

We are a leading global technology and mobility company primarily serving the automotive sector. We design and manufacture vehicle components and
provide electrical, electronic and active safety technology solutions to the global automotive market, creating the software and hardware foundation for vehicle
features and functionality. We enable and deliver end-to-end smart mobility solutions, active safety and autonomous driving technologies and provide enhanced
user experience and connected services. Our Advanced Safety and User Experience segment is focused on providing the necessary software and advanced
computing platforms, and our Signal and Power Solutions segment is focused on providing the requisite networking architecture required to support the integrated
systems in today’s complex vehicles. Together, our businesses develop the ‘brain’ and the ‘nervous system’ of increasingly complex vehicles, providing integration
of the vehicle into its operating environment.

We are one of the largest vehicle component manufacturers, and our customers include 23 of the 25 largest automotive OEMs in the world.

Business Strategy

We believe the Company is well-positioned for growth from increasing global vehicle production volumes, increased demand for our Safe, Green and
Connected products which are being added to vehicle content, and new business wins with existing and new customers. We are focused on accelerating the
commercialization of active safety, autonomous driving, enhanced user experiences and connected services, providing the software, advanced computing platforms
and networking architecture required to do so. We have successfully created a competitive cost structure while investing in research and development to grow our
product offerings, which are aligned with the high-growth industry mega-trends, and re-aligned our manufacturing footprint into an efficient, low-cost regional
service model, focused on increasing our profit margins.

COVID-19 affected nearly every facet of our operations. In spite of these impacts, our 2020 performance reflects our team’s dedication and efforts to ensure
the health and safety of our employees first, while positioning the Company for flawless execution for our customers as operations resumed. Management’s actions
preserved and enhanced Aptiv’s financial strength during the pandemic and generated strong returns following the restart of our global operations. Our financial
and business achievements in 2020 include the following:

• Strengthening our balance sheet and liquidity position in order to continue to invest in value-enhancing opportunities, despite COVID-19
◦ Leveraging opportunistic market pricing dynamics and strong market demand by issuing $1.15 billion of ordinary shares and $1.15 billion of

5.50% preferred shares; and
◦ Extending the maturity of substantially all of our existing Credit Agreement to August 2022.

• Acting decisively in response to the global pandemic
◦ Taking early and decisive actions to preserve our financial strength, including temporarily reducing executive pay, reducing capital expenditures,

and suspending share repurchases and ordinary share dividends; and
◦ Designing and successfully implementing our safe operations protocols, which enabled our facilities to restart safely and operate with zero

production disruptions following the restart.
• Generating strong results despite the pandemic
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◦ Delivering sustained outperformance, with above-market sales growth of 10%, attributable to our portfolio of leading technologies aligned with
secular growth drivers; and

◦ Generating $2,118 million of operating income or $867 million of adjusted operating income and cash flow from operations of $1.4 billion,
despite the pandemic’s negative impact on automotive production; and

◦ Achieving 49.64% total shareholder return over the period 2018 through 2020, illustrating our investors’ belief in our long-term strategy and
current financial performance.

• Continuing our relentless focus on cost structure and operational optimization
◦ Maximizing our operational flexibility and profitability at all points in the normal automotive business cycle, by having approximately 97% of

our hourly workforce based in best cost countries, and approximately 20% of our hourly workforce composed of temporary employees; and
◦ Recruiting and retaining top talent from various industries, including technology.

• Continuing to execute on our long-term Safe, Green and Connected strategy to enable a more sustainable future
◦ Furthering our leadership position in automated driving through the formation of the Motional autonomous driving joint venture with Hyundai,

which is focused on the design, development and commercialization of autonomous driving technologies; and
◦ Expanding our market relevant portfolio to address the industry’s top challenges, including high voltage electrification and active safety

technologies; and
◦ Significantly enhancing our commitment to corporate sustainability.

Our strategy is to build on these accomplishments and continue to develop and manufacture innovative market-relevant products for a diverse base of
customers around the globe and leverage our lean and flexible cost structure to achieve strong and disciplined earnings growth and returns on invested capital.
Through our culture of innovation and world class engineering capabilities we intend to employ our rigorous, forward-looking product development process to
deliver new technologies that provide solutions to our customers. We are committed to creating value for our shareholders. Our key strategic priorities include:

Commercializing the high-tech evolution of the automotive industry. The automotive industry is increasingly evolving towards the implementation of
software-dependent components and solutions. In particular, the industry is focused on the development of advanced driver assistance technologies, with the goal
of developing and introducing a commercially-viable, fully automated driving experience. We expect automated driving technologies will provide strong societal
benefit as well as the opportunity for long-term growth for our product offerings in this space. We are focused on enabling and delivering end-to-end smart
mobility solutions, accelerating the commercialization of active safety and autonomous driving technologies and providing enhanced user experience and
connected services. Our Advanced Safety and User Experience segment is focused on providing the necessary software and advanced computing platforms, and
our Signal and Power Solutions segment is focused on providing the requisite networking architecture required to support the integrated systems in today’s
complex vehicles. Together, our businesses develop the ‘brain’ and the ‘nervous system’ of increasingly complex vehicles, providing integration of the vehicle into
its operating environment.

We are continuing to invest in the automated driving space, and have continued to develop market-leading automated driving platform solutions such as
automated driving software, key active safety sensing technologies and our multi-domain controller, which fuses information from sensing systems as well as
mapping and navigation data to make driving decisions. We believe we are well-aligned with industry technology trends that will result in sustainable future
growth in this space, and have partnered with leaders in their respective fields to advance the pace of development and commercialization of these emerging
technologies.

In an effort to further our leadership position in the automated driving space, in March 2020 we completed the transaction with Hyundai to form a new joint
venture focused on the design, development and commercialization of autonomous driving technologies. The joint venture operates globally under the Motional
brand name, and brings together one of the industry’s most innovative vehicle technology providers with one of the world’s largest OEMs. We expect this
partnership to accelerate the path towards the development of production-ready autonomous driving systems for commercialization in the new mobility space.

We believe that substantial strategic value will be created from our partnership with Hyundai through our commitment to a shared mission of making
driverless vehicles a safe, reliable, and accessible reality. Furthermore, we anticipate Motional’s presence in both North America and Asia, along with the global
presence of both Aptiv and Hyundai, to generate economies of scale to support the development of a complete autonomous driving platform, as well as to facilitate
mobility infrastructure advancements.

The Motional joint venture began testing fully driverless systems in 2020 and anticipates it will have a production-ready autonomous driving platform
available for robotaxi providers, fleet operators and automotive manufacturers to test at prototype scale in 2022, with higher volumes available for deployment in
2023. In addition, Motional is involved in collaborative
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arrangements with mobility providers and with smart cities such as Boston and Singapore as solutions are developed for the evolving nature of the mobility
industry. As a result of our substantial investments and strategic partnerships, we believe we are well-aligned with industry technology trends that will result in
sustainable future growth in these evolving areas.

However, there are many risks associated with these evolving areas, including the high development costs of active safety and autonomous driving
technologies, the uncertain timing of customer and consumer adoption of these technologies, increased competition from entrants outside the traditional automotive
industry and new and emerging regulations, such as the recently released federal guidance for automated driving systems published by the U.S. Department of
Transportation. While we believe we are well-positioned in these markets, the high development cost of active safety and autonomous driving technologies may
result in a higher risk of exposure to the success of new or disruptive technologies different than those being developed by us or our partners.

Leveraging our engineering and technological capabilities. We seek to leverage our strong product portfolio tied to the industry’s key mega-trends with our
global footprint to increase our revenues, as well as committing to substantial annual investment in research and development to maintain and enhance our
leadership in new mobility solutions across each of our product lines.

Targeting the right business with the right customers. We intend to be strategic in our pursuit of new business and customers in order to achieve disciplined,
above-market growth. We conduct in-depth analysis of market share and product trends by region in order to prioritize research, development and engineering
spend for the customers that we believe will be successful. Collaboration with customers in our 12 major technical centers around the world helps us develop
innovative product solutions designed to meet their needs. As more OEMs design vehicles for global platforms, where the same vehicle architecture is shared
among different regions, we are well suited to provide global design and engineering support while manufacturing these products for a specific regional market.

Capitalizing on our scale, global footprint and established position in emerging markets. We intend to generate sustained growth by capitalizing on the
breadth and scale of our operating capabilities. Our global footprint provides us important proximity to our customers’ manufacturing facilities and allows us to
serve them in every region in which they operate. We anticipate that we will continue to build upon our extensive geographic reach to capitalize on growing
automotive markets, particularly in China. In addition, our presence in best cost countries positions us to realize incremental margin improvements as the global
balance of automotive production shifts towards emerging markets.

Leveraging our lean and flexible cost structure to deliver profitability and cash flow. We recognize the importance of maintaining a lean and flexible cost
structure in order to deliver stable earnings and cash flow in a cyclical industry. Our focus is on maximizing and optimizing manufacturing output to meet
increasing production requirements with minimal additions to our fixed-cost base. Additionally, we are continuing to use a meaningful amount of temporary
workers to ensure we have the appropriate operational flexibility to scale our operations so that we can maintain our profitability as industry production levels
increase or contract.

Advancing and maintaining an efficient capital structure. We actively manage our capital structure in order to maintain an investment grade credit rating and
healthy capital ratios to support our business and maximize shareholder value. We will continue to make adjustments to our capital structure in light of changes in
economic conditions or as opportunities arise to provide us with additional financial flexibility to invest in our business and execute our strategic objectives going
forward.

Pursuing selected acquisitions and strategic investments. In order to maintain our strong liquidity position in the midst of the uncertainty caused by the
COVID-19 pandemic, we completed only one acquisition in 2020. We intend to continue to pursue selected transactions that leverage our technology capabilities
and enhance and expand our commercialization of new mobility solutions, product offerings, customer base, geographic penetration and scale to complement our
current businesses, while continuing to enhance our product offerings and competitive position in growing market segments.

Trends, Uncertainties and Opportunities

COVID-19 pandemic. The global spread of COVID-19, which originated in late 2019 and was later declared a pandemic by the World Health Organization in
March 2020, has negatively impacted the global economy, disrupted supply chains and created significant volatility in global financial markets. Most notably with
respect to the automotive industry, we experienced extended work stoppages in China during the first quarter of 2020, where we have a major manufacturing base,
and the subsequent suspension of vehicle production by our OEM customers in North America and Europe, which combined accounted for 69% of our net sales for
the year ended December 31, 2020, as the pandemic spread to those regions and governmental authorities initiated “lock-down” orders for all non-essential
activities. The work stoppages began to abate in China in March, and North America and Europe OEM production restarted sporadically in the second quarter,
however the risk of renewed government “lock-down” orders resulting in further work stoppages remains. Although we have taken decisive actions to enhance our
financial flexibility and minimize the impact on our business, such as the ramping down of certain production facilities in response to customer plant closures and
changes in vehicle production schedules, imposing certain travel restrictions, suspending our ordinary share cash dividend, issuing $2.3 billion combined of
preferred and ordinary shares,
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extending substantially all of our existing Credit Agreement’s maturity to August 2022 and actively managing costs, capital spending and working capital to further
strengthen our liquidity, the ultimate impact to our business continues to remain uncertain. During the year ended December 31, 2020, our net sales were adversely
impacted by volume decreases of approximately 7%, primarily due to the impacts resulting from the COVID-19 pandemic, which included extended work
stoppages and travel restrictions at our facilities and those of our customers and suppliers, decreases in consumer demand and vehicle production schedules,
disruptions to our supply chain and other resultant adverse global economic impacts.

For example, the adverse impacts of the COVID-19 pandemic led to a significant vehicle production slowdown in the first half of 2020, which was followed
by increased consumer demand and vehicle production schedules in the second half of 2020, particularly in the fourth quarter. This surge in demand led to a
worldwide semiconductor supply shortage in early 2021, as semiconductor suppliers have been unable to rapidly reallocate production lines to serve the automotive
industry. We are working closely with our suppliers and customers to minimize any potential adverse impacts, and we continue to closely monitor the availability
of semiconductor microchips and other component parts and raw materials, customer vehicle production schedules and any other supply chain inefficiencies that
may arise, due to this or any other issue. However, any direct or indirect supply chain disruptions may have a material adverse impact on our financial condition,
results of operations or cash flows. We continue to actively monitor the potential supply chain impacts of this worldwide shortage and other ongoing potential
impacts of COVID-19 and will seek to aggressively mitigate and minimize its impact on our business.

Economic conditions. Our business is directly related to automotive sales and automotive vehicle production by our customers. Automotive sales depend on
a number of factors, including global and regional economic conditions. Global automotive vehicle production decreased 16% (19% on an Aptiv weighted market
basis, which represents global vehicle production weighted to the geographic regions in which the Company generates its revenue, “AWM”) from 2019 to 2020,
representing automotive vehicle production declines across all major regions during the year, primarily due to the adverse global economic impacts and uncertainty
caused by the worldwide spread of the COVID-19 pandemic. Compared to 2019, vehicle production in 2020 decreased by 22% in Europe, 21% in North America,
3% in China and 31% in South America, our smallest region. Refer to Note 22. Segment Reporting of the notes to the audited consolidated financial statements,
included in Item 8. Financial Statements and Supplementary Data of this Annual Report for financial information concerning principal geographic areas.

Economic volatility or weakness in North America, Europe, China or South America, could result in a significant reduction in automotive sales and
production by our customers, which would have an adverse effect on our business, results of operations and financial condition. There is also potential that
geopolitical factors could adversely impact the U.S. and other economies, and specifically the automotive sector. In particular, changes to international trade
agreements, such as the United States-Mexico-Canada Agreement or other political pressures could affect the operations of our OEM customers, resulting in
reduced automotive production in certain regions or shifts in the mix of production to higher cost regions. Increases in interest rates could also negatively impact
automotive production as a result of increased consumer borrowing costs or reduced credit availability. Additionally, economic weakness may result in shifts in the
mix of future automotive sales (from vehicles with more content such as luxury vehicles, trucks and sport utility vehicles toward smaller passenger cars). While our
diversified customer and geographic revenue base, along with our flexible cost structure, have well positioned us to withstand the impact of industry downturns and
benefit from industry upturns, shifts in the mix of global automotive production to higher cost regions or to vehicles with less content could adversely impact our
profitability.

There have also been periods of increased market volatility and currency exchange rate fluctuations, both globally and most specifically within the U.K. and
Europe, as a result of the U.K.’s exit from the E.U., commonly referred to as “Brexit,” the terms of which were determined on December 24, 2020 and became
effective on December 31, 2020. Under these terms, the U.K. and E.U. will continue to be able to trade on a tariff-free basis, though companies will be required to
file customs and duty declarations for the cross border movement of goods, similar in nature to other border crossings. These compliance requirements will be
effective beginning in early 2021 and may take several months to complete. During the implementation phase, our cross border shipments between the U.K. and
E.U., and those of our customers and suppliers, may be subject to delays and restrictions which may adversely affect European and worldwide economic and
market conditions. Potential adverse impacts of this phase may include reduced vehicle production, reduced global market liquidity and restrictions on the ability of
key market participants to operate in certain financial markets which could contribute to instability in global financial and foreign exchange markets, including
increased volatility in interest rates and foreign exchange rates. Although we do not have a material physical presence in the U.K., with less than 1% of our
workforce located in the U.K. and approximately 2% of our annual net sales generated in the U.K., the potential impacts of Brexit could adversely impact other
global economies, and in particular, the European economy, a region which accounted for approximately 34% of our total net sales for the year ended
December 31, 2020. We continue to actively monitor the ongoing potential impacts of Brexit and will seek to minimize the impacts on our business through review
of our existing contractual arrangements and obligations, particularly in the European region.

Key growth markets. There have been periods of increased market volatility and moderation in the level of economic growth in China, which resulted in
periods of lower automotive production growth rates in China than those previously
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experienced, as evidenced by the reduction in volumes in the region during the year ended December 31, 2020. Production decreased 3% in China during 2020,
primarily as a result of the COVID-19 pandemic. Despite these vehicle production declines and the recent moderation in the level of economic growth in China,
rising income levels in China and other key growth markets are expected to result in stronger growth rates in these markets over the long-term. Our strong global
presence, and presence in these markets, has positioned us to experience above-market growth rates over the long-term. We continue to expand our established
presence in key growth markets, positioning us to benefit from the expected long-term growth opportunities in these regions. We are capitalizing on our long-
standing relationships with the global OEMs and further enhancing our positions with the key growth market OEMs to continue expanding our worldwide
leadership. We continue to build upon our extensive geographic reach to capitalize on fast-growing automotive markets. We believe that our presence in best cost
countries positions us to realize incremental margin improvements as the global balance of automotive production shifts towards the key growth markets.

We have a strong local presence in China, including a major manufacturing base and well-established customer relationships. Each of our business segments
have operations and sales in China. Our business in China remains sensitive to economic and market conditions that impact automotive sales volumes in China, and
may be affected if the pace of growth slows as the Chinese market matures or if there are reductions in vehicle demand in China, as have recently been experienced
as a result of the COVID-19 pandemic. However, we continue to believe this market will benefit from long-term demand for new vehicles and stringent
governmental regulation driving increased vehicle content, including accelerated demand for electrified vehicles.

Market driven products. Our product offerings satisfy the OEMs’ needs to meet increasingly stringent government regulations and meet consumer
preferences for products that address the mega-trends of Safe, Green and Connected, leading to increased content per vehicle, greater profitability and higher
margins. With these offerings, we believe we are well-positioned to benefit from the growing demand for vehicle content and technology related to safety,
electrification, high speed data, connectivity to the global information network and automated driving technologies. We are benefiting from the substantial increase
in vehicle content, software and electrification that requires a complex and reliable electrical architecture and systems to operate, such as automated advanced
driver assistance technologies, electrical vehicle monitoring, active safety systems, lane departure warning systems, integrated vehicle cockpit displays, navigation
systems and technologies that enable connected infotainment in vehicles. Our ability to design a reliable electrical architecture that optimizes power distribution
and/or consumption is key to satisfying the OEMs’ needs to reduce emissions while continuing to meet consumer demand for increased vehicle content and
technology.

Global capabilities. Many OEMs are continuing to adopt global vehicle platforms to increase standardization, reduce per unit cost and increase capital
efficiency and profitability. As a result, OEMs are selecting suppliers that have the capability to manufacture products on a worldwide basis, as well as the
flexibility to adapt to regional variations. Suppliers with global scale and strong design, engineering and manufacturing capabilities, are best positioned to benefit
from this trend. Our global footprint enables us to serve the global OEMs on a worldwide basis as we gain market share with the emerging market OEMs. This
regional model is structured primarily to service the North American market from Mexico, the South American market from Brazil, the European market from
Eastern Europe and North Africa, and the Asia Pacific market from China, and we have continued to rotate our manufacturing footprint to best cost locations
within these regions.

Our global operations are subject to certain risks inherent in doing business abroad, including unexpected changes in laws or regulations governing trade, or
other monetary or tax fiscal policy changes, including tariffs, quotas, customs and other import or export restrictions or trade barriers. We are also subject to risks
associated with actions taken by governmental authorities to impose changes in laws or regulations that restrict certain business operations, trade or travel in
response to a pandemic or widespread outbreak of an illness. For instance, the worldwide spread of the COVID-19 pandemic has had adverse impacts on our global
operations, the automotive industry and economies around the world. Most notably, the pandemic has resulted in extended work stoppages and travel restrictions at
our facilities and those of our customers and suppliers, decreases in consumer demand and vehicle production schedules, disruptions to our supply chain and other
adverse global economic impacts, particularly those resulting from temporary governmental “lock-down” orders for all non-essential activities, initially in the first
quarter in China and subsequently in Europe, North America and South America. Although many of the adverse impacts of the pandemic abated during the second
half of 2020, we are unable to predict the ultimate impact to our business due to a number of evolving factors, including the duration and spread of the pandemic,
the impact of the pandemic on economic activity, consumer demand and vehicle production schedules, and the actions of governmental authorities across the globe.
Furthermore, in the fourth quarter of 2020, certain European and North American countries began to initiate new governmental restrictions in response to renewed
pandemic impacts and concerns. Many of these restrictions have continued into the first quarter of 2021, which, in combination with other actions and events, may
adversely impact future operating earnings and cash flows. These or any further political or governmental developments in response to the COVID-19 pandemic
could result in social, economic and labor instability.
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In addition, existing free trade laws and regulations, such as the United States-Mexico-Canada Agreement, provide certain beneficial duties and tariffs for
qualifying imports and exports, subject to compliance with the applicable classification and other requirements. Changes in laws or policies governing the terms of
foreign trade, and in particular increased trade restrictions, tariffs or taxes on imports from countries where we manufacture products, such as China and Mexico,
could have a material adverse effect on our business and financial results. For instance, beginning in 2018, the U.S. and Chinese governments have imposed a
series of significant incremental retaliatory tariffs to certain imported products. Most notably with respect to the automotive industry, the U.S. imposed tariffs on
imports of certain steel, aluminum and automotive components, and China imposed retaliatory tariffs on imports of U.S. vehicles and certain automotive
components. While these tariffs could have potentially adverse economic impacts, particularly with respect to the automotive industry and vehicle production
levels, we do not anticipate a significant impact to our operations, as we have developed and implemented strategies to mitigate adverse tariff impacts, such as
production localization and relocation, contract review and renegotiation and working with the appropriate governmental agencies. Further, our global footprint and
regional model serves to minimize our exposure to cross-border transactions. However, despite recent trade negotiations between the U.S. and Chinese
governments, the scope and duration of the imposed tariffs remain uncertain.

Product development. The automotive technology and components industry is highly competitive, both domestically and internationally, and is characterized
by rapidly changing technology, evolving industry standards and changes in customer needs. Our ability to anticipate changes in technology and regulatory
standards and to successfully develop and introduce new and enhanced products on a timely and cost competitive basis will be a significant factor in our ability to
remain competitive. To compete effectively in the automotive technology and components industry, we must be able to develop and launch new products to meet
our customers’ demands in a timely manner. Our innovative technologies and robust global engineering and development capabilities have us well positioned to
meet the increasingly stringent vehicle manufacturer demands and consumer preferences for high-technology content in automobiles.

OEMs are increasingly looking to their suppliers to simplify vehicle design and assembly processes to reduce costs and weight. As a result, suppliers that sell
vehicle components directly to manufacturers (Tier I suppliers) have assumed many of the design, engineering, research and development and assembly functions
traditionally performed by vehicle manufacturers. Suppliers that can provide fully-engineered solutions, systems and pre-assembled combinations of component
parts are positioned to leverage the trend toward system sourcing.

Engineering, design and development. Our history and culture of innovation have enabled us to develop significant intellectual property and design and
development expertise to provide advanced technology solutions that meet the demands of our customers. We have a team of approximately 18,200 scientists,
engineers and technicians focused on developing leading product solutions for our key markets, located at 12 major technical centers in China, Germany, India,
Mexico, Poland, Singapore and the United States. Our total investment in research and development, including engineering, was approximately $1.3 billion, $1.5
billion and $1.4 billion for the years ended December 31, 2020, 2019 and 2018, respectively, which includes approximately $303 million, $381 million and $288
million of co-investment by customers and government agencies. Each year we share some engineering expenses with OEMs and government agencies. While this
amount varies from year-to-year, it is generally in the range of 15% to 20% of engineering expenses. We also encourage “open innovation” and collaborate
extensively with peers in the industry, government agencies and academic institutions. Our technology competencies are recognized by both customers and
government agencies, who co-invested approximately $303 million in 2020 to support new product development, accelerating the pace of innovation and reducing
the risk associated with successful commercialization of technological breakthroughs.

In the past, suppliers often incurred the initial cost of engineering, designing and developing automotive component parts, and recovered their investments
over time by including a cost recovery component in the price of each part based on expected volumes. Recently, we and many other suppliers have negotiated for
cost recovery payments independent of volumes. This trend reduces our economic risk.

We utilize a Technology Advisory Council, a panel of prominent global technology thought leaders, which guides our product strategies and investments in
technology with a focus on developing advanced technologies to drive growth. We believe that our engineering and technical expertise, together with our emphasis
on continuing research and development, allow us to use the latest technologies, materials and processes to solve problems for our customers and to bring new,
innovative products to market. We believe that continued engineering activities are critical to maintaining our pipeline of technologically advanced products. Given
our strong financial discipline, we seek to effectively manage fixed costs and efficiently rationalize capital spending by critically evaluating the profit potential of
new and existing customer programs, including investment in innovation and technology. We maintain our engineering activities around our focused product
portfolio and allocate our capital and resources to those products with distinctive technologies. We expect expenditures for research and development activities,
including engineering, net of co-investment, to be approximately $1.0 billion for the year ended December 31, 2021, which is consistent with expenditures incurred
in 2020.
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We maintain a large portfolio of approximately 7,700 patents and protective rights in the operation of our business as of December 31, 2020. While no
individual patent or group of patents, taken alone, is considered material to our business, taken in the aggregate, these patents provide meaningful protection for our
products and technical innovations. Similarly, while our trademarks are important to identify our position in the industry, we do not believe that any of these are
individually material to our business. We are actively pursuing marketing opportunities to commercialize and license our technology to both automotive and non-
automotive industries and we have selectively taken licenses from others to support our business interests. These activities foster optimization of intellectual
property rights.

Pricing. Cost-cutting initiatives adopted by our customers result in increased downward pressure on pricing. Our customer supply agreements generally
require step-downs in component pricing over the periods of production and OEMs have historically possessed significant leverage over their outside suppliers
because the automotive component supply industry is fragmented and serves a limited number of automotive OEMs. Our profitability depends in part on our ability
to generate sufficient production cost savings in the future to offset price reductions.

We are focused on maintaining a low fixed cost structure that provides us flexibility to remain profitable at all points of the traditional vehicle industry
production cycle. As a result, approximately 97% of our hourly workforce is located in best cost countries. Furthermore, we have substantial operational flexibility
by leveraging a large workforce of temporary workers, which represented approximately 20% of the hourly workforce as of December 31, 2020. However, we will
continue to adjust our cost structure and optimize our manufacturing footprint in response to changes in the global and regional automotive markets and in order to
increase investment in advanced technologies and engineering, as evidenced by our ongoing restructuring programs focused on the continued rotation of our
manufacturing footprint to best cost locations in Europe and on reducing our global overhead costs. As we continue to operate in a cyclical industry that is
impacted by movements in the global and regional economies, we continually evaluate opportunities to further refine our cost structure. Assuming constant product
mix and pricing, based on our 2020 results, we estimate that our EBITDA breakeven level would be reached if we experienced a 45% downturn to current product
volumes.

We have a strong balance sheet with gross debt of approximately $4.1 billion and substantial available liquidity of approximately $5.2 billion of cash and
cash equivalents and available financing under our Revolving Credit Facility and committed European accounts receivable factoring facility (as defined below in
Liquidity and Capital Resources) as of December 31, 2020, and no significant U.S. defined benefit or workforce postretirement health care benefits and employer-
paid postretirement basic life insurance benefits (“OPEB”) liabilities. As further described in Note 11. Debt to the audited consolidated financial statements
included herein, we extended substantially all of our existing Credit Agreement’s maturity to August 2022, primarily to provide additional available liquidity and
financial flexibility to mitigate the impacts on our business resulting from the uncertainty caused by the global spread of the COVID-19 pandemic. Furthermore, as
further described in Note 15. Shareholders’ and Net Income Per Share to the audited consolidated financial statements included herein, we also issued $2.3 billion
combined of preferred and ordinary shares during the year ended December 31, 2020. We intend to maintain strong financial discipline by targeting industry-
leading earnings growth, cash flow generation and return on invested capital and to maintain sufficient liquidity to sustain our financial flexibility throughout the
industry cycle.

OEM product recalls. The number of vehicles recalled globally by OEMs has increased above historical levels. These recalls can either be initiated by the
OEMs or influenced by regulatory agencies. Although there are differing rules and regulations across countries governing recalls for safety issues, the overall
transition towards global vehicle platforms may also contribute to increased recalls outside of the U.S., as automotive components are increasingly standardized
across regions. Given the sensitivity to safety issues in the automotive industry, including increased focus from regulators and consumers, we anticipate the number
of automotive recalls may remain above historical levels in the near future. Although we engage in extensive product quality programs and processes, it is possible
that we may be adversely affected in the future if the pace of these recalls continues.

Efficient use of capital. The global vehicle components industry is generally capital intensive and a portion of a supplier’s capital equipment is frequently
utilized for specific customer programs. Lead times for procurement of capital equipment are long and typically exceed start of production by one to two years.
Substantial advantages exist for suppliers that can leverage their prior investments in capital equipment or amortize the investment over higher volume global
customer programs.

Industry consolidation. Consolidation among worldwide OEMs and suppliers is expected to continue as these companies seek to achieve operating synergies
and value stream efficiencies, acquire complementary technologies and build stronger customer relationships. For example, in January 2021, FCA and PSA
executed a merger agreement to form a new, combined company (“Stellantis”), which will represent the world’s fourth largest OEM. The merger may lead to the
discontinuation of certain major vehicle brands previously marketed under the separate companies, which may have a material adverse impact on our financial
condition, results of operations or cash flows. Additionally, new entrants from outside the traditional automotive industry may seek to gain access to certain vehicle
component markets. We believe companies with strong balance sheets and financial discipline are in the best position to take advantage of the industry
consolidation trend.
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Consolidated Results of Operations

Our total net sales during the year ended December 31, 2020 were $13.1 billion, a decrease of approximately 9% compared to 2019. This compares to total
global OEM production decreases of 16% in 2020. We experienced volume declines of 7% for the period, primarily as a result of the adverse impacts of the
COVID-19 pandemic on global vehicle production. Volume was also impacted by increased net sales of approximately $86 million as a result of the acquisition of
gabocom in late 2019. Despite the volatility caused by the COVID-19 pandemic throughout 2020, our overall lean cost structure, along with continued above-
market sales growth in all major regions, has enabled us to achieve strong levels of operating income, while continuing to strategically invest in the future.

Aptiv typically experiences fluctuations in revenue due to changes in OEM production schedules, vehicle sales mix and the net of new and lost business
(which we refer to collectively as volume), increased prices attributable to escalation clauses in our supply contracts for recovery of increased commodity costs
(which we refer to as commodity pass-through), fluctuations in foreign currency exchange rates (which we refer to as “FX”), contractual reductions of the sales
price to the OEM (which we refer to as contractual price reductions) and engineering changes. Changes in sales mix can have either favorable or unfavorable
impacts on revenue. Such changes can be the result of shifts in regional growth, shifts in OEM sales demand, as well as shifts in consumer demand related to
vehicle segment purchases and content penetration. For instance, a shift in sales demand favoring a particular OEM’s vehicle model for which we do not have a
supply contract may negatively impact our revenue. A shift in regional sales demand toward certain markets could favorably impact the sales of those of our
customers that have a large market share in those regions, which in turn would be expected to have a favorable impact on our revenue.

We typically experience (as described below) fluctuations in operating income due to:

• Volume, net of contractual price reductions—changes in volume offset by contractual price reductions (which typically range from 1% to 3% of net
sales) and changes in mix;

• Operational performance—changes to costs for materials and commodities or manufacturing and engineering variances; and
• Other—including restructuring costs and any remaining variances not included in Volume, net of contractual price reductions or Operational

performance.

The automotive technology and component supply industry is traditionally subject to inflationary pressures with respect to raw materials and labor which
may place operational and profitability burdens on the entire supply chain. We will continue to work with our customers and suppliers to mitigate the impact of
these inflationary pressures in the future. In addition, we expect commodity cost volatility, particularly related to copper and petroleum-based resin products, to
have a continual impact on future earnings and/or operating cash flows. As such, we continually seek to mitigate both inflationary pressures and our material-
related cost exposures using a number of approaches, including combining purchase requirements with customers and/or other suppliers, using alternate suppliers
or product designs, negotiating cost reductions and/or commodity cost contract escalation clauses into our vehicle manufacturer supply contracts and hedging.

This section discusses our consolidated results of operations and results of operations by segment for the years ended December 31, 2020 versus 2019. A
detailed discussion of our consolidated results of operations and results of operations by segment for the years ended December 31, 2019 versus 2018 can be found
under “Item 7. Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations” in our Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended
December 31, 2019, which was filed with the SEC on February 3, 2020.
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2020 versus 2019

The results of operations for the years ended December 31, 2020 and 2019 were as follows:

 Year Ended December 31,

 2020  2019  
Favorable/ 

(unfavorable)
 (dollars in millions)
Net sales $ 13,066 $ 14,357 $ (1,291)
Cost of sales 11,126 11,711 585 
Gross margin 1,940 14.8% 2,646 18.4% (706)

Selling, general and administrative 976 1,076 100 
Amortization 144 146 2 
Restructuring 136 148 12 
Gain on autonomous driving joint venture (1,434) — 1,434 

Operating income 2,118 1,276 842 
Interest expense (164) (164) — 
Other income, net — 14 (14)

Income before income taxes and equity (loss) income 1,954 1,126 828 
Income tax expense (49) (132) 83 

Income before equity (loss) income 1,905 994 911 
Equity (loss) income, net of tax (83) 15 (98)

Net income 1,822 1,009 813 
Net income attributable to noncontrolling interest 18 19 (1)
Net income attributable to Aptiv 1,804 990 814 
Mandatory Convertible Preferred Share dividends (35) — (35)
Net income attributable to ordinary shareholders $ 1,769 $ 990 $ 779 

Total Net Sales

Below is a summary of our total net sales for the years ended December 31, 2020 versus 2019.

 Year Ended December 31, Variance Due To:

 2020 2019
Favorable/ 

(unfavorable)

Volume, net of 
contractual 

price 
reductions FX

Commodity 
pass- 

through Other Total
 (in millions) (in millions)
Total net sales $ 13,066 $ 14,357 $ (1,291) $ (1,290) $ 15 $ (16) $ — $ (1,291)

Total net sales for the year ended December 31, 2020 decreased 9% compared to the year ended December 31, 2019. Our overall volumes decreased 7% for
the period, primarily due to the impacts of the COVID-19 pandemic, which also resulted in global vehicle production declines of 16% (19% on an AWM basis)
over the same period. The adverse impacts to Aptiv of the pandemic, which primarily affected us in the first half of 2020, included extended work stoppages and
travel restrictions at our facilities and those of our customers and suppliers, decreases in consumer demand and vehicle production schedules, disruptions to our
supply chain and other adverse global economic impacts, particularly those resulting from temporary governmental “lock-down” orders for all non-essential
activities, initially in the first quarter in China and subsequently in Europe, North America and South America. Adverse impacts of the COVID-19 pandemic from
the first half of 2020 were partially offset by increased consumer demand and vehicle production schedules in the second half of 2020, particularly in the fourth
quarter. Our total net sales also reflect contractual price reductions. Volume declines were partially offset by increased net sales of $86 million as a result of the
acquisition of gabocom in late 2019 and favorable foreign currency impacts, primarily related to the Euro and Chinese Yuan Renminbi. Refer to Note 20.
Acquisitions and Divestitures to the audited consolidated financial statements included herein for further detail of our business acquisitions.
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Cost of Sales

Cost of sales is primarily comprised of material, labor, manufacturing overhead, freight, fluctuations in foreign currency exchange rates, product engineering,
design and development expenses, depreciation and amortization, warranty costs and other operating expenses. Gross margin is revenue less cost of sales and gross
margin percentage is gross margin as a percentage of net sales.

Cost of sales decreased $585 million for the year ended December 31, 2020 compared to the year ended December 31, 2019, as summarized below. The
Company’s material cost of sales was approximately 50% of net sales in both the years ended December 31, 2020 and 2019.

 Year Ended December 31, Variance Due To:

 2020 2019
Favorable/ 

(unfavorable) Volume (a) FX
Operational 
performance Other Total

 (dollars in millions) (in millions)
Cost of sales $ 11,126 $ 11,711 $ 585 $ 579 $ 6 $ (9) $ 9 $ 585 
Gross margin $ 1,940 $ 2,646 $ (706) $ (711) $ 21 $ (9) $ (7) $ (706)
Percentage of net sales 14.8 % 18.4 %

(a) Presented net of contractual price reductions for gross margin variance.

The decrease in cost of sales reflects decreased volumes, largely resulting from the impacts of the COVID-19 pandemic, and impacts from currency
exchange and operational performance. However, as certain of our costs remain fixed in nature over the near term, our gross margin as a percentage of sales was
adversely impacted compared to the prior year period, primarily due to the COVID-19 pandemic. Cost of sales was also impacted by the following items in Other
above:

• Decreased expense of approximately $135 million, primarily due to decreased engineering expenses as a result of the formation of the Motional
autonomous driving joint venture with Hyundai in March 2020, which is now accounted for under the equity method of accounting; and

• $16 million of decreased commodity pass-through costs; partially offset by
• Approximately $40 million of costs related to supply chain inefficiencies, primarily due to the worldwide semiconductor microchip shortage and the

increase in vehicle production schedules in the fourth quarter of 2020; and
• $47 million of increased depreciation and amortization, primarily as a result of a higher fixed asset base; and
• $33 million of increased warranty costs.

Selling, General and Administrative Expense

 Year Ended December 31,

 2020 2019
Favorable/ 

(unfavorable)
 (dollars in millions)
Selling, general and administrative expense $ 976 $ 1,076 $ 100 
Percentage of net sales 7.5 % 7.5 %

Selling, general and administrative expense (“SG&A”) includes administrative expenses, information technology costs and incentive compensation related
costs. SG&A as a percentage of net sales was flat for the year ended December 31, 2020 as compared to 2019, and was primarily impacted by decreased SG&A
expenses as a result of the formation of the Motional autonomous driving joint venture with Hyundai, which is now accounted for under the equity method of
accounting, partially offset by increased SG&A expenses due to our business acquisitions.
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Amortization

 Year Ended December 31,

 2020 2019
Favorable/ 

(unfavorable)
 (in millions)
Amortization $ 144 $ 146 $ 2 

Amortization expense reflects the non-cash charge related to definite-lived intangible assets. The decrease in amortization during the year ended
December 31, 2020 compared to 2019 primarily reflects $8 million of intangible asset impairment charges recorded during the year ended December 31, 2019,
partially offset by the continued amortization of our definite-lived intangible assets, which resulted primarily from our acquisitions, over their estimated useful
lives. Refer to Note 20. Acquisitions and Divestitures to the audited consolidated financial statements included herein for further detail of our business acquisitions,
including details of the intangible assets recorded in each transaction.

In 2021, we expect to incur non-cash amortization charges of approximately $151 million.

Restructuring

 Year Ended December 31,

 2020 2019
Favorable/ 

(unfavorable)
 (dollars in millions)
Restructuring $ 136 $ 148 $ 12 
Percentage of net sales 1.0 % 1.0 %

The Company recorded employee-related and other restructuring charges totaling approximately $136 million during the year ended December 31, 2020, of
which $62 million was recognized for programs implemented in the North American region and $57 million was recognized for programs implemented in the
European region. The charges recorded during 2020 included the recognition of approximately $90 million of employee-related and other costs related to actions
taken as a result of the global impacts of the COVID-19 pandemic. We expect to make cash payments of approximately $80 million in 2021 pursuant to currently
implemented restructuring programs.

Restructuring charges recorded during 2019 were primarily related to programs focused on the continued rotation of our manufacturing footprint to best cost
locations in Europe and on reducing global overhead costs. The Company recorded employee-related and other restructuring charges related to these programs
totaling approximately $148 million during the year ended December 31, 2019, of which $74 million was recognized for programs implemented in the European
region, pursuant to the Company’s ongoing overhead cost reduction strategy.

We expect to continue to incur additional restructuring expense in 2021 and beyond, primarily related to programs focused on the continued rotation of our
manufacturing footprint to best cost locations in Europe and on reducing global overhead costs, which includes approximately $45 million (of which approximately
$20 million relates to the Signal and Power Solutions segment and approximately $25 million relates to the Advanced Safety and User Experience segment) for
programs approved as of December 31, 2020. Additionally, as we continue to operate in a cyclical industry that is impacted by movements in the global and
regional economies, we continually evaluate opportunities to further adjust our cost structure and optimize our manufacturing footprint. The Company plans to
implement additional restructuring activities in the future, if necessary, in order to align manufacturing capacity and other costs with prevailing regional automotive
production levels and locations, to improve the efficiency and utilization of other locations and in order to increase investment in advanced technologies and
engineering. Such future restructuring actions are dependent on market conditions, customer actions and other factors.

Refer to Note 10. Restructuring to the audited consolidated financial statements included herein for additional information.
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Interest Expense

 Year Ended December 31,

 2020 2019
Favorable/ 

(unfavorable)
 (in millions)
Interest expense $ 164 $ 164 $ — 

Refer to Note 11. Debt to the audited consolidated financial statements included herein for additional information.

Other Income, Net

 Year Ended December 31,

 2020 2019
Favorable/ 

(unfavorable)
 (in millions)
Other income, net $ — $ 14 $ (14)

During the year ended December 31, 2020, Aptiv recorded $8 million of interest income and a loss on debt modification of $4 million, in conjunction with
the May 2020 Amendment to the Credit Agreement, as further discussed in Note 11. Debt to the audited consolidated financial statements included herein. As
further discussed in Note 5. Investments in Affiliates to the audited consolidated financial statements included herein, during the year ended December 31, 2020,
Aptiv recorded a pre-tax unrealized gain of $10 million related to increases in fair value of its equity investments without readily determinable fair values. The
Company also recorded $20 million during the year ended December 31, 2020 related to the components of net periodic pension and postretirement benefit cost
other than service costs, as further described in Note 12. Pension Benefits to the audited consolidated financial statements included herein.

During the year ended December 31, 2019, Aptiv recorded $13 million of interest income and a pre-tax unrealized gain of $19 million related to increases in
fair value of its equity investments without readily determinable fair values, as further discussed in Note 5. Investments in Affiliates to the audited consolidated
financial statements included herein. Aptiv also redeemed for cash the entire $650 million aggregate principal amount outstanding of the 3.15% Senior Notes
during the year ended December 31, 2019, resulting in a loss on debt extinguishment of approximately $6 million, as further discussed in Note 11. Debt to the
audited consolidated financial statements included herein, and incurred approximately $5 million in transaction costs related to the acquisition of gabocom. The
Company also recorded $27 million during the year ended December 31, 2019 related to the components of net periodic pension and postretirement benefit cost
other than service costs, as further described in Note 12. Pension Benefits to the audited consolidated financial statements included herein.

Refer to Note 19. Other Income, Net to the audited consolidated financial statements included herein for additional information.

Income Taxes

 Year Ended December 31,

 2020 2019
Favorable/ 

(unfavorable)
 (in millions)
Income tax expense $ 49 $ 132 $ 83 

The Company’s tax rate is affected by the fact that its parent entity is an Irish resident taxpayer, the tax rates in Ireland and other jurisdictions in which the
Company operates, the relative amount of income earned by jurisdiction and the relative amount of losses or income for which no tax benefit or expense was
recognized due to a valuation allowance. The Company’s effective tax rate is also impacted by the receipt of certain tax incentives and holidays that reduce the
effective tax rate for certain subsidiaries below the statutory rate.

The Company’s effective tax rate was 3% and 12% for the years ended December 31, 2020 and 2019, respectively. The effective tax rate in the year ended
December 31, 2020 was impacted by changes in reserves, provision to return adjustments, changes in valuation allowances and the tax impact of certain intragroup
reorganizations meant to streamline and simplify the Company’s operating and legal structure, which resulted in the recognition of losses for tax purposes. The
effective tax rate was also impacted by the beneficial impact from the gain on the formation of the Motional autonomous driving joint venture. The
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tax expense associated with the gain was insignificant as Aptiv’s aggregate autonomous driving assets were exempt from capital gains tax in the jurisdiction from
which they were sold. The aggregate autonomous driving assets had been acquired, purchased or developed in taxable transactions in prior periods and reflect
changes made to the corporate entity operating structure for intellectual property following the Separation of its former Powertrain Systems segment.

The effective tax rate for the year ended December 31, 2019 was impacted by releases of valuation allowances as a result of the Company’s determination
that it was more likely than not that certain deferred tax assets would be realized, as well as favorable provision to return adjustments. The Company also accrued
$20 million of reserve adjustments for uncertain tax positions, which included reserves for ongoing audits in foreign jurisdictions, as well as for changes in
estimates based on relevant new or additional evidence obtained related to certain of the Company’s tax positions, including tax authority administrative
pronouncements and court decisions.

Refer to Note 14. Income Taxes to the audited consolidated financial statements included herein for additional information.

Equity Income

 Year Ended December 31,

 2020 2019
Favorable/ 

(unfavorable)
 (in millions)
Equity (loss) income, net of tax $ (83) $ 15 $ (98)

Equity (loss) income, net of tax reflects the Company’s interest in the results of ongoing operations of entities accounted for as equity method investments.
The equity loss, net of tax, recognized by Aptiv during the year ended December 31, 2020 includes $98 million attributable to the Motional autonomous driving
joint venture formed in March 2020 with Hyundai, as further described in Note 5. Investments in Affiliates and Note 24. Held for Sale to the audited consolidated
financial statements included herein.

Results of Operations by Segment

We operate our core business along the following operating segments, which are grouped on the basis of similar product, market and operating factors:

• Signal and Power Solutions, which includes complete electrical architecture and component products.
• Advanced Safety and User Experience, which includes component and systems integration expertise in advanced safety, user experience and

connectivity and security solutions, as well as advanced software development and autonomous driving technologies.
• Eliminations and Other, which includes i) the elimination of inter-segment transactions, and ii) certain other expenses and income of a non-operating or

strategic nature.
Our management utilizes segment Adjusted Operating Income as the key performance measure of segment income or loss to evaluate segment performance,

and for planning and forecasting purposes to allocate resources to the segments, as management believes this measure is most reflective of the operational
profitability or loss of our operating segments. Segment Adjusted Operating Income should not be considered a substitute for results prepared in accordance with
U.S. GAAP and should not be considered an alternative to net income attributable to Aptiv, which is the most directly comparable financial measure to Adjusted
Operating Income that is prepared in accordance with U.S. GAAP. Segment Adjusted Operating Income, as determined and measured by Aptiv, should also not be
compared to similarly titled measures reported by other companies.

The reconciliation of Adjusted Operating Income to operating income includes, as applicable, restructuring, other acquisition and portfolio project costs
(which includes costs incurred to integrate acquired businesses and to plan and execute product portfolio transformation actions, including business and product
acquisitions and divestitures), asset impairments, gains (losses) on business divestitures and other transactions and deferred compensation related to acquisitions.
The reconciliations of Adjusted Operating Income to net income attributable to Aptiv for the years ended December 31, 2020 and 2019 are as follows:
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Signal and Power
Solutions

Advanced Safety
and User

Experience
Eliminations and

Other Total
 (in millions)
For the Year Ended December 31, 2020:

Adjusted operating income $ 762 $ 105 $ — $ 867 
Restructuring (90) (46) — (136)
Other acquisition and portfolio project costs (12) (11) — (23)
Asset impairments (4) (6) — (10)
Deferred compensation related to acquisitions — (14) — (14)
Gain on business divestitures and other transactions — 1,434 — 1,434 

Operating income $ 656 $ 1,462 $ — 2,118 
Interest expense (164)
Other income, net — 
Income before income taxes and equity loss 1,954 
Income tax expense (49)
Equity loss, net of tax (83)
Net income 1,822 
Net income attributable to noncontrolling interest 18 
Net income attributable to Aptiv $ 1,804 

Signal and Power
Solutions

Advanced Safety and
User Experience

Eliminations and
Other Total

 (in millions)
For the Year Ended December 31, 2019:

Adjusted operating income $ 1,274 $ 274 $ — $ 1,548 
Restructuring (104) (44) — (148)
Other acquisition and portfolio project costs (44) (27) — (71)
Asset impairments (2) (9) — (11)
Deferred compensation related to acquisitions — (42) — (42)

Operating income $ 1,124 $ 152 $ — 1,276 
Interest expense (164)
Other income, net 14 
Income before income taxes and equity income 1,126 
Income tax expense (132)
Equity income, net of tax 15 
Net income 1,009 
Net income attributable to noncontrolling interest 19 
Net income attributable to Aptiv $ 990 
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Net sales, gross margin as a percentage of net sales and Adjusted Operating Income by segment for the years ended December 31, 2020 and 2019 are as
follows:

Net Sales by Segment

 Year Ended December 31, Variance Due To:

 2020 2019
Favorable/ 

(unfavorable)

Volume, net of
contractual price

reductions FX
Commodity

Pass-through Other Total
 (in millions) (in millions)
Signal and Power Solutions $ 9,522 $ 10,302 $ (780) $ (768) $ 4 $ (16) $ — $ (780)
Advanced Safety and User Experience 3,573 4,092 (519) (530) 11 — — (519)
Eliminations and Other (29) (37) 8 8 — — — 8 

Total $ 13,066 $ 14,357 $ (1,291) $ (1,290) $ 15 $ (16) $ — $ (1,291)

Gross Margin Percentage by Segment

 Year Ended December 31,
 2020 2019
Signal and Power Solutions 17.1 % 20.9 %
Advanced Safety and User Experience 8.8 % 12.0 %
Eliminations and Other — % — %

Total 14.8 % 18.4 %

Gross margin as a percentage of sales for the year ended December 31, 2020 as compared to year ended December 31, 2019 decreased primarily due to the
adverse impacts of the COVID-19 pandemic.

Adjusted Operating Income by Segment

 Year Ended December 31, Variance Due To:

 2020 2019
Favorable/ 

(unfavorable)

Volume, net of
contractual price

reductions
Operational
performance Other Total

 (in millions) (in millions)
Signal and Power Solutions $ 762 $ 1,274 $ (512) $ (451) $ 2 $ (63) $ (512)
Advanced Safety and User Experience 105 274 (169) (260) (39) 130 (169)
Eliminations and Other — — — — — — — 

Total $ 867 $ 1,548 $ (681) $ (711) $ (37) $ 67 $ (681)

As noted in the table above, Adjusted Operating Income for the year ended December 31, 2020 as compared to the year ended December 31, 2019 was
impacted by volume and contractual price reductions, including product mix and the adverse impacts of the COVID-19 pandemic. The adverse impacts to Aptiv of
the pandemic, which primarily affected us in the first half of 2020, included extended work stoppages and travel restrictions at our facilities and those of our
customers and suppliers, decreases in consumer demand and vehicle production schedules, disruptions to our supply chain and other adverse global economic
impacts, particularly those resulting from temporary governmental “lock-down” orders for all non-essential activities, initially in the first quarter in China and
subsequently in Europe, North America and South America. Adverse impacts of the COVID-19 pandemic from the first half of 2020 were partially offset by
increased consumer demand and vehicle production schedules in the second half of 2020, particularly in the fourth quarter. Adjusted Operating Income was also
impacted by operational performance and the following items included within Other in the table above:

• Decreased expense of approximately $135 million, primarily due to decreased engineering expenses as a result of the formation of the Motional
autonomous driving joint venture with Hyundai in March 2020, which is now accounted for under the equity method of accounting; and
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• $65 million of decreased SG&A expense, not including the impact of other acquisition and portfolio project costs, primarily as a result of decreased
incentive compensation costs; partially offset by

• Approximately $40 million of costs related to supply chain inefficiencies, primarily due to the worldwide semiconductor microchip shortage and the
increase in vehicle production schedules in the fourth quarter of 2020; and

• $48 million of increased depreciation and amortization, not including the impact of asset impairments, primarily as a result of a higher fixed asset base;
and

• $33 million of increased warranty costs.

Liquidity and Capital Resources

COVID-19 Pandemic

Due to the unprecedented uncertainty related to the impact the COVID-19 pandemic is having on the global automotive industry and economies around the
world, the Company initiated a series of precautionary actions during 2020 to further enhance its liquidity and financial flexibility. Among these, the Company has
taken decisive actions to manage costs, capital spending and working capital to further strengthen its liquidity, including the ramping down of certain production
facilities in response to customer plant closures and changes in vehicle production schedules. Additionally, as further described below, the Company issued $2.3
billion combined of preferred and ordinary shares, extended substantially all of our existing Credit Agreement’s maturity to August 2022, and suspended the
payment of its ordinary share cash dividend to further increase capital preservation during the pandemic. The adverse impacts of COVID-19, which primarily
affected the Company in the first half of 2020, included reduced consumer demand and supply chain interruptions, which have adversely impacted global vehicle
production and the viability and financial stability of the Company’s customers and suppliers. While the Company believes it has taken prudent actions to mitigate
the impacts on its business resulting from the COVID-19 pandemic and to provide sufficient liquidity to fund our global operations and capital investments, the
ultimate impact of the pandemic to the Company’s business remains highly uncertain. The Company will continue to actively monitor the ongoing potential
impacts of COVID-19 and will continue to seek to aggressively mitigate and minimize its impact on our business.

Overview of Capital Structure

Our liquidity requirements are primarily to fund our business operations, including capital expenditures and working capital requirements, as well as to fund
debt service requirements, operational restructuring activities and dividends on share capital. Our primary sources of liquidity are cash flows from operations, our
existing cash balance, and as necessary and available, borrowings under credit facilities and the issuance of long-term debt and equity. To the extent we generate
discretionary cash flow we may consider using this additional cash flow for optional prepayments of existing indebtedness, strategic acquisitions or investments,
and/or general corporate purposes. We will also continually explore ways to enhance our capital structure.

As of December 31, 2020, we had cash and cash equivalents of $2.8 billion and net debt (defined as outstanding debt less cash and cash equivalents) of $1.3
billion. We also have access to additional liquidity pursuant to the terms of the $2.0 billion Revolving Credit Facility and the committed European accounts
receivable factoring facility, as described below.

The following table summarizes our available liquidity, which includes cash, cash equivalents and funds available under our significant committed credit
facilities, as of December 31, 2020. The amounts disclosed as available under the Company’s significant committed credit facilities are available without violating
our existing debt covenants, which are described below.

December 31, 2020

 (in millions)
Cash and cash equivalents $ 2,821 
Revolving Credit Facility, unutilized portion (1) 2,000 
Committed European accounts receivable factoring facility, unutilized portion (2) 369 

Total available liquidity $ 5,190 

(1) Availability reduced by less than $1 million in letters of credit issued under the Credit Agreement as of December 31, 2020.
(2) Based on December 31, 2020 foreign currency rates, subject to the availability of eligible accounts receivable. As further described below, during the year ended December 31, 2020,

Aptiv entered into a new accounts receivable factoring facility under which €450 million is available on a committed basis and will allow for factoring of receivables denominated in both
Euros and U.S. dollars. This facility became effective on January 1, 2021; accordingly it is not included in the table above.
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Despite the current global economic impacts and uncertainty resulting from the ongoing COVID-19 pandemic and its impact on global vehicle production, as
further described above, we currently expect existing cash, available liquidity and cash flows from operations to continue to be sufficient to fund our global
operating activities, including restructuring payments, any mandatory payments required under the Credit Agreement as described below, dividends on preferred
shares and capital expenditures.

We also continue to expect to be able to move funds between different countries to manage our global liquidity needs without material adverse tax
implications, subject to current monetary policies and the terms of the Credit Agreement. We utilize a combination of strategies, including dividends, cash pooling
arrangements, intercompany loan repayments and other distributions and advances to provide the funds necessary to meet our global liquidity needs. There are no
significant restrictions on the ability of our subsidiaries to pay dividends or make other distributions to Aptiv. As of December 31, 2020, the Company’s cash and
cash equivalents held by our non-U.S. subsidiaries totaled approximately $2.8 billion. If additional non-U.S. cash was needed for our U.S. operations, we may be
required to accrue and pay withholding if we were to distribute such funds from non-U.S. subsidiaries to the U.S.; however, based on our current liquidity needs
and strategies, we do not anticipate a need to accrue and pay such additional amounts.

Based on these factors, we believe we possess sufficient liquidity to fund our global operations and capital investments in 2021 and beyond.

Public Equity Offering

In June 2020, the Company completed the underwritten public offering of approximately 15.1 million ordinary shares at a price of $75.91 per share (the
“Ordinary Share Offering”), resulting in net proceeds of approximately $1,115 million, after deducting expenses and the underwriters’ discount of $35 million.
Simultaneously, the Company completed the underwritten public offering of 11.5 million 5.50% Mandatory Convertible Preferred Shares, Series A, $0.01 par
value per share (the “MCPS”) with a liquidation preference of $100 per share (the “MCPS Offering”), resulting in net proceeds of approximately $1,115 million,
after deducting expenses and the underwriters’ discount of $35 million. The Company intends to use the net proceeds from the Ordinary Share Offering and MCPS
Offering for general corporate purposes, which may include funding potential future investments (including acquisitions), capital expenditures, working capital,
repayment of outstanding indebtedness, and the satisfaction of other obligations. Each share of MCPS will mandatorily convert on the mandatory conversion date
of June 15, 2023, into between 1.0754 and 1.3173 shares of the Company’s ordinary shares, subject to customary anti-dilution adjustments.

Holders of the MCPS will be entitled to receive, when and if declared by the Company’s Board of Directors, cumulative dividends at the annual rate of
5.50% of the liquidation preference of $100 per share (equivalent to $5.50 annually per share), payable in cash or, subject to certain limitations, by delivery of the
Company’s ordinary shares or any combination of cash and the Company’s ordinary shares, at the Company’s election. If declared, dividends on the MCPS will be
payable quarterly on March 15, June 15, September 15 and December 15 of each year (commencing on September 15, 2020 to, and including June 15, 2023), to the
holders of record of the MCPS as they appear on the Company’s share register at the close of business on the immediately preceding March 1, June 1, September 1
or December 1, respectively. Refer to Note 15. Shareholders’ Equity and Net Income Per Share to the audited consolidated financial statements included herein for
further detail on the June 2020 public equity offering.

Share Repurchases

In April 2016, the Board of Directors authorized a share repurchase program of up to $1.5 billion of ordinary shares, which commenced in September 2016.
This share repurchase program provides for share purchases in the open market or in privately negotiated transactions, depending on share price, market conditions
and other factors, as determined by the Company.

A summary of the ordinary shares repurchased during the years ended December 31, 2020, 2019 and 2018 is as follows:

Year Ended December 31,
2020 2019 2018

Total number of shares repurchased 1,059,075 5,387,533 6,530,369 
Average price paid per share $ 53.73 $ 77.93 $ 76.44 

Total (in millions) $ 57 $ 420 $ 499 

As of December 31, 2020, approximately $13 million of share repurchases remained available under the April 2016 share repurchase program, which is in
addition to the previously announced additional share repurchase program of up to $2.0 billion. This program, which will commence following the completion of
the April 2016 share repurchase program, provides for share purchases in the open market or in privately negotiated transactions, depending on share price, market
conditions and other
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factors, as determined by the Company. All repurchased shares were retired, and are reflected as a reduction of ordinary share capital for the par value of the
shares, with the excess applied as reductions to additional paid-in-capital and retained earnings. Although both the April 2016 and this new share repurchase
program remain authorized, the Company is restricted from executing further share repurchases under the terms of the May 2020 Amendment to the Credit
Agreement for as long as the Covenant Relief Period remains in effect (as further described and defined below). Furthermore, in order to preserve liquidity during
the COVID-19 pandemic crisis, the Company does not anticipate executing further share repurchases until such time as the global economic uncertainties and
business impacts resulting from the pandemic have abated.

Dividends from Equity Investments

During the years ended December 31, 2020, 2019 and 2018, Aptiv received dividends of $9 million, $9 million and $12 million, respectively, from its equity
method investments. The dividends were recognized as a reduction to the investment and represented a return on investment included in cash flows from operating
activities.

Acquisitions

Dynawave—On August 4, 2020, Aptiv acquired 100% of the equity interests of Dynawave Inc. (“Dynawave”), a specialized manufacturer of custom-
engineered interconnect solutions for a wide range of industries, for total consideration of $22 million. The acquisition was accounted for as a business
combination, with the operating results of Dynawave included within the Company’s Signal and Power Solutions segment. The Company acquired Dynawave
utilizing cash on hand.

gabocom—On November 19, 2019, Aptiv acquired 100% of the equity interests of gabo Systemtechnik GmbH (“gabocom”), a leading provider of highly-
engineered cable management and protection solutions for the telecommunications industry, for total consideration of $311 million, net of cash acquired. The
acquisition was accounted for as a business combination, with the operating results of gabocom included within the Company’s Signal and Power Solutions
segment from the date of acquisition. The Company acquired gabocom utilizing cash on hand.

Falmat—On May 14, 2019, Aptiv acquired 100% of the equity interests of Falmat Inc. (“Falmat”), a leading manufacturer of high performance custom cable
and cable assemblies for industrial applications, for total consideration of $25 million, net of cash acquired. The acquisition was accounted for as a business
combination, with the operating results of Falmat included within the Company’s Signal and Power Solutions segment from the date of acquisition. The Company
acquired Falmat utilizing cash on hand.

Winchester—On October 24, 2018, Aptiv acquired 100% of the equity interests of Winchester Interconnect (“Winchester”), a leading provider of custom
engineered interconnect solutions for harsh environment applications, for total consideration of $680 million, net of cash acquired. The acquisition was accounted
for as a business combination, with the operating results of Winchester included within the Company’s Signal and Power Solutions segment from the date of
acquisition. The Company acquired Winchester utilizing cash on hand and short-term borrowings.

KUM—On June 14, 2018, Aptiv acquired 100% of the equity interests of KUM, a specialized manufacturer of connectors for the automotive industry, for
total consideration of $526 million, net of cash acquired. The acquisition was accounted for as a business combination, with the operating results of KUM included
within the Company’s Signal and Power Solutions segment from the date of acquisition. The Company acquired KUM utilizing cash on hand.

Refer to Note 20. Acquisitions and Divestitures to the audited consolidated financial statements included herein for further detail of the Company’s business
acquisitions.

Technology Investments—During the fourth quarter of 2019, the Company’s Advanced Safety and User Experience segment made a $6 million investment in
Krono-Safe, SAS, a leading software developer of safety-critical real-time embedded systems. During the first quarter of 2019, the Company’s Advanced Safety
and User Experience segment made an additional $3 million investment in Otonomo Technologies Ltd., a connected car data marketplace developer. This
investment was in addition to the Company’s $15 million investment made in the first quarter of 2017.

During the fourth quarter of 2018, the Company’s Advanced Safety and User Experience segment made a $15 million investment in Affectiva, Inc., a leader
in human perception artificial intelligence technology.

These investments do not have readily determinable fair values and are measured at cost, less impairments, adjusted for observable price changes in orderly
transactions for identical or similar investments of the same issuer. Refer to Note 5. Investments in Affiliates to the audited consolidated financial statements
included herein for further detail of the Company’s technology investments.

Autonomous Driving Joint Venture

On March 26, 2020, Aptiv completed the transaction with Hyundai Motor Group (“Hyundai”) to form a joint venture focused on the design, development and
commercialization of autonomous driving technologies. The joint venture operates globally under the Motional brand name. Under the terms of the agreement,
Aptiv contributed to the joint venture autonomous
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driving technology, intellectual property and approximately 700 employees for a 50% ownership interest in the entity. Hyundai contributed to the joint venture
approximately $1.6 billion in cash, along with vehicle engineering services, research and development resources and access to intellectual property for a 50%
ownership interest in the entity. As a result, subsequent to the closing of the transaction, the joint venture is expected to fund all of its future operating expenses and
investments in autonomous driving technologies for the foreseeable future. Consequently, Aptiv is no longer required to fund these investments and expenses,
which approximated $180 million for the year ended December 31, 2019 prior to the joint venture formation. Upon closing of the transaction, Aptiv deconsolidated
the carrying value of the associated assets and liabilities contributed to the joint venture, previously classified as held for sale, and recognized an asset of
approximately $2 billion within investments in affiliates in the consolidated balance sheet, based on the preliminary fair value of its investment in the newly
formed joint venture. The Company recognized a pre-tax gain of approximately $1.4 billion in the consolidated statement of operations (approximately $5.32 per
diluted share for the year ended December 31, 2020), net of transaction costs of $22 million, based on the difference between the carrying value of its contribution
to the joint venture and the preliminary fair value of its investment in the entity. The estimated fair value of Aptiv’s ownership interest in the joint venture was
determined primarily based on third-party valuations and management estimates, generally utilizing income and market approaches. Determining the fair value of
the joint venture and the underlying assets requires the use of management’s judgment and involves significant estimates and assumptions with respect to the
timing and amount of future cash flows, market rate assumptions, projected growth rates and margins, and appropriate discount rates, among other items. The
estimated fair value is preliminary and could be revised as a result of additional information obtained or adjustments made due to the completion of independent
appraisals and valuations. The effects of this transaction would not materially impact the Company’s reported results for any period presented, and the transaction
did not meet the criteria to be reflected as a discontinued operation.

In connection with the closing of the transaction, Aptiv and the entity entered into various agreements to facilitate an orderly transition and to provide a
framework for their relationship going forward, which included a transition services agreement. The transition services primarily involve Aptiv providing certain
administrative services to the joint venture for a period of up to 24 months after the closing date. These agreements are not material to Aptiv. The Company’s
investment in the joint venture is accounted for using the equity method of accounting and Aptiv recognized an equity loss of $98 million, net of tax, during the
year ended December 31, 2020.

The Company determined that the assets and liabilities associated with Aptiv’s contribution to the joint venture, which were reported within the Advanced
Safety and User Experience segment, met the held for sale criteria as of December 31, 2019. Accordingly, the held for sale assets and liabilities were reclassified in
the consolidated balance sheet as of December 31, 2019 to current assets held for sale and current liabilities held for sale, respectively, as the contribution of such
assets and liabilities to the joint venture was expected to occur within one year. Upon designation as held for sale, the Company ceased recording depreciation of
the held for sale assets.

Credit Agreement

Aptiv PLC and its wholly-owned subsidiary Aptiv Corporation entered into a credit agreement (the “Credit Agreement”) with JPMorgan Chase Bank, N.A.,
as administrative agent (the “Administrative Agent”), under which it maintains senior unsecured credit facilities currently consisting of a term loan (the “Tranche A
Term Loan”) and a revolving credit facility of $2 billion (the “Revolving Credit Facility”). The Credit Agreement was entered into in March 2011 and has been
subsequently amended and restated on several occasions, most recently on May 1, 2020 (the “May 2020 Amendment”) and June 8, 2020 (the “June 2020
Amendment”). The May 2020 amendment extended the maturity of $1,779 million in principal amount of the Revolving Credit Facility and $298 million in
principal amount of the Tranche A Term Loan from August 17, 2021 to August 17, 2022 and increased the leverage ratio maintenance covenant until July 1, 2021
(the “Covenant Relief Period”), unless Aptiv elects to terminate the Covenant Relief Period at an earlier date. Under the terms of the May 2020 Amendment,
Aptiv’s consolidated leverage ratio (the ratio of Consolidated Total Indebtedness to Consolidated EBITDA, each as defined in the May 2020 Amendment) is
increased from not more than 3.5 to 1.0 to not more than 4.5 to 1.0 during the Covenant Relief Period, and Aptiv is subject to certain additional covenant
restrictions during the Covenant Relief Period, including restrictions on Aptiv’s ability to execute repurchases of or pay dividends on its outstanding ordinary
shares. The maturity date of the remaining portions of the Revolving Credit Facility and Tranche A Term Loan were not extended and will mature on August 17,
2021. The May 2020 Amendment also required that Aptiv pay amendment fees of $18 million during the year ended December 31, 2020, which is reflected as a
financing activity in the consolidated statement of cash flows. The June 2020 Amendment amended the dividends and distributions covenant set forth in the Credit
Agreement to permit the payment of dividends on convertible preferred shares in connection with the preferred equity offering as further discussed in Note 15.
Shareholders’ Equity and Net Income Per Share. During the year ended December 31, 2020, Aptiv Global Financing Limited (“AGFL”), a wholly-owned Irish
subsidiary of Aptiv PLC, executed a joinder agreement to the Credit Agreement, which allows it to act as a borrower under the Credit Agreement, and a guaranty
supplement, under which AGFL guarantees the obligations under the Credit Agreement, subject to certain exceptions set forth in the Credit Agreement.

50



Table of Contents

Aptiv is obligated to make quarterly principal payments throughout the term of the Tranche A Term Loan according to the amortization schedule in the
Credit Agreement. The Credit Agreement also contains an accordion feature that permits Aptiv to increase, from time to time, the aggregate borrowing capacity
under the Credit Agreement by up to an additional $1 billion upon Aptiv’s request, the agreement of the lenders participating in the increase, and the approval of
the Administrative Agent and existing lenders.

As of December 31, 2020, Aptiv had no amounts outstanding under the Revolving Credit Facility and less than $1 million in letters of credit were issued
under the Credit Agreement. Letters of credit issued under the Credit Agreement reduce availability under the Revolving Credit Facility. The maximum amount
drawn under the Revolving Credit Facility during the year ended December 31, 2020 was $2 billion, primarily to provide additional liquidity and financial
flexibility to mitigate the impacts on its business resulting from the uncertainty caused by the global spread of the COVID-19 pandemic.

Loans under the Credit Agreement bear interest, at Aptiv’s option, at either (a) the Administrative Agent’s Alternate Base Rate (“ABR” as defined in the
Credit Agreement) or (b) the London Interbank Offered Rate (the “Adjusted LIBO Rate” as defined in the Credit Agreement) (“LIBOR”) plus in either case a
percentage per annum as set forth in the table below (the “Applicable Rate”). The Applicable Rates under the Credit Agreement on the specified dates are set forth
below:

December 31, 2020 December 31, 2019
LIBOR plus ABR plus LIBOR plus ABR plus

Revolving Credit Facility (1) 1.10 % 0.10 % 1.10 % 0.10 %
Revolving Credit Facility (2) 1.40 % 0.40 % N/A N/A
Tranche A Term Loan (1) 1.25 % 0.25 % 1.25 % 0.25 %
Tranche A Term Loan (2) 1.75 % 0.75 % N/A N/A

(1) Applicable to principal balances under the Credit Agreement which were not extended as part of the May 2020 Amendment as described above.

(2) Applicable to principal balances under the Credit Agreement which were extended as part of the May 2020 Amendment as described above.

The Applicable Rate under the Credit Agreement may increase or decrease from time to time based on changes in the Company’s credit ratings.
Accordingly, the interest rate will fluctuate during the term of the Credit Agreement based on changes in the ABR, LIBOR or future changes in the Company’s
corporate credit ratings. The Credit Agreement also requires that Aptiv pay certain facility fees on the Revolving Credit Facility and certain letter of credit issuance
and fronting fees.

The interest rate period with respect to LIBOR interest rate options can be set at one-, two-, three-, or six-months as selected by Aptiv in accordance with the
terms of the Credit Agreement (or other period as may be agreed by the applicable lenders). Aptiv may elect to change the selected interest rate option in
accordance with the provisions of the Credit Agreement. As of December 31, 2020, Aptiv selected the one-month LIBOR interest rate option on the Tranche A
Term Loan, and the rate effective as of December 31, 2020, as detailed in the table below, was based on the Company’s current credit rating and the Applicable
Rate for the Credit Agreement:

Borrowings as of
December 31, 2020 Rates effective as of

Applicable Rate (in millions) December 31, 2020
Tranche A Term Loan (1) LIBOR plus 1.25% $ 49 1.44 %
Tranche A Term Loan (2) LIBOR plus 1.75% $ 272 1.94 %

(1) Applicable to principal balances under the Credit Agreement which were not extended as part of the May 2020 Amendment as described above.

(2) Applicable to principal balances under the Credit Agreement which were extended as part of the May 2020 Amendment as described above.

Borrowings under the Credit Agreement are prepayable at Aptiv’s option without premium or penalty.

The Credit Agreement contains certain covenants that limit, among other things, the Company’s (and the Company’s subsidiaries’) ability to incur certain
additional indebtedness or liens or to dispose of substantially all of its assets. In addition, the Credit Agreement requires that the Company maintain a consolidated
leverage ratio (the ratio of Consolidated Total Indebtedness to Consolidated EBITDA, each as defined in the Credit Agreement) of not more than 3.5 to 1.0, which
was increased to not more than 4.5 to 1.0 until July 1, 2021 under the May 2020 Amendment. The Credit Agreement also contains events of default customary for
financings of this type. The Company was in compliance with the Credit Agreement covenants as of December 31, 2020.

As of December 31, 2020, all obligations under the Credit Agreement were borrowed by Aptiv Corporation and jointly and severally guaranteed by its direct
and indirect parent companies, subject to certain exceptions set forth in the Credit Agreement.
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Senior Unsecured Notes

As of December 31, 2020, the Company had the following senior unsecured notes issued and outstanding:

Aggregate Principal
Amount 

(in millions) Stated Coupon Rate Issuance Date Maturity Date Interest Payment Date

$ 700 4.15% March 2014 March 2024 March 15 and September 15
861 1.50% March 2015 March 2025 March 10
650 4.25% November 2015 January 2026 January 15 and July 15
615 1.60% September 2016 September 2028 September 15
300 4.35% March 2019 March 2029 March 15 and September 15
300 4.40% September 2016 October 2046 April 1 and October 1
350 5.40% March 2019 March 2049 March 15 and September 15

Although the specific terms of each indenture governing each series of senior notes vary, the indentures contain certain restrictive covenants, including with
respect to Aptiv’s (and Aptiv’s subsidiaries) ability to incur liens, enter into sale and leaseback transactions and merge with or into other entities. As of
December 31, 2020, the Company was in compliance with the provisions of all series of the outstanding senior notes. Refer to Note 11. Debt to the audited
consolidated financial statements included herein for additional information.

Guarantor Summarized Financial Information

In March 2020, the Securities and Exchange Commission (“SEC”) adopted amendments to simplify the financial disclosure requirements for guarantors and
issuers of guaranteed securities registered under Rule 3-10 of Regulation S-X. As permitted, the Company elected to early adopt these amendments during the first
quarter of 2020. Accordingly, the below summarized financial information has been provided in lieu of the condensed consolidating financial statements provided
in the Company’s 2019 Annual Report on Form 10-K.

As further described in Note 11. Debt to the audited consolidated financial statements included herein, Aptiv Corporation issued the 2014 Senior Notes and is
the borrower of obligations under the Credit Agreement, which are fully and unconditionally guaranteed by Aptiv PLC and certain of Aptiv PLC’s direct and
indirect subsidiaries (the “Obligor Group”). Aptiv PLC issued the 2015 Euro-denominated Senior Notes, 4.25% Senior Notes, 2016 Euro-denominated Senior
Notes, 2016 Senior Notes and 2019 Senior Notes, which are fully and unconditionally guaranteed by the Obligor Group. All other consolidated direct and indirect
subsidiaries of Aptiv PLC are not subject to the guarantees (the “Non-Guarantors”). The guarantees rank equally in right of payment with all of the guarantors’
existing and future senior indebtedness, are effectively subordinated to any of their existing and future secured indebtedness to the extent of the value of the
collateral securing such indebtedness and are structurally subordinated to the indebtedness of each of their existing and future subsidiaries that is not a guarantor.

The below summarized financial information is presented on a combined basis after the elimination of intercompany balances and transactions among the
Obligor Group and equity in earnings from and investments in the Non-Guarantors. The below summarized financial information should be read in conjunction
with the Company’s audited consolidated financial statements included herein, as the financial information may not necessarily be indicative of results of
operations or financial position had the subsidiaries operated as independent entities.

52



Table of Contents

Obligor Group

Year Ended December 31, 2020 (in millions)
Net sales $ — 
Gross margin $ — 
Operating loss $ (22)
Net loss $ (265)
Net loss attributable to Aptiv $ (265)

As of December 31, 2020
Current assets (1) $ 377 
Long-term assets $ 1 
Current liabilities (3) $ 913 
Long-term liabilities (3) $ 4,223 
Noncontrolling interest $ — 

As of December 31, 2019
Current assets (2) $ 522 
Long-term assets (2) $ 772 
Current liabilities (3) $ 6,579 
Long-term liabilities (3) $ 4,172 
Noncontrolling interest $ — 

(1) Includes current assets of $370 million as of December 31, 2020 due from Non-Guarantors, which includes amounts due from affiliates of $6 million.
(2) Includes current assets of $522 million and long-term assets of $768 million as of December 31, 2019, respectively, due from Non-Guarantors.
(3) Includes current liabilities of $785 million and $6,409 million, and long-term liabilities of $226 million and $226 million, due to Non-Guarantors as of December 31, 2020 and

December 31, 2019, respectively.

Other Financing

Receivable factoring—During the year ended December 31, 2020, Aptiv entered into a new accounts receivable factoring agreement under which a facility
of €450 million is available on a committed basis and will allow for factoring of receivables denominated in both Euros and U.S. dollars (“USD”). This facility
replaced Aptiv’s previous €300 million European accounts receivable factoring facility on January 1, 2021. This facility is accounted for as short-term debt and
borrowings are subject to the availability of eligible accounts receivable. Collateral is not required related to these trade accounts receivable. The new program is
for a term of three years, after which either party can terminate with three months’ notice. Borrowings denominated in Euros under the new facility will bear
interest at the three-month Euro Interbank Offered Rate (“EURIBOR”) plus 0.50% and USD borrowings will bear interest at two-month LIBOR plus 0.50%, with
borrowings under either denomination carrying a minimum interest rate of 0.20%. Borrowings under the previous facility bore interest at EURIBOR plus 0.42% for
borrowings denominated in Euros with a minimum interest rate of 0.42%. As of December 31, 2020, Aptiv had no amounts outstanding on the European accounts
receivable factoring facility. As of December 31, 2019, Aptiv had $266 million outstanding on the European accounts receivable factoring facility. The maximum
amount drawn under the European facility during the year ended December 31, 2020 was $253 million, primarily to provide additional liquidity and financial
flexibility to mitigate the impacts on its business resulting from the uncertainty caused by the global spread of the COVID-19 pandemic.

Finance leases and other—As of December 31, 2020 and 2019, approximately $28 million and $33 million, respectively, of other debt primarily issued by
certain non-U.S. subsidiaries and finance lease obligations were outstanding.

Letter of credit facilities—In addition to the letters of credit issued under the Credit Agreement, Aptiv had approximately $2 million and $2 million
outstanding through other letter of credit facilities as of December 31, 2020 and 2019, respectively, primarily to support arrangements and other obligations at
certain of its subsidiaries.
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Contractual Commitments

The following table summarizes our expected cash outflows resulting from financial contracts and commitments as of December 31, 2020, with amounts
denominated in foreign currencies translated using foreign currency rates as of December 31, 2020. We have not included information on our recurring purchases
of materials for use in our manufacturing operations. These amounts are generally consistent from year to year, closely reflect our levels of production, and are not
long-term in nature. The amounts below exclude the gross liability for uncertain tax positions of $231 million as of December 31, 2020. We do not expect a
significant payment related to these obligations to be made within the next twelve months. We are not able to provide a reasonably reliable estimate of the timing
of future payments relating to the non-current portion of obligations associated with uncertain tax positions. For more information, refer to Note 14. Income Taxes
to the audited consolidated financial statements included herein.

 Payments due by Period
 Total 2021 2022 & 2023 2024 & 2025 Thereafter
 (in millions)
Debt and finance lease obligations (excluding interest) $ 4,125 $ 90 $ 253 $ 1,564 $ 2,218 
Estimated interest costs related to debt and finance lease obligations 1,405 131 256 207 811 
Operating lease obligations 439 111 160 81 87 
Contractual commitments for capital expenditures 147 147 — — — 
Other contractual purchase commitments, including information technology 304 178 103 18 5 

Total $ 6,420 $ 657 $ 772 $ 1,870 $ 3,121 

In addition to the obligations discussed above, certain of our non-U.S. subsidiaries sponsor defined benefit pension plans, some of which are funded. We
have minimum funding requirements with respect to certain of our pension obligations and may periodically elect to make discretionary contributions to the plans
in support of risk management initiatives. We will also have payments due with respect to our other postretirement benefit obligations. We do not fund our other
postretirement benefit obligations and payments are made as costs are incurred by covered retirees. Refer to Note 12. Pension Benefits to the audited consolidated
financial statements included herein for additional detail regarding our expected contributions to our pension plans and expected distributions to participants in
future periods.

Capital Expenditures

Supplier selection in the automotive industry is generally finalized several years prior to the start of production of the vehicle. Therefore, current capital
expenditures are based on customer commitments entered into previously, generally several years ago when the customer contract was awarded. As of
December 31, 2020, we had approximately $147 million in outstanding cancellable and non-cancellable capital commitments. Capital expenditures by operating
segment and geographic region for the periods presented were:

Year Ended December 31,
 2020 2019 2018
 (in millions)
Signal and Power Solutions $ 355 $ 495 $ 534 
Advanced Safety and User Experience 173 250 245 
Other (1) 56 36 67 

Total capital expenditures $ 584 $ 781 $ 846 
North America $ 235 $ 257 $ 314 
Europe, Middle East & Africa 212 292 300 
Asia Pacific 129 218 220 
South America 8 14 12 

Total capital expenditures $ 584 $ 781 $ 846 

(1) Other includes capital expenditures attributable to corporate administrative and support functions, including corporate headquarters and certain technical centers.
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Cash Flows

Intra-month cash flow cycles vary by region, but in general we are users of cash through the first half of a typical month and we generate cash during the
latter half of a typical month. Due to this cycle of cash flows, we may utilize short-term financing, including our Revolving Credit Facility and European accounts
receivable factoring facility, to manage our intra-month working capital needs. Our cash balance typically peaks at month end.

We utilize a combination of strategies, including dividends, cash pooling arrangements, intercompany loan structures and other distributions and advances to
provide the funds necessary to meet our global liquidity needs. We utilize a global cash pooling arrangement to consolidate and manage our global cash balances,
which enables us to efficiently move cash into and out of a number of the countries in which we operate.

Operating activities—Net cash provided by operating activities totaled $1,413 million and $1,624 million for the years ended December 31, 2020 and 2019,
respectively. Cash flow provided by operating activities for the year ended December 31, 2020 consisted primarily of net earnings of $1,822 million, increased by
$806 million for non-cash charges for depreciation, amortization, pension costs and modification of debt, partially offset by $1,434 million for the non-cash gain
resulting from the formation of the Motional autonomous driving joint venture and $107 million related to changes in operating assets and liabilities, net of
restructuring and pension contributions. Cash flows provided by operating activities for the year ended December 31, 2019 consisted primarily of net earnings of
$1,009 million, increased by $767 million for non-cash charges for depreciation, amortization, pension costs and extinguishment of debt, partially offset by $184
million related to changes in operating assets and liabilities, net of restructuring and pension contributions.

Investing activities—Net cash used in investing activities totaled $626 million and $1,111 million for the years ended December 31, 2020 and 2019,
respectively. The decrease in usage is primarily attributable to $51 million paid for business acquisitions and technology investments, as compared to $344 million
paid for business acquisitions and technology investments during the year ended December 31, 2019. Additionally, capital expenditures decreased $197 million
during the year ended December 31, 2020 as compared to the year ended December 31, 2019.

Financing activities—Net cash provided by financing activities totaled $1,613 million for the year ended December 31, 2020 and net cash used in financing
activities totaled $649 million for the year ended December 31, 2019. Cash flows provided by financing activities for the year ended December 31, 2020 primarily
included $1,115 million and $1,115 million in net proceeds from the public offering of ordinary and preferred shares, net of issuance costs, respectively, partially
offset by $372 million in repayments under other short-term debt agreements, $57 million paid to repurchase ordinary shares and $88 million of dividend
payments. Cash flows used in financing activities for the year ended December 31, 2019 primarily included net proceeds of $641 million received from the
issuance of the 2019 Senior Notes, which were utilized to redeem the $650 million 3.15% Senior Notes, as well as $420 million paid to repurchase ordinary shares
and $226 million of dividend payments.

Off-Balance Sheet Arrangements and Other Matters

We do not engage in any off-balance sheet financial arrangements that have or are reasonably likely to have a material current or future effect on our
financial condition, changes in financial condition, revenues or expenses, results of operations, liquidity, capital expenditures or capital resources.

Pension Benefits

Certain of our non-U.S. subsidiaries sponsor defined benefit pension plans, which generally provide benefits based on negotiated amounts for each year of
service. Our primary non-U.S. plans are located in France, Germany, Mexico, Portugal and the U.K. The U.K. and certain Mexican plans are funded. In addition,
we have defined benefit plans in South Korea, Turkey and Italy for which amounts are payable to employees immediately upon separation. The obligations for
these plans are recorded over the requisite service period. We anticipate making pension contributions and benefit payments of approximately $38 million for non-
U.S. plans in 2021.

Aptiv sponsors a Supplemental Executive Retirement Program (“SERP”) for those employees who were U.S. executives of the former Delphi Corporation
prior to September 30, 2008 and were still U.S. executives of the Company on October 7, 2009, the effective date of the program. This program is unfunded.
Executives receive benefits over 5 years after an involuntary or voluntary separation from Aptiv. The SERP is closed to new members and was frozen effective
September 30, 2008. There are no required contributions for the SERP in 2020, although we anticipate making benefit payments of approximately $3 million for
the SERP in 2021.

Refer to Note 12. Pension Benefits to the audited consolidated financial statements included herein for further information on (1) historical benefit costs of
the pension plans, (2) the principal assumptions used to determine the pension benefit expense and the actuarial value of the projected benefit obligation for the
U.S. and non-U.S. pension plans, (3) a sensitivity analysis of potential changes to pension obligations and expense that would result from changes in key
assumptions and (4) funding obligations.
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Environmental Matters

We are subject to the requirements of U.S. federal, state, local and non-U.S. environmental and safety and health laws and regulations. These include laws
regulating air emissions, water discharge, hazardous materials and waste management. We have an environmental management structure designed to facilitate and
support our compliance with these requirements globally. Although it is our intent to comply with all such requirements and regulations, we cannot provide
assurance that we are at all times in compliance. Environmental requirements are complex, change frequently and have tended to become more stringent over time,
and we therefore cannot ensure that our eventual environmental remediation costs and liabilities will not be material.

Certain environmental laws assess liability on current or previous owners or operators of real property for the cost of removal or remediation of hazardous
substances. In addition to clean-up actions brought by U.S. federal, state, local and non-U.S. agencies, plaintiffs could raise personal injury or other private claims
due to the presence of hazardous substances on or from a property. At this time, we are involved in various stages of investigation and cleanup related to
environmental remediation matters at certain of our present and former facilities. In addition, there may be soil or groundwater contamination at several of our
properties resulting from historical, ongoing or nearby activities.

As of December 31, 2020 and 2019, the undiscounted reserve for environmental investigation and remediation was approximately $4 million (which was
recorded in other long-term liabilities) and $4 million (of which $1 million was recorded in accrued liabilities and $3 million was recorded in other long-term
liabilities). Aptiv cannot ensure that environmental requirements will not change or become more stringent over time or that its eventual environmental remediation
costs and liabilities will not exceed the amount of its current reserves. In the event that such liabilities were to significantly exceed the amounts recorded, Aptiv’s
results of operations could be materially affected.

Legal Proceedings

For a description of our legal proceedings, see Item 3. Legal Proceedings and Note 13. Commitments and Contingencies to the audited consolidated financial
statements included herein.

Significant Accounting Policies and Critical Accounting Estimates

Our significant accounting policies are described in Note 2. Significant Accounting Policies to the audited consolidated financial statements included herein.
Certain of our accounting policies require the application of significant judgment by management in selecting the appropriate assumptions for calculating financial
estimates. By their nature, these judgments are subject to an inherent degree of uncertainty, which is further exacerbated by the unknown future duration and
severity of the impacts of the COVID-19 pandemic. These judgments are based on our historical experience, terms of existing contracts, our evaluation of trends in
the industry, information provided by our customers and information available from other outside sources, as appropriate.

We consider an accounting estimate to be critical if:

• It requires us to make assumptions about matters that were uncertain at the time we were making the estimate, and
• Changes in the estimate or different estimates that we could have selected would have had a material impact on our financial condition or results of

operations.

Acquisitions and Other Transactions

In accordance with accounting guidance for the provisions in Financial Accounting Standards Board (“FASB”) Accounting Standards Codification (“ASC”)
Topic 805, Business Combinations, we allocate the purchase price of an acquired business to its identifiable assets and liabilities based on estimated fair values.
The excess of the purchase price over the amount allocated to the assets and liabilities, if any, is recorded as goodwill. The process to estimate fair value described
herein is generally applicable to other transactions, including the fair value estimates used in establishing the identifiable assets, liabilities and goodwill recorded
upon formation of Motional, Aptiv’s autonomous driving joint venture, and the resulting equity method investment recorded on Aptiv’s balance sheet.

An acquisition may include a contingent consideration component. The fair value of the contingent consideration is estimated as of the date of the acquisition
and is recorded as part of the purchase price. This estimate is updated in future periods and any changes in the estimate, which are not considered an adjustment to
the purchase price, are recorded in our consolidated statements of operations.

We use all available information to estimate fair values. We typically engage outside appraisal firms to assist in the fair value determination of identifiable
intangible assets and any other significant assets or liabilities. We adjust the preliminary purchase price allocation, as necessary, up to one year after the acquisition
closing date as we obtain more information regarding asset valuations and liabilities assumed.
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Our purchase price allocation methodology contains uncertainties because it requires management to make assumptions and to apply judgment to estimate
the fair value of acquired assets and liabilities. Management estimates the fair value of assets and liabilities based upon quoted market prices, the carrying value of
the acquired assets and widely accepted valuation techniques, including discounted cash flows and market multiple analyses. Unanticipated events or circumstances
may occur which could affect the accuracy of our fair value estimates, including assumptions regarding industry economic factors and business strategies.

Other estimates used in determining fair value include, but are not limited to, future cash flows or income related to intangibles, market rate assumptions,
actuarial assumptions for benefit plans and appropriate discount rates. Our estimates of fair value are based upon assumptions believed to be reasonable, but that
are inherently uncertain, and therefore, may not be realized. Accordingly, there can be no assurance that the estimates, assumptions, and values reflected in the
valuations will be realized, and actual results could vary materially.

Warranty Obligations and Product Recall Costs

Estimating warranty obligations requires us to forecast the resolution of existing claims and expected future claims on products sold. We base our estimate
on historical trends of units sold and payment amounts, combined with our current understanding of the status of existing claims and discussions with our
customers. The key factors which impact our estimates are (1) the stated or implied warranty period; (2) OEM source; (3) OEM policy decisions regarding
warranty claims; and (4) OEMs seeking to hold suppliers responsible for product warranties. These estimates are re-evaluated on an ongoing basis. Actual warranty
obligations could differ from the amounts estimated requiring adjustments to existing reserves in future periods. Due to the uncertainty and potential volatility of
the factors contributing to developing these estimates, changes in our assumptions could materially affect our results of operations.

In addition to our ordinary warranty provisions with customers, we are also at risk for product recall costs, which are costs incurred when a customer or the
Company recalls a product through a formal campaign soliciting return of that product. In addition, the National Highway Traffic Safety Administration
(“NHTSA”) has the authority, under certain circumstances, to require recalls to remedy safety concerns. Product recall costs typically include the cost of the
product being replaced as well as the customer’s cost of the recall, including labor to remove and replace the recalled part. The Company accrues for costs related
to product recalls as part of our warranty accrual at the time an obligation becomes probable and can be reasonably estimated. Actual costs incurred could differ
from the amounts estimated, requiring adjustments to these reserves in future periods. It is possible that changes in our assumptions or future product recall issues
could materially affect our financial position, results of operations or cash flows.

Legal and Other Contingencies

We are involved from time to time in various legal proceedings and claims, including commercial or contractual disputes, product liability claims,
government investigations, product warranties and environmental and other matters, that arise in the normal course of business. We routinely assess the likelihood
of any adverse judgments or outcomes related to these matters, as well as ranges of probable losses, by consulting with internal personnel involved with such
matters as well as with outside legal counsel handling such matters. We have accrued for estimated losses for those matters where we believe that the likelihood of
a loss has occurred, is probable and the amount of the loss is reasonably estimable. The determination of the amount of such reserves is based on knowledge and
experience with regard to past and current matters and consultation with internal personnel involved with such matters and with outside legal counsel handling such
matters. The amount of such reserves may change in the future due to new developments or changes in circumstances. The inherent uncertainty related to the
outcome of these matters can result in amounts materially different from any provisions made with respect to their resolution. Refer to Note 13. Commitments and
Contingencies to the audited consolidated financial statements included herein for additional information.

Restructuring

Accruals have been recorded in conjunction with our restructuring actions. These accruals include estimates primarily related to employee termination costs,
contract termination costs and other related exit costs in conjunction with workforce reduction and programs related to the rationalization of manufacturing and
engineering processes. Actual costs may vary from these estimates. These accruals are reviewed on a quarterly basis and changes to restructuring actions are
appropriately recognized when identified.

Pensions

We use actuarial estimates and related actuarial methods to calculate our obligation and expense. We are required to select certain actuarial assumptions,
which are determined based on current market conditions, historical information and consultation with and input from our actuaries and asset managers. Refer to
Note 12. Pension Benefits to the audited consolidated financial statements included herein for additional details. The key factors which impact our estimates are
(1) discount rates; (2) asset return assumptions; and (3) actuarial assumptions such as retirement age and mortality which are determined as of the current year
measurement date. We review our actuarial assumptions on an annual basis and make
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modifications to the assumptions based on current rates and trends when appropriate. Experience gains and losses, as well as the effects of changes in actuarial
assumptions and plan provisions are recognized in other comprehensive income. Cumulative actuarial gains and losses in excess of 10% of the projected benefit
obligation (“PBO”) for a particular plan are amortized over the average future service period of the employees in that plan.

The principal assumptions used to determine the pension expense and the actuarial value of the projected benefit obligation for the U.S. and non-U.S.
pension plans were:

Assumptions used to determine benefit obligations at December 31:

 Pension Benefits
 U.S. Plans Non-U.S. Plans
 2020 2019 2020 2019
Weighted-average discount rate 1.20 % 2.40 % 2.21 % 2.87 %
Weighted-average rate of increase in compensation levels N/A N/A 3.64 % 3.69 %

Assumptions used to determine net expense for years ended December 31:

 Pension Benefits
 U.S. Plans Non-U.S. Plans
 2020 2019 2018 2020 2019 2018
Weighted-average discount rate 2.40 % 3.80 % 2.70 % 2.87 % 3.53 % 3.39 %
Weighted-average rate of increase in compensation levels N/A N/A N/A 3.69 % 3.74 % 3.65 %
Weighted-average expected long-term rate of return on plan assets N/A N/A N/A 4.68 % 4.95 % 5.63 %

We select discount rates by analyzing the results of matching each plan’s projected benefit obligations with a portfolio of high-quality fixed income
investments rated AA or higher by Standard and Poor’s or Moody’s.

Aptiv does not have any U.S. pension assets; therefore no U.S. asset rate of return calculation was necessary for 2020, 2019 or 2018. The primary funded
non-U.S. plans are in the U.K. and Mexico. For the determination of 2020 expense, we assumed a long-term expected asset rate of return of approximately 4.25%
and 7.50% for the U.K. and Mexico, respectively. We evaluated input from local actuaries and asset managers, including consideration of recent fund performance
and historical returns, in developing the long-term rate of return assumptions. The assumptions for the U.K. and Mexico are primarily conservative long-term,
prospective rates. To determine the expected return on plan assets, the market-related value of our plan assets is actual fair value.

Our pension expense for 2021 is determined at the December 31, 2020 measurement date. For purposes of analysis, the following table highlights the
sensitivity of our pension obligations and expense attributable to changes in key assumptions:

Change in Assumption Impact on Pension Expense Impact on PBO
25 basis point (“bp”) decrease in discount rate + $2 million + $35 million
25 bp increase in discount rate - $2 million - $33 million
25 bp decrease in long-term expected return on assets + $1 million —
25 bp increase in long-term expected return on assets - $1 million —

The above sensitivities reflect the effect of changing one assumption at a time. It should be noted that economic factors and conditions often affect multiple
assumptions simultaneously and the effects of changes in key assumptions are not necessarily linear. The above sensitivities also assume no changes to the design
of the pension plans and no major restructuring programs.

Based on information provided by our actuaries and asset managers, we believe that the assumptions used are reasonable; however, changes in these
assumptions could impact our financial position, results of operations or cash flows. Refer to Note 12. Pension Benefits to the audited consolidated financial
statements included herein for additional information.

Valuation of Long-Lived Assets, Intangible Assets and Investments in Affiliates and Expected Useful Lives

We monitor our long-lived and definite-lived assets, including our investments in affiliates, the most significant of which is our investment in Motional, Inc.,
for impairment indicators on an ongoing basis based on projections of anticipated future
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cash flows, including future profitability assessments of various manufacturing sites when events and circumstances warrant such a review. If impairment
indicators exist, we perform the required impairment analysis by comparing the undiscounted cash flows expected to be generated from the long-lived assets to the
related net book values. If the net book value exceeds the undiscounted cash flows, an impairment loss is measured and recognized. An impairment loss is
measured as the difference between the net book value and the estimated fair value of the long-lived assets. Even if an impairment charge is not required, a
reassessment of the useful lives over which depreciation or amortization is being recognized may be appropriate based on our assessment of the recoverability of
these assets. We estimate cash flows and fair value using internal budgets based on recent sales data, independent automotive production volume estimates and
customer commitments and review of appraisals. The key factors which impact our estimates are (1) future production estimates; (2) customer preferences and
decisions; (3) product pricing; (4) manufacturing and material cost estimates; and (5) product life / business retention. Any differences in actual results from the
estimates could result in fair values different from the estimated fair values, which could materially impact our future results of operations and financial condition.
We believe that the projections of anticipated future cash flows and fair value assumptions are reasonable; however, changes in assumptions underlying these
estimates could affect our valuations.

Goodwill and Intangible Assets

We periodically review goodwill for impairment indicators. We review goodwill for impairment annually in the fourth quarter or more frequently if events or
changes in circumstances indicate that goodwill might be impaired. The Company performs the goodwill impairment review at the reporting unit level. We perform
a qualitative assessment (step 0) of whether it is more likely than not that a reporting unit’s fair value is less than its carrying amount. If not, no further goodwill
impairment testing is performed. If so, we perform the step 1 test discussed hereafter. Our qualitative assessment involves significant estimates, assumptions, and
judgments, including, but not limited to, macroeconomic conditions, industry and market conditions, financial performance of the Company, reporting unit specific
events and changes in the Company’s share price. 

If the fair value of the reporting unit is greater than its carrying amount (step 1), goodwill is not considered to be impaired. We estimate the fair value of our
reporting units using a combination of a future discounted cash flow valuation model and, if possible, a comparable market transaction model. Estimating fair value
requires the Company to make judgments about appropriate discount rates, growth rates, relevant comparable company earnings multiples and the amount and
timing of expected future cash flows. If the fair value of the reporting unit is less than its carrying amount, an entity must record an impairment charge based on the
amount by which a reporting unit’s carrying value exceeds its estimated fair value, limited to the amount of goodwill allocated to that reporting unit.

We review indefinite-lived intangible assets for impairment annually or more frequently if events or changes in circumstances indicate the assets might be
impaired. Similar to the goodwill assessment described above, the Company first performs a qualitative assessment of whether it is more likely than not that an
indefinite-lived intangible asset is impaired. If necessary, the Company then performs a quantitative impairment test by comparing the estimated fair value of the
asset, based upon its forecasted cash flows, to its carrying value. Other intangible assets with definite lives are amortized over their useful lives and are subject to
impairment testing only if events or circumstances indicate that the asset might be impaired, as described above.

Income Taxes

Deferred tax assets and liabilities reflect temporary differences between the amount of assets and liabilities for financial and tax reporting purposes. Such
amounts are adjusted, as appropriate, to reflect changes in tax rates expected to be in effect when the temporary differences reverse. A valuation allowance is
recorded to reduce our deferred tax assets to the amount that is more likely than not to be realized. Changes in tax laws or accounting standards and methods may
affect recorded deferred taxes in future periods.

When establishing a valuation allowance, we consider future sources of taxable income such as “future reversals of existing taxable temporary differences,
future taxable income exclusive of reversing temporary differences and carryforwards” and “tax planning strategies.” A tax planning strategy is defined as “an
action that: is prudent and feasible; an enterprise ordinarily might not take, but would take to prevent an operating loss or tax credit carryforward from expiring
unused; and would result in realization of deferred tax assets.” In the event we determine it is more likely than not that the deferred tax assets will not be realized in
the future, the valuation adjustment to the deferred tax assets will be charged to earnings in the period in which we make such a determination. The valuation of
deferred tax assets requires judgment and accounting for the deferred tax effect of events that have been recorded in the financial statements or in tax returns and
our future projected profitability. Changes in our estimates, due to unforeseen events or otherwise, could have a material impact on our financial condition and
results of operations.

We calculate our current and deferred tax provision based on estimates and assumptions that could differ from the actual results reflected in income tax
returns filed in subsequent years. Adjustments based on filed returns are recorded when identified. The amount of income taxes we pay is subject to ongoing audits
by federal, state and foreign tax authorities. Our
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estimate of the potential outcome of any uncertain tax issue is subject to management’s assessment of relevant risks, facts, and circumstances existing at that time.
We use a more-likely-than-not threshold for financial statement recognition and measurement of tax positions taken or expected to be taken in a tax return. We
record a liability for the difference between the benefit recognized and measured and tax position taken or expected to be taken on our tax return. To the extent that
our assessment of such tax positions changes, the change in estimate is recorded in the period in which the determination is made. We report tax-related interest
and penalties as a component of income tax expense. We do not believe there is a reasonable likelihood that there will be a material change in the tax related
balances or valuation allowance balances. However, due to the complexity of some of these uncertainties, the ultimate resolution may be materially different from
the current estimate. Refer to Note 14. Income Taxes to the audited consolidated financial statements included herein for additional information.

Recently Issued Accounting Pronouncements

Refer to Note 2. Significant Accounting Policies to the audited consolidated financial statements included herein for a complete description of recent
accounting standards which we have not yet been required to implement which may be applicable to our operations. Additionally, the significant accounting
standards that have been adopted during the year ended December 31, 2020 are described.

ITEM 7A. QUANTITATIVE AND QUALITATIVE DISCLOSURES ABOUT MARKET RISK

We are exposed to market risks from changes in currency exchange rates and certain commodity prices. In order to manage these risks, we operate a
centralized risk management program that consists of entering into a variety of derivative contracts with the intent of mitigating our risk to fluctuations in currency
exchange rates and commodity prices. We do not enter into derivative transactions for speculative or trading purposes.

A discussion of our accounting policies for derivative instruments is included in Note 2. Significant Accounting Policies to the audited consolidated financial
statements included herein and further disclosure is provided in Note 17. Derivatives and Hedging Activities to the audited consolidated financial statements
included herein. We maintain risk management control systems to monitor exchange and commodity risks and related hedge positions. Positions are monitored
using a variety of analytical techniques including market value and sensitivity analysis. The following analyses are based on sensitivity tests, which assume
instantaneous, parallel shifts in currency exchange rates and commodity prices. For options and instruments with non-linear returns, appropriate models are utilized
to determine the impact of shifts in rates and prices.

We have currency exposures related to buying, selling and financing in currencies other than the local currencies in which we operate. Historically, we have
reduced our exposure through financial instruments (hedges) that provide offsets or limits to our exposures, which are opposite to the underlying transactions. We
also face an inherent business risk of exposure to commodity prices risks, and have historically offset our exposure, particularly to changes in the price of various
non-ferrous metals used in our manufacturing operations, through fixed price purchase agreements, commodity swaps and option contracts. We continue to manage
our exposures to changes in currency rates and commodity prices using these derivative instruments.

Currency Exchange Rate Risk

Currency exposures may impact future earnings and/or operating cash flows. We have currency exposures related to buying, selling and financing in
currencies other than the local functional currencies in which we operate (“transactional exposure”). We also have currency exposures related to the translation of
the financial statements of our foreign subsidiaries that use the local currency as their functional currency into U.S. dollars, the Company’s reporting currency
(“translational exposure”). The impact of translational exposure is recorded within currency translation adjustment in the consolidated statements of comprehensive
income. During the year ended December 31, 2020, the foreign currency translation adjustment gain of $154 million was primarily due to the impact of a
weakening U.S. dollar, which decreased approximately 10% and 7%, respectively, in relation to the Euro and the Chinese Yuan Renminbi from December 31,
2019.

As described in Note 17. Derivatives and Hedging Activities to the audited consolidated financial statements included herein, in order to manage certain
translational exposure, we have designated the 2015 Euro-denominated Senior Notes and the 2016 Euro-denominated Senior Notes as net investment hedges of the
foreign currency exposure of our investments in certain Euro-denominated subsidiaries. We have also entered into forward contracts designated as net investment
hedges of the foreign currency exposure of our investments in certain Chinese Yuan Renminbi-denominated subsidiaries. The effective portion of the gains or
losses on instruments designated as net investment hedges are recognized within the cumulative translation adjustment component in the consolidated statements of
comprehensive income to offset changes in the value of the net investment in these foreign currency-denominated operations.

In some instances, we choose to reduce our transactional exposures through financial instruments (hedges) that provide offsets or limits to our exposures.
Currently our most significant hedged currency exposures relate to the Mexican Peso, Chinese Yuan Renminbi, Polish Zloty and Euro. As of December 31, 2020
and 2019 the net fair value liability of all financial instruments, including hedges and underlying transactions, with exposure to currency risk was approximately
$767 million and
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$1,199 million, respectively. The potential loss in fair value for such financial instruments from a hypothetical 10% adverse change in quoted currency exchange
rates would be approximately $25 million and $78 million as of December 31, 2020 and 2019, respectively. The potential gain in fair value from a hypothetical
10% favorable change in quoted currency exchange rates would be approximately $31 million and $78 million as of December 31, 2020 and 2019, respectively.
The impact of a 10% change in rates on fair value differs from a 10% change in the net fair value asset due to the existence of hedges. The model assumes a
parallel shift in currency exchange rates; however, currency exchange rates rarely move in the same direction. The assumption that currency exchange rates change
in a parallel fashion may overstate the impact of changing currency exchange rates on assets and liabilities denominated in currencies other than the U.S. dollar.

Commodity Price Risk

Commodity swaps/average rate forward contracts are executed to offset a portion of our exposure to the potential change in prices mainly for various non-
ferrous metals used in the manufacturing of automotive components, primarily copper. The net fair value of our contracts was an asset of $35 million and a liability
of less than $1 million as of December 31, 2020 and 2019, respectively. If the price of the commodities that are being hedged by our commodity swaps/average
rate forward contracts changed adversely or favorably by 10%, the fair value of our commodity swaps/average rate forward contracts would decrease or increase by
$22 million and $21 million as of December 31, 2020 and 2019, respectively. A 10% change in the net fair value liability differs from a 10% change in rates on fair
value due to the relative differences between the underlying commodity prices and the prices in place in our commodity swaps/average rate forward contracts.
These amounts exclude the offsetting impact of the price risk inherent in the physical purchase of the underlying commodities.

Interest Rate Risk

Our exposure to market risk associated with changes in interest rates relates primarily to our debt obligations. We do not use interest rate swap or other
derivative contracts to manage our exposure to fluctuations in interest rates. As of December 31, 2020, we had approximately $321 million of floating rate debt,
related to the Credit Agreement. The Credit Agreement was amended on May 1, 2020 and extended the maturity of $1,779 million in principal amount of the
Revolving Credit Facility and $298 million in principal amount of the Tranche A Term Loan from August 17, 2021 to August 17, 2022. The maturity date of the
remaining portions of the Revolving Credit Facility and Tranche A Term Loan were not extended and will mature on August 17, 2021. Refer to Note 11. Debt to
the audited consolidated financial statements included herein for additional information. The non-extended Credit Agreement carries an interest rate, at our option,
on Tranche A term loan borrowings of either (a) the ABR plus 0.25% per annum, or (b) LIBOR plus 1.25% per annum, and on Revolving Credit Facility
borrowings of either (a) the ABR plus 0.10% per annum, or (b) LIBOR plus 1.10% per annum. The extended Credit Agreement carries an interest rate, at our
option, on Tranche A term loan borrowings of either (a) the ABR plus 0.75% per annum, or (b) LIBOR plus 1.75% per annum, and on Revolving Credit Facility
borrowings of either (a) the ABR plus 0.40% per annum, or (b) LIBOR plus 1.40% per annum.

The interest rate period with respect to the LIBOR interest rate option can be set at one-, two-, three-, or six-months as selected by us in accordance with the
terms of the Credit Agreement (or other period as may be agreed by the applicable lenders), but payable no less than quarterly. We may elect to change the selected
interest rate over the term of the Credit Facilities in accordance with the provisions of the Credit Agreement. The applicable interest rates listed above for the
Revolving Credit Facility and the Tranche A Term Loan may increase or decrease from time to time in increments of 0.10% to 0.50%, up to a maximum of 0.75%
based on changes to our corporate credit ratings. Accordingly, the interest rate will fluctuate during the term of the Credit Agreement based on changes in the
Alternate Base Rate, LIBOR or future changes in our corporate credit ratings.

The table below indicates interest rate sensitivity on interest expense to floating rate debt based on amounts outstanding as of December 31, 2020.

 Credit Agreement

Change in Rate
(impact to annual interest 

expense, in millions)
25 bps decrease - $1
25 bps increase +$1
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ITEM 8. FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SUPPLEMENTARY DATA

Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm

To the Shareholders and the Board of Directors of Aptiv PLC
Opinion on the Financial Statements

We have audited the accompanying consolidated balance sheets of Aptiv PLC (the Company) as of December 31, 2020 and 2019, the related consolidated
statements of operations, comprehensive income, shareholders’ equity and cash flows for each of the three years in the period ended December 31, 2020, and the
related notes and financial statement schedule listed in the Index at Item 15(a)(2) (collectively referred to as the “consolidated financial statements”). In our
opinion, the consolidated financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position of the Company at December 31, 2020 and 2019, and the
results of its operations and its cash flows for each of the three years in the period ended December 31, 2020, in conformity with U.S. generally accepted
accounting principles.

We also have audited, in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States) (PCAOB), the Company’s internal
control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2020, based on criteria established in Internal Control-Integrated Framework issued by the Committee of
Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission (2013 framework), and our report dated February 8, 2021 expressed an unqualified opinion thereon.

Basis for Opinion

These financial statements are the responsibility of the Company’s management. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on the Company’s financial statements
based on our audits. We are a public accounting firm registered with the PCAOB and are required to be independent with respect to the Company in accordance
with the U.S. federal securities laws and the applicable rules and regulations of the Securities and Exchange Commission and the PCAOB.

We conducted our audits in accordance with the standards of the PCAOB. Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable
assurance about whether the financial statements are free of material misstatement, whether due to error or fraud. Our audits included performing procedures to
assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to error or fraud, and performing procedures that respond to those risks. Such
procedures included examining, on a test basis, evidence regarding the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements. Our audits also included evaluating the
accounting principles used and significant estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall presentation of the financial statements. We believe
that our audits provide a reasonable basis for our opinion.

Critical Audit Matters

The critical audit matters communicated below are matters arising from the current period audit of the consolidated financial statements that were communicated or
required to be communicated to the audit committee and that: (1) relate to accounts or disclosures that are material to the financial statements and (2) involved our
especially challenging, subjective, or complex judgments. The communication of critical audit matters does not alter in any way our opinion on the consolidated
financial statements, taken as a whole, and we are not, by communicating the critical audit matters below, providing separate opinions on the critical audit matters
or on the accounts or disclosures to which they relate.

Uncertain Tax Positions
Description of the
Matter

As described in Notes 2 and 14, the Company establishes reserves for uncertain tax positions for positions that are taken on their income
tax returns that might not be sustained upon examination by the taxing authorities. At December 31, 2020, the Company has recorded
approximately $231 million relating to uncertain tax positions.

In determining whether an uncertain tax position exists, the Company determines, based solely on its technical merits, whether the tax
position is more likely than not to be sustained upon examination, and if so, a tax benefit is measured on a cumulative probability basis that
is more likely than not to be realized upon the ultimate settlement. The Company identifies its certain and uncertain tax positions and then
evaluates the recognition and measurement steps to determine the amount that should be recognized. The Company then evaluates
uncertain tax positions in subsequent periods for recognition, de-recognition or re-measurement if changes have occurred, or when effective
settlement or expiration of the statute of limitations occurs.
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Auditing the uncertain tax positions is complex because of the judgmental nature of the tax accruals and various other tax return positions
that might not be sustained upon review by taxing authorities. The Company files tax returns in multiple jurisdictions and is subject to
examination by taxing authorities throughout the world due to its complex global footprint. Taxing jurisdictions significant to Aptiv include
China, Barbados, Luxembourg, Germany, Mexico, the U.S., Ireland, South Korea and the U.K. 

How We Addressed
the Matter in Our
Audit

We obtained an understanding, evaluated the design, and tested the operating effectiveness of controls related to the recognition,
measurement and the evaluation of changes in uncertain tax positions. This included testing controls over management’s review of the tax
positions, their evaluation of whether they met the measurement threshold and then recalculating the amounts recognized based upon a
cumulative probability assessment performed by management. 

Our audit procedures to test the Company’s uncertain tax positions included, among others, involvement of our tax professionals, including
transfer pricing professionals. This included evaluating tax opinions and third-party transfer pricing studies obtained by the Company and
assessing the Company’s correspondence with the relevant tax authorities. We analyzed the Company’s assumptions and data used to
determine the amount of tax benefit to recognize and tested the accuracy of the calculations. Our testing also included the evaluation of the
ongoing positions and consideration of changes, the recording of penalties and interest and the ultimate settlement and payment of certain
tax matters. 
Revenue Recognition

Description of the
Matter

As described in Notes 2 and 25, Aptiv occasionally enters into pricing agreements with its customers that provide for price reductions,
some of which are conditional upon achieving certain joint cost saving targets. In addition, from time to time, Aptiv makes payments to
customers in conjunction with ongoing business. Revenue is recognized based on the agreed-upon price at the time of shipment, and sales
incentives, allowances and certain customer payments are recognized as a reduction to revenue at the time of the commitment to provide
such incentives or make these payments. Certain other customer payments or upfront fees are considered to be a cost to obtain a contract as
they are directly attributable to a contract, are incremental and management expects the payments to be recoverable. In these cases, the
customer payment is capitalized and amortized to revenue based on the transfer of goods and services to the customer for which the upfront
payment relates. As of December 31, 2020, Aptiv has recorded $116 million related to these capitalized upfront payments.

Auditing the accounting for and completeness of arrangements containing elements such as sales incentives, allowances and customer
payments, including the appropriate timing and presentation of adjustments to revenue as well as costs to obtain a contract is judgmental
due to the unique facts and circumstances involved in each revenue arrangement, as well as on-going commercial negotiations with
customers.

How We Addressed
the Matter in Our
Audit

We obtained an understanding, evaluated the design and tested the operating effectiveness of controls over the review of customer
contracts. This included testing controls over the Company’s process to identify and evaluate customer contracts that contain sales
incentives, allowances and customer payments that impact revenue recognition. 

Our audit procedures to test the completeness of the Company’s identification of such contracts included, among others, interviewing sales
representatives who are responsible for negotiations with customers and testing cash payments to customers. To test management’s
assessment of customer contracts containing sales incentives, allowances and customer payments, our procedures included, among others,
selecting a sample of customer agreements, obtaining and reviewing source documentation, including master agreements, and other
documents that were part of the agreement, and evaluating the contract terms to determine the appropriateness of the accounting treatment.
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Autonomous Driving Joint Venture
Description of the
Matter

As described in Note 24, on March 26, 2020, Aptiv completed a transaction with Hyundai Motor Group to form a joint venture focused on
the design, development and commercialization of autonomous driving technologies. The joint venture operates globally under the
Motional brand name. Under the terms of the agreement, Aptiv contributed to the joint venture autonomous driving technology, intellectual
property and approximately 700 employees for a 50% ownership interest in the entity. Hyundai contributed to the joint venture
approximately $1.6 billion in cash, along with vehicle engineering services, research and development resources and access to intellectual
property for a 50% ownership interest in the entity.
Upon closing of the transaction, Aptiv deconsolidated the carrying value of the associated assets and liabilities contributed to the joint
venture, previously classified as held for sale, and recognized an asset of approximately $2 billion within investments in affiliates in the
consolidated balance sheet, based on the preliminary fair value of its investment in the newly formed joint venture. The Company
recognized a pre-tax gain of approximately $1.4 billion in the consolidated statement of operations, net of transaction costs of $22 million,
based on the difference between the carrying value of its contribution to the joint venture and the preliminary fair value of its investment in
the entity. The estimated fair value of Aptiv’s ownership interest in the joint venture was determined primarily based on third-party
valuations and management estimates, generally utilizing income and market approaches.

Auditing the Company's accounting for the transaction involved subjective auditor judgment due to the significant estimation required in
management’s determination of the fair value of joint venture, including the fair value and allocation of identified intangible assets
contributed by Aptiv and Hyundai. The significant estimation was primarily due to the sensitivity of the fair value to underlying
assumptions including discount rates, projected revenue growth rates and profit margins. These assumptions relate to the future
performance of the joint venture, are forward-looking and could be affected by future economic and market conditions.

How We Addressed
the Matter in Our
Audit

We obtained an understanding, evaluated the design, and tested the operating effectiveness of the Company’s controls over its accounting
for the transaction. This included testing controls over management’s review of the valuation of joint venture, including the review of the
valuation model and significant assumptions and prospective financial information used within the valuation.

To test the fair value of the joint venture, our audit procedures included, among others, evaluating the Company's use of valuation
methodologies, challenging the significant assumptions made by management, including the prospective financial information and testing
the completeness and accuracy of the underlying data. We involved our valuation specialists to assist in testing certain significant
assumptions used to value the joint venture and its intangible assets. Our procedures included among others, comparing significant
management assumptions to current industry and market trends, historical results of the contributed business and to other relevant factors.
We also performed sensitivity analyses of the significant assumptions to evaluate the change in the fair value resulting from changes in the
assumptions. In addition, complex and challenging auditor judgment was required in evaluating the internally developed estimates and
assumptions used in the model because there was limited observable market information.

/s/ Ernst & Young LLP
We have served as the Company’s auditor since 2006
Detroit, Michigan
February 8, 2021
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Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm

To the Shareholders and the Board of Directors of Aptiv PLC

Opinion on Internal Control over Financial Reporting

We have audited Aptiv PLC’s internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2020, based on criteria established in Internal Control-Integrated
Framework issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission (2013 framework) (the COSO criteria). In our opinion, Aptiv PLC
(the Company) maintained, in all material respects, effective internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2020, based on the COSO criteria.

We also have audited, in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States) (PCAOB), the consolidated balance
sheets of the Company as of December 31, 2020 and 2019, and the related consolidated statements of operations, comprehensive income, shareholders’ equity and
cash flows for each of the three years in the period ended December 31, 2020, and the related notes and financial statement schedule and our report dated
February 8, 2021 expressed an unqualified opinion thereon.

Basis for Opinion

The Company’s management is responsible for maintaining effective internal control over financial reporting and for its assessment of the effectiveness of internal
control over financial reporting included in the accompanying Management’s Report on Internal Control over Financial Reporting. Our responsibility is to express
an opinion on the Company’s internal control over financial reporting based on our audit. We are a public accounting firm registered with the PCAOB and are
required to be independent with respect to the Company in accordance with the U.S. federal securities laws and the applicable rules and regulations of the
Securities and Exchange Commission and the PCAOB.

We conducted our audit in accordance with the standards of the PCAOB. Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance
about whether effective internal control over financial reporting was maintained in all material respects.

Our audit included obtaining an understanding of internal control over financial reporting, assessing the risk that a material weakness exists, testing and evaluating
the design and operating effectiveness of internal control based on the assessed risk, and performing such other procedures as we considered necessary in the
circumstances. We believe that our audit provides a reasonable basis for our opinion.

Definition and Limitations of Internal Control Over Financial Reporting

A company’s internal control over financial reporting is a process designed to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the
preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles. A company’s internal control over financial
reporting includes those policies and procedures that (1) pertain to the maintenance of records that, in reasonable detail, accurately and fairly reflect the
transactions and dispositions of the assets of the company; (2) provide reasonable assurance that transactions are recorded as necessary to permit preparation of
financial statements in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles, and that receipts and expenditures of the company are being made only in
accordance with authorizations of management and directors of the company; and (3) provide reasonable assurance regarding prevention or timely detection of
unauthorized acquisition, use, or disposition of the company’s assets that could have a material effect on the financial statements.

Because of its inherent limitations, internal control over financial reporting may not prevent or detect misstatements. Also, projections of any evaluation of
effectiveness to future periods are subject to the risk that controls may become inadequate because of changes in conditions, or that the degree of compliance with
the policies or procedures may deteriorate.

/s/ Ernst & Young LLP
Detroit, Michigan
February 8, 2021
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APTIV PLC
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF OPERATIONS

Year Ended December 31,
 2020 2019 2018
 (in millions, except per share amounts)
Net sales $ 13,066 $ 14,357 $ 14,435 
Operating expenses:

Cost of sales 11,126 11,711 11,706 
Selling, general and administrative 976 1,076 993 
Amortization 144 146 154 
Restructuring (Note 10) 136 148 109 
Gain on autonomous driving joint venture (Note 24) (1,434) — — 

Total operating expenses 10,948 13,081 12,962 
Operating income 2,118 1,276 1,473 

Interest expense (164) (164) (141)
Other income, net (Note 19) — 14 2 

Income before income taxes and equity (loss) income 1,954 1,126 1,334 
Income tax expense (49) (132) (250)

Income before equity (loss) income 1,905 994 1,084 
Equity (loss) income, net of tax (83) 15 23 

Net income 1,822 1,009 1,107 
Net income attributable to noncontrolling interest 18 19 40 
Net income attributable to Aptiv 1,804 990 1,067 
Mandatory Convertible Preferred Share dividends (Note 15) (35) — — 
Net income attributable to ordinary shareholders $ 1,769 $ 990 $ 1,067 

Basic net income per share:
Basic net income per share attributable to ordinary shareholders $ 6.72 $ 3.85 $ 4.04 

Weighted average number of basic shares outstanding 263.43 256.81 264.41 

Diluted net income per share (Note 15):
Diluted net income per share attributable to ordinary shareholders $ 6.66 $ 3.85 $ 4.02 

Weighted average number of diluted shares outstanding 270.70 257.39 265.22 

See notes to consolidated financial statements.
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APTIV PLC
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

Year Ended December 31,
 2020 2019 2018
 (in millions)
Net income $ 1,822 $ 1,009 $ 1,107 
Other comprehensive income (loss):

Currency translation adjustments 154 (45) (194)
Net change in unrecognized gain (loss) on derivative instruments, net of tax (Note 17) 27 56 (39)
Employee benefit plans adjustment, net of tax (Note 12) (5) (30) 2 

Other comprehensive income (loss) 176 (19) (231)
Comprehensive income 1,998 990 876 
Comprehensive income attributable to noncontrolling interests 20 16 32 
Comprehensive income attributable to Aptiv $ 1,978 $ 974 $ 844 

See notes to consolidated financial statements.
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APTIV PLC
CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS

December 31,
2020 2019

 (in millions)
ASSETS
Current assets:

Cash and cash equivalents $ 2,821 $ 412 
Restricted cash 32 16 
Accounts receivable, net of allowance for doubtful accounts of $40 million and $37 million, respectively (Note 2) 2,812 2,569 
Inventories (Note 3) 1,297 1,286 
Other current assets (Note 4) 503 504 
Assets held for sale (Note 24) — 532 

Total current assets 7,465 5,319 
Long-term assets:

Property, net (Note 6) 3,301 3,309 
Operating lease right-of-use assets (Note 26) 380 413 
Investments in affiliates (Note 5) 2,011 106 
Intangible assets, net (Note 7) 1,091 1,186 
Goodwill (Note 7) 2,580 2,407 
Other long-term assets (Note 4) 694 719 

Total long-term assets 10,057 8,140 
Total assets $ 17,522 $ 13,459 

LIABILITIES AND SHAREHOLDERS’ EQUITY
Current liabilities:

Short-term debt (Note 11) $ 90 $ 393 
Accounts payable 2,571 2,463 
Accrued liabilities (Note 8) 1,385 1,155 
Liabilities held for sale (Note 24) — 43 

Total current liabilities 4,046 4,054 
Long-term liabilities:

Long-term debt (Note 11) 4,011 3,971 
Pension benefit obligations (Note 12) 525 483 
Long-term operating lease liabilities (Note 26) 300 329 
Other long-term liabilities (Note 8) 540 611 

Total long-term liabilities 5,376 5,394 
Total liabilities 9,422 9,448 

Commitments and contingencies (Note 13)
Shareholders’ equity:

Preferred shares, $0.01 par value per share, 50,000,000 shares authorized; 11,500,000 shares of 5.50% Mandatory Convertible
Preferred Shares, Series A, issued and outstanding as of December 31, 2020; none issued and outstanding as of December 31, 2019 — — 

Ordinary shares, $0.01 par value per share, 1,200,000,000 shares authorized, 270,025,374 and 255,288,240 issued and outstanding as
of December 31, 2020 and 2019, respectively 3 3 

Additional paid-in-capital 3,897 1,645 
Retained earnings 4,550 2,890 
Accumulated other comprehensive loss (Note 16) (545) (719)
Total Aptiv shareholders’ equity 7,905 3,819 

Noncontrolling interest 195 192 
Total shareholders’ equity 8,100 4,011 

Total liabilities and shareholders’ equity $ 17,522 $ 13,459 

See notes to consolidated financial statements.
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APTIV PLC
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS

 Year Ended December 31,
 2020 2019 2018
 (in millions)
Cash flows from operating activities:

Net income $ 1,822 $ 1,009 $ 1,107 
Adjustments to reconcile net income to net cash provided by operating activities:

Depreciation 620 571 522 
Amortization 144 146 154 
Amortization of deferred debt issuance costs 9 6 7 
Restructuring expense, net of cash paid (15) 29 (26)
Deferred income taxes (52) (33) (14)
Pension and other postretirement benefit expenses 38 44 35 
Loss (income) from equity method investments, net of dividends received 92 (6) (11)
Loss on modification of debt 4 — — 
Loss on extinguishment of debt — 6 — 
Loss (gain) on sale of assets 3 (1) (2)
Share-based compensation 60 66 58 
Gain on autonomous driving joint venture, net (1,434) — — 

Changes in operating assets and liabilities:
Accounts receivable, net (243) (74) 55 
Inventories (8) 8 (120)
Other assets 78 (202) (165)
Accounts payable 186 133 62 
Accrued and other long-term liabilities 173 (9) 73 
Other, net (31) (31) (47)

Pension contributions (33) (38) (48)
Net cash provided by operating activities from continuing operations 1,413 1,624 1,640 
Net cash used in operating activities from discontinued operations — — (12)
Net cash provided by operating activities 1,413 1,624 1,628 
Cash flows from investing activities:

Capital expenditures (584) (781) (846)
Proceeds from sale of property / investments 10 14 13 
Cost of business acquisitions and other transactions, net of cash acquired (49) (334) (1,197)
Cost of technology investments (2) (10) (16)
Settlement of derivatives (1) — (2)

Net cash used in investing activities (626) (1,111) (2,048)
Cash flows from financing activities:

Net (repayments) proceeds under other short-term debt agreements (372) 80 268 
Net repayments under other long-term debt agreements (39) (25) (13)
Repayment of senior notes — (654) — 
Proceeds from issuance of senior notes, net of issuance costs — 641 — 
Fees related to modification of debt agreements (18) — — 
Proceeds from the public offering of ordinary shares, net of issuance costs 1,115 — — 
Proceeds from the public offering of preferred shares, net of issuance costs 1,115 — — 
Contingent consideration and deferred acquisition purchase price payments — — (13)
Dividend payments of consolidated affiliates to minority shareholders (10) (11) (30)
Repurchase of ordinary shares (57) (420) (499)
Distribution of Mandatory Convertible Preferred Share cash dividends (32) — — 
Distribution of ordinary share cash dividends (56) (226) (233)
Taxes withheld and paid on employees’ restricted share awards (33) (34) (35)

Net cash provided by (used in) financing activities 1,613 (649) (555)
Effect of exchange rate fluctuations on cash, cash equivalents and restricted cash 24 (3) (54)
Increase (decrease) in cash, cash equivalents and restricted cash 2,424 (139) (1,029)
Cash, cash equivalents and restricted cash at beginning of the year 429 568 1,597 
Cash, cash equivalents and restricted cash at end of the year $ 2,853 $ 429 $ 568 

See notes to consolidated financial statements.
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APTIV PLC
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF SHAREHOLDERS’ EQUITY

 Year Ended December 31,
Ordinary Shares Preferred Shares

 
Number of

Shares
Amount of

Shares
Number of

Shares
Amount of

Shares

Additional 
Paid in 
Capital

Retained 
Earnings

Accumulated 
Other 

Comprehensive Loss  

Total Aptiv 
Shareholders’ 

Equity
Noncontrolling 

Interest

Total 
Shareholders’ 

Equity
2020 (in millions)
Balance at January 1, 2020 255 $ 3 — $ — $ 1,645 $ 2,890 $ (719) $ 3,819 $ 192 $ 4,011 
Net income — — — — — 1,804 — 1,804 18 1,822 
Other comprehensive income — — — — — — 174 174 2 176 
Dividends on ordinary shares — — — — 1 (57) — (56) — (56)
Dividend payments of consolidated

affiliates to minority shareholders — — — — — — — — (17) (17)
Mandatory Convertible Preferred Share

cumulative dividends — — — — — (35) — (35) — (35)
Taxes withheld on employees’

restricted share award vestings — — — — (33) — — (33) — (33)
Repurchase of ordinary shares (1) — — — (6) (51) — (57) — (57)
Issuance of ordinary shares 15 — — — 1,115 — — 1,115 — 1,115 
Issuance of Mandatory Convertible

Preferred Shares — — 12 — 1,115 — — 1,115 — 1,115 
Share-based compensation 1 — — — 60 — — 60 — 60 
Adjustment for recently adopted

accounting pronouncements (Note
2) — — — — — (1) — (1) — (1)

Balance at December 31, 2020 270 $ 3 12 $ — $ 3,897 $ 4,550 $ (545) $ 7,905 $ 195 $ 8,100 

2019
Balance at January 1, 2019 260 $ 3 — $ — $ 1,639 $ 2,511 $ (694) $ 3,459 $ 211 $ 3,670 
Net income — — — — — 990 — 990 19 1,009 
Other comprehensive loss — — — — — — (16) (16) (3) (19)
Dividends on ordinary shares — — — — 3 (229) — (226) — (226)
Dividend payments of consolidated

affiliates to minority shareholders — — — — — — — — (35) (35)
Taxes withheld on employees’

restricted share award vestings — — — — (34) — — (34) — (34)
Repurchase of ordinary shares (5) — — — (29) (391) — (420) — (420)
Share-based compensation — — — — 66 — — 66 — 66 
Adjustment for recently adopted

accounting pronouncements — — — — — 9 (9) — — — 

Balance at December 31, 2019 255 $ 3 — $ — $ 1,645 $ 2,890 $ (719) $ 3,819 $ 192 $ 4,011 

See notes to consolidated financial statements.
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APTIV PLC
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF SHAREHOLDERS’ EQUITY (Continued)

Year Ended December 31,
Ordinary Shares Preferred Shares

Number of
Shares

Amount of
Shares

Number of
Shares

Amount of
Shares

Additional 
Paid in 
Capital

Retained 
Earnings

Accumulated 
Other 

Comprehensive Loss

Total Aptiv 
Shareholders’ 

Equity
Noncontrolling 

Interest

Total 
Shareholders’ 

Equity
2018 (in millions)

Balance at January 1, 2018 266 $ 3 — $ — $ 1,649 $ 2,118 $ (471) $ 3,299 $ 218 $ 3,517 

Net income — — — — — 1,067 — 1,067 40 1,107 

Other comprehensive loss — — — — — — (223) (223) (8) (231)

Dividends on ordinary shares — — — — 2 (176) — (174) — (174)
Dividend payments of consolidated

affiliates to minority shareholders — — — — — — — — (39) (39)
Taxes withheld on employees’

restricted share award vestings — — — — (35) — — (35) — (35)

Repurchase of ordinary shares (7) — — — (35) (464) — (499) — (499)

Share-based compensation 1 — — — 58 — — 58 — 58 

Distribution of Delphi Technologies — — — — — (25) — (25) — (25)
Adjustment for recently adopted

accounting pronouncements — — — — — (9) — (9) — (9)

Balance at December 31, 2018 260 $ 3 — $ — $ 1,639 $ 2,511 $ (694) $ 3,459 $ 211 $ 3,670 

See notes to consolidated financial statements.
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APTIV PLC
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

1. GENERAL

General and basis of presentation—“Aptiv,” the “Company,” “we,” “us” and “our” refer to Aptiv PLC, a public limited company formed under the laws of
Jersey on May 19, 2011 as Delphi Automotive PLC, which completed an initial public offering on November 22, 2011. On December 4, 2017, the Company
completed the separation (the “Separation”) of its former Powertrain Systems segment by distributing to Aptiv shareholders on a pro rata basis all of the issued and
outstanding ordinary shares of Delphi Technologies PLC, a public limited company formed to hold the spun-off business. Following the Separation, the remaining
company changed its name to Aptiv PLC and New York Stock Exchange (“NYSE”) symbol to “APTV.”

In April 2018, primarily as a result of the impact of the Separation on the Company’s U.K. presence and the centralization of the Company’s non-
manufacturing European footprint, along with the long-term stability of the financial and regulatory environment in Ireland and uncertainties regarding the exit of
the U.K. from the European Union, Aptiv PLC changed its tax residence from the U.K. to Ireland. Aptiv PLC remains a public limited company incorporated under
the laws of Jersey, and continues to be subject to U.S. Securities and Exchange Commission reporting requirements and prepare its consolidated financial
statements in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America (“U.S. GAAP”).

Nature of operations—Aptiv is a leading global technology and mobility company primarily serving the automotive sector. We design and manufacture
vehicle components and provide electrical, electronic and active safety technology solutions to the global automotive and commercial vehicle markets. Aptiv is one
of the largest vehicle component manufacturers, and its customers include 23 of the 25 largest automotive original equipment manufacturers (“OEMs”) in the
world. Aptiv operates 124 major manufacturing facilities and 12 major technical centers utilizing a regional service model that enables the Company to efficiently
and effectively serve its global customers from best cost countries. Aptiv has a presence in 44 countries and has approximately 18,200 scientists, engineers and
technicians focused on developing market relevant product solutions for its customers. In line with the long-term growth in emerging markets, Aptiv has been
increasing its focus on these markets, particularly in China, where the Company has a major manufacturing base and strong customer relationships.

2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

Consolidation—The consolidated financial statements include the accounts of Aptiv and U.S. and non-U.S. subsidiaries in which Aptiv holds a controlling
financial or management interest and variable interest entities of which Aptiv has determined that it is the primary beneficiary. Aptiv’s share of the earnings or
losses of non-controlled affiliates, over which Aptiv exercises significant influence (generally a 20% to 50% ownership interest), is included in the consolidated
operating results using the equity method of accounting. When Aptiv does not have the ability to exercise significant influence (generally when ownership interest
is less than 20%), investments in non-consolidated affiliates without readily determinable fair values are measured at cost, less impairments, adjusted for
observable price changes in orderly transactions for identical or similar investments of the same issuer. All significant intercompany transactions and balances
between consolidated Aptiv businesses have been eliminated. The Company monitors its investments in affiliates for indicators of other-than-temporary declines in
value on an ongoing basis. If the Company determines that such a decline has occurred, an impairment loss is recorded, which is measured as the difference
between carrying value and estimated fair value. Estimated fair value is generally determined using an income approach based on discounted cash flows or
negotiated transaction values.

During the years ended December 31, 2020, 2019 and 2018, Aptiv received dividends of $9 million, $9 million and $12 million, respectively, from its equity
method investments. The dividends were recognized as a reduction to the investment and represented a return on investment included in cash flows from operating
activities.

Investments in non-consolidated affiliates totaled $113 million and $101 million as of December 31, 2020 and 2019, respectively, and are classified within
other long-term assets in the consolidated balance sheets. Refer to Note 5. Investments in Affiliates for further information.

Use of estimates—Preparation of consolidated financial statements in conformity with U.S. GAAP requires the use of estimates and assumptions that affect
amounts reported therein. Generally, matters subject to estimation and judgment include amounts related to accounts receivable realization, inventory
obsolescence, asset impairments, useful lives of intangible and fixed assets, deferred tax asset valuation allowances, income taxes, pension benefit plan
assumptions, accruals related to litigation, warranty costs, environmental remediation costs, contingent consideration arrangements, worker’s compensation
accruals and healthcare accruals. Due to the inherent uncertainty involved in making estimates, including the duration and severity of the impacts of the novel
coronavirus (COVID-19) pandemic, actual results reported in future periods may be based upon amounts that differ from those estimates.
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Revenue recognition—Revenue is measured based on consideration specified in a contract with a customer. Customer contracts generally are represented
by a combination of a current purchase order and a current production schedule issued by the customer. The Company recognizes revenue when it satisfies a
performance obligation by transferring control over a product or service to a customer. From time to time, Aptiv enters into pricing agreements with its customers
that provide for price reductions, some of which are conditional upon achieving certain joint cost saving targets. In these instances, revenue is recognized based on
the agreed-upon price at the time of shipment.

Sales incentives and allowances are recognized as a reduction to revenue at the time of the related sale. In addition, from time to time, Aptiv makes payments
to customers in conjunction with ongoing business. These payments to customers are generally recognized as a reduction to revenue at the time of the commitment
to make these payments. However, certain other payments to customers, or upfront fees, meet the criteria to be considered a cost to obtain a contract as they are
directly attributable to a contract, are incremental and management expects the fees to be recoverable.

Aptiv collects and remits taxes assessed by different governmental authorities that are both imposed on and concurrent with a revenue-producing transaction
between the Company and the Company’s customers. These taxes may include, but are not limited to, sales, use, value-added, and some excise taxes. Aptiv reports
the collection of these taxes on a net basis (excluded from revenues). Shipping and handling fees billed to customers are included in net sales, while costs of
shipping and handling are included in cost of sales. Refer to Note 25. Revenue for further information.

Net income per share—Basic net income per share is computed by dividing net income attributable to ordinary shareholders by the weighted average
number of ordinary shares outstanding during the period. Diluted net income per share reflects the weighted average dilutive impact of all potentially dilutive
securities from the date of issuance and is computed using the treasury stock and if-converted methods. The if-converted method is used to determine if the impact
of conversion of the 5.50% Mandatory Convertible Preferred Shares, Series A, $0.01 par value per share (the “MCPS”) into ordinary shares is more dilutive than
the MCPS dividends to net income per share. If so, the MCPS are assumed to have been converted at the later of the beginning of the period or the time of
issuance, and the resulting ordinary shares are included in the denominator and the MCPS dividends are added back to the numerator. Unless otherwise noted,
share and per share amounts included in these notes are on a diluted basis. Refer to Note 15. Shareholders’ Equity and Net Income Per Share for additional
information including the calculation of basic and diluted net income per share.

Research and development—Costs are incurred in connection with research and development programs that are expected to contribute to future earnings.
Such costs are charged against income as incurred. Total research and development expenses, including engineering, net of customer reimbursements, were
approximately $1,024 million, $1,165 million and $1,155 million for the years ended December 31, 2020, 2019 and 2018, respectively.

Cash and cash equivalents—Cash and cash equivalents are defined as short-term, highly liquid investments with original maturities of three months or less,
for which the book value approximates fair value.

Restricted cash—Restricted cash includes balances on deposit at financial institutions that have issued letters of credit in favor of Aptiv and cash deposited
into an escrow account. Refer to Note 18. Fair Value of Financial Instruments for further information regarding amounts deposited into an escrow account.

Accounts receivable—Aptiv enters into agreements to sell certain of its accounts receivable, primarily in Europe. Sales of receivables are accounted for in
accordance with Financial Accounting Standards Board (“FASB”) ASC Topic 860, Transfers and Servicing (“ASC 860”). Agreements which result in true sales of
the transferred receivables, as defined in ASC 860, which occur when receivables are transferred without recourse to the Company, are excluded from amounts
reported in the consolidated balance sheets. Cash proceeds received from such sales are included in operating cash flows. Agreements that allow Aptiv to maintain
effective control over the transferred receivables and which do not qualify as a sale, as defined in ASC 860, are accounted for as secured borrowings and recorded
in the consolidated balance sheets within accounts receivable, net and short-term debt. The expenses associated with receivables factoring are recorded in the
consolidated statements of operations within interest expense.

The Company exchanges certain amounts of accounts receivable, primarily in the Asia Pacific region, for bank notes with original maturities greater than
three months. The collection of such bank notes are included in operating cash flows based on the substance of the underlying transactions, which are operating in
nature. Bank notes held by the Company with original maturities of three months or less are classified as cash and cash equivalents within the consolidated balance
sheets, and those with original maturities of greater than three months are classified as notes receivable within other current assets. The Company may hold such
bank notes until maturity, exchange them with suppliers to settle liabilities, or sell them to third-party financial institutions in exchange for cash.

Credit losses—Aptiv is exposed to credit losses primarily through the sale of vehicle components and services. Aptiv assesses the creditworthiness of a
counterparty by conducting ongoing credit reviews, which considers the Company’s expected billing exposure and timing for payment, as well as the
counterparty’s established credit rating. When a credit rating is not
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available, the Company’s assessment is based on an analysis of the counterparty’s financial statements. Aptiv also considers contract terms and conditions, country
and political risk, and business strategy in its evaluation. Based on the outcome of this review, the Company establishes a credit limit for each counterparty. The
Company continues to monitor its ongoing credit exposure through active review of counterparty balances against contract terms and due dates, which includes
timely account reconciliation, payment confirmation and dispute resolution. The Company may also employ collection agencies and legal counsel to pursue
recovery of defaulted receivables, if necessary.

Aptiv primarily utilizes historical loss and recovery data, combined with information on current economic conditions and reasonable and supportable
forecasts to develop the estimate of the allowance for doubtful accounts in accordance with ASC Topic 326, Financial Instruments – Credit Losses (“ASC 326”).
As of December 31, 2020 and December 31, 2019, the Company reported $2,812 million and $2,569 million, respectively, of accounts receivable, net of the
allowances, which includes the allowance for doubtful accounts of $40 million and $37 million, respectively. The provision for doubtful accounts was $39 million,
$9 million, and $9 million for the years ended December 31, 2020, 2019 and 2018, respectively. Other changes in the allowance were not material for the year
ended December 31, 2020.

Inventories—As of December 31, 2020 and 2019, inventories are stated at the lower of cost, determined on a first-in, first-out basis, or net realizable value,
including direct material costs and direct and indirect manufacturing costs. Refer to Note 3. Inventories for additional information. Obsolete inventory is identified
based on analysis of inventory for known obsolescence issues, and, generally, the market value of inventory on hand in excess of one year’s supply is fully-
reserved.

From time to time, payments may be received from suppliers. These payments from suppliers are recognized as a reduction of the cost of the material
acquired during the period to which the payments relate. In some instances, supplier rebates are received in conjunction with or concurrent with the negotiation of
future purchase agreements and these amounts are amortized over the prospective agreement period.

Property—Major improvements that materially extend the useful life of property are capitalized. Expenditures for repairs and maintenance are charged to
expense as incurred. Depreciation is determined based on a straight-line method over the estimated useful lives of groups of property. Leasehold improvements
under finance leases are depreciated over the period of the lease or the life of the property, whichever is shorter. Refer to Note 6. Property, Net and Note 26. Leases
for additional information.

Pre-production costs related to long-term supply agreements—The Company incurs pre-production engineering, development and tooling costs related
to products produced for its customers under long-term supply agreements. Engineering, testing and other costs incurred in the design and development of
production parts are expensed as incurred, unless the costs are reimbursable, as specified in a customer contract. As of December 31, 2020 and 2019, $355 million
and $318 million of such contractually reimbursable costs were capitalized, respectively. These amounts are recorded within other current and other long-term
assets in the consolidated balance sheets, as further detailed in Note 4. Assets.

Special tools represent Aptiv-owned tools, dies, jigs and other items used in the manufacture of customer components that will be sold under long-term
supply arrangements, the costs of which are capitalized within property, plant and equipment if the Company has title to the assets. Special tools also include
capitalized unreimbursed pre-production tooling costs related to customer-owned tools for which the customer has provided Aptiv a non-cancellable right to use
the tool. Aptiv-owned special tool balances are depreciated over the expected life of the special tool or the life of the related vehicle program, whichever is shorter.
The unreimbursed costs incurred related to customer-owned special tools that are not subject to reimbursement are capitalized and depreciated over the expected
life of the special tool or the life of the related vehicle program, whichever is shorter. At December 31, 2020 and 2019, the special tools balance, net of
accumulated depreciation, was $447 million and $485 million, respectively, included within property, net in the consolidated balance sheets. As of December 31,
2020 and 2019, the Aptiv-owned special tools balance was $323 million and $365 million, respectively, and the customer-owned special tools balance was $124
million and $120 million, respectively.

Valuation of long-lived assets—The carrying value of long-lived assets held for use, including definite-lived intangible assets, is periodically evaluated
when events or circumstances warrant such a review. The carrying value of a long-lived asset held for use is considered impaired when the anticipated separately
identifiable undiscounted cash flows from the asset are less than the carrying value of the asset. In that event, a loss is recognized based on the amount by which the
carrying value exceeds the estimated fair value of the long-lived asset. Impairment losses on long-lived assets held for sale are recognized if the carrying value of
the asset is in excess of the asset’s estimated fair value, reduced for the cost to dispose of the asset. Fair value of long-lived assets is determined primarily using the
anticipated cash flows discounted at a rate commensurate with the risk involved (an income approach), and in certain situations Aptiv’s review of appraisals (a
market approach). Refer to Note 6. Property, Net and Note 7. Intangible Assets and Goodwill for additional information.

Leases—The Company accounts for leases in accordance with FASB ASC Topic 842, Leases. The Company determines whether an arrangement is a lease
at inception. For leases where the Company is the lessee, a lease liability and a right-of-use asset is recognized for all leases, with the exception of short-term leases
with terms of twelve months or less. The lease liability
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represents the lessee’s obligation to make lease payments arising from a lease, and is measured as the present value of the lease payments. As the rate implicit in
the lease is usually not known at lease commencement, the Company uses its incremental borrowing rate to discount the lease obligation. The right-of-use asset
represents the lessee’s right to use a specified asset for the lease term, and is measured at the lease liability amount, adjusted for lease prepayment, lease incentives
received and the Company’s initial direct costs. Under the optional transition method applied upon adoption in 2019, the Company’s reporting for the comparative
periods prior to adoption in the consolidated financial statements continues to be in accordance with FASB ASC Topic 840, Leases.

The Company applies the short-term lease exception, which results in a single lease cost being allocated over the lease term, generally on a straight-line
basis, for leases with a term of 12 months or less. These leases are not presented in the consolidated balance sheets. Additionally, the Company applies the practical
expedient to not separate lease components from non-lease components and instead accounts for both as a single lease component for all asset classes. Refer to
Note 26. Leases for additional information.

Assets and liabilities held for sale—The Company considers assets to be held for sale when management approves and commits to a formal plan to actively
market the assets for sale at a price reasonable in relation to their estimated fair value, the assets are available for immediate sale in their present condition, an
active program to locate a buyer and other actions required to complete the sale have been initiated, the sale of the assets is probable and expected to be completed
within one year (or, if it is expected that others will impose conditions on the sale of the assets that will extend the period required to complete the sale, that a firm
purchase commitment is probable within one year) and it is unlikely that significant changes will be made to the plan. Upon designation as held for sale, the
Company records the assets at the lower of their carrying value or their estimated fair value, less cost to sell, and ceases to record depreciation expense on the
assets.

Assets and liabilities of a discontinued operation are reclassified as held for sale for all comparative periods presented in the consolidated balance sheets. For
assets that meet the held for sale criteria but do not meet the definition of a discontinued operation, the Company reclassifies the assets and liabilities in the period
in which the held for sale criteria are met, but does not reclassify prior period amounts. Refer to Note 24. Held For Sale for further information regarding the
Company's assets and liabilities held for sale.

Intangible assets—The Company amortizes definite-lived intangible assets over their estimated useful lives. The Company has definite-lived intangible
assets related to patents and developed technology, customer relationships and trade names. Indefinite-lived in-process research and development intangible assets
are not amortized, but are tested for impairment annually, or more frequently when indicators of potential impairment exist, until the completion or abandonment of
the associated research and development efforts. Upon completion of the projects, the assets will be amortized over the expected economic life of the asset, which
will be determined on that date. Should the project be determined to be abandoned, and if the asset developed has no alternative use, the full value of the asset will
be charged to expense. The Company also has intangible assets related to acquired trade names that are classified as indefinite-lived when there are no foreseeable
limits on the periods of time over which they are expected to contribute cash flows. These indefinite-lived trade name assets are tested for impairment annually, or
more frequently when indicators of potential impairment exist. Costs to renew or extend the term of acquired intangible assets are recognized as expense as
incurred. No intangible asset impairment charges were recorded during the year ended December 31, 2020. The Company recorded intangible asset impairment
charges of $8 million and $30 million, during the years ended December 31, 2019 and 2018. Refer to Note 7. Intangible Assets and Goodwill for additional
information.

Goodwill—Goodwill is the excess of the purchase price over the estimated fair value of identifiable net assets acquired in business combinations. The
Company tests goodwill for impairment annually in the fourth quarter, or more frequently when indications of potential impairment exist. The Company monitors
the existence of potential impairment indicators throughout the fiscal year. The Company tests for goodwill impairment at the reporting unit level. Our reporting
units are the components of operating segments which constitute businesses for which discrete financial information is available and is regularly reviewed by
segment management.

The impairment test involves first qualitatively assessing goodwill for impairment. If the qualitative assessment is not met the Company then performs a
quantitative assessment by comparing the estimated fair value of each reporting unit to its carrying value, including goodwill. Fair value reflects the price a market
participant would be willing to pay in a potential sale of the reporting unit. If the estimated fair value exceeds carrying value, then we conclude that no goodwill
impairment has occurred. If the carrying value of the reporting unit exceeds its estimated fair value, the Company recognizes an impairment loss in an amount
equal to the excess, not to exceed the amount of goodwill allocated to the reporting unit. Refer to Note 20. Acquisitions and Divestitures, for further information on
the goodwill attributable to the Company’s acquisitions.

Goodwill impairment—In the fourth quarter of 2020, 2019 and 2018, the Company completed a qualitative goodwill impairment assessment, and after
evaluating the results, events and circumstances of the Company, the Company concluded that sufficient evidence existed to assert qualitatively that it was more
likely than not that the estimated fair value of each
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reporting unit remained in excess of its carrying values. Therefore, a quantitative impairment assessment was not necessary. No goodwill impairments were
recorded in 2020, 2019 or 2018. Refer to Note 7. Intangible Assets and Goodwill for additional information.

Warranty and product recalls—Expected warranty costs for products sold are recognized at the time of sale of the product based on an estimate of the
amount that eventually will be required to settle such obligations. These accruals are based on factors such as past experience, production changes, industry
developments and various other considerations. Costs of product recalls, which may include the cost of the product being replaced as well as the customer’s cost of
the recall, including labor to remove and replace the recalled part, are accrued as part of our warranty accrual at the time an obligation becomes probable and can
be reasonably estimated. These estimates are adjusted from time to time based on facts and circumstances that impact the status of existing claims. Refer to Note 9.
Warranty Obligations for additional information.

Income taxes—Deferred tax assets and liabilities reflect temporary differences between the amount of assets and liabilities for financial and tax reporting
purposes. Such amounts are adjusted, as appropriate, to reflect changes in tax rates expected to be in effect when the temporary differences reverse. The effect on
deferred tax assets and liabilities of a change in tax rates is recognized in earnings in the period that includes the enactment date. A valuation allowance is recorded
to reduce deferred tax assets to the amount that is more likely than not to be realized. In the event the Company determines it is more likely than not that the
deferred tax assets will not be realized in the future, the valuation allowance adjustment to the deferred tax assets will be charged to earnings in the period in which
the Company makes such a determination. In determining whether an uncertain tax position exists, the Company determines, based solely on its technical merits,
whether the tax position is more likely than not to be sustained upon examination, and if so, a tax benefit is measured on a cumulative probability basis that is more
likely than not to be realized upon the ultimate settlement. In determining the provision for income taxes for financial statement purposes, the Company makes
certain estimates and judgments which affect its evaluation of the carrying value of its deferred tax assets, as well as its calculation of certain tax liabilities. Refer to
Note 14. Income Taxes for additional information.

Foreign currency translation—Assets and liabilities of non-U.S. subsidiaries that use a currency other than U.S. dollars as their functional currency are
translated to U.S. dollars at end-of-period currency exchange rates. The consolidated statements of operations of non-U.S. subsidiaries are translated to U.S. dollars
at average-period currency exchange rates. The effect of translation for non-U.S. subsidiaries is generally reported in other comprehensive income (“OCI”). The
effect of remeasurement of assets and liabilities of non-U.S. subsidiaries that use the U.S. dollar as their functional currency is primarily included in cost of sales.
Also included in cost of sales are gains and losses arising from transactions denominated in a currency other than the functional currency of a particular entity. Net
foreign currency transaction losses of $20 million and $3 million were included in the consolidated statements of operations for the years ended December 31, 2020
and 2019, respectively, and net foreign currency transaction gains of $8 million were included in the consolidated statements of operations for the year ended
December 31, 2018. The accumulated foreign currency translation adjustment related to an investment in a foreign subsidiary is reclassified to net income upon
sale or upon complete or substantially complete liquidation of the respective entity.

Restructuring—Aptiv continually evaluates alternatives to align the business with the changing needs of its customers and to lower operating costs. This
includes the realignment of its existing manufacturing capacity, facility closures, or similar actions, either in the normal course of business or pursuant to
significant restructuring programs. These actions may result in employees receiving voluntary or involuntary employee termination benefits, which are mainly
pursuant to union or other contractual agreements or statutory requirements. Voluntary termination benefits are accrued when an employee accepts the related
offer. Involuntary termination benefits are accrued upon the commitment to a termination plan and when the benefit arrangement is communicated to affected
employees, or when liabilities are determined to be probable and estimable, depending on the existence of a substantive plan for severance or termination. Contract
termination costs are recorded when contracts are terminated or when Aptiv ceases to use the leased facility and no longer derives economic benefit from the
contract. All other exit costs are expensed as incurred. Refer to Note 10. Restructuring for additional information.

Environmental liabilities—Environmental remediation liabilities are recognized when a loss is probable and can be reasonably estimated. Such liabilities
generally are not subject to insurance coverage. The cost of each environmental remediation is estimated by engineering, financial, and legal specialists based on
current law and considers the estimated cost of investigation and remediation required and the likelihood that, where applicable, other responsible parties will be
able to fulfill their commitments. The process of estimating environmental remediation liabilities is complex and dependent primarily on the nature and extent of
historical information and physical data relating to a contaminated site, the complexity of the site, the uncertainty as to what remediation and technology will be
required, and the outcome of discussions with regulatory agencies and, if applicable, other responsible parties at multi-party sites. In future periods, new laws or
regulations, advances in remediation technologies and additional information about the ultimate remediation methodology to be used could significantly change
estimates by Aptiv. Refer to Note 13. Commitments and Contingencies for additional information.

Asset retirement obligations—Asset retirement obligations are recognized in accordance with FASB ASC 410, Asset Retirement and Environmental
Obligations. Conditional retirement obligations have been identified primarily related to asbestos abatement at certain sites. To a lesser extent, conditional
retirement obligations also exist at certain sites related to the
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removal of storage tanks and disposal costs. Asset retirement obligations were $1 million and $1 million at December 31, 2020 and 2019, respectively.

Customer concentrations—As reflected in the table below, net sales to VW, GM and FCA, Aptiv’s three largest customers, totaled approximately 27%,
27% and 29% of our total net sales for the years ended December 31, 2020, 2019 and 2018, respectively.

Percentage of Total Net Sales Accounts Receivable
Year Ended December 31, December 31, 

2020
December 31, 

20192020 2019 2018
 (in millions)
VW 10 % 9 % 9 % $ 216 $ 135 
GM 9 % 9 % 11 % 200 205 
FCA (1) 8 % 9 % 9 % 232 207 

(1) On January 16, 2021, FCA and PSA executed a merger agreement to form a new, combined company (“Stellantis”). On a combined basis, the formerly separate companies accounted for
12%, 13% and 14% of Aptiv’s net sales for the years ended December 31, 2020, 2019 and 2018, respectively. Accounts receivable on a combined basis totaled $352 million and $335
million as of December 31, 2020 and 2019, respectively.

Derivative financial instruments—All derivative instruments are required to be reported on the balance sheet at fair value unless the transactions qualify
and are designated as normal purchases or sales. Changes in fair value are reported currently through earnings unless they meet hedge accounting criteria.

Exposure to fluctuations in currency exchange rates, interest rates and certain commodity prices are managed by entering into a variety of forward and option
contracts and swaps with various counterparties. Such financial exposures are managed in accordance with the policies and procedures of Aptiv. Aptiv does not
enter into derivative transactions for speculative or trading purposes. As part of the hedging program approval process, Aptiv identifies the specific financial risk
which the derivative transaction will minimize, the appropriate hedging instrument to be used to reduce the risk and the correlation between the financial risk and
the hedging instrument. Purchase orders, sales contracts, letters of intent, capital planning forecasts and historical data are used as the basis for determining the
anticipated values of the transactions to be hedged. Aptiv does not enter into derivative transactions that do not have a high correlation with the underlying
financial risk. Hedge positions, as well as the correlation between the transaction risks and the hedging instruments, are reviewed on an ongoing basis.

Foreign exchange forward contracts are accounted for as hedges of firm or forecasted foreign currency commitments or foreign currency exposure of the net
investment in certain foreign operations to the extent they are designated and assessed as highly effective. All foreign exchange contracts are marked to market on a
current basis. Commodity swaps are accounted for as hedges of firm or anticipated commodity purchase contracts to the extent they are designated and assessed as
effective. All other commodity derivative contracts that are not designated as hedges are either marked to market on a current basis or are exempted from mark to
market accounting as normal purchases. At December 31, 2020 and 2019, the Company’s exposure to movements in interest rates was not hedged with derivative
instruments. Refer to Note 17. Derivatives and Hedging Activities and Note 18. Fair Value of Financial Instruments for additional information.

Extended disability benefits—Costs associated with extended disability benefits provided to inactive employees are accrued throughout the duration of
their active employment. Workforce demographic data and historical experience are utilized to develop projections of time frames and related expense for post-
employment benefits.

Workers’ compensation benefits—Workers’ compensation benefit accruals are actuarially determined and are subject to the existing workers’
compensation laws that vary by location. Accruals for workers’ compensation benefits represent the discounted future cash expenditures expected during the period
between the incidents necessitating the employees to be idled and the time when such employees return to work, are eligible for retirement or otherwise terminate
their employment.

Share-based compensation—The Company’s share-based compensation arrangements consist of the Aptiv PLC Long Term Incentive Plan, as amended and
restated effective April 23, 2015 (the “PLC LTIP”), under which grants of restricted stock units (“RSUs”) have been made each year. The RSU awards include a
time-based vesting portion and a performance-based vesting portion. The performance-based vesting portion includes performance and market conditions in
addition to service conditions. The grant date fair value of the RSUs is determined based on the closing price of the Company’s ordinary shares on the date of the
grant of the award, including an estimate for forfeitures, or a contemporaneous valuation performed by an independent valuation specialist with respect to awards
with market conditions. Compensation expense is recognized based upon the grant date fair value of the awards applied to the Company’s best estimate of ultimate
performance against the respective targets on a straight-line basis over the requisite vesting period of the awards. The performance conditions require management
to make assumptions regarding the likelihood of achieving certain performance goals. Changes in these performance assumptions, as well as differences in actual
results from management’s estimates, could result in estimated or
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actual values different from previously estimated fair values. Refer to Note 21. Share-Based Compensation for additional information.

Business combinations—The Company accounts for its business combinations in accordance with the accounting guidance in FASB ASC 805, Business
Combinations. The purchase price of an acquired business is allocated to its identifiable assets and liabilities based on estimated fair values. The excess of the
purchase price over the amount allocated to the assets and liabilities, if any, is recorded as goodwill. Determining the fair values of assets acquired and liabilities
assumed requires management’s judgment, the utilization of independent appraisal firms and often involves the use of significant estimates and assumptions with
respect to the timing and amount of future cash flows, market rate assumptions, actuarial assumptions, and appropriate discount rates, among other items. Refer to
Note 20. Acquisitions and Divestitures for additional information.

Recently adopted accounting pronouncements—Aptiv adopted Accounting Standards Update (“ASU”) 2016-13, Financial Instruments—Credit Losses
(Topic 326): Measurement of Credit Losses on Financial Instruments in the first quarter of 2020 using the modified retrospective transition method. This guidance
requires the measurement of all expected credit losses for financial assets held at the reporting date based on historical experience, current conditions and
reasonable and supportable forecasts. These amendments replace the incurred loss model with an expected loss model, which results in more timely measurement
of expected credit losses. Upon adoption, Aptiv recorded a cumulative-effect adjustment of $1 million to retained earnings as of the beginning of the period of
adoption. Refer to the “Credit losses” section above for further information regarding significant estimates and judgments used in estimating credit losses.

Aptiv adopted ASU 2017-04, Intangibles—Goodwill and Other (Topic 350): Simplifying the Test for Goodwill Impairment in the first quarter of 2020 on a
prospective basis. This guidance simplifies the test for goodwill impairment by eliminating step two from the goodwill impairment test, which required an entity to
calculate the implied fair value of goodwill to measure a goodwill impairment charge. Under the new guidance, an entity will record an impairment charge based
on the amount by which a reporting unit’s carrying amount exceeds its estimated fair value, limited to the amount of goodwill allocated to that reporting unit. The
adoption of this guidance did not have a significant impact on Aptiv’s financial statements. Refer to the “Goodwill” section above for further information regarding
the Company’s testing for goodwill impairment.

Aptiv adopted ASU 2018-13, Fair Value Measurement (Topic 820): Disclosure Framework—Changes to the Disclosure Requirements for Fair Value
Measurement in the first quarter of 2020 on a retrospective basis to all periods presented. This guidance modifies disclosure requirements related to fair value
measurements by removing certain disclosure requirements related to the fair value hierarchy, modifying existing disclosure requirements related to measurement
uncertainty and adding new disclosure requirements. The adoption of this guidance did not have a significant impact on Aptiv’s financial statements. Refer to Note
18. Fair Value of Financial Instruments for further information regarding the Company’s fair value measurements.

Recently issued accounting pronouncements not yet adopted—In January 2020, the FASB issued ASU 2020-01, Investments—Equity Securities (Topic
321), Investments—Equity Method and Joint Ventures (Topic 323), and Derivatives and Hedging (Topic 815)—Clarifying the Interactions between Topic 321,
Topic 323, and Topic 815. This guidance clarifies the interactions between accounting for equity securities under the measurement alternative in Topic 321 and the
equity method of accounting in Topic 323, as well as the accounting for certain forward contracts and purchased options to purchase securities that, upon
settlement or exercise, would be accounted for under the equity method of accounting. The new guidance will be applied prospectively and is effective for fiscal
years beginning after December 15, 2020. Early adoption is permitted. The adoption of this guidance is not expected to have a significant impact on Aptiv’s
financial statements.

3. INVENTORIES

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost, determined on a first-in, first-out basis, or net realizable value, including direct material costs and direct and
indirect manufacturing costs. A summary of inventories is shown below:

December 31, 
2020

December 31, 
2019

 (in millions)
Productive material $ 745 $ 706 
Work-in-process 111 102 
Finished goods 441 478 

Total $ 1,297 $ 1,286 

78



Table of Contents

4. ASSETS

Other current assets consisted of the following:

December 31, 
2020

December 31, 
2019

 (in millions)
Value added tax receivable $ 155 $ 205 
Prepaid insurance and other expenses 47 88 
Reimbursable engineering costs 169 101 
Notes receivable 8 10 
Income and other taxes receivable 41 45 
Deposits to vendors 5 4 
Derivative financial instruments (Note 17) 48 30 
Capitalized upfront fees (Note 25) 30 20 
Other — 1 

Total $ 503 $ 504 

Other long-term assets consisted of the following:

December 31, 
2020

December 31, 
2019

 (in millions)
Deferred income taxes, net (Note 14) $ 174 $ 164 
Unamortized Revolving Credit Facility debt issuance costs 11 3 
Income and other taxes receivable 25 45 
Reimbursable engineering costs 186 217 
Value added tax receivable 29 59 
Equity investments (Note 5) 113 101 
Derivative financial instruments (Note 17) 22 8 
Capitalized upfront fees (Note 25) 86 79 
Other 48 43 

Total $ 694 $ 719 
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5. INVESTMENTS IN AFFILIATES

As part of Aptiv’s operations, it has investments in four non-consolidated affiliates accounted for under the equity method of accounting. These affiliates are
not publicly traded companies and are located primarily in North America and Asia Pacific. Aptiv’s ownership percentages vary generally from approximately
20% to 50%, with the most significant investments being in Motional, Inc. (“Motional”) (of which Aptiv owns 50%) and in Promotora de Partes Electricas
Automotrices, S.A. de C.V. (of which Aptiv owns approximately 40%). The Motional joint venture was formed in the March 2020 transaction with Hyundai Motor
Group to focus on the design, development and commercialization of autonomous driving technologies. Refer to Note 24. Held for Sale for additional information
on the formation of Motional. The Company’s aggregate investments in affiliates was $2,011 million and $106 million at December 31, 2020 and 2019,
respectively. Dividends of $9 million, $9 million and $12 million for the years ended December 31, 2020, 2019 and 2018, respectively, have been received from
these non-consolidated affiliates. No impairment charges were recorded for the years ended December 31, 2020, 2019 and 2018.

The following is a summary of the combined financial information of significant affiliates accounted for under the equity method as of December 31, 2020
and 2019 and for the years ended December 31, 2020, 2019 and 2018 (unaudited):

 December 31,
 2020 2019
 (in millions)
Current assets $ 1,140 $ 231 
Non-current assets 3,210 126 

Total assets $ 4,350 $ 357 
Current liabilities $ 166 $ 92 
Non-current liabilities 101 10 
Shareholders’ equity 4,083 255 

Total liabilities and shareholders’ equity $ 4,350 $ 357 

Year Ended December 31,
 2020 2019 2018
 (in millions)
Net sales $ 553 $ 531 $ 533 
Gross (loss) profit (71) 59 84 
Net (loss) income (154) 35 53 

A summary of transactions with affiliates is shown below:

Year Ended December 31,
 2020 2019 2018
 (in millions)
Sales to affiliates $ 7 $ 6 $ 7 
Purchases from affiliates 32 37 38 

A summary of amounts recorded in the Company’s consolidated balance sheets related to its affiliates is shown below:

December 31,
 2020 2019
 (in millions)
Receivables due from affiliates $ 12 $ 2 
Payables due to affiliates 38 3 

Technology Investments

The Company has made technology investments in certain non-consolidated affiliates for ownership interests of less than 20%, as described in Note 2.
Significant Accounting Policies. These investments do not have readily determinable fair values and are measured at cost, less impairments, adjusted for
observable price changes in orderly transactions for identical or similar investments of the same issuer.
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During the fourth quarter of 2019, the Company’s Advanced Safety and User Experience segment made a $6 million investment in Krono-Safe, SAS, a
leading software developer of safety-critical real-time embedded systems.

During the first quarter of 2019, the Company’s Advanced Safety and User Experience segment made an additional $3 million investment in Otonomo
Technologies Ltd. (“Otonomo”), a connected car data marketplace developer. This investment was in addition to the Company’s $15 million investment made in
the first quarter of 2017.

During the fourth quarter of 2018, the Company’s Advanced Safety and User Experience segment made a $15 million investment in Affectiva, Inc., a leader
in human perception artificial intelligence technology.

As of December 31, 2020, the Company had the following technology investments, which are classified within other long-term assets in the consolidated
balance sheets:

Investment Name Segment Investment Date
Investment 
(in millions)

Krono-Safe, SAS Advanced Safety and User Experience Q4 2019 $ 6 
Affectiva, Inc. Advanced Safety and User Experience Q4 2018 15 
Innoviz Technologies Advanced Safety and User Experience Q3 2017 25 
LeddarTech, Inc. Advanced Safety and User Experience Q3 2017 10 
Valens Semiconductor Ltd. Signal and Power Solutions Q2 2017 10 
Otonomo Technologies Ltd. Advanced Safety and User Experience Q1 2017; Q1 2019 37 
Quanergy Systems, Inc Advanced Safety and User Experience Q2 2015; Q1 2016 6 
Other investments Advanced Safety and User Experience Various 4 

$ 113 

During the year ended December 31, 2020, the Company’s investment in Innoviz was remeasured to a fair value of $25 million, based on a subsequent round
of financing observed to be for identical or similar investments of the same issuer. As a result, the Company recorded a pre-tax unrealized gain of $10 million to
other income, net during the year ended December 31, 2020.

During the year ended December 31, 2019, the Company’s investment in Otonomo was remeasured to a fair value of $37 million, based on a subsequent
round of financing observed to be for identical or similar investments of the same issuer. As a result, the Company recorded a pre-tax unrealized gain of $19
million to other income, net during the year ended December 31, 2019.

There were no other material transactions, events or changes in circumstances requiring an impairment or an observable price change adjustment to these
investments. The Company continues to monitor these investments to identify potential transactions which may indicate an impairment or an observable price
change requiring an adjustment to its carrying value.
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6. PROPERTY, NET

Property, net consisted of:

 Estimated Useful 
Lives

December 31,
 2020 2019
 (Years) (in millions)
Land — $ 85 $ 81 
Land and leasehold improvements 3-20 171 163 
Buildings 40 691 646 
Machinery, equipment and tooling 3-20 4,677 4,057 
Furniture and office equipment 3-10 724 648 
Construction in progress — 263 322 

Total 6,611 5,917 
Less: accumulated depreciation (3,310) (2,608)

Total property, net $ 3,301 $ 3,309 

For the years ended December 31, 2020, 2019 and 2018, Aptiv recorded non-cash asset impairment charges of $10 million, $3 million and $4 million,
respectively, in cost of sales related to declines in the fair values of certain fixed assets.

As of December 31, 2020, 2019 and 2018, capital expenditures recorded in accounts payable totaled $164 million, $247 million and $245 million,
respectively.

7. INTANGIBLE ASSETS AND GOODWILL

The changes in the carrying amount of intangible assets and goodwill were as follows as of December 31, 2020 and 2019. See Note 20. Acquisitions and
Divestitures for a further description of the goodwill and intangible assets resulting from Aptiv’s acquisitions in 2020 and 2019.

 As of December 31, 2020 As of December 31, 2019

 
Estimated Useful 

Lives

Gross 
Carrying 
Amount

Accumulated 
Amortization

Net 
Carrying 
Amount

Gross 
Carrying 
Amount

Accumulated 
Amortization

Net 
Carrying 
Amount

 (Years) (in millions) (in millions)
Amortized intangible assets:

Patents and developed technology 3-15 $ 672 $ 461 $ 211 $ 656 $ 415 $ 241 
Customer relationships 5-14 1,179 495 684 1,130 375 755 
Trade names 15-20 76 48 28 73 44 29 
Total 1,927 1,004 923 1,859 834 1,025 

Unamortized intangible assets:
Trade names — 168 — 168 161 — 161 
Goodwill — 2,580 — 2,580 2,407 — 2,407 
Total $ 4,675 $ 1,004 $ 3,671 $ 4,427 $ 834 $ 3,593 

Estimated amortization expense for the years ending December 31, 2021 through 2025 is presented below:

Year Ending December 31,
 2021 2022 2023 2024 2025
 (in millions)
Estimated amortization expense $ 151 $ 146 $ 123 $ 109 $ 105 
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A roll-forward of the gross carrying amounts of intangible assets for the years ended December 31, 2020 and 2019 is presented below.

2020 2019
 (in millions)
Balance at January 1 $ 4,427 $ 4,571 

Acquisitions (1) 17 316 
Reclassified as held for sale — (445)
Foreign currency translation and other 231 (15)

Balance at December 31 $ 4,675 $ 4,427 

(1) Primarily attributable to the 2020 acquisition of Dynawave, and the 2019 acquisitions of gabocom and Falmat, as further described in Note 20. Acquisitions and Divestitures.

A roll-forward of the accumulated amortization for the years ended December 31, 2020 and 2019 is presented below:

2020 2019
 (in millions)
Balance at January 1 $ 834 $ 667 

Amortization 144 138 
Impairment (1) — 8 
Reclassified as held for sale — (1)
Foreign currency translation and other 26 22 

Balance at December 31 $ 1,004 $ 834 

(1) Primarily attributable to the impairment of certain definite-lived trade name assets within the Advanced Safety and User Experience segment during the year ended December 31, 2019,
which is included within amortization in the consolidated statements of operations. The fair value of the impaired assets was determined primarily using the anticipated cash flows
discounted at a rate commensurate with the risk involved and a review of other market indicators and management estimates.

A roll-forward of the carrying amount of goodwill, by operating segment, for the years ended December 31, 2020 and 2019 is presented below:

Signal and Power
Solutions

Advanced Safety and
User Experience Total

 (in millions)
Balance at January 1, 2019 $ 2,180 $ 344 $ 2,524 

Acquisitions (1) 229 — 229 
Reclassified as held for sale — (318) (318)
Foreign currency translation and other (28) — (28)

Balance at December 31, 2019 $ 2,381 $ 26 $ 2,407 
Acquisitions (2) $ 10 $ — $ 10 
Foreign currency translation and other 162 1 163 

Balance at December 31, 2020 $ 2,553 $ 27 $ 2,580 

(1) Primarily attributable to the acquisitions of gabocom and Falmat, as further described in Note 20. Acquisitions and Divestitures.
(2) Primarily attributable to the acquisition of Dynawave, as further described in Note 20. Acquisitions and Divestitures.
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8. LIABILITIES

Accrued liabilities consisted of the following:

December 31, 
2020

December 31, 
2019

 (in millions)
Payroll-related obligations $ 293 $ 226 
Employee benefits, including current pension obligations 84 97 
Income and other taxes payable 177 180 
Warranty obligations (Note 9) 51 29 
Restructuring (Note 10) 82 86 
Customer deposits 62 43 
Derivative financial instruments (Note 17) 8 4 
Accrued interest 48 47 
MCPS dividends payable 3 — 
Deferred compensation related to acquisitions — 35 
Operating lease liabilities (Note 26) 100 94 
Other 477 314 

Total $ 1,385 $ 1,155 

Other long-term liabilities consisted of the following:

December 31, 
2020

December 31, 
2019

 (in millions)
Environmental (Note 13) $ 4 $ 3 
Extended disability benefits 5 6 
Warranty obligations (Note 9) 8 8 
Restructuring (Note 10) 43 48 
Payroll-related obligations 11 10 
Accrued income taxes 156 199 
Deferred income taxes, net (Note 14) 207 229 
Derivative financial instruments (Note 17) 1 — 
Other 105 108 

Total $ 540 $ 611 

9. WARRANTY OBLIGATIONS

Expected warranty costs for products sold are recognized principally at the time of sale of the product based on an estimate of the amount that eventually will
be required to settle such obligations. These accruals are based on factors such as past experience, production changes, industry developments and various other
considerations. The estimated costs related to product recalls based on a formal campaign soliciting return of that product are accrued at the time an obligation
becomes probable and can be reasonably estimated. These estimates are adjusted from time to time based on facts and circumstances that impact the status of
existing claims. Aptiv has recognized its best estimate for its total aggregate warranty reserves, including product recall costs, across all of its operating segments
as of December 31, 2020. The Company estimates the reasonably possible amount to ultimately resolve all matters in excess of the recorded reserves as of
December 31, 2020 to be zero to $10 million.
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The table below summarizes the activity in the product warranty liability for the years ended December 31, 2020 and 2019:

 Year Ended December 31,
2020 2019

 (in millions)
Accrual balance at beginning of year $ 37 $ 50 

Provision for estimated warranties incurred during the year 36 39 
Changes in estimate for pre-existing warranties 36 — 
Settlements made during the year (in cash or in kind) (52) (52)
Foreign currency translation and other 2 — 

Accrual balance at end of year $ 59 $ 37 

10. RESTRUCTURING

Aptiv’s restructuring activities are undertaken as necessary to implement management’s strategy, streamline operations, take advantage of available capacity
and resources, and ultimately achieve net cost reductions. These activities generally relate to the realignment of existing manufacturing capacity and closure of
facilities and other exit or disposal activities, as it relates to executing Aptiv’s strategy, either in the normal course of business or pursuant to significant
restructuring programs.

As part of Aptiv’s continued efforts to optimize its cost structure, it has undertaken several restructuring programs which include workforce reductions as
well as plant closures. These programs are primarily focused on aligning our production capabilities with the reduced levels of global vehicle production resulting
from the COVID-19 pandemic in 2020, as well as the continued rotation of our manufacturing footprint to best cost locations in Europe and on reducing global
overhead costs. The Company recorded employee-related and other restructuring charges related to these programs totaling approximately $136 million during the
year ended December 31, 2020, of which $62 million was recognized for programs implemented in the North American region and $57 million was recognized for
programs implemented in the European region. The charges recorded during the year ended December 31, 2020 included the recognition of approximately $90
million of employee-related and other costs related to actions taken as a result of the global impacts of the COVID-19 pandemic. None of the Company’s
individual restructuring programs initiated during 2020 were material and there have been no changes in previously initiated programs that have resulted (or are
expected to result) in a material change to our restructuring costs. The Company expects to incur additional restructuring costs of approximately $45 million (of
which approximately $20 million relates to the Signal and Power Solutions segment and approximately $25 million relates to the Advanced Safety and User
Experience segment) by the end of 2021 related to programs approved as of December 31, 2020.

During the year ended December 31, 2019, Aptiv recorded employee-related and other restructuring charges totaling approximately $148 million, of which
$74 million was recognized for programs implemented in the European region, pursuant to the Company’s ongoing overhead reduction strategy. During the year
ended December 31, 2018, the Company recorded employee-related and other restructuring charges totaling approximately $109 million, of which $64 million was
recognized for programs focused on the continued rotation of our manufacturing footprint to best cost locations in Europe and on reducing global overhead costs in
the region.

Restructuring charges for employee separation and termination benefits are paid either over the severance period or in a lump sum in accordance with either
statutory requirements or individual agreements. Aptiv incurred cash expenditures related to its restructuring programs of approximately $151 million and $119
million in the years ended December 31, 2020 and 2019, respectively.

The following table summarizes the restructuring charges recorded for the years ended December 31, 2020, 2019 and 2018 by operating segment:

 Year Ended December 31,
2020 2019 2018

 (in millions)
Signal and Power Solutions $ 90 $ 104 $ 90 
Advanced Safety and User Experience 46 44 19 

Total $ 136 $ 148 $ 109 
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The table below summarizes the activity in the restructuring liability for the years ended December 31, 2020 and 2019:

Employee Termination
Benefits Liability

Other Exit
Costs Liability Total

 (in millions)
Accrual balance at January 1, 2019 $ 104 $ — $ 104 

Provision for estimated expenses incurred during the year 148 — 148 
Payments made during the year (119) — (119)
Foreign currency and other 1 — 1 

Accrual balance at December 31, 2019 $ 134 $ — $ 134 
Provision for estimated expenses incurred during the year $ 136 $ — $ 136 
Payments made during the year (151) — (151)
Foreign currency and other 6 — 6 

Accrual balance at December 31, 2020 $ 125 $ — $ 125 

11. DEBT

The following is a summary of debt outstanding, net of unamortized issuance costs and discounts, as of December 31, 2020 and 2019:

December 31,
2020 2019

 (in millions)
Accounts receivable factoring $ — $ 266 
Revolving Credit Facility — 90 
4.15%, senior notes, due 2024 (net of $1 and $2 unamortized issuance costs and $1 and $1 discount, respectively) 698 697 
1.50%, Euro-denominated senior notes, due 2025 (net of $2 and $3 unamortized issuance costs and $2 and $2 discount,
respectively) 857 779 
4.25%, senior notes, due 2026 (net of $2 and $3 unamortized issuance costs, respectively) 648 647 
1.60%, Euro-denominated senior notes, due 2028 (net of $3 and $3 unamortized issuance costs, respectively) 612 556 
4.35%, senior notes, due 2029 (net of $3 and $3 unamortized issuance costs, respectively) 297 297 
4.40%, senior notes, due 2046 (net of $3 and $3 unamortized issuance costs and $1 and $2 discount, respectively) 296 295 
5.40%, senior notes, due 2049 (net of $4 and $4 unamortized issuance costs and $1 and $1 discount, respectively) 345 345 
Tranche A Term Loan, due 2022 and 2021 (net of $1 and $1 unamortized issuance costs, respectively) 320 359 
Finance leases and other 28 33 

Total debt 4,101 4,364 
Less: current portion (90) (393)

Long-term debt $ 4,011 $ 3,971 
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The principal maturities of debt, at nominal value, are as follows:

Debt and Finance
Lease Obligations

 (in millions)
2021 $ 90 
2022 251 
2023 2 
2024 701 
2025 863 
Thereafter 2,218 

Total $ 4,125 

Credit Agreement

Aptiv PLC and its wholly-owned subsidiary Aptiv Corporation entered into a credit agreement (the “Credit Agreement”) with JPMorgan Chase Bank, N.A.,
as administrative agent (the “Administrative Agent”), under which it maintains senior unsecured credit facilities currently consisting of a term loan (the “Tranche A
Term Loan”) and a revolving credit facility of $2 billion (the “Revolving Credit Facility”). The Credit Agreement was entered into in March 2011 and has been
subsequently amended and restated on several occasions, most recently on May 1, 2020 (the “May 2020 Amendment”) and June 8, 2020 (the “June 2020
Amendment”). The May 2020 amendment extended the maturity of $1,779 million in principal amount of the Revolving Credit Facility and $298 million in
principal amount of the Tranche A Term Loan from August 17, 2021 to August 17, 2022 and increased the leverage ratio maintenance covenant until July 1, 2021
(the “Covenant Relief Period”), unless Aptiv elects to terminate the Covenant Relief Period at an earlier date. Under the terms of the May 2020 Amendment,
Aptiv’s consolidated leverage ratio (the ratio of Consolidated Total Indebtedness to Consolidated EBITDA, each as defined in the May 2020 Amendment) is
increased from not more than 3.5 to 1.0 to not more than 4.5 to 1.0 during the Covenant Relief Period, and Aptiv is subject to certain additional covenant
restrictions during the Covenant Relief Period, including restrictions on Aptiv’s ability to execute repurchases of or pay dividends on its outstanding ordinary
shares. The maturity date of the remaining portions of the Revolving Credit Facility and Tranche A Term Loan were not extended and will mature on August 17,
2021. The May 2020 Amendment also required that Aptiv pay amendment fees of $18 million during the year ended December 31, 2020, which is reflected as a
financing activity in the consolidated statement of cash flows. The June 2020 Amendment amended the dividends and distributions covenant set forth in the Credit
Agreement to permit the payment of dividends on convertible preferred shares in connection with the preferred equity offering as further discussed in Note 15.
Shareholders’ Equity and Net Income Per Share.

During the year ended December 31, 2020, Aptiv Global Financing Limited (“AGFL”), a wholly-owned Irish subsidiary of Aptiv PLC, executed a joinder
agreement to the Credit Agreement, which allows it to act as a borrower under the Credit Agreement, and a guaranty supplement, under which AGFL guarantees
the obligations under the Credit Agreement, subject to certain exceptions set forth in the Credit Agreement.

Aptiv is obligated to make quarterly principal payments throughout the term of the Tranche A Term Loan according to the amortization schedule in the
Credit Agreement. The Credit Agreement also contains an accordion feature that permits Aptiv to increase, from time to time, the aggregate borrowing capacity
under the Credit Agreement by up to an additional $1 billion upon Aptiv’s request, the agreement of the lenders participating in the increase, and the approval of
the Administrative Agent and existing lenders.

As of December 31, 2020, Aptiv had no amounts outstanding under the Revolving Credit Facility and less than $1 million in letters of credit were issued
under the Credit Agreement. Letters of credit issued under the Credit Agreement reduce availability under the Revolving Credit Facility.

Loans under the Credit Agreement bear interest, at Aptiv’s option, at either (a) the Administrative Agent’s Alternate Base Rate (“ABR” as defined in the
Credit Agreement) or (b) the London Interbank Offered Rate (the “Adjusted LIBO Rate” as defined in the Credit Agreement) (“LIBOR”) plus in either case a
percentage per annum as set forth in the table below (the “Applicable Rate”). The Applicable Rates under the Credit Agreement on the specified dates are set forth
below:
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December 31, 2020 December 31, 2019
LIBOR plus ABR plus LIBOR plus ABR plus

Revolving Credit Facility (1) 1.10 % 0.10 % 1.10 % 0.10 %
Revolving Credit Facility (2) 1.40 % 0.40 % N/A N/A
Tranche A Term Loan (1) 1.25 % 0.25 % 1.25 % 0.25 %
Tranche A Term Loan (2) 1.75 % 0.75 % N/A N/A

(1) Applicable to principal balances under the Credit Agreement which were not extended as part of the May 2020 Amendment as described above.

(2) Applicable to principal balances under the Credit Agreement which were extended as part of the May 2020 Amendment as described above.

The Applicable Rate under the Credit Agreement may increase or decrease from time to time based on changes in the Company’s credit ratings. Accordingly,
the interest rate will fluctuate during the term of the Credit Agreement based on changes in the ABR, LIBOR or future changes in the Company’s corporate credit
ratings. The Credit Agreement also requires that Aptiv pay certain facility fees on the Revolving Credit Facility and certain letter of credit issuance and fronting
fees.

The interest rate period with respect to LIBOR interest rate options can be set at one-, two-, three-, or six-months as selected by Aptiv in accordance with the
terms of the Credit Agreement (or other period as may be agreed by the applicable lenders). Aptiv may elect to change the selected interest rate option in
accordance with the provisions of the Credit Agreement. As of December 31, 2020, Aptiv selected the one-month LIBOR interest rate option on the Tranche A
Term Loan, and the rate effective as of December 31, 2020, as detailed in the table below, was based on the Company’s current credit rating and the Applicable
Rate for the Credit Agreement:

Borrowings as of
December 31, 2020 Rates effective as of

Applicable Rate (in millions) December 31, 2020
Tranche A Term Loan (1) LIBOR plus 1.25% $ 49 1.44 %
Tranche A Term Loan (2) LIBOR plus 1.75% $ 272 1.94 %

(1) Applicable to principal balances under the Credit Agreement which were not extended as part of the May 2020 Amendment as described above.

(2) Applicable to principal balances under the Credit Agreement which were extended as part of the May 2020 Amendment as described above.

Borrowings under the Credit Agreement are prepayable at Aptiv’s option without premium or penalty.

The Credit Agreement contains certain covenants that limit, among other things, the Company’s (and the Company’s subsidiaries’) ability to incur certain
additional indebtedness or liens or to dispose of substantially all of its assets. In addition, the Credit Agreement requires that the Company maintain a consolidated
leverage ratio (the ratio of Consolidated Total Indebtedness to Consolidated EBITDA, each as defined in the Credit Agreement) of not more than 3.5 to 1.0, which
was increased to not more than 4.5 to 1.0 until July 1, 2021 under the May 2020 Amendment. The Credit Agreement also contains events of default customary for
financings of this type. The Company was in compliance with the Credit Agreement covenants as of December 31, 2020.

As of December 31, 2020, all obligations under the Credit Agreement were borrowed by Aptiv Corporation and jointly and severally guaranteed by its direct
and indirect parent companies, subject to certain exceptions set forth in the Credit Agreement.

Senior Unsecured Notes

On March 3, 2014, Aptiv Corporation issued $700 million in aggregate principal amount of 4.15% senior unsecured notes due 2024 (the “2014 Senior
Notes”) in a transaction registered under the Securities Act of 1933, as amended (the “Securities Act”). The 2014 Senior Notes were priced at 99.649% of par,
resulting in a yield to maturity of 4.193%. The proceeds were primarily utilized to redeem $500 million of 5.875% senior unsecured notes due 2019 and to repay a
portion of the Tranche A Term Loan. Aptiv paid approximately $6 million of issuance costs in connection with the 2014 Senior Notes. Interest is payable semi-
annually on March 15 and September 15 of each year to holders of record at the close of business on March 1 or September 1 immediately preceding the interest
payment date.

On March 10, 2015, Aptiv PLC issued €700 million in aggregate principal amount of 1.50% Euro-denominated senior unsecured notes due 2025 (the “2015
Euro-denominated Senior Notes”) in a transaction registered under the Securities Act. The 2015 Euro-denominated Senior Notes were priced at 99.54% of par,
resulting in a yield to maturity of 1.55%. The proceeds were primarily utilized to redeem $500 million of 6.125% senior unsecured notes due 2021, and to fund
growth initiatives, such
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as acquisitions, and share repurchases. Aptiv incurred approximately $5 million of issuance costs in connection with the 2015 Euro-denominated Senior Notes.
Interest is payable annually on March 10. The Company has designated the 2015 Euro-denominated Senior Notes as a net investment hedge of the foreign currency
exposure of its investments in certain Euro-denominated wholly-owned subsidiaries. Refer to Note 17. Derivatives and Hedging Activities for further information.

On November 19, 2015, Aptiv PLC issued $1.3 billion in aggregate principal amount of senior unsecured notes in a transaction registered under the
Securities Act, comprised of $650 million of 3.15% senior unsecured notes due 2020 (the “3.15% Senior Notes”) and $650 million of 4.25% senior unsecured
notes due 2026 (the “4.25% Senior Notes”) (collectively, the “2015 Senior Notes”). The 3.15% Senior Notes were priced at 99.784% of par, resulting in a yield to
maturity of 3.197%, and the 4.25% Senior Notes were priced at 99.942% of par, resulting in a yield to maturity of 4.256%. The proceeds were primarily utilized to
fund a portion of the cash consideration for the acquisition of HellermannTyton PLC, and for general corporate purposes, including the payment of fees and
expenses associated with the HellermannTyton PLC acquisition and the related financing transaction. Aptiv incurred approximately $8 million of issuance costs in
connection with the 2015 Senior Notes. Interest on the 3.15% Senior Notes was payable semi-annually on May 19 and November 19 of each year to holders of
record at the close of business on May 4 or November 4 immediately preceding the interest payment date. Interest on the 4.25% Senior Notes is payable semi-
annually on January 15 and July 15 of each year to holders of record at the close of business on January 1 or July 1 immediately preceding the interest payment
date. In March 2019, Aptiv redeemed for cash the entire $650 million aggregate principal amount outstanding of the 3.15% Senior Notes, financed by the proceeds
received from the issuance of the 2019 Senior Notes, as defined below. As a result of the redemption of the 3.15% Senior Notes, Aptiv recognized a loss on debt
extinguishment of approximately $6 million during the year ended December 31, 2019 within other expense, net in the consolidated statements of operations.

On September 15, 2016, Aptiv PLC issued €500 million in aggregate principal amount of 1.60% Euro-denominated senior unsecured notes due 2028 (the
“2016 Euro-denominated Senior Notes”) in a transaction registered under the Securities Act. The 2016 Euro-denominated Senior Notes were priced at 99.881% of
par, resulting in a yield to maturity of 1.611%. The proceeds, together with proceeds from the 2016 Senior Notes described below, were utilized to redeem the $800
million of 5.00% senior unsecured notes due 2023. Aptiv incurred approximately $4 million of issuance costs in connection with the 2016 Euro-denominated
Senior Notes. Interest is payable annually on September 15. The Company has designated the 2016 Euro-denominated Senior Notes as a net investment hedge of
the foreign currency exposure of its investments in certain Euro-denominated wholly-owned subsidiaries. Refer to Note 17. Derivatives and Hedging Activities for
further information.

On September 20, 2016, Aptiv PLC issued $300 million in aggregate principal amount of 4.40% senior unsecured notes due 2046 (the “2016 Senior Notes”)
in a transaction registered under the Securities Act. The 2016 Senior Notes were priced at 99.454% of par, resulting in a yield to maturity of 4.433%. The proceeds,
together with proceeds from the 2016 Euro-denominated Senior Notes, were utilized to redeem the $800 million of 5.00% senior unsecured notes due 2023. Aptiv
incurred approximately $3 million of issuance costs in connection with the 2016 Senior Notes. Interest is payable semi-annually on April 1 and October 1 of each
year to holders of record at the close of business on March 15 or September 15 immediately preceding the interest payment date.

On March 14, 2019, Aptiv PLC issued $650 million in aggregate principal amount of senior unsecured notes in a transaction registered under the Securities
Act, comprised of $300 million of 4.35% senior unsecured notes due March 15, 2029 (the “4.35% Senior Notes”) and $350 million of 5.40% senior unsecured
notes due March 15, 2049 (the “5.40% Senior Notes”) (collectively, the “2019 Senior Notes”). The 4.35% Senior Notes were priced at 99.879% of par, resulting in
a yield to maturity of 4.365%, and the 5.40% Senior Notes were priced at 99.558% of par, resulting in a yield to maturity of 5.430%. The proceeds were utilized to
redeem the 3.15% Senior Notes. Aptiv incurred approximately $7 million of issuance costs in connection with the 2019 Senior Notes. Interest on the 2019 Senior
Notes is payable semi-annually on March 15 and September 15 of each year to holders of record at the close of business on March 1 or September 1 immediately
preceding the interest payment date.

Although the specific terms of each indenture governing each series of senior notes vary, the indentures contain certain restrictive covenants, including with
respect to Aptiv’s (and Aptiv’s subsidiaries) ability to incur liens, enter into sale and leaseback transactions and merge with or into other entities. As of
December 31, 2020, the Company was in compliance with the provisions of all series of the outstanding senior notes.

The 2014 Senior Notes issued by Aptiv Corporation are fully and unconditionally guaranteed, jointly and severally, by Aptiv PLC and by certain of Aptiv
PLC’s direct and indirect subsidiaries which are directly or indirectly 100% owned by Aptiv PLC, subject to customary release provisions (other than in the case of
Aptiv PLC). The 2015 Euro-denominated Senior Notes, 4.25% Senior Notes, 2016 Euro-denominated Senior Notes, 2016 Senior Notes and 2019 Senior Notes
issued by Aptiv PLC are fully and unconditionally guaranteed, jointly and severally, by certain of Aptiv PLC’s direct and indirect subsidiaries (including Aptiv
Corporation), which are directly or indirectly 100% owned by Aptiv PLC, subject to customary release provisions.
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Other Financing

Receivable factoring—During the year ended December 31, 2020, Aptiv entered into a new accounts receivable factoring agreement under which a facility
of €450 million is available on a committed basis and will allow for factoring of receivables denominated in both Euros and U.S. dollars (“USD”). This facility
replaced Aptiv’s previous €300 million European accounts receivable factoring facility on January 1, 2021. This facility is accounted for as short-term debt and
borrowings are subject to the availability of eligible accounts receivable. Collateral is not required related to these trade accounts receivable. The new program is
for a term of three years, after which either party can terminate with three months’ notice. Borrowings denominated in Euros under the new facility will bear
interest at the three-month Euro Interbank Offered Rate (“EURIBOR”) plus 0.50% and USD borrowings will bear interest at two-month LIBOR plus 0.50%, with
borrowings under either denomination carrying a minimum interest rate of 0.20%. Borrowings under the previous facility bore interest at EURIBOR plus 0.42% for
borrowings denominated in Euros with a minimum interest rate of 0.42%. As of December 31, 2020, Aptiv had no amounts outstanding on the European accounts
receivable factoring facility. As of December 31, 2019, Aptiv had $266 million outstanding on the European accounts receivable factoring facility.

Finance leases and other—As of December 31, 2020 and 2019, approximately $28 million and $33 million, respectively, of other debt primarily issued by
certain non-U.S. subsidiaries and finance lease obligations were outstanding.

Interest—Cash paid for interest related to debt outstanding totaled $154 million, $153 million and $134 million for the years ended December 31, 2020,
2019 and 2018, respectively.

Letter of credit facilities—In addition to the letters of credit issued under the Credit Agreement, Aptiv had approximately $2 million and $2 million
outstanding through other letter of credit facilities as of December 31, 2020 and 2019, respectively, primarily to support arrangements and other obligations at
certain of its subsidiaries.

12. PENSION BENEFITS

Certain of Aptiv’s non-U.S. subsidiaries sponsor defined benefit pension plans, which generally provide benefits based on negotiated amounts for each year
of service. Aptiv’s primary non-U.S. plans are located in France, Germany, Mexico, Portugal and the U.K. The U.K. and certain Mexican plans are funded. In
addition, Aptiv has defined benefit plans in South Korea, Turkey and Italy for which amounts are payable to employees immediately upon separation. The
obligations for these plans are recorded over the requisite service period.

Aptiv sponsors a Supplemental Executive Retirement Program (“SERP”) for those employees who were U.S. executives of the former Delphi Corporation
prior to September 30, 2008 and were still U.S. executives of the Company on October 7, 2009, the effective date of the program. This program is unfunded.
Executives receive benefits over 5 years after an involuntary or voluntary separation from Aptiv. The SERP is closed to new members.
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Funded Status

The amounts shown below reflect the change in the U.S. defined benefit pension obligations during 2020 and 2019.

Year Ended December 31,
2020 2019

 (in millions)
Benefit obligation at beginning of year $ 11 $ 18 

Interest cost — 1 
Actuarial loss 2 — 
Benefits paid (5) (8)

Benefit obligation at end of year 8 11 
Change in plan assets:

Fair value of plan assets at beginning of year — — 
Aptiv contributions 5 8 
Benefits paid (5) (8)

Fair value of plan assets at end of year — — 
Underfunded status (8) (11)

Amounts recognized in the consolidated balance sheets consist of:
Current liabilities (3) (4)
Non-current liabilities (5) (7)

Total (8) (11)
Amounts recognized in accumulated other comprehensive loss consist of (pre-tax):

Actuarial loss 7 7 
Total $ 7 $ 7 
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The amounts shown below reflect the change in the non-U.S. defined benefit pension obligations during 2020 and 2019.

Year Ended December 31,
2020 2019

 (in millions)
Benefit obligation at beginning of year $ 900 $ 809 

Service cost 18 17 
Interest cost 20 25 
Actuarial loss 36 79 
Benefits paid (38) (33)
Impact of curtailments — 7 
Exchange rate movements and other 41 (4)

Benefit obligation at end of year 977 900 
Change in plan assets:

Fair value of plan assets at beginning of year 403 362 
Actual return on plan assets 40 40 
Aptiv contributions 28 30 
Benefits paid (38) (33)
Exchange rate movements and other 5 4 

Fair value of plan assets at end of year 438 403 
Underfunded status (539) (497)

Amounts recognized in the consolidated balance sheets consist of:
Non-current assets 1 2 
Current liabilities (21) (25)
Non-current liabilities (519) (474)

Total (539) (497)
Amounts recognized in accumulated other comprehensive loss consist of (pre-tax):

Actuarial loss 197 188 
Prior service cost 5 5 

Total $ 202 $ 193 

The benefit obligation was impacted by actuarial losses of $36 million and $79 million during the years ended December 31, 2020 and 2019, respectively,
primarily due to changes in the discount rates used to measure the benefit obligation.
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The projected benefit obligation (“PBO”), accumulated benefit obligation (“ABO”), and fair value of plan assets for pension plans with accumulated benefit
obligations in excess of plan assets and with plan assets in excess of accumulated benefit obligations are as follows:

 U.S. Plans Non-U.S. Plans
 2020 2019 2020 2019

(in millions) 
Plans with ABO in Excess of Plan Assets

PBO $ 8 $ 11 $ 838 $ 770 
ABO 8 11 784 721 
Fair value of plan assets at end of year — — 314 291 
 Plans with Plan Assets in Excess of ABO
PBO $ — $ — $ 139 $ 130 
ABO — — 113 97 
Fair value of plan assets at end of year — — 124 112 
 Total
PBO $ 8 $ 11 $ 977 $ 900 
ABO 8 11 897 818 
Fair value of plan assets at end of year — — 438 403 

Benefit costs presented below were determined based on actuarial methods and included the following:

 U.S. Plans
 Year Ended December 31,
 2020 2019 2018
 (in millions)
Interest cost $ — $ 1 $ 1 
Amortization of actuarial losses 1 1 1 

Net periodic benefit cost $ 1 $ 2 $ 2 

 Non-U.S. Plans
 Year Ended December 31,
 2020 2019 2018
 (in millions)
Service cost $ 18 $ 17 $ 17 
Interest cost 20 25 23 
Expected return on plan assets (17) (18) (22)
Settlement loss 1 1 3 
Curtailment loss (gain) — 7 (1)
Amortization of actuarial losses 14 9 13 
Other 1 1 — 

Net periodic benefit cost $ 37 $ 42 $ 33 

Other postretirement benefit obligations were approximately $1 million and $2 million at December 31, 2020 and 2019, respectively.

Experience gains and losses, as well as the effects of changes in actuarial assumptions and plan provisions are recognized in other comprehensive income.
Cumulative gains and losses in excess of 10% of the PBO for a particular plan are amortized over the average future service period of the employees in that plan.
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The principal assumptions used to determine the pension expense and the actuarial value of the projected benefit obligation for the U.S. and non-U.S.
pension plans were:

Assumptions used to determine benefit obligations at December 31:

 Pension Benefits
 U.S. Plans Non-U.S. Plans
 2020 2019 2020 2019
Weighted-average discount rate 1.20 % 2.40 % 2.21 % 2.87 %
Weighted-average rate of increase in compensation levels N/A N/A 3.64 % 3.69 %

Assumptions used to determine net expense for years ended December 31:

 Pension Benefits
 U.S. Plans Non-U.S. Plans
 2020 2019 2018 2020 2019 2018
Weighted-average discount rate 2.40 % 3.80 % 2.70 % 2.87 % 3.53 % 3.39 %
Weighted-average rate of increase in compensation

levels N/A N/A N/A 3.69 % 3.74 % 3.65 %
Weighted-average expected long-term rate of return on

plan assets N/A N/A N/A 4.68 % 4.95 % 5.63 %

Aptiv selects discount rates by analyzing the results of matching each plan’s projected benefit obligations with a portfolio of high-quality fixed income
investments rated AA or higher by Standard and Poor’s or Moody’s.

Aptiv does not have any U.S. pension assets; therefore no U.S. asset rate of return calculation was necessary. The primary funded non-U.S. plans are in the
U.K. and Mexico. For the determination of 2020 expense, Aptiv assumed a long-term expected asset rate of return of approximately 4.25% and 7.50% for the U.K.
and Mexico, respectively. Aptiv evaluated input from local actuaries and asset managers, including consideration of recent fund performance and historical returns,
in developing the long-term rate of return assumptions. The assumptions for the U.K. and Mexico are primarily long-term, prospective rates. To determine the
expected return on plan assets, the market-related value of our plan assets is actual fair value.

Aptiv’s pension expense for 2021 is determined at the 2020 year end measurement date. For purposes of analysis, the following table highlights the
sensitivity of the Company’ pension obligations and expense to changes in key assumptions:

Change in Assumption
Impact on 

Pension Expense Impact on PBO
25 basis point (“bp”) decrease in discount rate + $2 million + $35 million
25 bp increase in discount rate - $2 million - $33 million
25 bp decrease in long-term expected return on assets + $1 million —
25 bp increase in long-term expected return on assets - $1 million —

The above sensitivities reflect the effect of changing one assumption at a time. It should be noted that economic factors and conditions often affect multiple
assumptions simultaneously and the effects of changes in key assumptions are not necessarily linear. The above sensitivities also assume no changes to the design
of the pension plans and no major restructuring programs.
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Pension Funding

The following benefit payments, which reflect expected future service, as appropriate, are expected to be paid:

 Projected Pension Benefit Payments
 U.S. Plans Non-U.S. Plans
 (in millions)
2021 $ 3 $ 47 
2022 1 39 
2023 1 43 
2024 1 45 
2025 1 47 
2026 – 2030 1 282 

Aptiv anticipates making pension contributions and benefit payments of approximately $41 million in 2021.

Aptiv sponsors defined contribution plans for certain hourly and salaried employees. Expense related to the contributions for these plans was $17 million,
$40 million, and $37 million for the years ended December 31, 2020, 2019 and 2018, respectively.

Plan Assets

Certain pension plans sponsored by Aptiv invest in a diversified portfolio consisting of an array of asset classes that attempts to maximize returns while
minimizing volatility. These asset classes include developed market equities, emerging market equities, private equity, global high quality and high yield fixed
income, real estate and absolute return strategies.

The fair values of Aptiv’s pension plan assets weighted-average asset allocations at December 31, 2020 and 2019, by asset category, are as follows:

 Fair Value Measurements at December 31, 2020

Asset Category Total

Quoted Prices in Active
Markets for Identical Assets

(Level 1)
Significant Observable

Inputs (Level 2)
Significant Unobservable

Inputs (Level 3)
 (in millions)
Cash $ 45 $ 45 $ — $ — 
Time deposits 28 — 28 — 
Equity mutual funds 33 — 33 — 
Bond mutual funds 186 — 186 — 
Real estate trust funds 34 — — 34 
Hedge funds 9 — — 9 
Insurance contracts 7 — — 7 
Debt securities 55 55 — — 
Equity securities 41 41 — — 

Total $ 438 $ 141 $ 247 $ 50 
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 Fair Value Measurements at December 31, 2019

Asset Category Total

Quoted Prices in Active
Markets for Identical Assets

(Level 1)
Significant Observable

Inputs (Level 2)
Significant Unobservable

Inputs (Level 3)
 (in millions)
Cash $ 21 $ 21 $ — $ — 
Time deposits 25 — 25 — 
Equity mutual funds 31 — 31 — 
Bond mutual funds 174 — 174 — 
Real estate trust funds 31 — — 31 
Hedge funds 15 — — 15 
Insurance contracts 7 — — 7 
Debt securities 57 57 — — 
Equity securities 42 42 — — 

Total $ 403 $ 120 $ 230 $ 53 

Following is a description of the valuation methodologies used for pension assets measured at fair value.

Time deposits—The fair value of fixed-maturity certificates of deposit was estimated using the rates offered for deposits of similar remaining maturities.

Equity mutual funds—The fair value of the equity mutual funds is determined by the indirect quoted market prices on regulated financial exchanges of the
underlying investments included in the fund.

Bond mutual funds—The fair value of the bond mutual funds is determined by the indirect quoted market prices on regulated financial exchanges of the
underlying investments included in the fund.

Real estate—The fair value of real estate properties is estimated using an annual appraisal provided by the administrator of the property investment.
Management believes this is an appropriate methodology to obtain the fair value of these assets.

Hedge funds—The fair value of the hedge funds is accounted for by a custodian. The custodian obtains valuations from the underlying hedge fund managers
based on market quotes for the most liquid assets and alternative methods for assets that do not have sufficient trading activity to derive prices. Management and
the custodian review the methods used by the underlying managers to value the assets. Management believes this is an appropriate methodology to obtain the fair
value of these assets.

Insurance contracts—The insurance contracts are invested in a fund with guaranteed minimum returns. The fair values of these contracts are based on the net
asset value underlying the contracts.

Debt securities—The fair value of debt securities is determined by direct quoted market prices on regulated financial exchanges.

Equity securities—The fair value of equity securities is determined by direct quoted market prices on regulated financial exchanges.
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Fair Value Measurements Using Significant 

Unobservable Inputs (Level 3)
 Real Estate Trust Fund Hedge Funds Insurance Contracts
 (in millions)
Beginning balance at January 1, 2019 $ 24 $ 21 $ 6 

Actual return on plan assets:
Relating to assets still held at the reporting date — (1) — 

Purchases, sales and settlements 6 (6) — 
Foreign currency translation and other 1 1 1 

Ending balance at December 31, 2019 $ 31 $ 15 $ 7 
Actual return on plan assets:

Relating to assets still held at the reporting date $ 1 $ (1) $ — 
Purchases, sales and settlements — (6) — 
Foreign currency translation and other 2 1 — 

Ending balance at December 31, 2020 $ 34 $ 9 $ 7 

13. COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENCIES

Ordinary Business Litigation

Aptiv is from time to time subject to various legal actions and claims incidental to its business, including those arising out of alleged defects, alleged
breaches of contracts, product warranties, intellectual property matters, and employment-related matters. It is the opinion of Aptiv that the outcome of such matters
will not have a material adverse impact on the consolidated financial position, results of operations, or cash flows of Aptiv. With respect to warranty matters,
although Aptiv cannot ensure that the future costs of warranty claims by customers will not be material, Aptiv believes its established reserves are adequate to
cover potential warranty settlements.

Brazil Matters

Aptiv conducts business operations in Brazil that are subject to the Brazilian federal labor, social security, environmental, tax and customs laws, as well as a
variety of state and local laws. While Aptiv believes it complies with such laws, they are complex, subject to varying interpretations, and the Company is often
engaged in litigation with government agencies regarding the application of these laws to particular circumstances. As of December 31, 2020, the majority of
claims asserted against Aptiv in Brazil relate to such litigation. The remaining claims in Brazil relate to commercial and labor litigation with private parties. As of
December 31, 2020, claims totaling approximately $105 million (using December 31, 2020 foreign currency rates) have been asserted against Aptiv in Brazil. As
of December 31, 2020, the Company maintains accruals for these asserted claims of $20 million (using December 31, 2020 foreign currency rates). The amounts
accrued represent claims that are deemed probable of loss and are reasonably estimable based on the Company’s analyses and assessment of the asserted claims
and prior experience with similar matters. While the Company believes its accruals are adequate, the final amounts required to resolve these matters could differ
materially from the Company’s recorded estimates and Aptiv’s results of operations could be materially affected. The Company estimates the reasonably possible
loss in excess of the amounts accrued related to these claims to be zero to $85 million.

Environmental Matters

Aptiv is subject to the requirements of U.S. federal, state, local and non-U.S. environmental and safety and health laws and regulations. As of December 31,
2020 and 2019, the undiscounted reserve for environmental investigation and remediation was approximately $4 million (which was recorded in other long-term
liabilities) and $4 million (of which $1 million was recorded in accrued liabilities and $3 million was recorded in other long-term liabilities), respectively. Aptiv
cannot ensure that environmental requirements will not change or become more stringent over time or that its eventual environmental remediation costs and
liabilities will not exceed the amount of its current reserves. In the event that such liabilities were to significantly exceed the amounts recorded, Aptiv’s results of
operations could be materially affected. At December 31, 2020 the difference between the recorded liabilities and the reasonably possible range of potential loss
was not material.
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14. INCOME TAXES

Income before income taxes and equity income for U.S. and non-U.S. operations are as follows:

Year Ended December 31,
 2020 2019 2018
 (in millions)
U.S. (loss) income $ (65) $ (1) $ 369 
Non-U.S. income 2,019 1,127 965 

Income before income taxes and equity (loss) income $ 1,954 $ 1,126 $ 1,334 

The provision (benefit) for income taxes is comprised of:

Year Ended December 31,
2020 2019 2018

 (in millions)
Current income tax expense (benefit):

U.S. federal $ (53) $ 8 $ 40 
Non-U.S. 154 156 214 
U.S. state and local — 1 10 
Total current 101 165 264 

Deferred income tax expense (benefit), net:
U.S. federal (14) (23) 13 
Non-U.S. (37) (8) (16)
U.S. state and local (1) (2) (11)
Total deferred (52) (33) (14)

Total income tax provision $ 49 $ 132 $ 250 

Cash paid or withheld for income taxes was $106 million, $189 million and $283 million for the years ended December 31, 2020, 2019 and 2018,
respectively.

For purposes of comparability and consistency, the Company uses the notional U.S. federal income tax rate when presenting the Company’s reconciliation of
the income tax provision. The Company was formerly a U.K. resident taxpayer and became an Irish resident taxpayer in April 2018. A reconciliation of the
provision for income taxes compared with the amounts at the notional U.S. federal statutory rate was:

 Year Ended December 31,
 2020 2019 2018
 (in millions)
Notional U.S. federal income taxes at statutory rate $ 410 $ 236 $ 280 
Income taxed at other rates (339) (92) (106)
Change in valuation allowance 10 (18) (4)
Other change in tax reserves 30 20 36 
Intragroup reorganizations (49) — — 
Withholding taxes 26 19 28 
Tax credits (16) (18) (18)
Change in tax law (2) 1 26 
Other adjustments (21) (16) 8 

Total income tax expense $ 49 $ 132 $ 250 
Effective tax rate 3 % 12 % 19 %

The Company’s tax rate is affected by the fact that its parent entity was formerly a U.K. resident taxpayer and became an Irish resident taxpayer in April
2018, the tax rates in Ireland, the U.K. and other jurisdictions in which the Company operates,
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the relative amount of income earned by jurisdiction and the relative amount of losses or income for which no tax benefit or expense was recognized due to a
valuation allowance. Included in the non-U.S. income taxed at other rates are tax incentives obtained in various non-U.S. countries, primarily the High and New
Technology Enterprise (“HNTE”) status in China, a Free Trade Zone exemption in Honduras and the Special Economic Zone exemption in Turkey, which totaled
$5 million in 2020, $19 million in 2019 and $41 million in 2018, as well as tax benefit for income earned, and no tax benefit for losses incurred, in jurisdictions
where a valuation allowance has been recorded. The Company currently benefits from tax holidays in various non-U.S. jurisdictions with expiration dates from
2021 through 2041. The income tax benefits attributable to these tax holidays are approximately $1 million (less than $0.01 per share) in 2020, $7 million ($0.03
per share) in 2019 and $7 million ($0.03 per share) in 2018.

The effective tax rate in the year ended December 31, 2020 was impacted by changes in reserves, provision to return adjustments, changes in valuation
allowances and the tax impact of certain intragroup reorganizations meant to streamline and simplify the Company’s operating and legal structure, which resulted
in the recognition of losses for tax purposes. The effective tax rate was also impacted by the beneficial impact from the gain on the formation of the Motional
autonomous driving joint venture. The tax expense associated with the gain was insignificant as Aptiv’s aggregate autonomous driving assets were exempt from
capital gains tax in the jurisdiction from which they were sold. The aggregate autonomous driving assets had been acquired, purchased or developed in taxable
transactions in prior periods and reflect changes made to the corporate entity operating structure for intellectual property following the Separation of its former
Powertrain Systems segment.

The effective tax rate in the year ended December 31, 2019 was impacted by releases of valuation allowances as a result of the Company’s determination
that it was more likely than not that certain deferred tax assets would be realized, as well as favorable provision to return adjustments. The Company also accrued
$20 million of reserve adjustments for uncertain tax positions, which included reserves for ongoing audits in foreign jurisdictions, as well as for changes in
estimates based on relevant new or additional evidence obtained related to certain of the Company’s tax positions, including tax authority administrative
pronouncements and court decisions.

The effective tax rate in the year ended December 31, 2018 was impacted by additional income tax expense for an adjustment to the provisional effects of the
enactment of The Tax Cuts and Jobs Act (the “Tax Legislation”) and the income tax expense recorded as a result of the intra-entity transfer of intellectual property,
as described below, partially offset by favorable geographic income mix in 2018 as compared to 2017, primarily due to changes in the underlying operations of the
business. The Company also accrued $36 million of reserve adjustments for uncertain tax positions, which included reserves for ongoing audits in foreign
jurisdictions, as well as for changes in estimates based on relevant new or additional evidence obtained related to certain of the Company’s tax positions, including
tax authority administrative pronouncements and court decisions.

The Tax Legislation was enacted in the U.S. on December 22, 2017, significantly revising the U.S. corporate income tax by, among other things, lowering
corporate income tax rates and imposing a one-time repatriation tax on deemed repatriated earnings of foreign subsidiaries. Pursuant to ASU 2018-05, Income
Taxes (Topic 740): Amendments to SEC Paragraphs Pursuant to SEC Staff Accounting Bulletin No. 118 (“ASU 2018-05”), the Company recognized the
provisional effects of the enactment of the Tax Legislation during the year ended December 31, 2017 for which measurement could be reasonably estimated.
Pursuant to ASU 2018-05, adjustments to the provisional amounts recorded by the Company as of December 31, 2017 identified within a subsequent measurement
period of up to one year from the enactment date were included, as discussed above, as an adjustment to tax expense in the period the amounts were determined.
During 2018, the U.S. Treasury Department and the Internal Revenue Service (“IRS”) issued additional guidance, particularly with respect to computing the
transition tax on the untaxed foreign earnings of foreign subsidiaries. As a result, during the year ended December 31, 2018, the Company recorded approximately
$30 million to income tax expense as an adjustment to the provisional amounts recorded as of December 31, 2017, primarily related to a reduction of our foreign
tax credit as a result of recently issued regulatory guidance. Also as a result of the enactment of the Tax Legislation, the Company reclassified $9 million from
accumulated OCI to retained earnings, in accordance with ASU 2018-02, which the Company adopted in the first quarter of 2019. The accounting for the Tax
Legislation was finalized in the fourth quarter of 2018, and resulted in no further adjustments beyond the amounts described above.

The Tax Legislation also created a provision known as Global Intangible Low-Taxed Income (“GILTI”) that imposes a tax on certain earnings of foreign
subsidiaries. U.S. GAAP allows companies to make an accounting policy election to either recognize deferred taxes for temporary basis differences expected to
reverse as GILTI in future years or to provide for the tax expense related to GILTI in the year the tax is incurred. We have elected to account for GILTI in the year
the tax is incurred.

As described above, certain of the Company’s Chinese subsidiaries benefit from a reduced corporate income tax rate as a result of their HNTE status. Aptiv
regularly submits applications to reapply for HNTE status as they expire. The Company believes each of the applicable entities will continue to renew HNTE status
going forward and has reflected this in calculating total income tax expense.
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Intellectual Property Transfer

During the year ended December 31, 2018, the Company finalized changes to its corporate entity operating structure, including transferring certain
intellectual property among certain of its subsidiaries, primarily to align corporate entities with the Company’s evolving operations and business model following
the Separation of its former Powertrain Systems segment. The transfer of assets occurred between wholly-owned legal entities in different U.S. and non-U.S. tax
jurisdictions. As the impact of the transfer was the result of an intra-entity transaction, the resulting gain on the transfer was eliminated for purposes of the
consolidated financial statements. However, the transferring entity recognized a gain on the transfer of assets that was subject to income tax in its local
jurisdiction. In accordance with ASU 2016-16, Accounting for Income Taxes: Intra-Entity Asset Transfers of Assets Other than Inventory, the income tax expense
recorded as a result of the intra-entity transfer of the intellectual property was approximately $30 million, net during the year ended December 31, 2018.

Deferred Income Taxes

The Company accounts for income taxes and the related accounts under the liability method. Deferred income tax assets and liabilities reflect the impact of
temporary differences between amounts of assets and liabilities for financial reporting purposes and the bases of such assets and liabilities as measured by tax laws.
Significant components of the deferred tax assets and liabilities are as follows:

 December 31,
 2020 2019
 (in millions)
Deferred tax assets:
Pension $ 106 $ 95 
Employee benefits 29 43 
Net operating loss carryforwards 746 993 
Warranty and other liabilities 69 72 
Operating lease right-of-use assets 77 84 
Other 171 149 
Total gross deferred tax assets 1,198 1,436 
Less: valuation allowances (832) (1,075)

Total deferred tax assets (1) $ 366 $ 361 
Deferred tax liabilities:
Fixed assets $ 57 $ 48 
Tax on unremitted profits of certain foreign subsidiaries 64 56 
Intangibles 201 238 
Operating lease liabilities 77 84 

Total gross deferred tax liabilities 399 426 
Net deferred tax liabilities $ (33) $ (65)

(1) Reflects gross amount before jurisdictional netting of deferred tax assets and liabilities.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are classified as long-term in the consolidated balance sheets. Net deferred tax assets and liabilities are included in the
consolidated balance sheets as follows:

 December 31,
 2020 2019
 (in millions)
Long-term assets $ 174 $ 164 
Long-term liabilities (207) (229)

Total deferred tax liability $ (33) $ (65)

The net deferred tax liability of $33 million as of December 31, 2020 are primarily comprised of deferred tax liabilities in South Korea, Japan, China and
Singapore offset by deferred tax asset amounts primarily in Mexico, Germany and the U.K.
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Net Operating Loss and Tax Credit Carryforwards

As of December 31, 2020, the Company has gross deferred tax assets of approximately $742 million for non-U.S. net operating loss (“NOL”) carryforwards
with recorded valuation allowances of $693 million. These NOL’s are available to offset future taxable income and realization is dependent on generating sufficient
taxable income prior to expiration of the loss carryforwards. The NOL’s primarily relate to Luxembourg, Germany, Poland, the U.K. and France. The NOL
carryforwards have expiration dates ranging from one year to an indefinite period.

Deferred tax assets include $93 million and $75 million of tax credit carryforwards with recorded valuation allowances of $86 million and $71 million at
December 31, 2020 and 2019, respectively. These tax credit carryforwards expire at various times from 2021 through 2040.

Cumulative Undistributed Foreign Earnings

No income taxes have been provided on indefinitely reinvested earnings of certain foreign subsidiaries at December 31, 2020.

Withholding taxes of $64 million have been accrued on undistributed earnings that are not indefinitely reinvested and are primarily related to China,
Honduras, Morocco and Turkey. There are no other material liabilities for income taxes on the undistributed earnings of foreign subsidiaries, as the Company has
concluded that such earnings are either indefinitely reinvested or should not give rise to additional income tax liabilities as a result of the distribution of such
earnings.

Uncertain Tax Positions

The Company recognizes tax benefits only for tax positions that are more likely than not to be sustained upon examination by tax authorities. The amount
recognized is measured as the largest amount of benefit that is greater than 50 percent likely of being realized upon ultimate settlement. Unrecognized tax benefits
are tax benefits claimed in the Company’s tax returns that do not meet these recognition and measurement standards.

A reconciliation of the gross change in the unrecognized tax benefits balance, excluding interest and penalties is as follows:

Year Ended December 31,
2020 2019 2018

 (in millions)
Balance at beginning of year $ 217 $ 209 $ 224 

Additions related to current year 35 20 33 
Additions related to prior years 31 51 65 
Reductions related to prior years (20) (46) (19)
Reductions due to expirations of statute of limitations (28) (11) (78)
Settlements (4) (6) (16)

Balance at end of year $ 231 $ 217 $ 209 

A portion of the Company’s unrecognized tax benefits would, if recognized, reduce its effective tax rate. The remaining unrecognized tax benefits relate to
tax positions that, if recognized, would result in an offsetting change in valuation allowance and for which only the timing of the benefit is uncertain. Recognition
of these tax benefits would reduce the Company’s effective tax rate only through a reduction of accrued interest and penalties. As of December 31, 2020 and 2019,
the amounts of unrecognized tax benefit that would reduce the Company’s effective tax rate were $213 million and $200 million, respectively. For the year ended
December 31, 2019, the Company recorded approximately $26 million of additional reserves for uncertain tax positions, primarily related to prior year net
operating loss and other carryforwards on which full valuation allowances have been recorded. For 2020 and 2019, respectively, $103 million and $52 million of
reserves for uncertain tax positions would be offset by the write-off of a related deferred tax asset, if recognized.

The Company recognizes interest and penalties relating to unrecognized tax benefits as part of income tax expense. Total accrued liabilities for interest and
penalties were $25 million and $14 million at December 31, 2020 and 2019, respectively. Total interest and penalties recognized as part of income tax expense was
a $13 million expense, a $7 million expense and a $7 million benefit for the years ended December 31, 2020, 2019 and 2018, respectively.

The Company files tax returns in multiple jurisdictions and is subject to examination by taxing authorities throughout the world. Taxing jurisdictions
significant to Aptiv include Barbados, China, Germany, Ireland, Luxembourg, Mexico, South Korea, the U.K. and the U.S. Open tax years related to these taxing
jurisdictions remain subject to examination and could result
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in additional tax liabilities. In general, the Company’s affiliates are no longer subject to income tax examinations by foreign tax authorities for years before 2002. It
is reasonably possible that audit settlements, the conclusion of current examinations or the expiration of the statute of limitations in several jurisdictions could
impact the Company’s unrecognized tax benefits. A reversal of approximately $5 million is reasonably possible in the next 12 months, due to the running of
statutes of limitations in various taxing jurisdictions.

15. SHAREHOLDERS’ EQUITY AND NET INCOME PER SHARE

Public Equity Offering

In June 2020, the Company completed the underwritten public offering of approximately 15.1 million ordinary shares at a price of $75.91 per share (the
“Ordinary Share Offering”), resulting in net proceeds of approximately $1,115 million, after deducting expenses and the underwriters’ discount of $35 million.
Simultaneously, the Company completed the underwritten public offering of 11.5 million 5.50% Mandatory Convertible Preferred Shares, Series A, $0.01 par
value per share (the “MCPS”) with a liquidation preference of $100 per share (the “MCPS Offering”), resulting in net proceeds of approximately $1,115 million,
after deducting expenses and the underwriters’ discount of $35 million. The Company intends to use the net proceeds from the Ordinary Share Offering and MCPS
Offering for general corporate purposes, which may include funding potential future investments (including acquisitions), capital expenditures, working capital,
repayment of outstanding indebtedness and the satisfaction of other obligations.

Each share of MCPS will mandatorily convert on the mandatory conversion date of June 15, 2023, into between 1.0754 and 1.3173 shares of the Company’s
ordinary shares, subject to customary anti-dilution adjustments, and further adjustment if there are any accumulated and unpaid MCPS dividends at the conversion
date. The number of the Company’s ordinary shares issuable upon conversion will be determined based on the volume-weighted average price per share of the
Company’s ordinary shares over the 20 consecutive trading day period beginning on, and including the 21st scheduled trading day immediately before June 15,
2023. Subject to certain exceptions, at any time prior to June 15, 2023, holders of the MCPS may elect to convert each share into 1.0754 ordinary shares, subject to
further anti-dilution adjustments. In the event of a fundamental change, the MCPS will convert at the fundamental change rates specified in the statement of rights,
and the holders of the MCPS would be entitled to a fundamental change make-whole dividend.

Holders of the MCPS will be entitled to receive, when and if declared by the Company’s Board of Directors, cumulative dividends at the annual rate of
5.50% of the liquidation preference of $100 per share (equivalent to $5.50 annually per share), payable in cash or, subject to certain limitations, by delivery of the
Company’s ordinary shares or any combination of cash and the Company’s ordinary shares, at the Company’s election. If declared, dividends on the MCPS will be
payable quarterly on March 15, June 15, September 15 and December 15 of each year (commencing on September 15, 2020 to, and including June 15, 2023), to the
holders of record of the MCPS as they appear on the Company’s share register at the close of business on the immediately preceding March 1, June 1, September 1
or December 1, respectively.

Net Income Per Share

Basic net income per share is computed by dividing net income attributable to ordinary shareholders by the weighted average number of ordinary shares
outstanding during the period. Diluted net income per share reflects the weighted average dilutive impact of all potentially dilutive securities from the date of
issuance and is computed using the treasury stock and if-converted methods. The if-converted method is used to determine if the impact of the conversion of the
MCPS into ordinary shares is more dilutive than the MCPS dividends to net income per share. If so, the MCPS are assumed to have been converted at the later of
the beginning of the period or the time of issuance, and the resulting ordinary shares are included in the denominator and the MCPS dividends are added back to the
numerator. Unless otherwise noted, share and per share amounts included in these notes are on a diluted basis. For the year ended December 31, 2020, the
calculation of net income per share includes the dilutive impacts of the MCPS under the if-converted method. For all periods presented, the calculation of net
income per share also contemplates the dilutive impacts, if any, of the Company’s share-based compensation plans. Refer to Note 21. Share-Based Compensation
for additional information.
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Weighted Average Shares

The following table illustrates net income per share attributable to ordinary shareholders and the weighted average shares outstanding used in calculating
basic and diluted income per share:

Year Ended December 31,
2020 2019 2018

 (in millions, except per share data)
Numerator, basic:

Net income attributable to ordinary shareholders $ 1,769 $ 990 $ 1,067 
Numerator, diluted:

Net income attributable to Aptiv $ 1,804 $ 990 $ 1,067 
Denominator:

Weighted average ordinary shares outstanding, basic 263.43 256.81 264.41 
Dilutive shares related to RSUs 0.44 0.58 0.81 
Weighted average MCPS converted shares (1) 6.83 — — 
Weighted average ordinary shares outstanding, including dilutive shares 270.70 257.39 265.22 

Net income per share attributable to ordinary shareholders:
Basic $ 6.72 $ 3.85 $ 4.04 
Diluted $ 6.66 $ 3.85 $ 4.02 

(1) The Company has excluded the impact of the MCPS dividends for the year ended December 31, 2020, as the assumed conversion of the MCPS into ordinary shares on a weighted average
basis was more dilutive than the impact of the MCPS dividends.

Share Repurchase Programs

In April 2016, the Board of Directors authorized a share repurchase program of up to $1.5 billion of ordinary shares, which commenced in September 2016.
This share repurchase program provides for share purchases in the open market or in privately negotiated transactions, depending on share price, market conditions
and other factors, as determined by the Company.

A summary of the ordinary shares repurchased during the years ended December 31, 2020, 2019 and 2018 is as follows:

Year Ended December 31,
2020 2019 2018

Total number of shares repurchased 1,059,075 5,387,533 6,530,369 
Average price paid per share $ 53.73 $ 77.93 $ 76.44 

Total (in millions) $ 57 $ 420 $ 499 

As of December 31, 2020, approximately $13 million of share repurchases remained available under the April 2016 share repurchase program, which is in
addition to the previously announced additional share repurchase program of up to $2.0 billion. This program, which will commence following the completion of
the April 2016 share repurchase program, provides for share purchases in the open market or in privately negotiated transactions, depending on share price, market
conditions and other factors, as determined by the Company. All repurchased shares were retired, and are reflected as a reduction of ordinary share capital for the
par value of the shares, with the excess applied as reductions to additional paid-in-capital and retained earnings.

Although both the April 2016 and this new share repurchase program remain authorized, the Company is restricted from executing further share repurchases
under the terms of the May 2020 Amendment to the Credit Agreement for as long as the Covenant Relief Period remains in effect, as further described in Note 11.
Debt. Furthermore, in order to preserve liquidity during the COVID-19 pandemic crisis, the Company does not anticipate executing further share repurchases until
such time as the global economic uncertainties and business impacts resulting from the pandemic have abated.
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Dividends

The Company has declared and paid cash dividends per ordinary and preferred share during the periods presented as follows:

Ordinary Shares Preferred Shares
Dividend Amount Dividend Amount

 Per Share (in millions) Per Share (in millions)
2020:
Fourth quarter $ — $ — $ 1.38 $ 16 
Third quarter — — 1.42 16 
Second quarter — — — — 
First quarter 0.22 56 — — 

Total $ 0.22 $ 56 $ 2.80 $ 32 
2019:
Fourth quarter $ 0.22 $ 56 $ — $ — 
Third quarter 0.22 56 — — 
Second quarter 0.22 57 — — 
First quarter 0.22 57 — — 

Total $ 0.88 $ 226 $ — $ — 

Under the terms of the May 2020 Amendment to the Credit Agreement, the Company is restricted from the payment of further ordinary share cash dividends
for as a long as the Covenant Relief Period remains in effect, as further described in Note 11. Debt. Additionally, the Company does not anticipate making further
ordinary share cash dividend payments, until such time as the global economic uncertainties and business impacts resulting from the COVID-19 pandemic have
abated.
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16. CHANGES IN ACCUMULATED OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME (LOSS)

The changes in accumulated other comprehensive income (loss) attributable to Aptiv (net of tax) are shown below.

Year Ended December 31,
2020 2019 2018

(in millions)
Foreign currency translation adjustments:

Balance at beginning of year $ (597) $ (555) $ (369)
Aggregate adjustment for the year (1) 152 (42) (186)
Balance at end of year (445) (597) (555)

Gains (losses) on derivatives:
Balance at beginning of year $ 13 $ (35) $ 4 

Other comprehensive income (loss) before reclassifications (net tax effect of $0 million, $0
million and $3 million) 6 50 (36)
Reclassification to income (net tax effect of $0 million, $0 million and $3 million) 21 6 (3)

Adoption of ASU 2018-02 — (8) — 
Balance at end of year 40 13 (35)

Pension and postretirement plans:
Balance at beginning of year $ (135) $ (104) $ (106)

Other comprehensive loss before reclassifications (net tax effect of $7 million, $17 million and
$3 million) (18) (37) (11)
Reclassification to income (net tax effect of $3 million, $3 million and $2 million) 13 7 13 

Adoption of ASU 2018-02 — (1) — 
Balance at end of year (140) (135) (104)

Accumulated other comprehensive loss, end of year $ (545) $ (719) $ (694)

(1) Includes $132 million of losses, $29 million of gains and $67 million of gains for the years ended December 31, 2020, 2019 and 2018, respectively, related to non-derivative net
investment hedges. Refer to Note 17. Derivatives and Hedging Activities for further description of these hedges.
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Reclassifications from accumulated other comprehensive income (loss) to income were as follows:

Reclassification Out of Accumulated Other Comprehensive Income (Loss)

Details About Accumulated Other Comprehensive
Income Components

Year Ended December 31,
Affected Line Item in the Statement of Operations2020 2019 2018

(in millions)
Gains (losses) on derivatives:
Commodity derivatives $ (7) $ (15) $ 14 Cost of sales
Foreign currency derivatives (14) 9 (14) Cost of sales

(21) (6) — Income before income taxes
— — 3 Income tax expense

(21) (6) 3 Net income
— — — Net income attributable to noncontrolling interest

$ (21) $ (6) $ 3 Net income attributable to Aptiv

Pension and postretirement plans:
Actuarial loss $ (16) $ (10) $ (14) Other income, net (1)
Settlement loss — — (2) Other income, net (1)
Curtailment gain — — 1 Other income, net (1)

(16) (10) (15) Income before income taxes
3 3 2 Income tax expense

(13) (7) (13) Net income
— — — Net income attributable to noncontrolling interest

$ (13) $ (7) $ (13) Net income attributable to Aptiv

Total reclassifications for the year $ (34) $ (13) $ (10)

(1) These accumulated other comprehensive loss components are included in the computation of net periodic pension cost (see Note 12. Pension Benefits for additional details).

17. DERIVATIVES AND HEDGING ACTIVITIES

Cash Flow Hedges

Aptiv is exposed to market risk, such as fluctuations in foreign currency exchange rates, commodity prices and changes in interest rates, which may result in
cash flow risks. To manage the volatility relating to these exposures, Aptiv aggregates the exposures on a consolidated basis to take advantage of natural offsets.
For exposures that are not offset within its operations, Aptiv enters into various derivative transactions pursuant to its risk management policies, which prohibit
holding or issuing derivative financial instruments for speculative purposes, and designation of derivative instruments is performed on a transaction basis to support
hedge accounting. The changes in fair value of these hedging instruments are offset in part or in whole by corresponding changes in the fair value or cash flows of
the underlying exposures being hedged. Aptiv assesses the initial and ongoing effectiveness of its hedging relationships in accordance with its documented policy.

As of December 31, 2020, the Company had the following outstanding notional amounts related to commodity and foreign currency forward and option
contracts designated as cash flow hedges that were entered into to hedge forecasted exposures:

Commodity Quantity Hedged Unit of Measure

Notional Amount
(Approximate USD

Equivalent)
 (in thousands) (in millions)
Copper 62,292 pounds $ 220 
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Foreign Currency Quantity Hedged Unit of Measure

Notional Amount
(Approximate USD

Equivalent)
 (in millions)
Mexican Peso 16,019 MXN $ 805 
Chinese Yuan Renminbi 2,319 RMB 355 
Euro 155 EUR 190 
Polish Zloty 530 PLN 140 

As of December 31, 2020, Aptiv has entered into derivative instruments to hedge cash flows extending out to December 2022.

Gains and losses on derivatives qualifying as cash flow hedges are recorded in accumulated OCI, to the extent that hedges are effective, until the underlying
transactions are recognized in earnings. Unrealized amounts in accumulated OCI will fluctuate based on changes in the fair value of hedge derivative contracts at
each reporting period. Net gains on cash flow hedges included in accumulated OCI as of December 31, 2020 were $62 million (approximately $62 million, net of
tax). Of this total, approximately $42 million of gains are expected to be included in cost of sales within the next 12 months and approximately $20 million of gains
are expected to be included in cost of sales in subsequent periods. Cash flow hedges are discontinued when Aptiv determines it is no longer probable that the
originally forecasted transactions will occur. Cash flows from derivatives used to manage commodity and foreign exchange risks designated as cash flow hedges
are classified as operating activities within the consolidated statements of cash flows.

Net Investment Hedges

The Company is also exposed to the risk that adverse changes in foreign currency exchange rates could impact its net investment in non-U.S. subsidiaries. To
manage this risk, the Company designates certain qualifying derivative and non-derivative instruments, including foreign currency forward contracts and foreign
currency-denominated debt, as net investment hedges of certain non-U.S. subsidiaries. The gains or losses on instruments designated as net investment hedges are
recognized within OCI to offset changes in the value of the net investment in these foreign currency-denominated operations. Gains and losses reported in
accumulated OCI are reclassified to earnings only when the related currency translation adjustments are required to be reclassified, usually upon sale or liquidation
of the investment. Cash flows from derivatives designated as net investment hedges are classified as investing activities within the consolidated statements of cash
flows.

Since 2016, the Company has entered into a series of forward contracts, each of which have been designated as net investment hedges of the foreign currency
exposure of the Company’s investments in certain Chinese Yuan Renminbi (“RMB”)-denominated subsidiaries. During the years ended December 31, 2020, 2019
and 2018, the Company made net payments of $1 million, zero and $6 million, respectively, at settlement related to these series of forward contracts which
matured throughout each respective year. In December 2020, the Company entered into a forward contract with a notional amount of 1.3 billion RMB
(approximately $205 million, using December 31, 2020 foreign currency rates), which matures in March 2021. Refer to the tables below for details of the fair value
recorded in the consolidated balance sheets and the effects recorded in the consolidated statements of operations and consolidated statements of comprehensive
income related to these derivative instruments.

The Company has designated the €700 million 2015 Euro-denominated Senior Notes and the €500 million 2016 Euro-denominated Senior Notes, as more
fully described in Note 11. Debt, as net investment hedges of the foreign currency exposure of its investments in certain Euro-denominated subsidiaries. Due to
changes in the value of the Euro-denominated debt instruments designated as net investment hedges, during the years ended December 31, 2020 and 2019, $132
million of losses and $29 million of gains, respectively, were recognized within the cumulative translation adjustment component of OCI. Included in accumulated
OCI related to these net investment hedges were cumulative losses of $153 million as of December 31, 2020 and $21 million as of December 31, 2019.

Derivatives Not Designated as Hedges

In certain occasions the Company enters into certain foreign currency and commodity contracts that are not designated as hedges. When hedge accounting is
not applied to derivative contracts, gains and losses are recorded to other income (expense), net and cost of sales in the consolidated statements of operations.

In conjunction with the acquisition of KUM, as more fully disclosed in Note 20. Acquisitions and Divestitures, in March 2018, the Company entered into
forward contracts, requiring no initial net investment, with notional amounts totaling 559 billion South Korean Won (“KRW”) (approximately $520 million using
March 1, 2018 foreign currency rates) to hedge portions of the currency risk associated with the cash payment for the acquisition. Pursuant to the requirements of
ASC 815, Derivatives and Hedging, the forwards did not qualify as hedges for accounting purposes, and therefore, changes in the

107



Table of Contents

fair value of the forwards were recognized in other income (expense), net. During the year ended December 31, 2018, the change in fair value resulted in a pre-tax
gain of $4 million, included within other income, net in the consolidated statements of operations. In conjunction with the closing of the acquisition, Aptiv settled
the forward contracts in the second quarter of 2018 and received $4 million, which is reflected within investing activities in the consolidated statements of cash
flows.

Fair Value of Derivative Instruments in the Balance Sheet

The fair value of derivative financial instruments recorded in the consolidated balance sheets as of December 31, 2020 and 2019 are as follows:

 Asset Derivatives Liability Derivatives

Net Amounts of
Assets and
(Liabilities)

Presented in the
Balance Sheet

 Balance Sheet Location
December 31, 

2020 Balance Sheet Location
December 31, 

2020
December 31, 

2020
 (in millions)
Derivatives designated as cash flow hedges:
Commodity derivatives Other current assets $ 26 Accrued liabilities $ — 
Foreign currency derivatives* Other current assets 24 Other current assets 5 $ 19 
Foreign currency derivatives* Accrued liabilities 7 Accrued liabilities 13 (6)
Commodity derivatives Other long-term assets 9 Other long-term liabilities — 
Foreign currency derivatives* Other long-term assets 17 Other long-term assets 4 13 
Foreign currency derivatives* Other long-term liabilities — Other long-term liabilities 1 (1)

Derivatives designated as net investment hedges:
Foreign currency derivatives Other current assets — Accrued liabilities 2 

Total derivatives designated as hedges $ 83 $ 25 

Derivatives not designated:
Foreign currency derivatives* Other current assets $ 3 Other current assets $ — 3 

Total derivatives not designated as hedges $ 3 $ — 

 Asset Derivatives Liability Derivatives

Net Amounts of
Assets and
(Liabilities)

Presented in the
Balance Sheet

 Balance Sheet Location
December 31,

2019 Balance Sheet Location
December 31,

2019 December 31, 2019
 (in millions)
Derivatives designated as cash flow hedges:
Commodity derivatives Other current assets $ 1 Accrued liabilities $ 3 
Foreign currency derivatives* Other current assets 35 Other current assets 6 $ 29 
Commodity derivatives Other long-term assets 2 Other long-term liabilities — 
Foreign currency derivatives* Other long-term assets 8 Other long-term assets 2 6 

Total derivatives designated as hedges $ 46 $ 11 

Derivatives not designated:
Foreign currency derivatives* Accrued liabilities $ — Accrued liabilities $ 1 (1)

Total derivatives not designated as hedges $ — $ 1 

* Derivative instruments within this category are subject to master netting arrangements and are presented on a net basis in the consolidated balance sheets in accordance with accounting
guidance related to the offsetting of amounts related to certain contracts.
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The fair value of Aptiv’s derivative financial instruments was in a net asset position as of December 31, 2020 and 2019.

Effect of Derivatives on the Statements of Operations and Statements of Comprehensive Income

The pre-tax effect of derivative financial instruments in the consolidated statements of operations and consolidated statements of comprehensive income for
the years ended December 31, 2020, 2019 and 2018 are as follows:

Year Ended December 31, 2020 Gain (Loss) Recognized in OCI
Loss Reclassified from OCI

into Income
 (in millions)
Derivatives designated as cash flow hedges:
Commodity derivatives $ 31 $ (7)
Foreign currency derivatives (23) (14)
Derivatives designated as net investment hedges:
Foreign currency derivatives (2) — 

Total $ 6 $ (21)

 
Gain Recognized 

in Income
(in millions)

Derivatives not designated:
Foreign currency derivatives $ — 

Total $ — 

Year Ended December 31, 2019
Gain (Loss) 

Recognized in OCI
(Loss) Gain Reclassified from

OCI into Income
 (in millions)
Derivatives designated as cash flow hedges:
Commodity derivatives $ 7 $ (15)
Foreign currency derivatives 44 9 
Derivatives designated as net investment hedges:
Foreign currency derivatives (1) — 

Total $ 50 $ (6)

 
Gain Recognized 

in Income
(in millions)

Derivatives not designated:
Foreign currency derivatives $ 1 

Total $ 1 

Year Ended December 31, 2018
(Loss) Gain Recognized in

OCI
Gain (Loss) Reclassified from

OCI into Income
 (in millions)
Derivatives designated as cash flow hedges:
Commodity derivatives $ (45) $ 14 
Foreign currency derivatives 14 (14)
Derivatives designated as net investment hedges:
Foreign currency derivatives (2) — 

Total $ (33) $ — 
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Gain Recognized 

in Income
(in millions)

Derivatives not designated:
Foreign currency derivatives $ 2 

Total $ 2 

The gain or loss recognized in income for designated and non-designated derivative instruments was recorded to cost of sales and other income (expense),
net in the consolidated statements of operations for the years ended December 31, 2020, 2019 and 2018.

18. FAIR VALUE OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

Fair value is defined as the exchange price that would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability (an exit price) in the principal or most
advantageous market for the asset or liability in an orderly transaction between market participants on the measurement date. Fair value measurements are based on
one or more of the following three valuation techniques:

Market—This approach uses prices and other relevant information generated by market transactions involving identical or comparable assets or liabilities.

Income—This approach uses valuation techniques to convert future amounts to a single present value amount based on current market expectations.

Cost—This approach is based on the amount that would be required to replace the service capacity of an asset (replacement cost).

Aptiv uses the following fair value hierarchy prescribed by U.S. GAAP, which prioritizes the inputs used to measure fair value as follows:

Level 1—Unadjusted quoted prices in active markets for identical assets or liabilities.

Level 2—Observable inputs other than Level 1 prices, such as quoted prices for similar assets or liabilities; quoted prices in markets that are not active; or
other inputs that are observable or can be corroborated by observable market data for substantially the full term of the assets or liabilities.

Level 3—Unobservable inputs that are supported by little or no market activity and that are significant to the fair value of the assets or liabilities.

Typically, assets and liabilities are considered to be fair valued on a recurring basis if fair value is measured regularly. However, if the fair value
measurement of an instrument does not necessarily result in a change in the amount recorded on the consolidated balance sheets, assets and liabilities are
considered to be fair valued on a nonrecurring basis. This generally occurs when accounting guidance requires assets and liabilities to be recorded at the lower of
cost or fair value, or assessed for impairment.

Fair Value Measurements on a Recurring Basis

Derivative instruments—All derivative instruments are required to be reported on the balance sheet at fair value unless the transactions qualify and are
designated as normal purchases or sales. Changes in fair value are reported currently through earnings unless they meet hedge accounting criteria. Aptiv’s
derivative exposures are with counterparties with long-term investment grade credit ratings. Aptiv estimates the fair value of its derivative contracts using an
income approach based on valuation techniques to convert future amounts to a single, discounted amount. Estimates of the fair value of foreign currency and
commodity derivative instruments are determined using exchange traded prices and rates. Aptiv also considers the risk of non-performance in the estimation of fair
value, and includes an adjustment for non-performance risk in the measure of fair value of derivative instruments. The non-performance risk adjustment reflects the
credit default spread (“CDS”) applied to the net commodity by counterparty and foreign currency exposures by counterparty. When Aptiv is in a net derivative
asset position, the counterparty CDS rates are applied to the net derivative asset position. When Aptiv is in a net derivative liability position, estimates of peer
companies’ CDS rates are applied to the net derivative liability position.

In certain instances where market data is not available, Aptiv uses management judgment to develop assumptions that are used to determine fair value. This
could include situations of market illiquidity for a particular currency or commodity or where observable market data may be limited. In those situations, Aptiv
generally surveys investment banks and/or brokers and utilizes the surveyed prices and rates in estimating fair value.
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As of December 31, 2020 and 2019, Aptiv was in a net derivative asset position of $61 million and $34 million, respectively, and no significant adjustments
were recorded for nonperformance risk based on the application of peer companies’ CDS rates, evaluation of our own nonperformance risk and because Aptiv’s
exposures were to counterparties with investment grade credit ratings. Refer to Note 17. Derivatives and Hedging Activities for further information regarding
derivatives.

Contingent consideration—The liability for contingent consideration is estimated as of the date of the acquisition and is recorded as part of the purchase
price, and is subsequently re-measured to fair value at each reporting date, based on a probability-weighted analysis using a rate that reflects the uncertainty
surrounding the expected outcomes, which the Company believes is appropriate and representative of market participant assumptions. The measurement of the
liability for contingent consideration is based on significant inputs that are not observable in the market, and is therefore classified as a Level 3 measurement in
accordance with ASC Topic 820-10-35. Examples of utilized unobservable inputs are estimated future earnings or milestone achievements of the acquired
businesses and applicable discount rates. The estimate of the liability may fluctuate if there are changes in the actual or forecasted inputs utilized or in the discount
rates used to determine the present value of contingent future cash flows. The Company regularly reviews these assumptions, and makes adjustments to the fair
value measurements as required by facts and circumstances. As of December 31, 2020, the Company has determined that all earn-out provisions have been
achieved under existing agreements.

As of December 31, 2020 and 2019, the liability for contingent consideration was $52 million (classified within current liabilities) and $51 million (of which
$16 million was classified within other current liabilities and $35 million was classified within other long-term liabilities), respectively, representing the maximum
required amounts to be paid under existing agreements. Adjustments to this liability for interest accretion are recognized in interest expense, and any other changes
in the fair value of this liability are recognized within other income (expense), net in the consolidated statements of operations.

The changes in the contingent consideration liability classified as a Level 3 measurement for the years ended December 31, 2020 and 2019 were as follows:

Year Ended December 31,
2020 2019

 (in millions)
Fair value at beginning of year $ 51 $ 49 

Interest accretion 1 2 
Fair value at end of year $ 52 $ 51 

In accordance with existing agreements, the Company was required to deposit $32 million related to the contingent consideration liability into an escrow
account (of which $16 million was deposited in the second quarter of 2019 and $16 million was deposited in the first quarter of 2020). Accordingly, $32 million
and $16 million were classified as restricted cash in the consolidated balance sheets as of December 31, 2020 and 2019, respectively. The remaining portion of the
contingent consideration liability is required to be deposited into the escrow account in the first quarter of 2021 and all amounts are anticipated to be released from
the escrow account in the fourth quarter of 2021.

As of December 31, 2020 and 2019, Aptiv had the following assets measured at fair value on a recurring basis:

Total

Quoted Prices in Active
Markets 
Level 1

Significant Other Observable
Inputs 
Level 2

Significant Unobservable
Inputs 
Level 3

 (in millions)
As of December 31, 2020
Commodity derivatives $ 35 $ — $ 35 $ — 
Foreign currency derivatives 35 — 35 — 

Total $ 70 $ — $ 70 $ — 
As of December 31, 2019
Commodity derivatives $ 3 $ — $ 3 $ — 
Foreign currency derivatives 35 — 35 — 

Total $ 38 $ — $ 38 $ — 
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As of December 31, 2020 and 2019, Aptiv had the following liabilities measured at fair value on a recurring basis:

Total

Quoted Prices in Active
Markets 
Level 1

Significant Other Observable
Inputs 
Level 2

Significant Unobservable
Inputs 
Level 3

 (in millions)
As of December 31, 2020
Foreign currency derivatives $ 9 $ — $ 9 $ — 
Contingent consideration 52 — — 52 

Total $ 61 $ — $ 9 $ 52 
As of December 31, 2019
Commodity derivatives $ 3 $ — $ 3 $ — 
Foreign currency derivatives 1 — 1 — 
Contingent consideration 51 — — 51 

Total $ 55 $ — $ 4 $ 51 

Non-derivative financial instruments—Aptiv’s non-derivative financial instruments include cash and cash equivalents, accounts and notes receivable,
accounts payable, as well as debt, which consists of its accounts receivable factoring arrangement, finance leases and other debt issued by Aptiv’s non-U.S.
subsidiaries, the Revolving Credit Facility, the Tranche A Term Loan and all series of outstanding senior notes. The fair value of debt is based on quoted market
prices for instruments with public market data or significant other observable inputs for instruments without a quoted public market price (Level 2). As of
December 31, 2020 and 2019, total debt was recorded at $4,101 million and $4,364 million, respectively, and had estimated fair values of $4,490 million and
$4,593 million, respectively. For all other financial instruments recorded as of December 31, 2020 and 2019, fair value approximates book value.

Fair Value Measurements on a Nonrecurring Basis

In addition to items that are measured at fair value on a recurring basis, Aptiv also has items in its balance sheet that are measured at fair value on a
nonrecurring basis. As these items are not measured at fair value on a recurring basis, they are not included in the tables above. Nonfinancial assets and liabilities
that are measured at fair value on a nonrecurring basis include certain long-lived assets, assets held for sale, equity investments, intangible assets, asset retirement
obligations, share-based compensation and liabilities for exit or disposal activities measured at fair value upon initial recognition. During the years ended
December 31, 2020, 2019 and 2018, Aptiv recorded non-cash asset impairment charges totaling $10 million, $3 million and $4 million, respectively, within cost of
sales related to declines in the fair values of certain fixed assets. During the years ended December 31, 2019 and 2018, Aptiv recorded non-cash asset impairment
charges totaling $8 million and $30 million respectively, within amortization related to declines in the fair values of certain intangible assets. Fair value of long-
lived and intangible assets is determined primarily using the anticipated cash flows discounted at a rate commensurate with the risk involved and a review of
appraisals or other market indicators and management estimates. As such, Aptiv has determined that the fair value measurements of long-lived and intangible
assets fall in Level 3 of the fair value hierarchy.
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19. OTHER INCOME, NET

Other income (expense), net included:

 Year Ended December 31,
2020 2019 2018

 (in millions)
Interest income $ 8 $ 13 $ 21 
Loss on extinguishment of debt — (6) — 
Loss on modification of debt (4) — — 
Components of net periodic benefit cost other than service cost (20) (27) (18)
Costs associated with acquisitions — (5) (14)
Change in fair value of equity investments (Note 5) 10 19 — 
Contingent consideration liability fair value adjustment — — (23)
Other, net 6 20 36 

Other income, net $ — $ 14 $ 2 

As further discussed in Note 5. Investments in Affiliates, during the year ended December 31, 2020, Aptiv recorded a pre-tax unrealized gain of $10 million
related to increases in fair value of its equity investments without readily determinable fair values. Also, as further discussed in Note 11. Debt, during the year
ended December 31, 2020, Aptiv recorded a loss on debt modification of $4 million, in conjunction with the May 2020 Amendment to the Credit Agreement.

As further discussed in Note 5. Investments in Affiliates, during the year ended December 31, 2019, Aptiv recorded a pre-tax unrealized gain of $19 million
related to increases in fair value of its equity investments without readily determinable fair values. Also, as further discussed in Note 11. Debt, during the year
ended December 31, 2019, Aptiv redeemed for cash the entire $650 million aggregate principal amount outstanding of the 3.15% Senior Notes, resulting in a loss
on debt extinguishment of approximately $6 million. Aptiv also incurred approximately $5 million in transaction costs related to the acquisition of gabocom.

During the year ended December 31, 2018, Aptiv incurred approximately $18 million in transaction costs related to the acquisitions of KUM and Winchester
and, as further discussed in Note 17. Derivatives and Hedging Activities, recorded a gain of $4 million on forward contracts entered into in order to hedge portions
of the currency risk associated with the cash payment for the acquisition of KUM, which are reflected within costs associated with acquisitions in the above table.
Additionally, during the year ended December 31, 2018, Aptiv recorded $11 million for certain fees earned pursuant to the transition services agreement in
connection with the Separation of the Company’s former Powertrain Systems segment.

20. ACQUISITIONS AND DIVESTITURES

Acquisition of Dynawave Inc.

On August 4, 2020, Aptiv acquired 100% of the equity interests of Dynawave Inc. (“Dynawave”), a specialized manufacturer of custom-engineered
interconnect solutions for a wide range of industries, for total consideration of $22 million. The results of the operations of Dynawave are reported within the
Signal and Power Solutions segment from the date of the acquisition. The Company acquired Dynawave utilizing cash on hand.

The acquisition was accounted for as a business combination, with the total purchase price allocated on a preliminary basis using information available, in the
third quarter of 2020. The preliminary purchase price and related allocation to the acquired net assets of Dynawave based on their estimated fair values is shown
below (in millions):
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Assets acquired and liabilities assumed

Purchase price, cash consideration, net of cash acquired $ 22 

Intangible assets $ 7 
Other assets, net 5 

Identifiable net assets acquired 12 
Goodwill resulting from purchase 10 

Total purchase price allocation $ 22 

Intangible assets primarily include amounts recognized for the fair value of customer-based assets, which will be amortized over their estimated useful lives
of approximately 9 years. The estimated fair value of these assets was based on third-party valuations and management’s estimates, generally utilizing income and
market approaches. Goodwill recognized in this transaction is primarily attributable to synergies expected to arise after the acquisition and the assembled
workforce of Dynawave, and is not deductible for tax purposes.

The purchase price and related allocation are preliminary and could be revised as a result of adjustments made to the purchase price, additional information
obtained regarding liabilities assumed, including, but not limited to, contingent liabilities, revisions of provisional estimates of fair values, including, but not
limited to, the completion of independent appraisals and valuations related to property, plant and equipment and intangible assets, and certain tax attributes.

The pro forma effects of this acquisition would not materially impact the Company’s reported results for any period presented, and as a result no pro forma
financial statements were presented.

Acquisition of gabo Systemtechnik GmbH

On November 19, 2019, Aptiv acquired 100% of the equity interests of gabo Systemtechnik GmbH (“gabocom”), a leading provider of highly-engineered
cable management and protection solutions for the telecommunications industry, for total consideration of $311 million, net of cash acquired. The results of
operations of gabocom are reported within the Signal and Power Solutions segment from the date of acquisition. The Company acquired gabocom utilizing cash on
hand.

The acquisition was accounted for as a business combination, with the total purchase price allocated on a preliminary basis using information available, in
the fourth quarter of 2019. The purchase price and related allocation were finalized in the fourth quarter of 2020, and resulted in minor adjustments from the
amounts previously disclosed. These adjustments were not significant for any period presented after the acquisition date. The final purchase price and related
allocation to the acquired net assets of gabocom based on their estimated fair values is shown below (in millions):

Assets acquired and liabilities assumed

Purchase price, cash consideration, net of cash acquired $ 311 

Property, plant and equipment $ 25 
Intangible assets 75 
Other liabilities, net (10)

Identifiable net assets acquired 90 
Goodwill resulting from purchase 221 

Total purchase price allocation $ 311 

Intangible assets include $66 million recognized for the fair value of customer-based assets with estimated useful lives of approximately 9 years and $9
million recognized for the fair value of the acquired trade name, which has an estimated useful life of approximately 15 years. The estimated fair value of these
assets was based on third-party valuations and management’s estimates, generally utilizing income and market approaches. Goodwill recognized in this transaction
is primarily attributable to synergies expected to arise after the acquisition and the assembled workforce of gabocom, and is not deductible for tax purposes.

The pro forma effects of this acquisition would not materially impact the Company’s reported results for any period presented, and as a result no pro forma
financial statements were presented.
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Acquisition of Falmat Inc.

On May 14, 2019, Aptiv acquired 100% of the equity interests of Falmat Inc. (“Falmat”), a leading manufacturer of high performance custom cable and
cable assemblies for industrial applications, for total consideration of $25 million, net of cash acquired. The results of operations of Falmat are reported within the
Signal and Power Solutions segment from the date of acquisition. The Company acquired Falmat utilizing cash on hand.

The acquisition was accounted for as a business combination, with the total purchase price allocated on a preliminary basis using information available, in
the second quarter of 2019. The purchase price and related allocation were finalized in the second quarter of 2020, and resulted in minor adjustments from the
amounts previously disclosed. These adjustments were not significant for any period presented after the acquisition date. The final purchase price and related
allocation to the acquired net assets of Falmat based on their estimated fair values is shown below (in millions):

Assets acquired and liabilities assumed

Purchase price, cash consideration, net of cash acquired $ 25 

Intangible assets $ 12 
Other assets, net 5 

Identifiable net assets acquired 17 
Goodwill resulting from purchase 8 

Total purchase price allocation $ 25 

Intangible assets primarily include amounts recognized for the fair value of customer-based assets, which will be amortized over their estimated useful lives
of approximately 9 years. The estimated fair value of these assets was based on third-party valuations and management’s estimates, generally utilizing income and
market approaches. Goodwill recognized in this transaction is primarily attributable to synergies expected to arise after the acquisition and the assembled
workforce of Falmat, and is not deductible for tax purposes.

The pro forma effects of this acquisition would not materially impact the Company’s reported results for any period presented, and as a result no pro forma
financial statements were presented.

Acquisition of Winchester Interconnect

On October 24, 2018, Aptiv acquired 100% of the equity interests of Winchester Interconnect (“Winchester”), a leading provider of custom engineered
interconnect solutions for harsh environment applications, for total consideration of $680 million, net of cash acquired. The results of operations of Winchester are
reported within the Signal and Power Solutions segment from the date of acquisition. The Company acquired Winchester utilizing cash on hand and short-term
borrowings.

The acquisition was accounted for as a business combination, with the total purchase price allocated on a preliminary basis using information available, in
the fourth quarter of 2018. The purchase price and related allocation were finalized in the fourth quarter of 2019, and resulted in minor adjustments from the
amounts previously disclosed. These adjustments were not significant for any period presented after the acquisition date. The final purchase price and related
allocation to the acquired net assets of Winchester based on their estimated fair values is shown below (in millions):

Assets acquired and liabilities assumed

Purchase price, cash consideration, net of cash acquired $ 680 

Property, plant and equipment $ 31 
Intangible assets 226 
Other assets, net 21 

Identifiable net assets acquired 278 
Goodwill resulting from purchase 402 

Total purchase price allocation $ 680 

Intangible assets include $180 million recognized for the fair value of customer-based assets with estimated useful lives of approximately 9 years, $9 million
of technology-related assets with estimated useful lives of approximately 5 years and $37 million recognized for the fair value of the acquired trade name, which
has an indefinite useful life. The estimated fair value of these assets was based on third-party valuations and management’s estimates, generally utilizing income
and market

115



Table of Contents

approaches. Goodwill recognized in this transaction is primarily attributable to synergies expected to arise after the acquisition and the assembled workforce of
Winchester, and is not deductible for tax purposes.

The pro forma effects of this acquisition would not materially impact the Company’s reported results for any period presented, and as a result no pro forma
financial statements were presented.

Acquisition of KUM

On June 14, 2018, Aptiv acquired 100% of the equity interests of KUM, a specialized manufacturer of connectors for the automotive industry, for total
consideration of $526 million, net of cash acquired. The results of operations of KUM are reported within the Signal and Power Solutions segment from the date of
acquisition. The Company acquired KUM utilizing cash on hand.

The acquisition was accounted for as a business combination, with the total purchase price allocated on a preliminary basis using information available, in
the second quarter of 2018. The purchase price and related allocation were finalized in the second quarter of 2019, and resulted in minor adjustments from the
amounts previously disclosed. These adjustments were not significant for any period presented after the acquisition date. The final purchase price and related
allocation to the acquired net assets of KUM based on their estimated fair values is shown below (in millions):

Assets acquired and liabilities assumed

Purchase price, cash consideration, net of cash acquired $ 515 
Debt and pension liabilities assumed 11 

Total consideration, net of cash acquired $ 526 

Property, plant and equipment $ 121 
Intangible assets 110 
Other assets, net 34 

Identifiable net assets acquired 265 
Goodwill resulting from purchase 261 

Total purchase price allocation $ 526 

Intangible assets primarily include amounts recognized for the fair value of customer-based assets, which will be amortized over their estimated useful lives
of approximately 9 years. The estimated fair value of these assets was based on third-party valuations and management’s estimates, generally utilizing income and
market approaches. Goodwill recognized in this transaction is primarily attributable to synergies expected to arise after the acquisition and the assembled
workforce of KUM, and is not deductible for tax purposes.

The pro forma effects of this acquisition would not materially impact the Company’s reported results for any period presented, and as a result no pro forma
financial statements were presented.

21. SHARE-BASED COMPENSATION

Long Term Incentive Plan

The PLC LTIP allows for the grant of awards of up to 25,665,448 ordinary shares for long-term compensation. The PLC LTIP is designed to align the
interests of management and shareholders. The awards can be in the form of shares, options, stock appreciation rights, restricted stock, RSUs, performance awards,
and other share-based awards to the employees, directors, consultants and advisors of the Company. The Company has awarded annual long-term grants of RSUs
under the PLC LTIP in order to align management compensation with Aptiv’s overall business strategy. In addition, the Company has competitive and market-
appropriate ownership requirements for its directors and officers. All of the RSUs granted under the PLC LTIP are eligible to receive dividend equivalents for any
dividend paid from the grant date through the vesting date. Dividend equivalents are generally paid out in ordinary shares upon vesting of the underlying RSUs.
Historical amounts disclosed within this note include amounts attributable to the Company’s discontinued operations, unless otherwise noted, and for activity prior
to December 4, 2017 represent awards based on shares of Delphi Automotive PLC.

Board of Director Awards

On April 27, 2017, Aptiv granted 26,782 RSUs to the Board of Directors at a grant date fair value of approximately $2 million. The grant date fair value was
determined based on the closing price of the Company’s ordinary shares on April 27, 2017. The RSUs vested on April 25, 2018, and 24,642 ordinary shares, which
included shares issued in connection with
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dividend equivalents, were issued to members of the Board of Directors at a fair value of approximately $2 million. 2,649 ordinary shares were withheld to cover
withholding taxes.

On April 26, 2018, Aptiv granted 22,676 RSUs to the Board of Directors at a grant date fair value of approximately $2 million. The grant date fair value was
determined based on the closing price of the Company’s ordinary shares on April 26, 2018. The RSUs vested on April 24, 2019, and 23,999 ordinary shares, which
included shares issued in connection with dividend equivalents, were issued to members of the Board of Directors at a fair value of approximately $2 million. 3,228
ordinary shares were withheld to cover withholding taxes.

On April 25, 2019, Aptiv granted 20,765 RSUs to the Board of Directors at a grant date fair value of approximately $2 million. The grant date fair value was
determined based on the closing price of the Company’s ordinary shares on April 25, 2019. The RSUs vested on April 22, 2020, and 23,816 ordinary shares, which
included shares issued in connection with dividend equivalents, were issued to members of the Board of Directors at a fair value of approximately $1 million. 2,041
ordinary shares were withheld to cover withholding taxes.

On April 23, 2020, Aptiv granted 48,745 RSUs to the Board of Directors at a grant date fair value of approximately $3 million. The grant date fair value was
determined based on the closing price of the Company’s ordinary shares on April 23, 2020. The RSUs will vest on April 29, 2021, the day before the 2021 Annual
General Meeting of Shareholders.

Executive Awards

Aptiv has made annual grants of RSUs to its executives in February of each year. These awards include a time-based vesting portion and a performance-
based vesting portion, as well as continuity awards in certain years. The time-based RSUs, which make up 25% of the awards for Aptiv’s officers and 50% for
Aptiv’s other executives, vest ratably over three years beginning on the first anniversary of the grant date. The performance-based RSUs, which make up 75% of
the awards for Aptiv’s officers and 50% for Aptiv’s other executives, vest at the completion of a three-year performance period if certain targets are met. Each
executive will receive between 0% and 200% of his or her target performance-based award based on the Company’s performance against established company-
wide performance metrics, which are:

Metric 2020 Grant 2016 - 2019 Grants
Average return on net assets (1) 33% 50%
Cumulative net income 33% 25%
Relative total shareholder return (2) 33% 25%

(1) Average return on net assets is measured by tax-affected operating income divided by average net working capital plus average net property, plant and equipment for each calendar year
during the respective performance period.

(2) Relative total shareholder return is measured by comparing the average closing price per share of the Company’s ordinary shares for the specified trading days in the fourth quarter of the
end of the performance period to the average closing price per share of the Company’s ordinary shares for the specified trading days in the fourth quarter of the year preceding the grant,
including dividends, and assessed against a comparable measure of competitor and peer group companies.

The details of the executive grants were as follows:

Grant Date RSUs Granted
Grant Date
Fair Value Time-Based Award Vesting Dates

Performance-Based Award
Vesting Date

(in millions)
February 2016 0.71 $ 48 Annually on anniversary of grant date, 2017 - 2019 December 31, 2018
February 2017 0.80 63 Annually on anniversary of grant date, 2018 - 2020 December 31, 2019
February 2018 0.63 61 Annually on anniversary of grant date, 2019 - 2021 December 31, 2020
February 2019 0.71 62 Annually on anniversary of grant date, 2020 - 2022 December 31, 2021
February 2020 0.75 62 Annually on anniversary of grant date, 2021 - 2023 December 31, 2022

The grant date fair value of the RSUs is determined based on the target number of awards issued, the closing price of the Company’s ordinary shares on the
date of the grant of the award, including an estimate for forfeitures, and a contemporaneous valuation performed by an independent valuation specialist with
respect to the relative total shareholder return awards.

Any new executives hired after the annual executive RSU grant date may be eligible to participate in the PLC LTIP. The Company has also granted
additional awards to employees in certain periods under the PLC LTIP. Any off cycle grants made for new hires or to other employees are valued at their grant date
fair value based on the closing price of the Company’s ordinary shares on the date of such grant.
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In February 2018, under the time-based vesting terms of the outstanding awards, 285,344 ordinary shares were issued to Aptiv employees at a fair value of
approximately $26 million, of which 102,045 ordinary shares were withheld to cover withholding taxes. The performance-based RSUs associated with the 2015
grant vested at the completion of a three-year performance period on December 31, 2017, and in the first quarter of 2018, 640,239 ordinary shares were issued to
employees at a fair value of approximately $59 million, of which 240,483 ordinary shares were withheld to cover withholding taxes.

In February 2019, under the time-based vesting terms of the outstanding awards, 529,812 ordinary shares were issued to Aptiv employees at a fair value of
approximately $44 million, of which 203,839 ordinary shares were withheld to cover withholding taxes. The performance-based RSUs associated with the 2016
grant, and applicable continuity awards, vested at the completion of a three-year performance period on December 31, 2018, and in the first quarter of 2019,
493,674 ordinary shares were issued to employees at a fair value of approximately $41 million, of which 199,547 ordinary shares were withheld to cover
withholding taxes.

In February 2020, under the time-based vesting terms of the outstanding awards, 468,240 ordinary shares were issued to Aptiv employees at a fair value of
approximately $37 million, of which 181,495 ordinary shares were withheld to cover withholding taxes. The performance-based RSUs associated with the 2017
grant vested at the completion of a three-year performance period on December 31, 2019, and in the first quarter of 2020, 580,390 ordinary shares were issued to
employees at a fair value of approximately $45 million, of which 243,080 ordinary shares were withheld to cover withholding taxes.

As a result of the impacts of the COVID-19 pandemic on the Company’s industry and operations, during the fourth quarter of 2020 the financial performance
targets associated with February 2018, 2019 and 2020 executive performance grants were modified, which impacted approximately 300 award recipients and
resulted in the recognition of approximately $22 million of incremental compensation expense during the year ended December 31, 2020.

A summary of RSU activity, including award grants, vesting and forfeitures is provided below:

RSUs
Weighted Average Grant

Date Fair Value
 (in thousands)
Nonvested, January 1, 2018 1,807 $ 68.66 

Granted 1,242 87.08 
Vested (968) 65.83 
Forfeited (202) 77.64 

Nonvested, December 31, 2018 1,879 81.24 
Granted 1,363 83.93 
Vested (1,131) 70.78 
Forfeited (289) 83.97 

Nonvested, December 31, 2019 1,822 89.32 
Granted 934 99.14 
Vested (773) 98.90 
Forfeited (197) 82.93 

Nonvested, December 31, 2020 1,786 102.95 

As of December 31, 2020, there were approximately 282,000 Aptiv performance-based RSUs, with a weighted average grant date fair value of $130.76, that
were vested but not yet distributed.

Aptiv recognized compensation expense of $60 million ($60 million, net of tax), $66 million ($65 million, net of tax) and $58 million ($57 million net of
tax) based on the Company’s best estimate of ultimate performance against the respective targets during the years ended December 31, 2020, 2019 and 2018,
respectively. Aptiv will continue to recognize compensation expense, based on the grant date and modification date fair value of the awards applied to the
Company’s best estimate of ultimate performance against the respective targets, over the requisite vesting periods of the awards. Based on the grant date fair value
of the awards and the Company’s best estimate of ultimate performance against the respective targets as of December 31, 2020, unrecognized compensation
expense on a pre-tax basis of approximately $130 million is anticipated to be recognized over a weighted average period of approximately 2 years. For the years
ended December 31, 2020, 2019 and 2018, respectively, approximately $33 million, $34 million and $35 million of cash was paid and reflected as a financing
activity in the statements of cash flows related to the tax withholding for vested RSUs.
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22. SEGMENT REPORTING

Aptiv operates its core business along the following operating segments, which are grouped on the basis of similar product, market and operating factors:

• Signal and Power Solutions, which includes complete electrical architecture and component products.
• Advanced Safety and User Experience, which includes component and systems integration expertise in advanced safety, user experience and

connectivity and security solutions, as well as advanced software development and autonomous driving technologies.
• Eliminations and Other, which includes i) the elimination of inter-segment transactions, and ii) certain other expenses and income of a non-operating or

strategic nature.

The accounting policies of the segments are the same as those described in Note 2. Significant Accounting Policies, except that the disaggregated financial
results for the segments have been prepared using a management approach, which is consistent with the basis and manner in which management internally
disaggregates financial information for which Aptiv’s chief operating decision maker regularly reviews financial results to assess performance of, and make
internal operating decisions about allocating resources to, the segments.

Generally, Aptiv evaluates segment performance based on stand-alone segment net income before interest expense, other income (expense), net, income tax
expense, equity income (loss), net of tax, restructuring, other acquisition and portfolio project costs (which includes costs incurred to integrate acquired businesses
and to plan and execute product portfolio transformation actions, including business and product acquisitions and divestitures), asset impairments, gains (losses) on
business divestitures and other transactions and deferred compensation related to acquisitions (“Adjusted Operating Income”) and accounts for inter-segment sales
and transfers as if the sales or transfers were to third parties, at current market prices. Aptiv’s management utilizes Adjusted Operating Income as the key
performance measure of segment income or loss to evaluate segment performance, and for planning and forecasting purposes to allocate resources to the segments,
as management believes this measure is most reflective of the operational profitability or loss of Aptiv’s operating segments. Segment Adjusted Operating Income
should not be considered a substitute for results prepared in accordance with U.S. GAAP and should not be considered an alternative to net income attributable to
Aptiv, which is the most directly comparable financial measure to Adjusted Operating Income that is prepared in accordance with U.S. GAAP. Segment Adjusted
Operating Income, as determined and measured by Aptiv, should also not be compared to similarly titled measures reported by other companies.

Included below are sales and operating data for Aptiv’s segments for the years ended December 31, 2020, 2019 and 2018, as well as balance sheet data as of
December 31, 2020 and 2019.

Signal and Power
Solutions

Advanced Safety
and User Experience

Eliminations
and Other (1) Total

 (in millions)
For the Year Ended December 31, 2020:

Net sales $ 9,522 $ 3,573 $ (29) $ 13,066 
Depreciation and amortization $ 588 $ 176 $ — $ 764 
Adjusted operating income $ 762 $ 105 $ — $ 867 
Operating income (2) $ 656 $ 1,462 $ — $ 2,118 
Equity income (loss), net of tax $ 15 $ (98) $ — $ (83)
Net income attributable to noncontrolling interest $ 18 $ — $ — $ 18 
Capital expenditures $ 355 $ 173 $ 56 $ 584 
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Signal and Power
Solutions

Advanced Safety
and User Experience

Eliminations
and Other (1) Total

 (in millions)
For the Year Ended December 31, 2019:

Net sales $ 10,302 $ 4,092 $ (37) $ 14,357 
Depreciation and amortization $ 538 $ 179 $ — $ 717 
Adjusted operating income $ 1,274 $ 274 $ — $ 1,548 
Operating income (3) $ 1,124 $ 152 $ — $ 1,276 
Equity income, net of tax $ 15 $ — $ — $ 15 
Net income attributable to noncontrolling interest $ 19 $ — $ — $ 19 
Capital expenditures $ 495 $ 250 $ 36 $ 781 

Signal and Power
Solutions

Advanced Safety
and User Experience

Eliminations
and Other (1) Total

 (in millions)
For the Year Ended December 31, 2018:

Net sales $ 10,402 $ 4,078 $ (45) $ 14,435 
Depreciation and amortization $ 490 $ 186 $ — $ 676 
Adjusted operating income $ 1,424 $ 327 $ — $ 1,751 
Operating income (4) $ 1,279 $ 194 $ — $ 1,473 
Equity income, net of tax $ 23 $ — $ — $ 23 
Net income attributable to noncontrolling interest $ 40 $ — $ — $ 40 
Capital expenditures $ 534 $ 245 $ 67 $ 846 

(1) Eliminations and Other includes the elimination of inter-segment transactions. Capital expenditures amounts are attributable to corporate administrative and support functions, including
corporate headquarters and certain technical centers.

(2) Includes a pre-tax gain in 2020 of $1.4 billion within Advanced Safety and User Experience for the completion of the Motional autonomous driving joint venture. Refer to Note 24. Held
for Sale for additional information. Also, includes charges recorded in 2020 related to costs associated with employee termination benefits and other exit costs of $90 million for Signal
and Power Solutions and $46 million for Advanced Safety and User Experience.

(3) Includes charges recorded in 2019 related to costs associated with employee termination benefits and other exit costs of $104 million for Signal and Power Solutions and $44 million for
Advanced Safety and User Experience.

(4) Includes charges recorded in 2018 related to costs associated with employee termination benefits and other exit costs of $90 million for Signal and Power Solutions and $19 million for
Advanced Safety and User Experience.

 
Signal and Power

Solutions
Advanced Safety and

User Experience
Eliminations and

Other (1) Total
 (in millions)
Balance as of December 31, 2020:  
Investment in affiliates (2) $ 109 $ 1,902 $ — $ 2,011 
Goodwill $ 2,553 $ 27 $ — $ 2,580 
Total segment assets (2) $ 13,159 $ 7,066 $ (2,703) $ 17,522 
Balance as of December 31, 2019:
Investment in affiliates $ 106 $ — $ — $ 106 
Goodwill $ 2,381 $ 26 $ — $ 2,407 
Total segment assets $ 12,726 $ 4,988 $ (4,255) $ 13,459 

(1) Eliminations and Other includes the elimination of inter-segment transactions.
(2) Includes $2 billion within Advanced Safety and User Experience for the preliminary fair value of the investment in the Motional autonomous driving joint venture reduced by an equity

loss, net of tax, of $98 million for Aptiv’s share of the losses recognized by the joint venture subsequent to its formation in March 2020 for the year ended December 31, 2020. Refer to
Note 24. Held for Sale for additional information.
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The reconciliation of Adjusted Operating Income to operating income includes, as applicable, restructuring, other acquisition and portfolio project costs
(which includes costs incurred to integrate acquired businesses and to plan and execute product portfolio transformation actions, including business and product
acquisitions and divestitures), asset impairments, gains (losses) on business divestitures and other transactions and deferred compensation related to acquisitions.
The reconciliations of Adjusted Operating Income to net income attributable to Aptiv for the years ended December 31, 2020, 2019 and 2018 are as follows:

Signal and Power
Solutions

Advanced Safety
and User

Experience
Eliminations 

and Other Total
 (in millions)
For the Year Ended December 31, 2020:

Adjusted operating income $ 762 $ 105 $ — $ 867 
Restructuring (90) (46) — (136)
Other acquisition and portfolio project costs (12) (11) — (23)
Asset impairments (4) (6) — (10)
Deferred compensation related to acquisitions — (14) — (14)
Gain on business divestitures and other transactions — 1,434 — 1,434 

Operating income $ 656 $ 1,462 $ — 2,118 
Interest expense (164)
Other income, net — 
Income before income taxes and equity loss 1,954 
Income tax expense (49)
Equity loss, net of tax (83)
Net income 1,822 
Net income attributable to noncontrolling interest 18 
Net income attributable to Aptiv $ 1,804 

Signal and Power
Solutions

Advanced Safety and
User Experience

Eliminations and
Other Total

 (in millions)
For the Year Ended December 31, 2019:

Adjusted operating income $ 1,274 $ 274 $ — $ 1,548 
Restructuring (104) (44) — (148)
Other acquisition and portfolio project costs (44) (27) — (71)
Asset impairments (2) (9) — (11)
Deferred compensation related to acquisitions — (42) — (42)

Operating income $ 1,124 $ 152 $ — 1,276 
Interest expense (164)
Other income, net 14 
Income before income taxes and equity income 1,126 
Income tax expense (132)
Equity income, net of tax 15 
Net income 1,009 
Net income attributable to noncontrolling interest 19 
Net income attributable to Aptiv $ 990 
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Signal and Power
Solutions

Advanced Safety and
User Experience

Eliminations and
Other Total

 (in millions)
For the Year Ended December 31, 2018:

Adjusted operating income $ 1,424 $ 327 $ — $ 1,751 
Restructuring (90) (19) — (109)
Other acquisition and portfolio project costs (54) (24) — (78)
Asset impairments (1) (33) — (34)
Deferred compensation related to acquisitions — (57) — (57)

Operating income $ 1,279 $ 194 $ — 1,473 
Interest expense (141)
Other income, net 2 
Income before income taxes and equity income 1,334 
Income tax expense (250)
Equity income, net of tax 23 
Net income 1,107 
Net income attributable to noncontrolling interest 40 
Net income attributable to Aptiv $ 1,067 

Information concerning principal geographic areas is set forth below. Net sales reflects the manufacturing location and is for the years ended December 31,
2020, 2019 and 2018. Long-lived assets is as of December 31, 2020, 2019 and 2018.

 Year Ended December 31, 2020 Year Ended December 31, 2019 Year Ended December 31, 2018

 Net Sales
Long-Lived
Assets (1) Net Sales

Long-Lived
Assets (1) Net Sales

Long-Lived
Assets (1)

(in millions)
United States (2) $ 4,382 $ 985 $ 5,308 $ 1,029 $ 5,390 $ 942 
Other North America 112 253 136 264 170 206 
Europe, Middle East & Africa (3) 4,483 1,440 4,791 1,398 4,689 1,112 
Asia Pacific (4) 3,898 953 3,876 970 3,916 869 
South America 191 50 246 61 270 50 

Total $ 13,066 $ 3,681 $ 14,357 $ 3,722 $ 14,435 $ 3,179 

(1) Includes property, plant and equipment, net of accumulated depreciation and operating lease right-of-use assets of $380 million and $413 million as of December 31, 2020 and 2019,
respectively.

(2) Includes net sales and machinery, equipment and tooling that relate to the Company’s maquiladora operations located in Mexico. These assets are utilized to produce products sold to
customers located in the U.S.

(3) Includes Aptiv’s country of domicile, Jersey, and the country of Aptiv’s principal executive offices, Ireland. The Company had no sales in Jersey or Ireland in any period. The Company
had long-lived assets in Ireland of $94 million, $79 million and $22 million as of December 31, 2020, 2019 and 2018, respectively. The largest portion of net sales in the Europe, Middle
East & Africa region was $1,248 million, $1,340 million and $1,398 million in Germany for the years ended December 31, 2020, 2019 and 2018, respectively.

(4) Net sales and long-lived assets in Asia Pacific are primarily attributable to China.
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23. QUARTERLY DATA (UNAUDITED)

The following is a condensed summary of the Company’s unaudited quarterly results of operations for fiscal 2020 and 2019.

 Three Months Ended
 March 31, June 30, September 30, December 31, Total
 (in millions, except per share amounts)
2020
Net sales $ 3,226 $ 1,960 $ 3,668 $ 4,212 $ 13,066 
Cost of sales 2,725 1,947 3,021 3,433 11,126 

Gross margin (1) $ 501 $ 13 $ 647 $ 779 $ 1,940 

Operating income (loss) (2) $ 1,619 $ (311) $ 364 $ 446 $ 2,118 
Net income (loss) (2) (3) 1,567 (365) 305 315 1,822 
Net income (loss) attributable to Aptiv 1,572 (366) 299 299 1,804 
Net income (loss) attributable to ordinary shareholders 1,572 (369) 283 283 1,769 
Basic net income (loss) per share:

Basic net income (loss) per share attributable to ordinary shareholders (4) $ 6.15 $ (1.43) $ 1.05 $ 1.05 $ 6.72 

Weighted average number of basic shares outstanding (5) 255.51 258.03 270.03 270.03 263.43 
Diluted net income (loss) per share:

Diluted net income (loss) per share attributable to ordinary shareholders
(4) $ 6.14 $ (1.43) $ 1.05 $ 1.04 $ 6.66 

Weighted average number of diluted shares outstanding (5) 255.83 258.21 270.38 270.91 270.70 

2019
Net sales $ 3,575 $ 3,627 $ 3,559 $ 3,596 $ 14,357 
Cost of sales 2,962 2,958 2,882 2,909 11,711 

Gross margin $ 613 $ 669 $ 677 $ 687 $ 2,646 

Operating income (6) $ 297 $ 335 $ 320 $ 324 $ 1,276 
Net income (7) 245 271 252 241 1,009 
Net income attributable to Aptiv 240 274 246 230 990 
Net income attributable to ordinary shareholders 240 274 246 230 990 
Basic net income per share:

Basic net income (loss) per share attributable to ordinary shareholders (4) $ 0.93 $ 1.07 $ 0.96 $ 0.90 $ 3.85 

Weighted average number of basic shares outstanding 259.08 257.02 255.89 255.31 256.81 
Diluted net income per share:

Diluted net income (loss) per share attributable to ordinary shareholders
(4) $ 0.92 $ 1.07 $ 0.96 $ 0.90 $ 3.85 

Weighted average number of diluted shares outstanding 259.55 257.26 256.44 256.36 257.39 

(1) In the second quarter of 2020, gross margin was adversely impacted compared to other quarters presented primarily due to the adverse impacts of the COVID-19 pandemic.
(2) In the first quarter of 2020, Aptiv recorded a pre-tax gain of $1.4 billion within Advanced Safety and User Experience for the completion of the Motional autonomous driving joint

venture, as further described in Note 24. Held For Sale. In the fourth quarter of 2020, Aptiv recorded incremental compensation expense of $22 million as a result of adjustments made to
the financial performance targets associated with the Company’s 2018, 2019 and 2020 executive performance grants due to the impacts of the COVID-19 pandemic, as further described
in Note 21. Share-Based Compensation.

(3) In the third quarter of 2020, Aptiv recorded discrete tax benefits of $38 million, primarily due to the tax impact of certain intragroup reorganizations meant to streamline and simplify
Aptiv’s operating and legal structure, which resulted in the recognition of losses for tax purposes.

(4) Due to the use of the weighted average shares outstanding for each quarter for computing earnings per share, the sum of the quarterly per share amounts may not equal the per share
amount for the year.

(5) In the second quarter of 2020, Aptiv issued 15.1 million ordinary shares and 11.5 million shares of MCPS, as further described in Note 15. Shareholders’ Equity and Net Income Per
Share.

(6) In the third quarter of 2019, Aptiv recorded restructuring charges totaling $61 million, which includes employee-related and other costs.
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(7) In the first quarter of 2019, Aptiv recorded a pre-tax unrealized gain of $19 million related to increases in fair value of its equity investments without readily determinable fair values, as
further described in Note 19. Other Income, Net

24. HELD FOR SALE

Autonomous Driving Joint Venture

On March 26, 2020, Aptiv completed the transaction with Hyundai Motor Group (“Hyundai”) to form a joint venture focused on the design, development and
commercialization of autonomous driving technologies. The joint venture operates globally under the Motional brand name. Under the terms of the agreement,
Aptiv contributed to the joint venture autonomous driving technology, intellectual property and approximately 700 employees for a 50% ownership interest in the
entity. Hyundai contributed to the joint venture approximately $1.6 billion in cash, along with vehicle engineering services, research and development resources
and access to intellectual property for a 50% ownership interest in the entity. As a result, subsequent to the closing of the transaction, the joint venture is expected
to fund all of its future operating expenses and investments in autonomous driving technologies for the foreseeable future. Consequently, Aptiv is no longer
required to fund these investments and expenses, which approximated $180 million for the year ended December 31, 2019 prior to the joint venture formation.
Upon closing of the transaction, Aptiv deconsolidated the carrying value of the associated assets and liabilities contributed to the joint venture, previously classified
as held for sale, and recognized an asset of approximately $2 billion within investments in affiliates in the consolidated balance sheet, based on the preliminary fair
value of its investment in the newly formed joint venture. The Company recognized a pre-tax gain of approximately $1.4 billion in the consolidated statement of
operations (approximately $5.32 per diluted share for the year ended December 31, 2020), net of transaction costs of $22 million, based on the difference between
the carrying value of its contribution to the joint venture and the preliminary fair value of its investment in the entity. The estimated fair value of Aptiv’s ownership
interest in the joint venture was determined primarily based on third-party valuations and management estimates, generally utilizing income and market
approaches. Determining the fair value of the joint venture and the underlying assets requires the use of management’s judgment and involves significant estimates
and assumptions with respect to the timing and amount of future cash flows, market rate assumptions, projected growth rates and margins, and appropriate discount
rates, among other items. The estimated fair value is preliminary and could be revised as a result of additional information obtained or adjustments made due to the
completion of independent appraisals and valuations. The effects of this transaction would not materially impact the Company’s reported results for any period
presented, and the transaction did not meet the criteria to be reflected as a discontinued operation.

In connection with the closing of the transaction, Aptiv and the entity entered into various agreements to facilitate an orderly transition and to provide a
framework for their relationship going forward, which included a transition services agreement. The transition services primarily involve Aptiv providing certain
administrative services to the joint venture for a period of up to 24 months after the closing date. These agreements are not material to Aptiv. The Company’s
investment in the joint venture is accounted for using the equity method of accounting and Aptiv recognized an equity loss of $98 million, net of tax, during the
year ended December 31, 2020. Refer to Note 5. Investments in Affiliates for further information on Aptiv’s equity method investments.

The Company determined that the assets and liabilities associated with Aptiv’s contribution to the joint venture, which were reported within the Advanced
Safety and User Experience segment, met the held for sale criteria as of December 31, 2019. Accordingly, the held for sale assets and liabilities were reclassified in
the consolidated balance sheet as of December 31, 2019 to current assets held for sale and current liabilities held for sale, respectively, as the contribution of such
assets and liabilities to the joint venture was expected to occur within one year. Upon designation as held for sale, the Company ceased recording depreciation of
the held for sale assets.
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The following table summarizes the carrying value of the major classes of assets and liabilities held for sale:

December 31, 
2019

(in millions)
Cash and cash equivalents $ 1 
Accounts receivable, net 1 
Property, net 64 
Operating lease right-of-use assets 12 
Intangible assets, net 126 
Goodwill 318 
Other assets 10 

Total assets held for sale $ 532 

Accounts payable $ 9 
Accrued liabilities 19 
Long-term operating lease liabilities 10 
Other liabilities 5 

Total liabilities held for sale $ 43 

The pre-tax losses of Aptiv’s autonomous driving operations being contributed to the joint venture, included within Aptiv’s consolidated operating results,
were $41 million, $172 million and $155 million for the years ended December 31, 2020, 2019 and 2018, respectively.

25. REVENUE

Revenue is recognized to depict the transfer of promised goods or services to customers in an amount that reflects the consideration to which we expect to be
entitled in exchange for those goods or services. Accordingly, revenue is measured based on consideration specified in a contract with a customer. Customer
contracts generally are represented by a combination of a current purchase order and a current production schedule issued by the customer. The Company
recognizes revenue when it satisfies a performance obligation by transferring control over a product or service to a customer. From time to time, Aptiv enters into
pricing agreements with its customers that provide for price reductions, some of which are conditional upon achieving certain joint cost savings targets. In these
instances, revenue is recognized based on the agreed-upon price at the time of shipment.

Sales incentives and allowances are recognized as a reduction to revenue at the time of the related sale. Taxes assessed by a governmental authority that are
both imposed on and concurrent with a specific revenue-producing transaction that are collected by Aptiv from a customer are excluded from revenue. Shipping
and handling fees billed to customers are included in net sales, while costs of shipping and handling are included in cost of sales.

Nature of Goods and Services

The principal activity from which the Company generates its revenue is the manufacturing of production parts for OEM customers. Aptiv recognizes revenue
for production parts at a point in time, rather than over time, as the performance obligation is satisfied when customers obtain control of the product upon title
transfer and not as the product is manufactured or developed.

Although production parts are highly customized with no alternative use, Aptiv does not have an enforceable right to payment as customers have the right to
cancel a product program without a notification period. The amount of revenue recognized is based on the purchase order price and adjusted for revenue allocated
to variable consideration (i.e. estimated rebates and price discounts), as applicable. Customers typically pay for production parts based on customary business
practices with payment terms averaging 60 days.
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Disaggregation of Revenue

Revenue generated from Aptiv’s operating segments is disaggregated by primary geographic market in the following tables for the years ended
December 31, 2020, 2019 and 2018. Information concerning geographic market reflects the manufacturing location.

For the Year Ended December 31, 2020:
Signal and Power

Solutions
Advanced Safety and

User Experience
Eliminations and

Other Total

(in millions)
Geographic Market

North America $ 3,527 $ 970 $ (3) $ 4,494 
Europe, Middle East and Africa 2,869 1,625 (11) 4,483 
Asia Pacific 2,935 978 (15) 3,898 
South America 191 — — 191 

Total net sales $ 9,522 $ 3,573 $ (29) $ 13,066 

For the Year Ended December 31, 2019:
Signal and Power

Solutions
Advanced Safety and

User Experience
Eliminations and

Other Total

(in millions)
Geographic Market

North America $ 4,187 $ 1,260 $ (3) $ 5,444 
Europe, Middle East and Africa 3,045 1,758 (12) 4,791 
Asia Pacific 2,828 1,070 (22) 3,876 
South America 242 4 — 246 

Total net sales $ 10,302 $ 4,092 $ (37) $ 14,357 

For the Year Ended December 31, 2018:
Signal and Power

Solutions
Advanced Safety and

User Experience
Eliminations and

Other Total

(in millions)
Geographic Market

North America $ 4,232 $ 1,333 $ (5) $ 5,560 
Europe, Middle East and Africa 3,049 1,652 (12) 4,689 
Asia Pacific 2,858 1,085 (27) 3,916 
South America 263 8 (1) 270 

Total net sales $ 10,402 $ 4,078 $ (45) $ 14,435 

Contract Balances

Consistent with the recognition of production parts revenue at a point in time as title transfers to the customer, Aptiv has no contract assets or contract
liabilities balances as of December 31, 2020 and 2019.

Outstanding Performance Obligations

As customer contracts generally are represented by a combination of a current purchase order and a current production schedule issued by the customer for a
production part, there are no contracts outstanding beyond one year. Aptiv does not enter into fixed long-term supply agreements.

As permitted, Aptiv does not disclose information about remaining performance obligations that have original expected durations of one year or less.

Costs to Obtain a Contract

From time to time, Aptiv makes payments to customers in conjunction with ongoing business. These payments to customers are generally recognized as a
reduction to revenue at the time of the commitment to make these payments. However, certain other payments to customers, or upfront fees, meet the criteria to be
considered a cost to obtain a contract as they are

126



Table of Contents

directly attributable to a contract, are incremental and management expects the fees to be recoverable. As of December 31, 2020 and 2019, Aptiv has recorded $116
million (of which $30 million was classified within other current assets and $86 million was classified within other long-term assets) and $99 million (of which $20
million was classified within other current assets and $79 million was classified within other long-term assets), respectively, related to these capitalized upfront
fees.

Capitalized upfront fees are amortized to revenue based on the transfer of goods and services to the customer for which the upfront fees relate, which
typically range from three to five years. There have been no impairment losses in relation to the costs capitalized. The amount of amortization to net sales was $18
million, $11 million and $6 million for the years ended December 31, 2020, 2019 and 2018, respectively.

26. LEASES

Lease Portfolio

The Company has operating and finance leases for real estate, office equipment, automobiles, forklifts and certain other equipment. The Company's leases
have remaining lease terms of 1 year to 30 years, some of which include options to extend the leases for up to 8 years, and some of which include options to
terminate the leases within 1 year. Certain of our lease agreements include rental payments which are adjusted periodically for inflation. Our lease agreements do
not contain any material residual value guarantees or material restrictive covenants. When available, we use the rate implicit in the lease to discount lease payments
to present value; however, most of our leases do not provide a readily determinable implicit rate. Therefore, we must estimate our incremental borrowing rate to
discount the lease payments based on information available at lease commencement. The incremental borrowing rate is not a quoted rate and is primarily derived
by applying a spread over U.S. Treasury rates with a similar duration to the Company’s lease payments. The spread utilized is based on the Company’s credit rating
and the impact of full collateralization.

Related Party Lease Agreement

In connection with the closing of the Motional autonomous driving joint venture, as further discussed in Note 24. Held for Sale, Aptiv agreed to sublease
certain office space to Motional, which has a remaining lease term of approximately 8 years as of December 31, 2020. Total income under the agreement was $3
million during the year ended December 31, 2020. The sublease income and Aptiv’s associated operating lease cost are recorded to cost of sales in the consolidated
statement of operations. The Company believes the terms of the lease agreement have not significantly been affected by the fact the Company and the lessee are
related parties.

The components of lease expense were as follows:

Year Ended December 31,
2020 2019

 (in millions)
Lease cost:
Finance lease cost:

Amortization of right-of-use assets $ 5 $ 4 
Interest on lease liabilities 1 1 

Total finance lease cost 6 5 
Operating lease cost 111 114 
Short-term lease cost 13 13 
Variable lease cost — 1 
Sublease income (1) (4) — 

Total lease cost $ 126 $ 133 

(1) Sublease income excludes rental income from owned properties of $10 million and $11 million for the years ended December 31, 2020 and 2019, respectively, which is included in other
income, net.

Operating lease rental expense under ASC Topic 840, Leases, totaled $112 million for the year ended December 31, 2018.
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Supplemental cash flow and other information related to leases was as follows:

Year Ended December 31,
2020 2019

 (in millions)
Cash paid for amounts included in the measurement of lease liabilities:
Operating cash flows for finance leases $ 1 $ 1 
Operating cash flows for operating leases 107 112 
Financing cash flows for finance leases 4 3 
Right-of-use assets obtained in exchange for lease obligations:
Operating leases $ 35 $ 86 
Finance leases 1 5 

Supplemental balance sheet information related to leases was as follows:

December 31,
2020 2019

(dollars in millions)
Operating leases:
Operating lease right-of-use assets $ 380 $ 413 
Accrued liabilities (Note 8) $ 100 $ 94 
Long-term operating lease liabilities 300 329 

Total operating lease liabilities $ 400 $ 423 

Finance leases:
Property and equipment $ 31 $ 30 
Less: accumulated depreciation (13) (9)

Total property, net $ 18 $ 21 
Short-term debt (Note 11) $ 4 $ 4 
Long-term debt (Note 11) 14 18 

Total finance lease liabilities $ 18 $ 22 

Weighted average remaining lease term:
Operating leases 6 years 6 years
Finance leases 6 years 6 years

Weighted average discount rate:
Operating leases 3.25 % 3.50 %
Finance leases 3.50 % 4.00 %

Additionally, the Company reclassified $12 million of operating lease right-of-use assets and $13 million of operating lease liabilities as held for sale in the
consolidated balance sheet as of December 31, 2019. Refer to Note 24. Held For Sale for further information regarding the Company's assets and liabilities held for
sale.
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Maturities of lease liabilities were as follows:

Operating 
Leases

Finance 
Leases

 (in millions)
As of December 31, 2020
2021 $ 111 $ 6 
2022 91 4 
2023 69 3 
2024 48 2 
2025 33 2 
Thereafter 87 4 

Total lease payments 439 21 
Less: imputed interest (39) (3)

Total $ 400 $ 18 

As of December 31, 2020, the Company has entered into additional operating leases, primarily for real estate, that have not yet commenced of approximately
$20 million. These operating leases are anticipated to commence primarily in 2021 with lease terms of approximately 10 years.

ITEM 9. CHANGES IN AND DISAGREEMENTS WITH ACCOUNTANTS ON ACCOUNTING AND FINANCIAL DISCLOSURE

None.

ITEM 9A. CONTROLS AND PROCEDURES

Evaluation of Disclosure Controls and Procedures

Management of the Company, under the supervision and with the participation of the Chief Executive Officer and the Chief Financial Officer, carried out an
evaluation of the effectiveness of the design and operation of the Company’s disclosure controls and procedures as of December 31, 2020. As defined in Rule 13a-
15(e) under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 (the “Exchange Act”), disclosure controls and procedures are controls and procedures designed to provide
reasonable assurance that information required to be disclosed in reports filed or submitted under the Exchange Act is recorded, processed, summarized and
reported on a timely basis, and that such information is accumulated and communicated to management, including the Company’s Chief Executive Officer and
Chief Financial Officer, as appropriate, to allow timely decisions regarding required disclosure. The Company’s disclosure controls and procedures include
components of the Company’s internal control over financial reporting. Based upon this evaluation, the Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer have
concluded that the Company’s disclosure controls and procedures were effective as of December 31, 2020.

Management’s Report on Internal Control Over Financial Reporting

Management is responsible for establishing and maintaining adequate internal control over financial reporting, as such term is defined in Exchange Act
Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f), for the Company. Under the supervision of the Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer, management conducted an
evaluation of the effectiveness of the Company’s internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2020 based on the framework set forth by the
Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission (COSO) in “Internal Control-Integrated Framework (2013).” Based on that evaluation,
management has concluded that the Company’s internal control over financial reporting was effective as of December 31, 2020.

Ernst & Young LLP has issued an attestation report which is included herein as the Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm under the
section headed Financial Statements and Supplementary Data for the year ended December 31, 2020.
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Changes in Internal Control Over Financial Reporting

There were no material changes in the Company’s internal control over financial reporting, identified in connection with management’s evaluation of
internal control over financial reporting, that occurred during the quarter and year ended December 31, 2020 that have materially affected, or are reasonably likely
to materially affect, the Company’s internal control over financial reporting.

ITEM 9B. OTHER INFORMATION

None.
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PART III

ITEM 10. DIRECTORS, EXECUTIVE OFFICERS AND CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

The information called for by Item 10, as to the audit committee and the audit committee financial expert, is incorporated by reference to the Company’s
Definitive Proxy Statement to be filed with the SEC pursuant to Regulation 14A in connection with the Company’s 2021 Annual General Meeting of Shareholders
(the “Proxy Statement”) under the headings “Board Practices” and “Board Committees.” The information called for by Item 10, as to executive officers, is set forth
under Executive Officers of the Registrant in the Supplementary Item in Part I of this Annual Report on Form 10-K. The information called for by Item 10, as to
directors, is incorporated by reference to the Company’s Proxy Statement under the headings “Election of Directors” and “Board Practices.”

The Company has adopted a code of ethics, the Code of Ethical Business Conduct, which applies to its principal executive officer, principal financial officer,
principal accounting officer or controller, or persons performing similar functions, and all other employees and non-employee directors of the Company. The Code
of Ethical Business Conduct is posted on the Company’s website (aptiv.com). The Company intends to satisfy the disclosure requirement under Item 5.05 of
Form 8-K regarding an amendment to, or waiver from, a provision of the code of ethics that applies to the Company’s principal executive officer, principal
financial officer, principal accounting officer or controller, or persons performing similar functions, by posting such information on the Company’s website, at the
address specified above.

The Company’s Corporate Governance Guidelines and charters for each Committee of its Board of Directors are also available on the Company’s website.
The Code of Ethical Business Conduct, Corporate Governance Guidelines and charters are also available in print to any shareholder who submits a request to:
Corporate Secretary, Aptiv PLC, 5 Hanover Quay, Grand Canal Dock, Dublin, D02 VY79, Ireland.

Information on the Company’s website is not deemed to be incorporated by reference into this Annual Report on Form 10-K.

ITEM 11. EXECUTIVE COMPENSATION

The information called for by Item 11 is incorporated by reference to the Company’s Proxy Statement under the headings “Director Compensation,”
“Compensation Discussion and Analysis” and “Compensation Committee Report.”

ITEM 12. SECURITY OWNERSHIP OF CERTAIN BENEFICIAL OWNERS AND MANAGEMENT AND RELATED STOCKHOLDER MATTERS

The information called for by Item 12, as to security ownership of certain beneficial owners, directors and management, is incorporated by reference to the
Company’s Proxy Statement under the headings “Security Ownership of Certain Beneficial Owners” and “Security Ownership of Management.”

Information as of December 31, 2020 about the Company’s ordinary shares that may be issued under all of its equity compensation plans is set forth in Part
II Item 5 of this Annual Report on Form 10-K.

ITEM 13. CERTAIN RELATIONSHIPS AND RELATED TRANSACTIONS AND DIRECTOR INDEPENDENCE

The information called for by Item 13, as to director independence, is incorporated by reference to the Company’s Proxy Statement under the heading
“Board Practices.” The information called for by Item 13, as to related person transactions, is incorporated by reference to the Company’s Proxy Statement under
the heading “Relationships and Related Party Transactions.”

ITEM 14. PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING FEES AND SERVICES

The information called for by Item 14 is incorporated by reference to the Company’s Proxy Statement under the heading “Independent Registered Public
Accounting Firm’s Fees.”
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PART IV

ITEM 15. EXHIBITS, FINANCIAL STATEMENT SCHEDULES

(a) The following documents are filed as part of this Form 10-K.

(1) Financial Statements:

  Page No.
—  Reports of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm 62
—  Consolidated Statements of Operations for the Years Ended December 31, 2020, 2019 and 2018 66
—  Consolidated Statements of Comprehensive Income for the Years Ended December 31, 2020, 2019 and 2018 67
—  Consolidated Balance Sheets as of December 31, 2020 and 2019 68
—  Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows for the Years Ended December 31, 2020, 2019 and 2018 69
—  Consolidated Statements of Shareholders’ Equity for the Years Ended December 31, 2020, 2019 and 2018 70
—  Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements 72

(2) Financial Statement Schedule:

SCHEDULE II—VALUATION AND QUALIFYING ACCOUNTS AND RESERVES

Additions

 
Balance at

Beginning of Period
Charged to Costs and

Expenses Deductions Other Activity
Balance at

End of Period
 (in millions)
December 31, 2020:
Allowance for doubtful accounts $ 37 $ 39 $ (39) $ 3 $ 40 
Tax valuation allowance (a) $ 1,075 $ 84 $ (333) $ 6 $ 832 
December 31, 2019:
Allowance for doubtful accounts $ 38 $ 9 $ (10) $ — $ 37 
Tax valuation allowance (a) $ 1,178 $ 35 $ (137) $ (1) $ 1,075 
December 31, 2018:
Allowance for doubtful accounts $ 34 $ 9 $ (7) $ 2 $ 38 
Tax valuation allowance (a) $ 1,008 $ 292 $ (120) $ (2) $ 1,178 

(a) Additions Charged to Costs and Expenses and Deductions are primarily related to taxable losses for which the tax benefit has been reserved.

The other schedules have been omitted because they are not applicable, not required or the information to be set forth therein is included in the Consolidated
Financial Statements or notes thereto.
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(3) Exhibits: (including those incorporated by reference)

Exhibit 
Number Description

2.1 Master Disposition Agreement among Delphi Corporation, GM Components Holdings, LLC, General Motors Company, Motors Liquidation Company (fka
General Motors Corporation), DIP Holdco 3, LLC, and the other sellers and other buyers party thereto, dated July 26, 2009(1)

2.2 Separation and Distribution Agreement, dated as of November 15, 2017, by and between Aptiv PLC and Delphi Technologies PLC (incorporated by
reference to Exhibit 2.1 to the Current Report on Form 8-K of the Company filed with the SEC on November 15, 2017)

3.1 Memorandum and Articles of Association (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 3.1 to the Current Report on Form 8-K of the Company filed with the SEC
on December 7, 2017)

3.2 Statement Of Rights of the 5.50% Series A Mandatory Convertible Preferred Shares Of Aptiv PLC, effective June 12, 2020 (incorporated by reference to
Exhibit 3.1 to the Current Report on Form 8-K of the Company filed with the SEC on June 12, 2020)

4.1 Senior Notes Indenture, dated as of February 14, 2013, among Delphi Corporation, the guarantors named therein, Wilmington Trust, National Association,
as Trustee, and Deutsche Bank Trust Company Americas, as Registrar, Paying Agent and Authenticating Agent (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.1 to
the Current Report on Form 8-K of the Company filed with the SEC on February 14, 2013)

4.2 Second Supplemental Indenture, dated as of March 3, 2014, among Delphi Corporation, the Guarantors named therein, Wilmington Trust, National
Association, as Trustee, and Deutsche Bank Trust Company Americas, as Registrar, Paying Agent and Authenticating Agent (incorporated by reference to
Exhibit 4.2 to the Current Report on Form 8-K of the Company filed with the SEC on March 3, 2014)

4.3 Senior Notes Indenture, dated as of March 10, 2015, among Aptiv PLC, Wilmington Trust, National Association, as Trustee and Deutsche Bank Trust
Company Americas, as Registrar, Paying Agent and Authenticating Agent (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.1 to the Current Report on Form 8-K of
the Company filed with the SEC on March 10, 2015)

4.4 First Supplemental Indenture, dated as of March 10, 2015, among Aptiv PLC, the guarantors named therein, Wilmington Trust, National Association, as
Trustee and Deutsche Bank Trust Company Americas, as Registrar, Paying Agent and Authenticating Agent (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.2 to the
Current Report on Form 8-K of the Company filed with the SEC on March 10, 2015)

4.5 Second Supplemental Indenture, dated as of November 19, 2015, among Aptiv PLC, the guarantors named therein, Wilmington Trust, National Association,
as Trustee and Deutsche Bank Trust Company Americas, as Registrar, Paying Agent and Authenticating Agent (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.2 to
the Current Report on Form 8-K of the Company filed with the SEC on November 19, 2015)

4.6 Third Supplemental Indenture, dated as of September 15, 2016, among Aptiv PLC, the guarantors named therein, Wilmington Trust, National Association,
as Trustee and Deutsche Bank Trust Company Americas, as Registrar, Paying Agent and Authenticating Agent (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.2 to
the Current Report on Form 8-K of the Company filed with the SEC on September 15, 2016)

4.7 Fourth Supplemental Indenture, dated as of September 20, 2016, among Aptiv PLC, the guarantors named therein, Wilmington Trust, National Association,
as Trustee and Deutsche Bank Trust Company Americas, as Registrar, Paying Agent and Authenticating Agent (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.2 to
the Current Report on Form 8-K of the Company filed with the SEC on September 20, 2016)

4.8 Fifth Supplemental Indenture, dated as of March 14, 2019, among Aptiv PLC, the guarantors named therein, Wilmington Trust, National Association, as
Trustee, and Deutsche Bank Trust Company Americas, as Registrar, Paying Agent and Authenticating Agent (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.2 to the
Current Report on Form 8-K of the Company filed with the SEC on March 14, 2019)

4.9 Description of Securities Registered Pursuant to Section 12 of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934*
10.1 Restatement Agreement to Amended and Restated Credit Agreement, dated as of May 1, 2020, among Aptiv PLC, Aptiv Corporation, Aptiv Holdings US

Limited, Aptiv International Holdings (UK) LLP, JPMorgan Chase Bank, N.A., as Administrative Agent and Swingline Lender, and the Lenders and Issuing
Banks party thereto (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to the Current Report on Form 8-K of the Company filed with the SEC on May 5, 2020)

10.2 Aptiv PLC Executive Severance Plan, effective February 1, 2017(7)+
10.3 Aptiv PLC Executive Change in Control Severance Plan, effective February 1, 2017(7)+
10.4 Aptiv Corporation Supplemental Executive Retirement Program(1)+
10.5 Aptiv Corporation Salaried Retirement Equalization Savings Program(1)+
10.6 Offer letter for Kevin P. Clark, dated June 10, 2010(1)+
10.7 Offer letter for Joseph R. Massaro, dated September 13, 2013(6)+
10.8 Form of Non-Employee Director RSU Award Agreement pursuant to Aptiv PLC Long Term Incentive Plan, as amended(2)+
10.9 Letter Agreement, dated October 29, 2012, between the Company and Kevin P. Clark(3)+
10.10 Aptiv PLC Long-Term Incentive Plan, as amended and restated (incorporated by reference to the Company's Proxy Statement dated March 9, 2015)+
10.11 Form of Officer Performance-Based RSU Award pursuant to the Aptiv PLC Long-Term Incentive Plan, as amended and restated, effective 2016(5)+
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Exhibit 
Number Description

10.12 Form of Officer Time-Based RSU Award pursuant to the Aptiv PLC Long-Term Incentive Plan, as amended and restated(4)+
10.13 Offer letter for David Paja, dated December 23, 2016(8)+
10.14 Offer letter for David M. Sherbin, dated October 2, 2009(8)+
10.15 Form of Allocation Letter for Executives, effective 2019(9)+
10.16 Aptiv PLC Annual Incentive Plan (as Amended and Restated Effective January 1, 2019)(9)+
10.17 Offer letter for Mariya Trickett, dated June 20, 2018 (10)+
10.18 Amendment No. 1 to Amended and Restated Credit Agreement, dated as of June 8, 2020, among Aptiv PLC, Aptiv Corporation, Aptiv Holdings US

Limited, Aptiv International Holdings (UK) LLP and JPMorgan Chase Bank, N.A., as Administrative Agent, and the lenders party thereto (incorporated by
reference to Exhibit 1.1 to the Current Report on Form 8-K of the Company filed with the SEC on June 8, 2020)

21.1 Subsidiaries of the Registrant*
22 List of Guarantor Subsidiaries*

23.1 Consent of Ernst & Young LLP*
31.1 Rule 13a-14(a)/15d-14(a) Certification of Principal Executive Officer*
31.2 Rule 13a-14(a)/15d-14(a) Certification of Principal Financial Officer*
32.1 Certification by Chief Executive Officer pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as adopted pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002*
32.2 Certification by Chief Financial Officer pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as adopted pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002*

101.INS Inline XBRL Instance Document# - The instance document does not appear in the Interactive Data File because its XBRL tags are embedded within the
Inline XBRL document.

101.SCH Inline XBRL Taxonomy Extension Schema Document#
101.CAL Inline XBRL Taxonomy Extension Calculation Linkbase Document#
101.DEF Inline XBRL Taxonomy Extension Definition Linkbase Document#
101.LAB Inline XBRL Taxonomy Extension Label Linkbase Document#
101.PRE Inline XBRL Taxonomy Extension Presentation Linkbase Document#

104 Cover Page Interactive Data File# - The cover page interactive data file does not appear in the Interactive Data File because its XBRL tags are embedded
within the Inline XBRL document.

* Filed herewith.

+ Management contract or compensatory plan or arrangement.

(1) Filed with the Registration Statement on Form S-1 (File No. 333-174493) on June 30, 2011 and incorporated herein by reference.

(2) Filed with Form 10-Q for the period ended June 30, 2012 on July 31, 2012 and incorporated herein by reference.

(3) Filed with Form 10-Q for the period ended September 30, 2012 on November 1, 2012 and incorporated herein by reference.

(4) Filed with Form 10-Q for the period ended March 31, 2015 on April 30, 2015 and incorporated herein by reference.

(5) Filed with Form 10-Q for the period ended March 31, 2016 on May 4, 2016 and incorporated herein by reference.

(6) Filed with Form 10-Q for the period ended June 30, 2016 on August 3, 2016 and incorporated herein by reference.

(7) Filed with Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2016 on February 6, 2017 and incorporated herein by reference.

(8) Filed with Form 10-Q for the period ended March 31, 2018 on May 2, 2018 and incorporated herein by reference.

(9) Filed with Form 10-Q for the period ended March 31, 2019 on May 2, 2019 and incorporated herein by reference.

(10) Filed with Form 10-Q for the period ended March 31, 2020 on May 5, 2020 and incorporated herein by reference.

# Filed electronically with the Report.
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SIGNATURES

Pursuant to the requirements of Section 13 or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the registrant has duly caused this report to be signed on its
behalf by the undersigned, thereunto duly authorized.

APTIV PLC

 /s/ Joseph R. Massaro
 By: Joseph R. Massaro

 
Chief Financial Officer and Senior Vice President,
Business Operations

Dated: February 8, 2021

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, this report has been signed below as of February 8, 2021, by the following persons on
behalf of the registrant and in the capacities indicated:

Signature Title

/s/ Kevin P. Clark President, Chief Executive Officer and Director 
(Principal Executive Officer)

Kevin P. Clark

/s/ Joseph R. Massaro Chief Financial Officer and Senior Vice President, Business Operations 
(Principal Financial Officer)

Joseph R. Massaro

/s/ Allan J. Brazier Vice President and Chief Accounting Officer 
(Principal Accounting Officer)

Allan J. Brazier

/s/ Rajiv L. Gupta Chairman of the Board of Directors

Rajiv L. Gupta

/s/ Richard L. Clemmer Director

Richard L. Clemmer

/s/ Nancy E. Cooper Director

Nancy E. Cooper

/s/ Nicholas M. Donofrio Director

Nicholas M. Donofrio

/s/ Joseph L. Hooley Director

Joseph L. Hooley

/s/ Sean O. Mahoney Director

Sean O. Mahoney
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/s/ Paul M. Meister Director

Paul M. Meister

/s/ Robert K. Ortberg Director

Robert K. Ortberg

/s/ Colin J. Parris Director

Colin J. Parris

/s/ Ana G. Pinczuk Director

Ana G. Pinczuk

/s/ Lawrence A. Zimmerman Director

Lawrence A. Zimmerman
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Exhibit 4.9

Description of Securities

Registered Pursuant to Section 12 of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934

As used below, the terms “Aptiv,” the “Company,” “we,” “us,” and “our” refer to Aptiv PLC, as issuer of the following securities
registered pursuant to Section 12 of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended: (i) ordinary shares, par value $0.01 per share (the
“ordinary shares”), (ii) 5.50% mandatory convertible preferred shares, series A, par value $0.01 per share (the “preferred shares”), (iii)
1.500% Senior Notes due 2025 (the “2025 notes”), (iv) 4.250% Senior Notes due 2026 (the “2026 notes”), (v) 1.600% Senior Notes due 2028
(the “2028 notes”), (vi) 4.350% Senior Notes due 2029 (the “2029 notes”), (vii) 4.400% Senior Notes due 2046 (the “2046 notes”) and (viii)
5.400% Senior Notes due 2049 (the “2049 notes,” and together with the 2025 notes, 2026 notes, 2028 notes, 2029 notes and 2046 notes, the
“notes”).

DESCRIPTION OF SHARE CAPITAL

Ordinary Shares

As of January 29, 2021, there were 270,025,374 ordinary shares issued and outstanding. All outstanding ordinary shares are validly
issued, fully paid and non-assessable. The ordinary shares do not have preemptive, subscription or redemption rights. Neither our
Memorandum of Association or Articles of Association nor the laws of Jersey restrict in any way the ownership or voting of ordinary shares
held by non-residents of Jersey

The following description is a summary of the material terms of our Articles of Association and Memorandum of Association (as
amended, our “Articles of Association” and “Memorandum of Association,” respectively). The summary is not complete. The Articles of
Association and Memorandum of Association are incorporated by reference as exhibits to the Annual Report on Form 10-K to which this
exhibit is a part. You should read the Articles of Association and Memorandum of Association for the provisions that are important to you

Dividend and Liquidation Rights. Holders of ordinary shares are entitled to receive equally, share for share, any dividends that may be
declared in respect of our ordinary shares by the Board of Directors out of funds legally available therefor. If, in the future, we declare cash
dividends, such dividends will be payable in U.S. dollars. In the event of our liquidation, after satisfaction of liabilities to creditors, holders of
ordinary shares are entitled to share pro rata in our net assets. Such rights may be affected by the grant of preferential dividend or distribution
rights to the holders of a class or series of preferred shares that may be authorized in the future. Our Board of Directors has the power to
declare such interim dividends as it determines. Declaration of a final dividend (not exceeding the amounts proposed by our Board of
Directors) requires shareholder approval by adoption of an ordinary resolution. Failure to obtain such shareholder approval does not affect
previously paid interim dividends.

Voting, Shareholder Meetings and Resolutions. Holders of ordinary shares have one vote for each ordinary share held on all matters
submitted to a vote of holders of ordinary shares. These voting rights may be affected by the grant of any special voting rights to the holders
of a class or series of preferred shares that may be authorized in the future. Pursuant to Jersey law, an annual general meeting shall be held
once every calendar year at the time (within a period of not more than 18 months after the last preceding annual general meeting) and at the
place as may be determined by the Board of Directors. The quorum required for an ordinary meeting of shareholders consists of shareholders
present in person or by proxy who hold or represent between them a majority of the outstanding shares entitled to vote at such meeting.
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An ordinary resolution (such as a resolution for the declaration of dividends) requires approval by the holders of a majority of the
voting rights represented at a meeting, in person or by proxy, and voting thereon.

Amendments to Governing Documents. A special resolution (such as, for example, a resolution amending our Memorandum of
Association or Articles of Association or approving any change in authorized capitalization, or a liquidation or winding-up) requires approval
of the holders of two-thirds of the voting rights represented at the meeting, in person or by proxy, and voting thereon. A special resolution can
only be considered if shareholders receive at least fourteen days’ prior notice of the meeting at which such resolution will be considered.

Requirements for Advance Notification of Shareholder Nominations and Proposals. Our Articles of Association establish advance
notice and related procedures with respect to shareholder proposals and nomination of candidates for election as directors.

Limits on Written Consents. Any action required or permitted to be taken by the shareholders must be effected at a duly called annual
or special meeting of shareholders and may not be effected by any consent in writing in lieu of a meeting of such shareholders.

Transfer of Shares and Notices. Fully paid ordinary shares are issued in registered form and may be freely transferred pursuant to the
Articles of Association unless the transfer is restricted by applicable securities laws or prohibited by another instrument. Each shareholder of
record is entitled to receive at least fourteen days’ prior notice (excluding the day of notice and the day of the meeting) of an ordinary
shareholders’ meeting and of any shareholders’ meeting at which a special resolution is to be adopted. For the purposes of determining the
shareholders entitled to notice and to vote at the meeting, the Board of Directors may fix a date as the date for any such determination.

Modification of Class Rights. The rights attached to any class (unless otherwise provided by the terms of issue of that class), such as
voting, dividends and the like, may be varied with the sanction of a special resolution passed at a separate general meeting of the holders of
the shares of that class.

Election and Removal of Directors. The ordinary shares do not have cumulative voting rights in the election of directors. As a result,
the holders of ordinary shares that represent more than 50% of the voting power have the power to elect any of our directors who are up for
election. All of our directors will be elected at each annual meeting.

Our Board of Directors currently consists of 12 directors. Our Articles of Association state that shareholders may only remove a
director for cause. Our Board of Directors has sole power to fill any vacancy occurring as a result of the death, disability, removal or
resignation of a director or as a result of an increase in the size of the Board of Directors.

Applicability of U.K. Takeover Code. We do not believe that the U.K. City Code on Takeovers and Mergers will apply to takeover
transactions for the Company.

Listing. Our ordinary shares are listed on the New York Stock Exchange under the symbol “APTV.”

Transfer Agent and Registrar. The U.S. transfer agent and registrar for the ordinary shares is Computershare Trust Company, N.A.
The U.S. transfer agent and registrar’s address is 250 Royall Street, Canton, MA 02021, Attention: Client Administration. Computershare
Investor Services (Jersey) Limited is the transfer agent and registrar for the ordinary shares in Jersey and its address is Queensway House,
Hilgrove Street, St Helier, Jersey JE1 1ES.
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Preferred Shares

As of January 29, 2021, there were 11,500,000 5.50% Series A Mandatory Convertible Preferred Shares, par value $0.01 per share
and liquidation preference $100.00 per share (the “mandatory convertible preferred shares”) issued and outstanding. All outstanding
mandatory convertible preferred shares are validly issued, fully paid and non-assessable.

In connection with the issuance of the mandatory convertible preferred shares, we adopted a Statement of Rights (the “Statement of
Rights”) to establish the preferences, limitations and relative rights of the mandatory convertible preferred shares. Below we have
summarized certain terms and provisions of the Statement of Rights. The summary is not complete. The Statement of Rights has been
incorporated by reference as an exhibit to the Annual Report on Form 10-K to which this exhibit is a part. You should read the Statement of
Rights for the provisions which may be important to you.

Conversion Rights. The mandatory convertible preferred shares will initially be convertible into an aggregate of up to 15,148,950
ordinary shares, in each case subject to anti-dilution, make-whole and other adjustments, as described in the Statement of Rights governing
the mandatory convertible preferred shares. Unless converted earlier in accordance with the terms of the Statement of Rights governing the
mandatory convertible preferred shares, each mandatory convertible preferred share will convert automatically on the mandatory conversion
date, which is expected to be June 15, 2023, into between 1.0754 and 1.3173 ordinary shares, subject to anti-dilution and other adjustments.
The number of ordinary shares issuable upon conversion will be determined based on the average volume weighted average price per
ordinary share over the 20 consecutive trading day period beginning on, and including, the 21st scheduled trading day immediately prior to
June 15, 2023.

Dividends. Dividends on the mandatory convertible preferred shares will be payable on a cumulative basis when, as and if declared
by our board of directors, or an authorized committee thereof, at an annual rate of 5.50% of the liquidation preference of $100.00 per
mandatory convertible preferred share, and may be paid in cash or, subject to certain limitations, in ordinary shares, or in any combination of
cash and ordinary shares. If declared, dividends on the mandatory convertible preferred shares will be payable quarterly on March 15, June
15, September 15 and December 15 of each year, commencing on September 15, 2020 and ending on, and including, June 15, 2023.

Ranking. Our ordinary shares will rank junior to our mandatory convertible preferred shares, if issued, with respect to the payment of
dividends and amounts payable in the event of our liquidation, dissolution or winding up of our affairs. Subject to certain exceptions, so long
as any of our mandatory convertible preferred shares remain outstanding, no dividend or distributions will be declared or paid on our ordinary
shares or any other class or series of share capital ranking junior to the mandatory convertible preferred shares, and no ordinary shares or any
other class or series of stock ranking junior or on parity with the mandatory convertible preferred shares shall be, directly or indirectly,
purchased, redeemed, or otherwise acquired for consideration by us or any of our subsidiaries unless all accumulated and unpaid dividends
for all preceding dividend periods have been declared and paid upon, or a sufficient sum of cash or number of ordinary shares have been set
aside for the payment of such dividends upon, all outstanding mandatory convertible preferred shares.

Liquidation Rights. In addition, upon our voluntary or involuntary liquidation, winding-up or dissolution, each holder of mandatory
convertible preferred shares will be entitled to receive a liquidation preference in the amount of $100.00 per mandatory convertible preferred
share, plus an amount equal to accumulated and unpaid dividends on such shares, whether or not declared, to, but excluding, the date fixed for
liquidation, winding-up or dissolution, to be paid out of our assets legally available for distribution to our shareholders after satisfaction of
liabilities to our creditors and holders of our share capital ranking senior to the mandatory convertible preferred shares as to distribution rights
upon our
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liquidation, winding-up or dissolution, and before any payment or distribution is made to holders of any class or series of our share capital
ranking junior to the mandatory convertible preferred shares as to distribution rights upon our liquidation, winding-up or dissolution,
including, without limitation, our ordinary shares.

Voting Rights; Shareholder Meetings; Election and Removal of Directors. The holders of the mandatory convertible preferred shares
will not have voting rights except as described below and as specifically required by Jersey law from time to time.

Whenever dividends on any mandatory convertible preferred shares have not been declared and paid for the equivalent of six or more
dividend periods, whether or not for consecutive dividend periods (a “nonpayment”), the authorized number of directors on our board of
directors will, at the next annual meeting of shareholders or at a special meeting of shareholders as provided below, automatically be
increased by two and the holders of record of the mandatory convertible preferred shares, voting together as a single class with holders of
record of any and all other series of voting preferred shares (as defined below) then outstanding, will be entitled, at our next annual or at a
special meeting of shareholders, to vote for the election of a total of two additional members of our board of directors (“preferred share
directors”); provided that the election of any such directors will not cause us to violate the corporate governance requirements of the New
York Stock Exchange (or any other exchange or automated quotation system on which our securities may be listed or quoted) that requires
listed or quoted companies to have a majority of independent directors; and provided further that our board of directors shall, at no time,
include more than two preferred share directors.

In the event of a nonpayment, the holders of at least 25% of the mandatory convertible preferred shares and any other series of voting
preferred shares may request that a special meeting of shareholders be called to elect such preferred share directors (provided that, to the
extent permitted by our memorandum and article of association, if our next annual or a special meeting of shareholders is scheduled to be
held within 90 days of the receipt of such request, the election of such preferred share directors will be included in the agenda for and will be
held at such scheduled annual or special meeting of shareholders). The preferred share directors will stand for reelection annually, at each
subsequent annual meeting of the shareholders, so long as the holders of the mandatory convertible preferred shares continue to have such
voting rights.

At any meeting at which the holders of the mandatory convertible preferred shares are entitled to elect preferred share directors, the
holders of a majority of the then outstanding mandatory convertible preferred shares and all other series of voting preferred shares, present in
person or represented by proxy, will constitute a quorum and the vote of the holders of a majority of such mandatory convertible preferred
shares and other voting preferred shares so present or represented by proxy at any such meeting at which there shall be a quorum shall be
sufficient to elect the preferred share directors.

As used herein, “voting preferred shares” means any class or series of our share capital, in addition to and established after the initial
issuance of the mandatory convertible preferred shares, ranking on parity with the mandatory convertible preferred shares as to dividends and
distribution rights upon our liquidation, winding up or dissolution and upon which like voting rights for the election of directors have been
conferred and are exercisable. Whether a plurality, majority or other portion in voting power of the mandatory convertible preferred shares
and any other voting preferred shares have been voted in favor of any matter shall be determined by reference to the respective liquidation
preference amounts of the mandatory convertible preferred shares and such other voting preferred shares voted.

If and when all accumulated and unpaid dividends have been paid in full (a “nonpayment remedy”), the holders of the mandatory
convertible preferred shares shall immediately and, without any further action by us, be divested of the foregoing voting rights, subject to the
revesting of such rights in
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the event of each subsequent nonpayment. If such voting rights for the holders of the mandatory convertible preferred shares and all other
holders of voting preferred shares have terminated, the term of office of each preferred share director so elected will terminate at such time
and the authorized number of directors on our board of directors shall automatically decrease by two.

Any preferred share director may be removed at any time, with or without cause by the holders of record of a majority in voting
power of the outstanding mandatory convertible preferred shares and any other series of voting preferred shares then outstanding (voting
together as a class) when they have the voting rights described above. In the event that a nonpayment shall have occurred and there shall not
have been a nonpayment remedy, any vacancy in the office of a preferred share director (other than prior to the initial election after a
nonpayment) may be filled by the written consent of the preferred share director remaining in office, except in the event that such vacancy is
created as a result of such preferred share director being removed or if no preferred share director remains in office, such vacancy may be
filled by a vote of the holders of record of a majority in voting power of the outstanding mandatory convertible preferred shares and any other
series of voting preferred shares then outstanding (voting together as a single class) when they have the voting rights described above;
provided that the election of any such preferred share directors will not cause us to violate the corporate governance requirements of the New
York Stock Exchange (or any other exchange or automated quotation system on which our securities may be listed or quoted) that requires
listed or quoted companies to have a majority of independent directors. The preferred share directors will each be entitled to one vote per
director on any matter that comes before our board of directors for a vote.

The mandatory convertible preferred shares will have certain other voting rights with respect to certain amendments to our
memorandum and articles of association or the Statement of Rights establishing the terms of the mandatory convertible preferred shares or
certain other transactions as described in such certificate of designations.

Listing. Our mandatory convertible preferred shares are listed on the New York Stock Exchange under the symbol “APTV.”

Transfer Agent and Registrar. The U.S. transfer agent and registrar for the mandatory convertible preferred shares is Computershare
Trust Company, N.A. The U.S. transfer agent and registrar’s address is 250 Royall Street, Canton, MA 02021, Attention: Client
Administration. Computershare Investor Services (Jersey) Limited is the transfer agent and registrar for the ordinary shares in Jersey and its
address is Queensway House, Hilgrove Street, St Helier, Jersey JE1 1ES.

DESCRIPTION OF NOTES

We have previously filed a registration statement on Form S-3 (File No. 333-185558), which was filed with the Securities and
Exchange Commission (the “SEC”) on December 19, 2012 and covers the issuance of the 2025 notes, a registration statement on Form S-3
(File No. 333-207700), which was filed with the SEC on October 30, 2015 and covers the issuance of the 2025 notes, the 2026 notes, the
2028 notes and the 2046 notes, and a registration statement on Form S-3 (File No. 333-228021), which was filed with the SEC on October 26,
2018 and covers the issuance of the 2029 notes and the 2049 notes.

The notes were issued under an indenture dated as of March 10, 2015, as supplemented from time to time, among us, the guarantors
named therein, Wilmington Trust, National Association, as trustee, and Deutsche Bank Trust Company Americas, as registrar, paying agent
and authenticating agent (the “indenture”). Below we have summarized certain terms and provisions of the indenture and related
supplemental indentures. The summary is not complete. The indenture and related supplemental indentures have been incorporated by
reference as exhibits to the Annual Report on Form 10-K to which this exhibit is a part. You should read the indenture and related
supplemental indentures for the provisions
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which may be important to you. The indentures are related supplemental indentures are subject to and governed by the Trust Indenture Act of
1939, as amended.

General

Principal Amounts; Interest Payments and Record Dates; Listing. The 2025 notes were initially limited to an aggregate principal
amount of €700,000,000. The 2025 notes bear interest, payable annually on each March 10, to the persons in whose names such notes are
registered at the close of business on February 23 (whether or not a business day), immediately preceding such March 10. The 2025 notes will
mature on March 10, 2025. The 2025 notes are listed on the New York Stock Exchange under the symbol “APTV.”

The 2026 notes were initially limited to an aggregate principal amount of $650,000,000. The 2026 notes bear interest, payable semi-
annually on each January 15 and July 15, to the persons in whose names such notes are registered at the close of business on January 1
(whether or not a business day), immediately preceding such January 15 and on July 1 (whether or not a business day), immediately
preceding such July 15. The 2026 notes will mature on January 15, 2026. The 2026 notes are listed on the New York Stock Exchange under
the symbol “APTV.”

The 2028 notes were initially limited to an aggregate principal amount of €500,000,000. The 2028 notes bear interest, payable
annually on each September 15, to the persons in whose names such notes are registered at the close of business on September 1 (whether or
not a business day), immediately preceding such September 15. The 2028 notes will mature on September 15, 2028. The 2028 notes are listed
on the New York Stock Exchange under the symbol “APTV.”

The 2029 notes were initially limited to an aggregate principal amount of $300,000,000. The 2029 notes bear interest, payable semi-
annually on each March 15 and September 15, to the persons in whose names such notes are registered at the close of business on March 1
(whether or not a business day), immediately preceding such March 15 and on September 1 (whether or not a business day), immediately
preceding such September 15. The 2029 notes will mature on March 15, 2029. The 2029 notes are listed on the New York Stock Exchange
under the symbol “APTV.”

The 2046 notes were initially limited to an aggregate principal amount of $300,000,000. The 2046 notes bear interest, payable semi-
annually on each April 1 and October 1, to the persons in whose names such notes are registered at the close of business on March 15
(whether or not a business day), immediately preceding such April 1 and on September 15 (whether or not a business day), immediately
preceding such October 1. The 2046 notes will mature on October 1, 2046. The 2046 notes are listed on the New York Stock Exchange under
the symbol “APTV.”

The 2049 notes were initially limited to an aggregate principal amount of $350,000,000. The 2049 notes bear interest, payable semi-
annually on each March 15 and September 15, to the persons in whose names such notes are registered at the close of business on March 1
(whether or not a business day), immediately preceding such March 15 and on September 1 (whether or not a business day), immediately
preceding such September 15. The 2049 notes will mature on March 15, 2049. The 2049 notes are listed on the New York Stock Exchange
under the symbol “APTV.”

Ranking. The notes and the note guarantees are unsecured and rank pari passu in right of payment with any other senior indebtedness
of Aptiv and the guarantors, respectively. Secured debt and other secured obligations of Aptiv will be effectively senior to the notes to the
extent of the value of the assets securing such debt or other obligations.

No Sinking Fund. No series of notes is subject to any sinking fund.
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Additional Notes. We may, without the consent of the existing holders of the notes of a series, issue additional notes of such series
having the same terms (except issue date, date from which interest accrues and, in some cases, the first interest payment date) so that the
existing notes of such series and the new notes of such series form a single series under the indenture. As of February 1, 2021, no such
additional notes have been issued.

Minimum Denominations. The 2025 notes and 2028 notes were issued in minimum denominations of €100,000 and integral multiples
of €1,000 in excess thereof. The 2026 notes, 2029 notes, 2046 notes and 2049 notes were issued in minimum denominations of $2,000 and
any integral multiple of $1,000 in excess thereof.

Interest Payments. Interest on the 2025 notes and the 2028 notes will be computed on the basis of the actual number of days in the
period for which interest is being calculated and the actual number of days from and including the date from which interest begins to accrue
for the period to, but excluding, the next scheduled interest payment date. This payment convention is referred to as ACTUAL/ACTUAL
(ICMA) as defined in the rulebook of the International Capital Markets Association. Interest on the 2026 notes, the 2029 notes, the 2046
notes and the 2049 notes will be computed on the basis of a 360-day year of twelve 30-day months.

Guarantees. The payment of the principal, premium and interest on the notes will be fully and unconditionally guaranteed, jointly and
severally, on a senior unsecured basis by certain of our subsidiaries that are obligors under Aptiv Corporation’s outstanding notes and our
credit facility. Under certain circumstances, the subsidiary guarantors may be released from the guarantees without the consent of the holders
of the notes.

Optional Redemption

Definitions

“Comparable Government Bond Rate” means the yield to maturity, expressed as a percentage (rounded to three decimal places, with
0.0005 being rounded upwards), on the third Business Day prior to the date fixed for redemption, of the Comparable Government Bond (as
defined below) on the basis of the middle market price of the Comparable Government Bond prevailing at 11:00 a.m. (London time) on such
Business Day as determined by an independent investment bank selected by us.

“Comparable Government Bond” means, in relation to any Comparable Government Bond Rate calculation, at the discretion of an
independent investment bank selected by us, a German government bond whose maturity is closest to the maturity of the notes to be
redeemed, or if such independent investment bank in its discretion determines that such similar bond is not in issue, such other German
government bond as such independent investment bank may, with the advice of three brokers of, and/or market makers in, German
government bonds selected by us, determined to be appropriate for determining the Comparable Government Bond Rate.

“Treasury Rate” means, with respect to any redemption date: the weekly average of the yields in each statistical release for the
immediately preceding week designated “H.15” or any successor publication which is published weekly by the Board of Governors of the
Federal Reserve System and which establishes yields on actively traded United States Treasury securities adjusted to constant maturity under
the caption “Treasury Constant Maturities,” for the maturity corresponding to the Comparable Treasury Issue (if no maturity is within three
months before or after the Remaining Life (as defined below), yields for the two published maturities most closely corresponding to the
Comparable Treasury Issue will be determined and the Treasury Rate will be interpolated or extrapolated from such yields on a straight line
basis, rounding to the nearest month); or calculation date or does not contain such yields, the rate per year equal to the semi-annual equivalent
yield to maturity of the Comparable Treasury Issue,
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calculated using a price for the Comparable Treasury Issue (expressed as a percentage of its principal amount) equal to the Comparable
Treasury Price for such redemption date.

“Comparable Treasury Issue” means the United States Treasury security selected by an Independent Investment Banker as having a
maturity comparable to the remaining term of the notes of the applicable series to be redeemed from the redemption date to the applicable
maturity date (“Remaining Life”) that would be utilized, at the time of selection and in accordance with customary financial practice, in
pricing new issues of corporate debt securities of comparable maturity to the Remaining Life of such notes of the applicable series.

“Comparable Treasury Price” means, with respect to any redemption date, (1) the average of four reference treasury dealer quotations
for such redemption date, after excluding the highest and lowest reference treasury dealer quotations, or (2) if the Independent Investment
Banker obtains fewer than four such reference treasury dealer quotations, the average of all such quotations.

“Independent Investment Banker” means one of the Reference Treasury Dealers as specified by the issuer, or, if those firms are
unwilling or unable to select the Comparable Treasury Issue, an independent investment banking institution of national standing appointed by
the issuer.

“Reference Treasury Dealer Quotations” means, with respect to each Reference Treasury Dealer and any redemption date, the
average, as determined by the Independent Investment Banker, of the bid and asked prices for the Comparable Treasury Issue (expressed in
each case as a percentage of its principal amount) quoted in writing to the Independent Investment Banker at 5:00 p.m., New York City time,
on the calculation date.

2025 notes. At any time prior to December 10, 2024, we may at our option redeem the 2025 notes, in whole or in part, at a
redemption price equal to the greater of: (a) 100% of the principal amount of the notes to be redeemed; and (b) the sum of the present value of
(i) the redemption price (100% of the principal amount of the 2025 notes to be redeemed) on December 10, 2024 and (ii) all required
remaining scheduled interest payments due on the 2025 notes to be redeemed through December 10, 2024 (not including any portion of such
payments of interest accrued and unpaid to the date of redemption) discounted to the date of redemption on an annual basis (Actual/Actual
ICMA) at the applicable Comparable Government Bond Rate plus 20 basis points, plus accrued and unpaid interest on the principal amount
of the 2025 notes to be redeemed to, but not including, the redemption date. If the 2025 notes are redeemed at any time on or after December
10, 2024, the 2025 notes may be redeemed at a redemption price equal to 100% of the principal amount of the 2025 notes to be redeemed plus
accrued and unpaid interest thereon to, but not including, the redemption date.

2026 notes. At any time prior to October 15, 2025, we may at our option redeem the 2026 notes, in whole or in part, at a redemption
price equal to the greater of: (A) 100% of the principal amount of the 2026 notes to be redeemed; and (B) the sum of the present value of (i)
the redemption price (100% of the principal amount of the 2026 notes to be redeemed) on October 15, 2025 and (ii) all required remaining
scheduled interest payments due on the 2026 notes to be redeemed through October 15, 2025 (not including any portion of such payments of
interest accrued and unpaid to the redemption date) discounted to the redemption date on a semi-annual basis (assuming a 360-day year
consisting of twelve 30-day months) at the Treasury Rate plus 30 basis points; plus accrued and unpaid interest on the principal amount of the
2026 notes to be redeemed to, but not including, the redemption date. If the 2026 notes are redeemed at any time on or after October 15,
2025, the 2026 notes may be redeemed at a redemption price equal to 100% of the principal amount of the 2026 notes to be redeemed plus
accrued and unpaid interest thereon to, but not including, the redemption date.

2028 notes. At any time prior to June 15, 2028, we may at our option redeem the 2028 notes, in whole or in part, at a redemption
price equal to the greater of: (A) 100% of the principal amount of the
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2028 notes to be redeemed; and (B) the sum of the present value of (i) the redemption price (100% of the principal amount of the 2028 notes
to be redeemed) on June 15, 2028 and (ii) all required remaining scheduled interest payments due on the 2028 notes to be redeemed through
June 15, 2028 (not including any portion of such payments of interest accrued and unpaid to the Redemption Date) discounted to the
Redemption Date on an annual basis (Actual/Actual ICMA) at the applicable Comparable Government Bond Rate plus 25 basis points, plus
accrued and unpaid interest on the principal amount of the 2028 notes to be redeemed to, but not including, the Redemption Date. If the 2028
notes are redeemed at any time on or after June 15, 2028, the 2028 notes may be redeemed at a redemption price equal to 100% of the
principal amount of the 2028 notes to be redeemed plus accrued and unpaid interest thereon to, but not including, the Redemption Date.

2029 notes. At any time prior to December 15, 2028, we may at our option redeem the 2029 notes, in whole or in part, at a
redemption price equal to the greater of: (A) 100% of the principal amount of the 2029 notes to be redeemed; and (B) the sum of the present
value of (i) the redemption price (100% of the principal amount of the 2029 notes to be redeemed) on December 15, 2028 and (ii) all required
remaining scheduled interest payments due on the 2029 notes to be redeemed through December 15, 2028 (not including any portion of such
payments of interest accrued and unpaid to the redemption date) discounted to the redemption date on a semi-annual basis (assuming a 360-
day year consisting of twelve 30-day months) at the Treasury Rate plus 25 basis points; plus accrued and unpaid interest on the principal
amount of the 2029 notes to be redeemed to, but not including, the redemption date. If the 2029 notes are redeemed at any time on or after
December 15, 2028, the 2029 notes may be redeemed at a redemption price equal to 100% of the principal amount of the 2029 notes to be
redeemed plus accrued and unpaid interest thereon to, but not including, the redemption date.

2046 notes. At any time prior to April 1, 2046, we may at our option redeem the 2046 notes, in whole or in part, at a redemption price
equal to the greater of: (A) 100% of the principal amount of the 2046 notes to be redeemed; and (B) the sum of the present value of (i) the
redemption price (100% of the principal amount of the 2046 notes to be redeemed) on April 1, 2046 and (ii) all required remaining scheduled
interest payments due on the 2046 notes to be redeemed through April 1, 2046 (not including any portion of such payments of interest
accrued and unpaid to the Redemption Date) discounted to the Redemption Date on a semi-annual basis (assuming a 360-day year consisting
of twelve 30-day months) at the Treasury Rate plus 30 basis points, plus accrued and unpaid interest on the principal amount of the 2046
notes to be redeemed to, but not including, the redemption date. If the 2046 notes are redeemed at any time on or after April 1, 2046, the 2046
notes may be redeemed at a redemption price equal to 100% of the principal amount of the 2046 notes to be redeemed plus accrued and
unpaid interest thereon to, but not including, the redemption date.

2049 notes. At any time prior to September 15, 2048, we may at our option redeem the 2049 notes, in whole or in part, at a
redemption price equal to the greater of: (A) 100% of the principal amount of the 2049 notes to be redeemed; and (B) the sum of the present
value of (i) the redemption price (100% of the principal amount of the 2049 notes to be redeemed) on September 15, 2048 and (ii) all required
remaining scheduled interest payments due on the 2049 notes to be redeemed through September 15, 2048 (not including any portion of such
payments of interest accrued and unpaid to the redemption date) discounted to the redemption date on a semi-annual basis (assuming a 360-
day year consisting of twelve 30-day months) at the Treasury Rate plus 37.5 basis points; plus accrued and unpaid interest on the principal
amount of the 2049 notes to be redeemed to, but not including, the redemption date. The Treasury Rate will be calculated on the Calculation
Date. If the 2049 notes are redeemed at any time on or after September 15, 2048, the 2049 notes may be redeemed at a redemption price equal
to 100% of the principal amount of the 2049 notes to be redeemed plus accrued and unpaid interest thereon to, but not including, the
redemption date.
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General

On and after the applicable redemption date with respect to a series of notes, interest will cease to accrue on such notes or any portion
of such notes called for redemption (unless we default in the payment of the redemption price and accrued interest). On or before the
redemption date, we will deposit with the trustee or its agent money sufficient to pay the redemption price of and (unless the redemption date
shall be an interest payment date) accrued and unpaid interest to the redemption date on the notes to be redeemed on such date. If less than all
of the notes of a series are to be redeemed, the notes of such series to be redeemed shall be selected in accordance with applicable depositary
procedures. Additionally, we may at any time repurchase notes in the open market and may hold or surrender such notes to the trustee for
cancellation.

Notice of redemption will be transmitted at least 15 days (or 10 days with respect to the 2029 notes and the 2049 notes) but not more
than 60 days before the applicable redemption date to each holder of notes to be redeemed. We will be responsible for calculating the
redemption price of the notes or portions thereof called for redemption.

Payment of Additional Amounts

If any withholding or deduction for or on account of taxes imposed or levied by or on behalf of the United States, the United
Kingdom, Jersey, any other jurisdiction in which we are incorporated, organized, engaged in business or otherwise resident for tax purposes,
or any other jurisdiction from or through which such payment is made, or in each case any political subdivision or taxing authority or agency
thereof or therein (each, a “Relevant Jurisdiction”) is at any time required by law to be made from any payment made with respect to such
notes or the note guarantee, we will pay such additional amounts (“Additional Amounts”) on such notes or in respect of the applicable note
guarantee as may be necessary so that the net amount received by each holder of such notes (including Additional Amounts) after such
withholding or deduction will not be less than the amount the holder would have received if such taxes had not been withheld or deducted;
provided that no Additional Amounts will be payable with respect to taxes:

(1) that would not have been imposed but for the holder or the beneficial owner of such note (or a fiduciary, settlor, beneficiary,
member or shareholder of, or possessor of a power over, such holder or beneficial owner, if such holder or beneficial owner is an
estate, trust, partnership or corporation) being considered as having a present or former connection with a Relevant Jurisdiction
(other than a connection arising solely as a result of the acquisition, ownership or disposition of the notes, the receipt of any
payment under or with respect to the notes or any note guarantee, or the exercise or enforcement of any rights under or with
respect to the notes, the indenture or any note guarantee), including, without limitation, such holder or beneficial owner (or such
fiduciary, settlor, beneficiary, member, shareholder or possessor) being or having been a citizen or resident thereof or treated as a
resident thereof or domiciled therein or a national thereof or being or having been engaged in a trade or business therein or having
or having had a permanent establishment therein;

(2) that would not have been imposed but for the failure of the holder or any other person to comply with certification, identification
or information reporting requirements concerning the nationality, residence, identity or connection with the Relevant Jurisdiction
of the holder or beneficial owner, if compliance is required by statute, by regulation of the Relevant Jurisdiction or by an
applicable income tax treaty to which the Relevant Jurisdiction is a party as a precondition to exemption from such tax;

(3) payable other than by withholding from payments of principal of or interest on the notes or from payments in respect of a note
guarantee;
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(4) that would not have been imposed but for a change in law, regulation or administrative or judicial interpretation that becomes
effective more than 15 days after the payment becomes due or is duly provided for, whichever occurs later;

(5) that are estate, inheritance, gift, sales, excise, transfer, wealth, capital gains or personal property or similar taxes;

(6) required to be withheld by any paying agent from any payment of principal of or interest on any note, if such payment can be
made without such withholding by at least one other paying agent;

(7) that would not have been imposed but for the presentation by the holder of any note, where presentation is required, for payment
on a date more than 30 days after the date on which such payment became due and payable or the date on which payment thereof
was duly provided for, whichever occurred later (except to the extent that the holder would have been entitled to Additional
Amounts had the note been presented on the last day of such 30-day period);

(8) that are imposed under Sections 1471 through 1474 of the Code as of the issue date of the applicable series of notes (or any
amended or successor provision that is substantively comparable), any current or future regulations or official interpretations
thereof, any agreement entered into pursuant to Section 1471(b) of the Code as of the issue date of the applicable series of notes
(or any amended or successor provision that is substantively comparable) or any fiscal or regulatory legislation, rules or practices
adopted pursuant to any intergovernmental agreement entered into in connection with the implementation of such sections of the
Code; or

(9) in the case of any combination of clauses (1), (2), (3), (4), (5), (6), (7) and (8);

nor shall Additional Amounts be paid with respect to any payment of the principal of or interest, if any, on any note or any payment in
respect of a note guarantee to any such holder who is a fiduciary or a partnership that is not the sole beneficial owner of such payment to
the extent a beneficiary or settlor with respect to such fiduciary or a member of such partnership or the beneficial owner would not have
been entitled to such Additional Amounts had it been the holder of the note.

Redemption for Tax Reasons

We may redeem the such notes as a whole but not in part, at our option at any time prior to maturity, upon the giving of a written
notice of redemption to the holders, with a copy to the trustee, if we determine that, as a result of: (i) any change in or amendment to the laws,
or any regulations or rulings promulgated under the laws, of a Relevant Jurisdiction affecting taxation, or (ii) any change in or amendment to
an official position regarding the application or interpretation of the laws, regulations or rulings referred to above, which change or
amendment is announced and becomes effective after the issue date of the applicable series of notes (or, if the Relevant Jurisdiction becomes
a Relevant Jurisdiction on a date after the issue date of the applicable series of notes, after such later date) (each of the foregoing, a “Change
in Tax Law”), we are or will become obligated to pay Additional Amounts with respect to such notes or such note guarantees on the next
succeeding interest payment date (but in the case of a guarantor, only if the payments giving rise to such obligation cannot be made by us or
another guarantor without the obligation to pay Additional Amounts), and the payment of such Additional Amounts cannot be avoided by the
use of reasonable measures available to us or the guarantors.

The redemption price will be equal to 100% of the principal amount of such notes plus accrued and unpaid interest to but excluding
the date fixed for redemption (a “Tax Redemption Date”), and all Additional Amounts (if any) then due or which will become due on the Tax
Redemption Date as a result
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of the redemption or otherwise (subject to the right of holders of such notes on any record date occurring prior to the Tax Redemption Date to
receive interest due on the relevant interest payment date and Additional Amounts (if any) in respect thereof). The date and the applicable
redemption price will be specified in the notice of tax redemption. Notice of such redemption will be irrevocable, and must be mailed by first-
class mail to each holder’s registered address, or delivered electronically if held by any depositary in accordance with such depositary’s
customary procedures, not less than 15 nor more than 60 days prior to the earliest date on which we would be obligated to pay such
Additional Amounts if a payment in respect of such notes were actually due on such date. No such notice of redemption will be given unless,
at the time such notification of redemption is given, such obligation to pay such Additional Amounts remains in effect.

Certain Covenants

Limitation of Liens

We will not, and will not permit any Restricted Subsidiary to, directly or indirectly, incur or permit to exist any lien (the “Initial
Lien”) of any nature whatsoever on any principal property or capital stock of a Restricted Subsidiary, whether owned at the issue date of the
applicable series of notes or thereafter acquired, which Initial Lien secures any indebtedness, without effectively providing that the notes of
the applicable series shall be secured equally and ratably with (or prior to) the obligations so secured for so long as such obligations are so
secured other than the following (“Permitted Liens”):

(1) Liens securing indebtedness under credit facilities in an aggregate principal amount not to exceed $2,075 million;

(2) pledges or deposits by such person under workers’ compensation laws, unemployment insurance laws or similar legislation, or
good faith deposits in connection with bids, tenders, contracts (other than for the payment of indebtedness) or leases, subleases,
licenses or sublicenses to which such Person is a party, or deposits to secure public or statutory obligations of such Person or
deposits of cash or United States government bonds to secure surety, stay, customs, replevin or appeal bonds to which such
Person is a party, or deposits as security or for the payment of rent, in each case incurred in the ordinary course of business;

(3) Liens imposed by law, such as carriers’, warehousemen’s and mechanics’, materialman’s, repairman’s, landlord’s, workman’s,
supplier’s and other like liens, in each case for sums not yet due or being contested in good faith by appropriate proceedings or
other liens arising out of judgments or awards against such Person with respect to which such person shall then be proceeding
with an appeal or other proceedings for review;

(4) Liens for taxes, assessments or other governmental charges not yet due or payable or subject to penalties for non-payment or
which are being contested in good faith by appropriate proceedings;

(5) Liens in favor of issuers of surety or performance bonds or letters of credit, bank guarantees, bankers’ acceptances or similar
credit transactions issued pursuant to the request of and for the account of such Person in the ordinary course of its business;

(6) survey exceptions, encumbrances, easements or reservations of, or rights of others for, licenses, rights-of-way, sewers, electric
lines, telegraph and telephone lines and other similar purposes, or zoning or other restrictions as to the use of real property or
Liens incidental to the conduct of the business of such Person or to the ownership of its properties which do not in the aggregate
materially adversely affect the value of said properties or materially impair their use in the operation of the business of such
Person;
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(7) Liens securing indebtedness incurred to finance the construction, purchase or lease of, or repairs, improvements or additions to,
property of such person; provided, however, that the lien may not extend to any other property (other than accessions thereto,
proceeds and products thereof and property related to the property being financed or through cross-collateralization of individual
financings of equipment provided by the same lender) owned by such person or any of its subsidiaries at the time the lien is
incurred, and the indebtedness (other than any interest thereon) secured by the lien may not be incurred more than 270 days after
the later of the acquisition, completion of construction, repair, improvement, addition or commencement of full operation of the
property subject to the lien;

(8) Liens existing on the issue date of the applicable series of notes and extensions, renewals, refinancings and replacements of any
such liens (including any future liens securing indebtedness that the we designate as a “replacement” of such liens for purposes of
this clause, even if such new indebtedness is not issued concurrently with the repayment of the indebtedness so secured, the
proceeds thereof are not used to repay such indebtedness secured by such liens or such indebtedness is incurred for different
purposes and by a different borrower) so long as the principal amount of indebtedness (including for this purpose, revolving
commitments under the relevant credit agreement as in effect on the issue date of the applicable series of notes immediately
before the issuance of the notes, which shall be deemed to be outstanding for these purposes even if undrawn) or other obligations
secured thereby is not increased (other than to cover premiums, fees, accrued interest and any expenses of such extension,
renewal, refinancing or replacement) and so long as such liens are not extended to any other property of ours or any of our
subsidiaries (other than pursuant to blanket lien or after acquired property clauses existing in the applicable agreements (including
any obligation to have new guarantors provide liens on the same assets owned by us));

(9) Liens on property or shares of stock of another person at the time such other person becomes a subsidiary of such person;
provided, however, that such liens are not created, incurred or assumed in connection with, or in contemplation of, such other
person becoming such a subsidiary; provided further, however, that such liens do not extend to any other property owned by such
person or any of its subsidiaries, except proceeds and products thereof and improvements thereon or pursuant to after acquired
property clauses existing in the applicable agreements at the time such person becomes a subsidiary which do not extend to
property transferred to such person by us or a Restricted Subsidiary;

(10) Liens on property at the time such person or any of its subsidiaries acquires the property, including any acquisition by means of a
merger or consolidation with or into such person or any subsidiary of such person; provided, however, that such liens are not
created,    incurred or assumed in connection with, or in contemplation of, such acquisition; provided further, however, that the
liens do not extend to any other property owned by such person or any of its subsidiaries other than proceeds or products thereof
and accessions thereto;

(11) Liens securing indebtedness or other obligations of ours or a subsidiary owing to us or a subsidiary of ours;

(12) Liens to secure any refinancing (or successive refinancings) as a whole, or in part, of any     indebtedness secured by any lien
referred to in the foregoing clauses (7), (9) and (10); provided, however, that:
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i. such new lien shall be limited to all or part of the same property that secured the original lien (plus improvements,
accessions, proceeds, dividends or distributions in respect thereof) and

ii. the indebtedness secured by such lien at such time is not increased to any amount greater than the sum of:

1.the outstanding principal amount or, if greater, committed amount of the indebtedness secured by liens described
under clauses (7), (9) or (10) at the time the original lien became a permitted lien under the relevant indenture;
and

2.an amount necessary to pay any fees and expenses, including premiums, related to such refinancings;

(13) judgment liens not giving rise to an Event of Default;

(14) Liens securing indebtedness consisting of (A) the financing of insurance premiums with the providers of such insurance or their
affiliates and (B) take-or-pay obligations contained in supply arrangements in the ordinary course of business; and

(15) other liens to secure indebtedness as long as the amount of outstanding indebtedness secured by liens incurred pursuant to this
clause (15), when aggregated with the amount of attributable debt outstanding and incurred, does not exceed 15.0% of
Consolidated Total Assets at the time any such lien is granted; provided, however, notwithstanding whether this clause (15)
would otherwise be available to secure indebtedness, liens securing indebtedness originally secured pursuant to this clause (15)
may secure refinancing indebtedness in respect of such indebtedness and such refinancing indebtedness shall be deemed to have
been secured pursuant to this clause (15).

Limitation on Sale and Leaseback Transactions

We will not, and will not permit any Restricted Subsidiary to, enter into any sale and leaseback transaction with respect to any
Principal Property unless:

(1) the sale and leaseback transaction is solely with the us or a subsidiary of us;

(2) the lease is for a period not in excess of 24 months, including renewals;

(3) we or such Restricted Subsidiary would (at the time of entering into such arrangement) be entitled as described in clauses (1)
through (14) of the definition of “Permitted Liens,” without equally and ratably securing the notes then outstanding under the
indenture, to create, incur, issue, assume or guarantee indebtedness secured by a lien on such property in the amount of the
attributable debt arising from such sale and leaseback transaction;

(4) we or such Restricted Subsidiary within 360 days after the sale of such Principal Property in connection with such sale and
leaseback transaction is completed, applies an amount equal to the net proceeds of the sale of such Principal Property to (i) the
permanent retirement of notes, other indebtedness of the issuer ranking on a parity with the notes or our indebtedness or our
subsidiary or (ii) the purchase of property; or

(5) the attributable debt of us and our Restricted Subsidiaries in respect of such sale and leaseback transaction and all other sale and
leaseback transactions entered into after the issue date of the applicable series of notes (other than any such sale and leaseback
transaction as would be permitted as described in clauses (1) through (4) of this sentence), plus the aggregate principal amount of
indebtedness secured by liens on properties then outstanding
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(not including any such indebtedness secured by liens described in clauses (1) through (14) of the definition of “Permitted Liens”)
which do not equally and ratably secure such outstanding notes (or secure such outstanding notes on a basis that is prior to other
indebtedness secured thereby), would not exceed 15% of Consolidated Total Assets.

Merger and Consolidation

We will not, directly or indirectly, consolidate with or merge with or into, or convey, transfer or lease all or substantially all our assets
in one or a series of related transactions to, any person, unless: (1) the resulting, surviving or transferee person (the “Successor Company”)
will be a corporation, limited liability company, limited liability partnership, limited company, or other similar organization organized and
existing under the laws of (x) the United States of America or any State thereof or the District of Columbia or (y) the United Kingdom, Jersey
and any other jurisdiction in the Channel Islands, any member state of the European Union as in effect on the Issue Date, Switzerland,
Bermuda, The Cayman Islands or Singapore, provided that, the Successor Company (if not us) will expressly assume, by a supplemental
indenture, executed and delivered to the trustee, all the obligations of the issuer under the indenture and the notes (and, if the Successor
Company is not a corporation, we shall cause a corporate co-issuer to become a co-obligor on the notes) and (2) immediately after giving
effect to such transaction, no default shall have occurred and be continuing.

In addition, we will not and will not permit any other guarantor to, directly or indirectly, consolidate with or merge with or into, or
convey, transfer or lease all or substantially all of its assets in one or a series of related transactions to, any person unless: (1) (A) the
resulting, surviving or transferee person (the “Successor Guarantor”) will be a corporation, limited liability partnership, limited liability
company, limited company, or other similar organization (and in the case of any such transaction involving us, such Successor Guarantor
shall be organized under the laws of the jurisdiction of organization of the United States of America (or any state thereof or the District of
Columbia), the United Kingdom, Jersey and any other jurisdiction in the Channel Islands, any member state of the European Union as in
effect on the Issue Date, Switzerland, Bermuda, The Cayman Islands or Singapore, and such person (if not such Guarantor) will expressly
assume, by a supplemental indenture, executed and delivered to the trustee, all the obligations of such guarantor under its note guarantee; (B)
immediately after giving effect to such transaction, no Default shall have occurred and be continuing; and (2) such Guarantor will be released
from its Note Guarantee in connection therewith as provided in the Indenture.

Notwithstanding the first paragraph above or the immediately preceding paragraph: (A) any of our subsidiaries may consolidate with,
merge into or transfer all or part of its properties and assets to us, any guarantor or any subsidiary; and (b) we and any guarantor may merge
with an affiliate organized solely for the purpose of our reorganization or that of such guarantor in another jurisdiction.

Definitions

“Consolidated Total Assets” means, at any time, the total consolidated assets of us and our subsidiaries, as shown on our most recent
balance sheet at such time calculated on a pro forma basis to give effect to any acquisition or disposition of any person or line of business
after the date thereof.

“Principal Property” means any manufacturing or production plant located in the United States of America (including fixtures but
excluding leases and other contract rights which might otherwise be deemed real property) owned by us or any Restricted Subsidiary, whether
owned on the date hereof or thereafter, provided each such plant has a net book value at the date as of which the determination is being made
of in excess of 1% of our Consolidated Total Assets and our subsidiaries, other than any such plant which, in the opinion of the Board of
Directors (evidenced by a certified board resolution thereof delivered to the trustee), is not of material importance to the business conducted
by us and our subsidiaries taken as a whole.
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“Restricted Subsidiary” means any of our domestic subsidiaries that directly owns any Principal Property.

Events of Default

An “Event of Default” under the notes means:

(a) a default in any payment of interest on the notes when due and payable and such default continues for a period of 30 days;

(b) a default in the payment of principal of any note when due and payable at its stated maturity, upon any mandatory or optional
redemption or required repurchase, upon declaration of acceleration or otherwise;

(c) the failure by us or any guarantor to comply with our other agreements contained in the indentures applicable to the notes for 90
days after we or such guarantor receives written notice specifying the default (and demanding that such default be remedied) from
the trustee or the holders of at least 25% of the outstanding principal amount of the notes affected thereby;

(d) we:

(i) commence a voluntary case,

(ii) consent to the entry of an order for relief against us in an involuntary case,

(iii)  consent to the appointment of a custodian (which term includes the Viscount in Jersey) for us or for all or substantially
all of our property, or

(iv)  make a general assignment for the benefit of our creditors; and

(e) a court of competent jurisdiction enters an order or decree under any bankruptcy law that:

(i) is for relief against us in an involuntary case;

(ii) appoints a custodian (which term includes the Viscount in Jersey) for us, or for all or substantially all of our property; or

(iii)  orders our liquidation, and the order or decree remains unstayed and in effect for 60 consecutive days.

The foregoing will constitute Events of Default with respect to the notes whatever the reason for any such Event of Default for any
series issued and whether it is voluntary or involuntary or is effected by operation of law or pursuant to any judgment, decree or order of any
court or any order, rule or regulation of any administrative or governmental body.

However, a default under clause (c) above will not constitute an Event of Default with respect to the notes until the trustee notifies us
or the holders of at least 25% in principal amount of the outstanding notes of all series affected thereby notify us or the guarantors and the
trustee of the default and we do not cure such default within the time specified in clause (c) above after receipt of such notice.

Modification and Waiver

The indentures may be amended or modified without the consent of any holder of notes in order to:

(a) cure any ambiguity, omission, defect or inconsistency;
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(b) provide for the assumption by a successor entity of the obligations of ours or any guarantor under the relevant indenture;

(c) to establish the form or forms or terms of notes of any series;

(d) provide for global notes in addition to or in place of certificated notes (provided, however, that the global notes are issued in
registered form for purposes of Section 163(f) of the Code);

(e) provide for any guarantees with respect to the notes or to confirm and evidence the release, termination or discharge of any
guarantee when such release, termination or discharge is permitted under the relevant indenture;

(f) add to our covenants for the benefit of the holders of notes of any series issued or to surrender any right or power conferred upon
us;

(g) make any amendment to the provisions of the relevant indenture relating to the form, authentication, transfer and legending of
notes of any series issued; provided, however, that (i) compliance with the relevant indenture as so amended would not result in
such notes being transferred in violation of the Securities Act or any other applicable securities law and (ii) such amendment does
not materially affect the rights of holders to transfer such notes;

(h) comply with any requirement of the SEC in connection with the qualification of the relevant indenture under the Trust Indenture
Act;

(i) conform any provision of the relevant indenture or the notes of any series issued to the provisions of the offering document
relating to any series issued of notes;

(j) modify any provisions of the relevant indenture, which modifications apply solely to series of notes not outstanding on the date of
such supplemental indenture; or

(k) make any other change that does not adversely affect the rights of any holder of notes of any series issued in any material respect;
and

(l) convey, transfer, assign, mortgage or pledge as security for the notes of any series issued any property or assets.

Other amendments and modifications of the indentures or the notes issued may be made with the consent of the holders of not less
than a majority of the aggregate principal amount of the outstanding notes of each series affected by the amendment or modification.
However, no modification or amendment may, without the consent of the holder of each outstanding note affected:

(a) reduce the amount of notes of any series issued whose holders must consent to an amendment, supplement or waiver;

(b) reduce the rate of or extend the time for payment of interest on any note of any series issued;

(c) reduce the principal of or extend the Stated Maturity of any note of any series issued;

(d) reduce the premium payable upon the redemption of any note of any series issued or change the scheduled date at which any note
of any series issued may be redeemed;

(e) make any notes of any series issued payable in money other than that stated in such notes;

(f) impair the right of any holder to receive payment of principal of and interest on such note on or after the due dates therefore or to
institute suit for the enforcement of such payment on or with respect to such holder’s notes; or

(g) make any change in the amendment provisions which require each holder’s consent or in the waiver provisions.
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Satisfaction, Discharge and Covenant Defeasance

We may terminate our obligations under the indentures, when:

(a) either:

(i) all the notes of any series issued that have been authenticated and delivered (except lost, stolen or destroyed notes of any
series issued which have been replaced or paid and notes of any series issued for whose payment money has theretofore
been deposited in trust or segregated and held in trust by us and thereafter repaid to us or discharged from such trust) have
been delivered to the trustee or Registrar and Paying Agent for cancellation or

(ii) all notes of any series issued not theretofore delivered to the trustee or Registrar and Paying Agent for cancellation have
become due and payable or will become due and payable within one year, whether at maturity or on a Redemption Date,
pursuant to an irrevocable redemption notice, and we have deposited or caused to be deposited with the trustee or
Registrar and Paying Agent funds or U.S. Government Obligations in an amount sufficient to pay and discharge the entire
indebtedness on the notes of any series issued not theretofore delivered to the Trustee or Registrar and Paying Agent for
cancellation, for principal of, premium, if any, and interest on the notes of any series issued to the date of deposit together
with irrevocable instructions from us directing the Trustee or Registrar and Paying Agent to apply such funds to the
payment thereof at maturity or redemption, as the case may be;

(b) we have paid all other sums due and payable under the relevant indenture; and

(c) we have delivered to the trustee or Registrar and Paying Agent an officer’s certificate and an opinion of counsel stating that all
conditions precedent under the relevant indenture relating to the satisfaction and discharge of the relevant indenture have been
complied with.

We may elect to have our obligations under the indenture discharged with respect to the outstanding notes of any series (“legal
defeasance”). Legal defeasance means that we will be deemed to have paid and discharged the entire indebtedness represented by the
outstanding notes of any series issued under the relevant indenture, except for:

(a) the rights of holders of the notes to receive principal, interest and any premium when due;

(b) our obligations with respect to the notes concerning issuing temporary notes, registration of transfer of the notes, mutilated,
destroyed, lost or stolen notes and the maintenance of an office or agency for payment for security payments held in trust;

(c) the rights, powers, trusts, duties and immunities of the trustee; and

(d) the defeasance provisions of the indenture.

In addition, we may elect to have our obligations released with respect to certain covenants in the indenture (“covenant defeasance”).
Any omission to comply with these obligations will not constitute a default or an event of default with respect to the notes of any series. In
the event covenant defeasance occurs, certain events, not including non-payment, bankruptcy and insolvency events, described under “Events
of Default” above will no longer constitute an event of default for that series.

In order to exercise either legal defeasance or covenant defeasance with respect to outstanding notes of any series:
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(a) we must deposit with the paying agent, in trust, for the benefit of the holders, cash in United States dollars, U.S. government
obligations, or a combination thereof, in such amounts as will be sufficient, without consideration of any reinvestment of such
principal and interest, in the opinion of a nationally recognized firm of independent public accountants expressed in a written
certification thereof delivered to the trustee, to pay the principal amount at maturity of, premium, if any, and interest on the
outstanding notes of any series issued on the stated date for payment thereof or on the applicable redemption date, as the case may
be;

(b) in the case of legal defeasance, we must have delivered to the trustee an opinion of counsel in the United States of America
reasonably acceptable to the trustee confirming that (i) we have received from, or there has been published by, the Internal
Revenue Service a ruling or (ii) since the date of the relevant indenture, there has been a change in the applicable Federal income
tax law, in either case to the effect that, and based thereon such opinion of counsel shall confirm that, the holders of the
outstanding notes of any series issued will not recognize income, gain or loss for Federal income tax purposes as a result of such
legal defeasance and will be subject to Federal income tax on the same amounts, in the same manner and at the same times as
would have been the case if such legal defeasance had not occurred;

(c) in the case of covenant defeasance, we must have delivered to the trustee an opinion of counsel in the United States of America
reasonably acceptable to the trustee confirming that the holders of the outstanding notes of any series issued will not recognize
income, gain or loss for Federal income tax purposes as a result of such covenant defeasance and will be subject to Federal
income tax on the same amounts, in the same manner and at the same times as would have been the case if such covenant
defeasance had not occurred;

(d) no Default or Event of Default shall have occurred and be continuing on the date of such deposit;

(e) such legal defeasance or covenant defeasance shall not result in a breach or violation of, or constitute a default under the relevant
indenture (other than a Default or an Event of Default resulting from the borrowing of funds to be applied to such deposit and the
grant of any lien securing such borrowing) or any other material agreement or instrument to which we our any of our subsidiaries
is a party or by which we or any of our subsidiaries is bound;

(f) we must have delivered to the trustee an officer’s certificate and an opinion of counsel, each stating that all conditions precedent
provided for or relating to the legal defeasance or the covenant defeasance have been complied with; an

(g) we must have paid or duly provided for payment of all amounts then due to the trustee.

Notwithstanding the foregoing, the opinion of counsel required by clause (b) above with respect to a legal defeasance need not be
delivered if all notes of any series issued not therefor delivered to the Registrar for cancellation (i) have become due and payable or (ii) will
become due and payable on the maturity date or upon redemption within one year under arrangements satisfactory to the trustee for giving of
notice of redemption by the trustee or Registrar in the name, and at our expense.

Book-Entry, Delivery and Settlement

2025 notes and 2028 notes

We have obtained the information in this section concerning Clearstream and Euroclear and their book-entry systems and procedures
from sources that we believe to be reliable. We take no responsibility for an accurate portrayal of this information. In addition, the description
of the clearing systems in this
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section reflects our understanding of the rules and procedures of Clearstream and Euroclear as they are currently in effect. Those clearing
systems could change their rules and procedures at any time.

The notes of each series were initially represented by one or more fully registered global notes. Each such global note was deposited
with, or on behalf of, a common depositary and registered in the name of the nominee of the common depositary for the accounts of
Clearstream and Euroclear. Except as set forth below, the global notes may be transferred, in whole and not in part, only to Euroclear or
Clearstream or their respective nominees. You may hold your interests in the global notes in Europe through Clearstream or Euroclear, either
as a participant in such systems or indirectly through organizations which are participants in such systems. Clearstream and Euroclear will
hold interests in the global notes on behalf of their respective participating organizations or customers through customers’ securities accounts
in Clearstream’s or Euroclear’s names on the books of their respective depositaries. Book-entry interests in the notes and all transfers relating
to the notes will be reflected in the book-entry records of Clearstream and Euroclear. The address of Clearstream is 42 Avenue JF Kennedy,
L-1855 Luxembourg, Luxembourg and the address of Euroclear is 1 Boulevard Roi Albert II, B-1210 Brussels, Belgium.

The distribution of the notes was cleared through Clearstream and Euroclear. Any secondary market trading of book-entry interests in
the notes will take place through Clearstream and Euroclear participants and will settle in same-day funds. Owners of book-entry interests in
the notes will receive payments relating to their notes in euro with respect to the 2028 notes and U.S. dollars with respect to the 2025 notes,
except as described in the applicable prospectus supplement.

Clearstream and Euroclear have established electronic securities and payment transfer, processing, depositary and custodial links
among themselves and others, either directly or through custodians and depositaries. These links allow the notes to be issued, held and
transferred among the clearing systems without the physical transfer of certificates. Special procedures to facilitate clearance and settlement
have been established among these clearing systems to trade securities across borders in the secondary market.

The policies of Clearstream and Euroclear govern payments, transfers, exchanges and other matters relating to the investor’s interest
in the notes held by them. We have no responsibility for any aspect of the records kept by Clearstream or Euroclear or any of their direct or
indirect participants. We also do not supervise these systems in any way.

Clearstream and Euroclear and their participants perform these clearance and settlement functions under agreements they have made
with one another or with their customers. You should be aware that they are not obligated to perform or continue to perform these procedures
and may modify them or discontinue them at any time.

Except as provided otherwise, owners of beneficial interests in the notes will not be entitled to have the notes registered in their
names, will not receive or be entitled to receive physical delivery of the notes in definitive form and will not be considered the owners or
holders of the notes under the indenture, including for purposes of receiving any reports delivered by us or the trustee pursuant to the
indenture. Accordingly, each person owning a beneficial interest in a note must rely on the procedures of the depositary and, if such person is
not a participant, on the procedures of the participant through which such person owns its interest, in order to exercise any rights of a holder
of notes.

Certificated Notes. Subject to certain conditions, the notes represented by the global notes are exchangeable for certificated notes in
definitive form of like tenor in minimum denominations of €100,000 principal amount and integral multiples of €1,000 in excess thereof if:
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(1) the common depositary provides notification that it is unwilling, unable or no longer qualified to continue as depositary
for the global notes and a successor is not appointed within 90 days;

(2) we in our discretion at any time determine not to have all the notes of any series represented by the global note; or

(3) default entitling the holders of the applicable notes of any series to accelerate the maturity thereof has occurred and is
continuing.

Any note of any series that is exchangeable as above is exchangeable for certificated notes of any series issued issuable in authorized
denominations and registered in such names as the common depositary shall direct. Subject to the foregoing, a global note is not
exchangeable, except for a global note of the same aggregate denomination to be registered in the name of the common depositary (or its
nominee).

Same-day Payment. Payments (including principal, interest and any additional amounts) and transfers with respect to notes of any
series in certificated form may be executed at the office or agency maintained for such purpose within the City of London (initially the office
of the paying agent maintained for such purpose) or, at our option, by check mailed to the holders thereof at the respective addresses set forth
in the register of holders of the applicable notes of any series issued, provided that all payments (including principal, interest and any
additional amounts) on notes in certificated form, for which the holders thereof have given wire transfer instructions, will be required to be
made by wire transfer of immediately available funds to the accounts specified by the holders thereof. No service charge will be made for any
registration of transfer, but payment of a sum sufficient to cover any tax or governmental charge payable in connection with that registration
may be required.

2026 notes, 2029 notes, 2046 notes and 2049 notes

We have obtained the information in this section concerning The Depository Trust Company (“DTC”) and their book-entry system
and procedures from sources that we believe to be reliable. We take no responsibility for an accurate portrayal of this information. In
addition, the description of the clearing systems in this section reflects our understanding of the rules and procedures of DTC as they are
currently in effect. Those clearing systems could change their rules and procedures at any time.

The notes of each series were initially represented by one or more fully registered global notes. Each such global note was deposited
with, or on behalf of, a common depositary and registered in the name of the nominee of the common depositary for the accounts of DTC.
Except as set forth below, the global notes may be transferred, in whole and not in part, only to DTC or its nominee. You may hold your
interests in the global notes through DTC, either as a participant in such systems or indirectly through organizations which are participants in
such systems. DTC will hold interests in the global notes on behalf of participating organizations or customers through customers’ securities
accounts in DTC’s names on the books of its depositaries. Book-entry interests in the notes and all transfers relating to the notes will be
reflected in the book-entry records of DTC. The address of DTC is 455 Water St, New York, NY 10004.

DTC, the world’s largest securities depository, is a limited-purpose trust company organized under the New York Banking Law, a
“banking organization” within the meaning of the New York Banking Law, a member of the Federal Reserve System, a “clearing
corporation” within the meaning of the New York Uniform Commercial Code, and a “clearing agency” registered under the provisions of
Section 17A of the Exchange Act. DTC holds and provides asset servicing for over 3.5 million issues of U.S. and non-U.S. equity issues,
corporate and municipal debt issues, and money market instruments (from over 100 countries) that DTC’s participants (“direct participants”)
deposit with DTC. DTC also facilitates the post-trade settlement among direct participants of sales and other securities transactions in
deposited securities through electronic computerized book-entry transfers and pledges between direct
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participants’ accounts. This eliminates the need for physical movement of securities certificates. Direct participants include both U.S. and
non-U.S. securities brokers and dealers, banks, trust companies, clearing corporations, and certain other organizations. DTC is a wholly
owned subsidiary of The Depository Trust & Clearing Corporation (“DTCC”). DTCC is the holding company for DTC, National Securities
Clearing Corporation, and Fixed Income Clearing Corporation, all of which are registered clearing agencies. DTCC is owned by the users of
its regulated subsidiaries. Access to the DTC system is also available to others such as both U.S. and non-U.S. securities brokers and dealers,
banks, trust companies, and clearing corporations that clear through or maintain a custodial relationship with a direct participant, either
directly or indirectly (“indirect participants”). DTC has a rating of AA+ from Standard & Poor’s Ratings Services. The DTC Rules applicable
to its participants are on file with the SEC. More information about DTC can be found at www.dtcc.com.
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Exhibit 21.1

APTIV PLC
All Subsidiaries

Entity Name Domestic Jurisdiction
A.E. Enterprises, LLC Michigan
Alambrados y Circuitos Eléctricos, S. de R.L. de C.V. Mexico
Antaya Technologies Asia Ltd. Hong Kong
Antaya Technologies Corp. Delaware
Aptiv (China) Holding Company Limited China
Aptiv (China) Technology Company Limited China
Aptiv (Shanghai) International Management Company Ltd. Shanghai
Aptiv (UK) Holdings Limited England and Wales
Aptiv Asia Pacific Holdings (UK) LLP United Kingdom
Aptiv China Holdings (US) LLC Delaware
Aptiv Components (Shanghai) Company Limited China
Aptiv Components India Private Ltd. India
Aptiv Connection Systems (Nantong) Ltd. China
Aptiv Connection Systems (Shanghai) Ltd. China
Aptiv Connection Systems Holding Deutschland GmbH Germany
Aptiv Connection Systems Holding Hong Kong Limited Hong Kong
Aptiv Connection Systems Holdings (US) LLC Delaware
Aptiv Connection Systems Hungary Kft Hungary
Aptiv Connection Systems India Private Limited India
Aptiv Connection Systems Korea LLC Korea
Aptiv Connection Systems Morocco S.A.S. Morocco
Aptiv Connection Systems Services Austria GmbH Austria
Aptiv Connection Systems Services Italia S.P.A. Italy
Aptiv Connection Systems Services Japan, Ltd. Japan
Aptiv Contract Services Ciudad Juarez, S. de R.L. de C.V. Mexico
Aptiv Contract Services d.o.o. Leskovac Serbia
Aptiv Contract Services de Mexico, S. de R.L. de C.V. Mexico
Aptiv Contract Services Matamoros, S. de R.L. de C.V. Mexico
Aptiv Contract Services Noreste, S. de R.L. de C.V. Mexico
Aptiv Contract Services Nuevo Laredo, S. de R.L. de C.V. Mexico
Aptiv Contract Services Sweden AB Sweden
Aptiv Contract Services Tamaulipas, S. de R.L. de C.V. Mexico
Aptiv Contract Services Tijuana, S. de R.L. de C.V. Mexico
Aptiv Contract Services Zacatecas, S. de R.L. de C.V. Mexico
Aptiv Contract Services, S. de R.L. de C.V. Mexico
Aptiv Corporation Delaware
Aptiv Electric Systems Company Ltd.* China
Aptiv Electrical Centers (Shanghai) Co. Ltd. China
Aptiv Electronics (Suzhou) Co. Ltd. China
Aptiv European Holdings (UK) Limited England and Wales
Aptiv Financial Holdings (UK) LLP England and Wales

*Entity is Joint Venture
• Entity in Liquidation



Aptiv Financial Investment Services (UK) Limited England and Wales
Aptiv Financial Management, LLC Delaware
Aptiv Financial Services (Luxembourg) S.a r.l. Luxembourg
Aptiv Financial Services (UK) Limited England and Wales
Aptiv Global Financial Services (Luxembourg) S.a r.l. Luxembourg
Aptiv Global Financing Limited Ireland
Aptiv Global Holdings (Luxembourg) S.a r.l. Luxembourg
Aptiv Global Holdings (UK) Limited England and Wales
Aptiv Global Holdings 2 (Luxembourg) S.àr.l Luxembourg
Aptiv Global Holdings Limited Ireland
Aptiv Global Investments UK LLP United Kingdom
Aptiv Global Investments UK LLP Luxembourg Branch Luxembourg
Aptiv Global Operations Limited Ireland
Aptiv Global Real Estate Services (US), LLC Michigan
Aptiv Holdfi (UK) Limited England and Wales
Aptiv Holdings (Austria) GmbH Austria
Aptiv Holdings (Luxembourg) S.a r.l. Luxembourg
Aptiv Holdings (UK) Limited United Kingdom
Aptiv Holdings (US), LLC Delaware
Aptiv Holdings Asia Pacific (Luxembourg) S.a r.l. Luxembourg
Aptiv Holdings Deutschland GmbH Germany
Aptiv Holdings France SAS France
Aptiv Holdings Limited Barbados
Aptiv Holdings Mexico, S. de R.L. de C.V. Mexico
Aptiv Holdings US Limited Jersey
Aptiv International Financial Services (UK) LLP England and Wales
Aptiv International Holdings (Luxembourg) S.a r.l. Luxembourg
Aptiv International Holdings (UK) LLP United Kingdom
Aptiv International Holdings (US), LLC Delaware
Aptiv International Holdings 2 (Luxembourg) S.a r.l. Luxembourg
Aptiv International Holdings UK Two LLP United Kingdom
Aptiv International Operations Luxembourg S.a.r.l. Luxembourg
Aptiv International Services Company, LLC Delaware
Aptiv Korea LLC Korea
Aptiv Latin America Holdings (Luxembourg) S.a r.l. Luxembourg
Aptiv Latin America Holdings (UK) LLP England and Wales
Aptiv Luxembourg Financial Services S.a r.l. Luxembourg
Aptiv Luxembourg Holdings (UK) Limited England and Wales
Aptiv Luxembourg Holdings S.a r.l. Luxembourg
Aptiv Malaysia Sdn. Bhd.* Malaysia
Aptiv Malta Holdings Limited Malta
Aptiv Manufactura e Servicos de Distribuicao Ltda. Brazil
Aptiv Manufacturing Management Services S.a r.l. Luxembourg
Aptiv Medical Systems, LLC Delaware
Aptiv Mexican Holdings (US) LLC Michigan
Aptiv Mobility Services Austria MAT. GmbH Austria

*Entity is Joint Venture
• Entity in Liquidation



Aptiv Mobility Services d.o.o. Novi Sad Serbia
Aptiv Mobility Services Deutschland GmbH Germany
Aptiv Mobility Services Japan, Ltd. Japan
Aptiv Properties Management Services (US) LLC Delaware
Aptiv S&P Mobility Services Spain, S.L. Spain
Aptiv S&P Solutions Holdings (Spain), S.L. Spain
Aptiv Safety & Mobility Services Singapore Pte. Ltd. Singapore
Aptiv Safety Services Deutschland GmbH Germany
Aptiv Services (Ireland) Limited Ireland
Aptiv Services 2 France SAS France
Aptiv Services 2 US, Inc. Delaware
Aptiv Services 3 (US), LLC Delaware
Aptiv Services 4 US, LLC Delaware
Aptiv Services 5 US, LLC Delaware
Aptiv Services Austria GPD. GmbH & Co KG Austria
Aptiv Services Belgium N.V. Belgium
Aptiv Services Czech s.r.o. Czech Republic
Aptiv Services Deutschland GmbH Germany
Aptiv Services Honduras, S. de R.L. de C.V. Honduras
Aptiv Services Hungary Kft. Hungary
Aptiv Services Italia S.r.l. Italy
Aptiv Services Kenitra S.A. Morocco
Aptiv Services Macedonia DOOEL Skopje Macedonia
Aptiv Services Maroc S.A. Morocco
Aptiv Services Meknes S.A.S. Morocco
Aptiv Services Netherlands B.V. Netherlands
Aptiv Services Poland S.A. Poland
Aptiv Services Tanger S.A. Morocco
Aptiv Services Tunisia Sarl Tunisia
Aptiv Services UK Limited England and Wales
Aptiv Services Ukraine LLC Ukraine
Aptiv Services US, LLC Delaware
Aptiv Technologies Limited Barbados
Aptiv Technology Services & Solutions S.R.L. Romania
Aptiv Trade Management Services (US), LLC Delaware
Aptiv Turkey Teknoloji Hizmetleri Limited Şirketi Turkey
Aptiv UK Pension Trustees Limited England and Wales
Aptiv US Operations Holdings, LLC Delaware
Aptiv US Services General Partnership Delaware
APTIVPORT SERVICES, S.A. Portugal
Arcomex S.A. de C.V. Mexico
Arneses Electricos Automotrices, S.A. de C.V. Mexico
Auburn Enterprises, LLC Delaware
Autoensambles y Logistica, S.A. de C.V. Mexico
Cablena, S.L. Spain
Centro Técnico Herramental, S. de R.L. de C.V. Mexico

*Entity is Joint Venture
• Entity in Liquidation



Control-Tec LLC Michigan
Cordaflex Espana, S.A. Spain
Cordaflex, S.A. de C.V. Mexico
Daehan Electronics Yantai Co., Ltd. China
Delphi Automotive Systems (Thailand) Ltd.• Thailand
Delphi Diesel Systems Service Mexico, S. de R.L. de C.V.* Mexico
Delphi Packard Moldova Noua S.R.L. Romania
Delphi Slovensko s.r.o.• Slovak Republic
Dynawave Cable, LLC Massachusetts
Dynawave, LLC Massachusetts
Falmat, Inc. California
gabo Systemtechnik GmbH Germany
Gabocom Ltd United Kingdom
Gabocom Sarl France
Gabriel de Mexico, S.A. de C.V. Mexico
Harwich Holding GmbH Germany
Harwich Holdings SAS France
Harwich Holdings, LLC Delaware
HellermannTyton (Proprietary) Limited South Africa
HellermannTyton (Wuxi) Electrical Accessories Company Limited China
HellermannTyton AB Sweden
HellermannTyton AB Branch Office Finland
HellermannTyton Alpha S.à r.l. Luxembourg
HellermannTyton AS Norway
HellermannTyton Australia Pty Ltd Australia
HellermannTyton Beta S.à r.l. Luxembourg
HellermannTyton BV Netherlands
HellermannTyton Canada Inc. Ontario
HellermannTyton Co. Ltd Japan
HellermannTyton Corporation Delaware
HellermannTyton Data Limited England and Wales
HellermannTyton Engineering GmbH Germany
HellermannTyton Espana SL Spain
HellermannTyton Finance PLC England and Wales
HellermannTyton GmbH (Austria) Austria
HellermannTyton GmbH (Germany) Germany
HellermannTyton Gridbow (Proprietary) Limited* South Africa
HellermannTyton Group PLC England and Wales
HellermannTyton Holdings AB Sweden
HellermannTyton Holdings Limited England and Wales
HellermannTyton Kft Hungary
HellermannTyton Limited England and Wales
HellermannTyton Limited Branch Office Ireland
HellermannTyton Ltda Brazil
HellermannTyton Manufacturas, S. de R.L. de C.V. Mexico
HellermannTyton Maroc S.àr.l. Morocco

*Entity is Joint Venture
• Entity in Liquidation



Hellermanntyton Morocco SARL AU Morocco
HellermannTyton OOO Russia
HellermannTyton Private Limited India
HellermannTyton Pte Limited Singapore
HellermannTyton Rohvel SL Spain
HellermannTyton SAS France
HellermannTyton Services GmbH Germany
HellermannTyton Services SARL AU Morocco
HellermannTyton sp. z.o.o. Poland
HellermannTyton Srl Italy
HellermannTyton SRL Argentina
HellermannTyton YH Korea
HellermannTyton, S. de R.L. de C.V. Mexico
Inmobiliaria Marlis, S.A. Mexico
Inmuebles Wagon, S.A. Mexico
Interessengemeinschaft fur Rundfunkschutzrechte GmbH Germany
Interessengemeinschaft fur Rundfunkschutzrechte GmbH Schutzrechtsverwertung & Co. KG Germany
Joint Stock Company PES/SCC* Russia
KUM LLC Korea
KUMAP Co., Ltd. Korea
Monarch Antenna, Inc.* Michigan
Motional AD Inc. Delaware
Motional AD LLC* Delaware
Motional International LLC Delaware
Motional Korea LLC Korea
Motional Singapore Pte Ltd Singapore
Movimento (Shanghai) Co, Ltd. China
Movimento Europe GmbH Germany
Movimento Group AB Sweden
Movimento International, S. de R.L. de C.V. Mexico
Movimento, Inc. Delaware
On-Site Limited England and Wales
Packard Korea Inc.* Korea
Phoenix Assets Holdings, Ltd. British Virgin Islands
Pipe Holding I GmbH Germany
Potio Holding GmbH Germany
Productos Delco de Chihuahua, S. de R.L. de C.V. Mexico
Promotora de Partes Electricas Automotrices S.A. de C.V.* Mexico
ProSTEP Produktions Technologie AG Germany
PT Aptiv Components Indonesia Indonesia
PureDepth Incorporated Limited New Zealand
PureDepth Limited New Zealand
PureDepth, Inc. Delaware
Rebafin GmbH Austria
Rio Bravo Eléctricos, S. de R.L. de C.V. Mexico
Staeng Limited England and Wales

*Entity is Joint Venture
• Entity in Liquidation



Unterstützungsgesellschaft mbH Delphi Deutschland Germany
Unwired Holdings, Inc. Delaware
WF Global (BVI) Limited British Virgin Islands
WF Global (HK) Limited Hong Kong
Winchester Holding, Inc. Delaware
Winchester Interconnect (M) Sdn. Bhd. Malaysia
Winchester Interconnect (Shanghai) Co. Ltd China
Winchester Interconnect (Suzhou) Co., Ltd. China
Winchester Interconnect Cable Assemblies, LLC South Carolina
Winchester Interconnect CM Corporation Connecticut
Winchester Interconnect Corporation Delaware
Winchester Interconnect Hermetics, LLC Florida
Winchester Interconnect RF Corporation Massachusetts
Winchester Interconnect Ruggedized Corporation Texas
YanCheng SeMyung Electronics Co., Ltd. Peoples Republic of China

*Entity is Joint Venture
• Entity in Liquidation



Exhibit 22

APTIV PLC
List of Guarantor Subsidiaries

Entity Name Jurisdiction
Aptiv Corporation* Delaware
Aptiv Holdings US Limited Jersey
Aptiv International Holdings (UK) LLP England and Wales

*Entity is also a subsidiary issuer



Exhibit 23.1

CONSENT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM
We consent to the incorporation by reference in the following Registration Statements:

(1) Registration Statement (Form S-8 No. 333-179446) pertaining to the Aptiv PLC Long Term Incentive Plan (formerly known as the
Delphi Automotive PLC Long Term Incentive Plan), and

(2) Registration Statement (Form S-3 No. 333-228021) of Aptiv PLC;

of our reports dated February 8, 2021, with respect to the consolidated financial statements and schedule of Aptiv PLC and the effectiveness of internal control over
financial reporting of Aptiv PLC included in this Annual Report (Form 10-K) of Aptiv PLC for the year ended December 31, 2020.
/s/ Ernst & Young LLP
Detroit, Michigan
February 8, 2021



Exhibit 31.1

CERTIFICATIONS

Certification of Principal Executive Officer
I, Kevin P. Clark, certify that:

1. I have reviewed this annual report on Form 10-K of Aptiv PLC;
2. Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary to make the

statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading with respect to the period covered by this report;
3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly present in all material respects the

financial condition, results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this report;
4. The registrant’s other certifying officer and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in Exchange

Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) and internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f)) for the
registrant and have:

(a) Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under our supervision, to
ensure that material information relating to the registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by others within those
entities, particularly during the period in which this report is being prepared;

(b) Designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial reporting to be designed under our
supervision, to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for
external purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles;

(c) Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant’s disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our conclusions about the
effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this report based on such evaluation; and

(d) Disclosed in this report any change in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the registrant’s most recent
fiscal quarter (the registrant’s fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annual report) that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to
materially affect, the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting; and

5. The registrant’s other certifying officer and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over financial reporting, to the
registrant’s auditors and the audit committee of the registrant’s board of directors (or persons performing the equivalent functions):

(a) All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial reporting which are reasonably
likely to adversely affect the registrant’s ability to record, process, summarize and report financial information; and

(b) Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the registrant’s internal control
over financial reporting.

Date: February 8, 2021
 

/s/ Kevin P. Clark
Kevin P. Clark
President and Chief Executive Officer
(Principal Executive Officer)



Exhibit 31.2

CERTIFICATIONS

Certification of Principal Financial Officer
I, Joseph R. Massaro, certify that:

1. I have reviewed this annual report on Form 10-K of Aptiv PLC;
2. Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary to make the

statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading with respect to the period covered by this report;
3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly present in all material respects the

financial condition, results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this report;
4. The registrant’s other certifying officer and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in Exchange

Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) and internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f)) for the
registrant and have:

(a) Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under our supervision, to
ensure that material information relating to the registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by others within those
entities, particularly during the period in which this report is being prepared;

(b) Designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial reporting to be designed under our
supervision, to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for
external purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles;

(c) Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant’s disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our conclusions about the
effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this report based on such evaluation; and

(d) Disclosed in this report any change in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the registrant’s most recent
fiscal quarter (the registrant’s fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annual report) that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to
materially affect, the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting; and

5. The registrant’s other certifying officer and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over financial reporting, to the
registrant’s auditors and the audit committee of the registrant’s board of directors (or persons performing the equivalent functions):

(a) All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial reporting which are reasonably
likely to adversely affect the registrant’s ability to record, process, summarize and report financial information; and

(b) Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the registrant’s internal control
over financial reporting.

Date: February 8, 2021
 

/s/ Joseph R. Massaro
Joseph R. Massaro
Chief Financial Officer and Senior Vice President, Business Operations
(Principal Financial Officer)



Exhibit 32.1

CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO 18 U.S.C. SECTION 1350, AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO SECTION 906 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF
2002

In connection with the filing of this annual report on Form 10-K of Aptiv PLC (the “Company”) for the period ended December 31, 2020, with the Securities and
Exchange Commission on the date hereof (the “Report”), I, Kevin P. Clark, Chief Executive Officer, certify, pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as adopted
pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002 to the best of my knowledge, that:

1. The Report fully complies with the requirements of section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934; and
2. The information contained in the Report fairly presents, in all material respects, the financial condition and results of operations of the Company.

Date: February 8, 2021
 

/s/ Kevin P. Clark
Kevin P. Clark
President and Chief Executive Officer
(Principal Executive Officer)

A signed original of this written statement required by Section 906 has been provided to the Company and will be retained by the Company and furnished to the
Securities and Exchange Commission or its staff upon request.



Exhibit 32.2

CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO 18 U.S.C. SECTION 1350, AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO SECTION 906 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF
2002

In connection with the filing of this annual report on Form 10-K of Aptiv PLC (the “Company”) for the period ended December 31, 2020, with the Securities and
Exchange Commission on the date hereof (the “Report”), I, Joseph R. Massaro, Chief Financial Officer, certify, pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as adopted
pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002 to the best of my knowledge, that:

1. The Report fully complies with the requirements of section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934; and
2. The information contained in the Report fairly presents, in all material respects, the financial condition and results of operations of the Company.

Date: February 8, 2021
 

/s/ Joseph R. Massaro
Joseph R. Massaro
Chief Financial Officer and Senior Vice President, Business Operations
(Principal Financial Officer)

A signed original of this written statement required by Section 906 has been provided to the Company and will be retained by the Company and furnished to the
Securities and Exchange Commission or its staff upon request.


